The status and behavioural ecology of large carnivores in a human-impacted miombo woodland

Robert Davis

July 2021



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Nottingham Trent University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The status and behavioural ecology of large carnivores in a human-impacted miombo woodland

Robert Simon Davis

N0228296

School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Southwell, Nottinghamshire, NG25 0QF, United Kingdom.

robert.davis@ntu.ac.uk

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Nottingham Trent University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

This research programme was carried out in collaboration with Carnivore Research Malawi

SUPERVISORS:

Dr Louise K. Gentle, Dr Antonio Uzal and Dr Richard W. Yarnell

School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Southwell, Nottinghamshire, NG25 0QF, United Kingdom.

Dr Emma L. Stone

Department of Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, Bristol, BS16 1QY, UK

Carnivore Research Malawi, C/O Barefoot Safaris, NRC Road, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Copyright Statement

This work is the intellectual property of the author. You may copy up to 5% of this work for private study, or personal, non-commercial research. Any re-use of the information contained within this document should be fully referenced, quoting the author, title, university, degree level and pagination. Queries or requests for any other use, or if a more substantial copy is required, should be directed in the owner(s) of the Intellectual Property Rights.

Publications included in this thesis

Chapter Four:

Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021). Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12838

Chapter Five:

Davis, R.S., Yarnell, R.W., Gentle, L.K., Uzal, A., Mgoola, W.O., & Stone, E.L. (2021). Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild. *Ecology and Evolution*, 11(12), 7890-7904. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7620

Both papers included in this thesis are published under an open access agreement with the publisher, Wiley, and a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. You may copy and redistribute the article in any medium or format, provided the original author and source are credited.

Submitted manuscripts included in this thesis

Chapter Two:

Davis, R.S., Gentle, L.K., Stone, E.L, Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021). A review of spotted hyaena population estimates highlights the need for greater utilisation of spatial capture-recapture methods. Submitted to *Population Ecology* [25/05/21].

Author contributions

Chapter One: Introduction

Author: Robert S. Davis

Chapter Two: A review of spotted hyaena population estimates highlights the need for greater utilisation of spatial capture-recapture methods

Authors: Robert S. Davis (RD), Louise K. Gentle (LG), Emma L. Stone (ES), Antonio Uzal (AU), Richard W. Yarnell (RY)

Author contributions: RD: conceptualisation (lead); data curation (lead); data analysis (lead); writing – original draft (lead); writing – review & editing (equal). LG: writing – review & editing (equal). ES: writing – review & editing (equal). AU: writing – review & editing (equal). RY: writing – review & editing (equal).

Submitted to Population Ecology.

Chapter Three: Study site and background

Author: Robert S. Davis

Chapter Four: Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland

Authors: Robert S. Davis (RD), Emma L. Stone (ES), Louise K. Gentle (LG), William O. Mgoola (WM), Antonio Uzal (AU), Richard W. Yarnell (RY)

Author contributions: RD: conceptualisation (equal); data curation (lead); data analysis (lead); writing – original draft (lead); writing – review & editing (equal). ES: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). LG: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). AU: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). AU: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). RY: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal).

Published in Journal of Zoology: https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12838

Chapter Five: Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild

Authors: Robert S. Davis (RD), Richard W. Yarnell (RY), Louise K. Gentle (LG), Antonio Uzal (AU), William O. Mgoola (WM), Emma L. Stone (ES)

Author contributions: RD: conceptualisation (equal); data curation (lead); data analysis (lead); writing – original draft (lead); writing – review & editing (equal). RY: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). LG: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). AU: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). WM: writing – review & editing (equal). ES: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal).

Published in *Ecology and Evolution*: https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7620

Chapter Six: Dietary composition and niche overlap between competing large carnivores in Kasungu National Park, Malawi

Authors: Robert S. Davis (RD), Richard W. Yarnell (RY), Louise K. Gentle (LG), Antonio Uzal (AU), Emma L. Stone (ES)

Author contributions: RD: conceptualisation (equal); data curation (lead); data analysis (lead); writing – original draft (lead); writing – review & editing (equal). RY: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). LG: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). AU: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). ES: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal). ES: conceptualisation (equal); writing – review & editing (equal).

Chapter Seven: Discussion

Author: Robert S. Davis

Note on referencing

This thesis uses the APA referencing style throughout. Citation lists are provided at the end of each chapter, apart from **Chapters One** and **Seven**, which are provided at the end of the thesis.

Ethical approval

All aspects of research were granted ethical approval by Nottingham Trent University ethics committee. Research conducted in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, was conducted under the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi and Carnivore Research Malawi (2015).

Cover page photo credits

Chapter Two

Cover image: A spotted hyaena responding to a call-in in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. **Photo credit:** Owen Slater.

Chapter Three

Cover image: A sub-adult male lion in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. May 2017.

Photo credit: Katie Baillie-David.

Abstract

Decline in global carnivore populations has led to an increased demand for the assessment of carnivore densities in understudied habitats and the use of robust survey techniques to obtain these estimates. Furthermore, growing levels of anthropogenic disturbance can alter community structure and disrupt carnivore guild dynamics, thereby risking further population decline. This thesis examines the population status and intraguild dynamics of large carnivores in Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi. KNP is an example of a protected area that has experienced large-scale reductions in both carnivore and prey populations, whilst the miombo woodland of KNP has been identified as a habitat lacking baseline data on large carnivore density and behavioural ecology. Consequently, KNP is a novel site to 1) produce robust population estimates from an understudied habitat, and 2) improve understanding of niche partitioning strategies in a modified carnivore guild.

Using the spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) as a model species, **Chapter Two** reviews the current survey methodologies for estimating the population density of large carnivores. I advocate the wider application of spatial capture-recapture (SCR) techniques to estimate spotted hyaena density and provide recommendations for adopting these methods. In **Chapter Three I** provide a summary of the decline in protected area health and large carnivore populations in Malawi, before providing an overview of KNP and the sites' importance to regional conservation efforts. I build on this in **Chapter Four**, using camera trap surveys and SCR modelling to estimate leopard (*Panthera pardus*) and spotted hyaena density in KNP between 2016 and 2018. Using a novel spatial partial identity model (SPIM), I also address the issue of uncertainty in individual identification from camera trap data. Density estimates were low across survey years, compared to estimates from sub-Saharan Africa, for both leopard (1.9 ± 0.19 SD adults/100km²) and spotted hyaena (1.15 ± 0.42 SD adults/100km²). In addition, the presence of lion (*Panthera leo*) and wild dog (*Lycaon pictus*) is limited to dispersing

individuals, highlighting the degradation of the protected area and the wider loss to the carnivore guild in KNP.

In **Chapter Five**, using a combination of co-detection modelling, time-to-event analyses, and temporal activity patterns from camera trap data, I examine the spatiotemporal dynamics of leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP. I find that detection of leopard and spotted hyaena is significantly associated with the detection of preferred prey and competing carnivores, increasing the likelihood of species interaction. In addition, female leopards display temporal partitioning from both intra- and inter-specific competitors, which may affect overall fitness and result in increased exposure to sources of anthropogenic mortality. Using scat analysis techniques, **Chapter Six** compares the dietary niche overlap, as a proxy for intraguild competition, of leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP. Results show that leopard and spotted hyaena share relatively high levels of dietary overlap (Pianka's overlap = 0.65), providing further evidence of the potential for interspecific competition between the two species.

This study provides the first robust population estimates for leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP and evidence of a range of niche partitioning strategies adopted by large carnivores in a modified carnivore guild. The low population density estimates for leopard and spotted hyaena are a cause for conservation concern. These concerns are exacerbated by the mutual drivers of spatiotemporal behaviour, the high levels of dietary overlap, and low prey densities, which increase the risk of exploitation and interference competition and could have negative consequences for population demographics. Therefore, increasing prey populations will be essential to minimise levels of interspecific competition between large carnivores. In addition, continued monitoring of population density and intraguild dynamics will be critical for assessing the efficacy of ongoing conservation initiatives in KNP and other protected areas in Malawi under similar levels of anthropogenic pressure.

Acknowledgements

There are many people and organisations I need to thank for their continued support throughout this study. It has been a true privilege to study these amazing animals, to work with such fantastic people and to conduct research in Kasungu National Park (KNP) and Malawi. I would like to thank Nottingham Trent University for providing a fee waiver to undertake this PhD, which would not have been possible otherwise. Data collection and fieldwork for this project was conducted with the financial support of Nottingham Trent University, Conservation Research Africa/Carnivore Research Malawi, Rufford Foundation, Idea Wild and Oklahoma Zoo. I sincerely thank all funders and sponsors who kindly assisted in this study.

I am indebted to my supervisory team at Nottingham Trent University, thank you for your continued support, hard work and patience. Firstly, I would like to thank my director of studies, Dr Richard Yarnell, for his guidance and encouragement over many years. Since completing my BSc at Nottingham Trent University, Richard has helped create many opportunities for me, through which I have had some of the most amazing experiences, met many great friends and learnt a wide array of skills. Additional thanks go to my second and third supervisors; Dr Antonio Uzal and Dr Louise Gentle, both of whom have been incredibly supportive and helpful throughout the study. I would also like to thank Dr Emma Stone of Carnivore Research Malawi and the University of the West of England for giving me the opportunity to live and work in Malawi, for her support throughout my time in Malawi and for providing access to equipment, research camps and resources in country. I would also like to thank Dr Jillian Labadz and Prof Carl Smith for their support as Postgraduate Research Tutor. In addition, I thank Dr Jillian Labadz for her feedback and support in her role as internal assessor. I am also grateful to Simon Taylor for his assistance with equipment from NTU. I would also like to thank my examiners, Prof Katharine Abernethy, University of Stirling, and Prof Andrew Hirst, Nottingham Trent University.

I wish to thank everyone involved with the Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi (DNPW). My thanks to William Mgoola for his support and feedback on manuscripts. The support and enthusiasm of the KNP management team was invaluable, as was the assistance of many parks and wildlife assistants. I wish to thank Ndaona Kumanga and Timothy Mchana in KNP, who provided valuable support and were always keen to hear about project developments. I am very grateful to the staff and volunteers of Carnivore Research Malawi for their help with fieldwork and logistics throughout the study. I thank the staff of Lifupa Lodge for their assistance with camp and for all the times I made them run the generator so I could watch Chelsea matches... lifesavers!

I thank the Lilongwe Wildlife Trust for their assistance in KNP, their logistical support was invaluable. I am also grateful to Olivia Sievert for her feedback on several chapters of this thesis and for the welcome distraction to assist with the Liwonde cheetah monitoring. I would like to thank Dr Ben Augustine and Dr Jeremy Cusack for their assistance with data analyses. I thank Dr Paolo Strampelli for his early advice on spatial-capture recapture and occupancy models and for his shared enthusiasm for carnivores and miombo woodlands. I thank Dr Vera Rduch for her assistance with reference samples used in Chapter Six. I am grateful to Jared Peterson of Cuddeback for his assistance with purchasing camera traps and his quick help when additional parts were needed in the field. I also thank Dr Amanda Salb, Dr Owen Slater and Dr Jane Munns for veterinary assistance in Kasungu, sorry we couldn't catch more leopards!

I thank my friends and family for their continued support and encouragement over the years. I particularly want to thank my parents, Christine and Simon, for everything they have done for me and always supporting me. To Mandy, thank you for your continued support, your patience and for all our adventures in Kasungu, Malawi and everywhere else. I love you, respectively. To all family and friends who I cannot list here, thank you for your everything and I look forward to seeing you all again very soon.



My sincere thanks to everyone who was involved with this research at every stage. Kasungu National Park will always be a special place to me, and the park has given me so many happy memories. I am truly grateful to have spent so much time working in the park and getting to know the dedicated and passionate people who work tirelessly to protect it.

Zikomo kwambiri!

Table of Contents

Publications included in this thesisiv
Submitted manuscripts included in this thesisiv
Author contributionsv
Abstractviii
Acknowledgementsx
List of figuresxvi
List of tables xviii
List of abbreviations usedxx

(Chapter One: Introduction	1
	1.1 The role of large carnivores	2
	1.2 Global decline of large carnivores	7
	1.3 Large carnivore responses to anthropogenic disturbance	9
	1.4 Lack of population data for large carnivores and challenges for data collection	14
	1.5 Decline of large carnivores in Africa and the need for population assessment	21
	1.6 Aims of study	25
	1.7 Structure of thesis	27

2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.3 Results	
2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusions	
2.6 References	

Chapter Three: Study site and background	68
3.1 Malawi	69
3.2 Miombo woodlands	70
3.3 Decline in protected area health in Malawi	72
3.4 Conservation status and threats to large carnivores in Malawi	74
3.5 Kasungu National Park	79
3.6 References	

4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and Methods	
4.3 Results	
4.4 Discussion	
4.5 References	

5.1 Introduction	
5.2 Materials and Methods	
5.3 Results	
5.4 Discussion	
5.5 References	

6.1 Introduction	173
6.2 Materials and Methods	
6.3 Results	
6.4 Discussion	
6.5 References	

Chapter Seven: Discussion	200
7.1 Synopsis	201
7.2 Status of large carnivores in KNP and the need for wider survey efforts	202
7.3 Intraguild dynamics in KNP	215
7.4 Summary of recommendations	221
7.5 Conclusions	224
7.5 Conclusions	

References	6
------------	---

Appendices
Appendix I: Literature reviewed on spotted hyaena population estimates and survey methods
used since 2000
Appendix II: Literature reviewed on leopard population estimates and methods used to
estimate density in sub-Saharan Africa between 2000 and 2021
Appendix III: Geweke diagnostic statistics and Bayes p-values generated in SPACECAP fo
the single-flank and both plus partial sample spatial capture-recapture models
Appendix IV: Full candidate model lists for co-detection modelling of leopard and spotted
hyaena spatiotemporal activity
Appendix V: Estimates of difference in activity between years for leopard and spotted
hyaena from camera trap survey data between 2016 and 2018
Appendix VI: Summary of Hermans-Rasson uniformity test to assess if a random activity
pattern was exhibited over a circadian cycle for leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu
National Park, Malawi

List of figures

Figure 1.1. An example of individual recognition from unique pelage patterns
Figure 1.2. A schematic diagram highlighting the structure of the thesis
Figure 2.1. Survey methods used to obtain estimates of spotted hyaena density or population size and the proportion of reviewed articles that applied each survey method
Figure 3.1. A map of Malawi, indicating the main cities and towns and its location within south-central Africa
Figure 3.2. Map of key African vegetation zones with miombo woodlands displayed in dark green. Miombo woodland covers approximately 2.7 million km ² . (Source: Ribeiro et al. 2012).
Figure 3.3. Map showing land cover in Malawi (2010-2011). Agricultural land cover is
prominent outside of protected forested areas and limits habitat connectivity. (Data source:
FAO, 2013b)75
Figure 3.4. An example of anecdotal evidence indicating the impact of wire snares on large carnivores in Malawi. Here a spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park can be seen with a wire snare around its neck
Figure 3.5. A leopard killed outside KNP in 2015, highlighting the problem that large carnivores face when moving outside protected areas
Figure 3.6. Map showing the location of Kasungu National Park and its position within the
wider Malawi Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area (MZTFCA). Inset displays the location
of the MZTFCA in south-central Africa
Figure 4.1. Map showing (a) the location of Kasungu National Park (KNP) within Malawi and
(b) the location of KNP with reference to Lukusuzi National Park, Zambia, and an overview of
the area covered for camera trap surveys represented in; (c) camera trap locations for the 2016
survey, (d) camera trap locations for the 2017 survey and (e) camera trap locations for the 2018
survey

Figure 7.1. Evidence of leopard poaching and anthropogenic mortality in KNP...... 206

List of tables

Table 2.1. Definitions of survey methods used to estimate spotted hyaena density and key
literature that details each methodology
Table 2.2. Number of times individual survey methods were used to estimate spotted hyaena
density and/or population size by region and country
Table 4.1. Summary of camera trap sampling effort between 2016-2018 in Kasungu National
Park, Malawi
Table 4.2. Capture success rates for leopard and spotted hyaena across three years of camera
trap surveys in Kasungu National Park, Malawi
Table 4.3. Posterior summaries of model parameters for leopards in Kasungu National Park
from the spatial partial identity model (SPIM) compared with the single-flank model with the
higher number of captures (Single) and the mean estimate from the both plus partial left side
(B+L) and both plus partial right side (B+R) data sets

Table 5.1. Detection covariates, with sampling range and mean, hypothesised to affect the likelihood of detection for leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi.139

 Table 5.2. List of species detected and yearly and total counts from camera trap surveys

 between 2016 and 2018 in Kasungu National Park, Malawi.

 143

Table 5.3. Model selection for binomial generalised linear mixed models predicting thelikelihood of leopard detection at camera stations in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, acrossall survey years (2016, 2017 and 2018) during a given 5-day sampling occasion.145

 Table 5.5. Estimates of proportion of time active for large carnivore species in Kasungu

 National Park, Malawi, estimated from the distribution of camera trapping photos over the

 daily cycle.
 149

Table 5.6. Estimates of difference in activity between large carnivore species in Kasungu

 National Park, Malawi, from the distribution of camera trapping photos over the diel activity

 schedule.
 151

Table 6.1. Frequency of occurrence (FO) and corrected frequency of occurrence (CFO) of prey

 species found in faecal samples of leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park,

 Malawi.
 183

 Table 7.2. Spotted hyaena density estimates (per 100km²), using SCR methods, from sub

 Saharan Africa.

 208

List of abbreviations used

- AP African Parks
- DNPW Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi
- GLMM Generalised Linear Mixed Model
- IFAW International Fund for Animal Welfare
- KNP Kasungu National Park
- MZTFCA Malawi Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area
- NNP Nyika National Park
- PA Protected Area
- PWA Parks and Wildlife Assistant
- SCR Spatial capture-recapture
- SPIM Spatial partial identity model
- VMWR Vwaza Marsh Wildlife Reserve



THE STATUS AND BEHAVIOURAL ECOLOGY OF LARGE CARNIVORES IN A HUMAN-IMPACTED MIOMBO WOODLAND

ROBERT DAVIS

School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences

Nottingham Trent University



CHAPTER ONE

Introduction



CHAPTER ONE: Introduction

1.1 The role of large carnivores

The order Carnivora consists of 250 terrestrial species that inhabit every major habitat on Earth and perform a critical role in regulating ecosystems (Hunter, 2018). Despite occurring at naturally low densities, carnivores are essential for maintaining biodiversity and ecosystem function by controlling herbivores and mesopredators through top-down interactions (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Hoeks *et al.* 2020). Indeed, large carnivores are historically valued for their role in managing herbivore populations (Fretwell, 1977; Oksanen *et al.* 1981). However, there is a growing body of literature indicating that large carnivores play a pivotal role in the delivery of wider ecosystem services (Schmitz *et al.* 2010; Letnic *et al.* 2012; Ford *et al.* 2014; Atkins *et al.* 2019), whilst also providing economic and social benefits on a global scale, particularly in the developing world (Naidoo *et al.* 2011; Ripple *et al.* 2014; Macdonald, C. *et al.* 2017; Braczkowski *et al.* 2018).

1.1.1 Ecological role

Whilst direct predation from large carnivores is a key regulator of prey populations (Dobson *et al.* 2006), predators also affect prey demography, and wider ecosystem function, through the consequences of prey risk avoidance strategies (Creel & Christianson, 2008; Schmitz *et al.* 2010). For example, the presence of large carnivores in an environment creates a "landscape of fear", where prey species adopt antipredator behavioural responses to minimise predation risk (Brown *et al.* 1999; Preisser *et al.* 2005). In these ecosystems, prey species either entirely avoid or minimise exposure time in resource-rich habitats, where the risk of predation is heightened (Creel *et al.* 2005; Laundré *et al.* 2010). These areas of suppressed browsing and grazing buffer lower trophic levels, preventing overconsumption from large herbivores and increasing heterogeneity in plant and tree species (Kuijper *et al.* 2013; Suraci *et al.* 2016; le

Chapter One: Introduction

Roux *et al.* 2018). The resulting diversity of plant and tree species creates a gradient of food availability and vegetation cover, integral to managing predation risk and maintaining ecosystem function on a wider scale (Schmitz *et al.* 2010; le Roux *et al.* 2018). The loss of carnivores from an ecosystem often results in herbivore populations increasing and coincides with a reduction in risk-avoidance behaviour. Over time this can lead to trophic cascades that have wide-ranging impacts on prey and plant communities (Ripple *et al.* 2001; Terborgh & Estes, 2010; Ford *et al.* 2014; Winnie & Creel, 2017; Atkins *et al.* 2019). These trophic cascades have been observed in numerous landscapes, including the United States where the decline of cougar (*Puma concolor*) populations led to higher densities of mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*) and resulted in greater browsing intensity, increased bank erosion and decreased riparian biodiversity (Ripple & Beschta, 2006). Similarly, in Mozambique where civil war led to a widespread collapse in large carnivore populations, the diet and spatial use of bushbuck (*Tragelaphus sylvaticus*) was altered by the absence of predators, leading to changes in plant community structure and the suppression of common food plants (Atkins *et al.* 2019).

Similar to the suppression of prey populations through risk-avoidance behaviours, large carnivores also limit the impact of mesopredators (mammalian carnivores of intermediate body size) on an ecosystem through intraguild competition (Prugh *et al.* 2009; Ripple *et al.* 2013; Newsome *et al.* 2017). The extirpation, or extensive population decline, of large carnivores from an ecosystem can lead to "mesopredator release", whereby mesopredator numbers increase substantially in the absence of larger apex predators (Crooks & Soulé, 1999). The removal of large carnivores often means that mesopredators can achieve persistently high densities and, without the regulating effect of apex predators, this can drive the decline or extinction of prey populations; therefore, destabilising community structure and disrupting ecosystem services (Rayner *et al.* 2007; Beschta & Ripple, 2009; Brashares *et al.* 2010; Gordon *et al.* 2017). For example, Cunningham *et al.* (2018) reported that the extensive decline of the

Chapter One: Introduction

Tasmanian devil (*Sarcophilus harrisii*) population, from a species-specific transmissible disease, led to increased foraging and scavenging opportunities for feral cats (*Felis catus*). Reduced suppression of feral cats has broad implications for protecting native vertebrate species, as feral cats are a key cause of species decline (Woinarski *et al.* 2015), whilst slower consumption of carrion increases the prevalence of disease-causing bacteria and potential risk of disease transmission in wildlife and livestock (Cunningham *et al.* 2018).

The integral role that large carnivores play in ecosystem services means that large carnivores can also be regarded as indicator species for ecosystem health (Cardillo et al. 2005; Morrison et al. 2007). The naturally low densities of large carnivores, combined with their sensitivity to ecosystem disruption (e.g., habitat alteration, poisoning events, poaching and anthropogenic disturbance), often means that the disappearance of large carnivores from an environment is a precursor to wider biodiversity loss (Redford, 2005; Sergio et al. 2006; Kittle et al. 2017). For instance, Burton et al. (2011) highlighted the decline of lion (Panthera leo) observations in Mole National Park, Ghana, as an indicator of broader decline, both in the protected area and across the wider region. Conversely, in ecosystems where large carnivores have been restored, they are often attributed with aiding habitat restoration (Kuijper et al. 2013; Beschta & Ripple, 2015), suppressing mesopredator and invasive species density (Derham et al. 2018; Sheehy et al. 2018) and contributing to the return of essential resources (e.g., carrion) and scavenger diversity (Wilmers et al. 2003; Sievert et al. 2018). Population monitoring of large carnivores and effective conservation management of the large carnivore guild, therefore, has the potential to prevent biodiversity loss, regulate ecosystem services and act as an indicator of overall environmental health (Sergio et al. 2006; Dalerum et al. 2008; Ripple et al. 2014).

1.1.2 Economic and social role

Alongside the ecological merits of large carnivore presence, these species also provide economic and social benefits through a variety of direct and indirect methods (Ripple et al. 2014). Likely the most common and direct way in which large carnivores provide economic value to a landscape, is tourism (Lindsey et al. 2007; Skibins et al. 2013). Due to their iconic nature and popularity in mainstream culture, the simple presence of large carnivores can provide economic benefits for tourism (Di Minin et al. 2013; van der Meer, Badza & Ndhlovu, 2016). For example, jaguar (Panthera onca) ecotourism in the Brazilian Pantanal was estimated to generate a gross annual income close to US\$7 million (Tortato et al. 2017), whilst the reintroduction of lions to Pilanesberg National Park, South Africa, generated US\$9 million per year for the regional economy (McNeely, 2000). In addition, sustainable trophy hunting can provide a vital source of income when conducted under a regulated and evidence-based framework (IUCN, 2016; Booth et al. 2020). For instance, sustainable hunting of lion and leopard (Panthera pardus) in the Savé Valley Conservancy, Zimbabwe, generated over US\$3 million in gross income over a four-year period (Funston et al. 2013). As tourism and hunting are often significant contributors to local and national economies, the loss of carnivores and associated revenue can have a considerable impact on livelihoods (Dickman et al. 2011; Mossaz et al. 2015; IUCN, 2016).

Large carnivore presence can also have indirect benefits for local economies and social welfare, including benefits to human health and pastoralism (O'Bryan *et al.* 2018). Previous research has highlighted that by predating stray dogs, leopards occupying the densely populated areas around Mumbai, India, provide valuable public health benefits by reducing dog bite incidents and rabies transmission, whilst saving local authorities US\$18,000 per year in sterilisation and vaccination costs (Braczkowski *et al.* 2018). In agricultural landscapes, where large carnivores are often persecuted, there are positive aspects of human-carnivore coexistence that are often

overlooked (Ripple et al. 2014; O'Bryan et al. 2018). For example, suppression of mesopredators and regulation of prey populations by large carnivores, as discussed previously, have been shown to reduce crop raiding (Brashare et al. 2010; Taylor et al. 2016; Thinley et al. 2018). For instance, Taylor et al. (2016) found that the presence and abundance of large carnivores in African protected areas was a more effective strategy for mitigating crop-raiding by baboons (Papio spp.) than human hunting of crop-raiders or changes in crop quality. Cropraiding can have wide-ranging implications, particularly in developing countries, as financial income is lost (often leading to alternative livelihoods being sought, including bushmeat poaching; Lindsey et al. 2013a) and human livelihoods are impacted as children are forced to miss school to defend crops from attack (Mackenzie et al. 2015). Top-down control of mesopredators and prey populations by large carnivores is, therefore, an important tool for mitigating human-wildlife conflict (Taylor et al. 2016). Furthermore, by reducing disease prevalence in ungulate populations (by targeted predation of infected prey), large carnivores actively mitigate disease outbreaks that can be passed on to domestic livestock and cause great expense to agricultural industries and pastoralists (Packer et al. 2003; Ostfeld & Holt, 2004; Tanner et al. 2019).

Despite their potential benefits to agricultural landscapes, the presence of large carnivores in pastoral environments, or bordering protected areas, is often controversial and the negative impacts have been well documented (e.g., Woodroffe *et al.* 2005; Morehouse & Boyce, 2011; Kissui *et al.* 2019). Livestock depredation is the primary source of human-carnivore conflict and, as livestock loss has financial ramifications, it impacts the quality of peoples' livelihoods (Kissui *et al.* 2019). For example, the average cost of livestock depredation per farmer in a Namibian conservancy was US\$2,848 and, as average expenditure was US\$1,708 per annum, continued livestock loss is likely to have severe financial implications (Verschueren *et al.* 2020). The continued growth of human populations, combined with the decline in protected

area health and habitat fragmentation, means increasing levels of human-carnivore conflict are predicted (Inskip & Zimmermann, 2009). Therefore, despite the positive aspects of large carnivores in an economic and social context, there is a need for long-term solutions to mitigate human-carnivore conflict that are beneficial for people and wildlife (Dickman *et al.* 2011).

1.2 Global decline of large carnivores

Although large carnivore presence has wide-ranging ecosystem benefits, many large carnivores have experienced significant population declines and the continued reduction of their geographic ranges (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Wolf & Ripple, 2018). As a result of these global trends, 80% of large carnivore species are now undergoing population declines and 64% of these species are threatened with extinction (Wolf & Ripple, 2018). Continued global alteration and fragmentation of habitats (Segan *et al.* 2016; Powers & Jetz, 2019) has resulted in large carnivores occupying, on average, only 47% of their historical geographical range (Ripple *et al.* 2014). In some cases, such as the Ethiopian wolf (*Canis simensis*), range contraction is as high as 99% of the species' historical range (Wolf & Ripple, 2017).

Decline in large carnivore populations can be attributed to numerous factors, including habitat destruction (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Espinosa *et al.* 2018), loss of natural prey (Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Sandom *et al.* 2018), direct and indirect persecution (St John *et al.* 2018; Knox *et al.* 2019; Loveridge *et al.* 2020), reduced habitat connectivity (McClure *et al.* 2017; Pitman *et al.* 2017) and increased conflict with humans (Treves & Karanth, 2003; Henschel *et al.* 2011; Broekhuis *et al.* 2017). These threats vary among species and populations, with some threats occurring in localised areas of a species geographic range, whilst other limiting factors may extend beyond a species' range, thereby preventing recolonisation (Ripple *et al.* 2014). Furthermore, the increasing pressures of climate change (Johnson *et al.* 2018; Rabaiotti &

Woodroffe, 2019) and human population growth (Geldmann *et al.* 2014; Jones *et al.* 2018) are likely to further intensify the risks posed to threatened large carnivores over time.

The causes of large carnivore declines are often concurrent with global biodiversity loss, however, they are exacerbated for large carnivores due to their susceptibility to anthropogenic disturbance and habitat alteration (Cardillo *et al.* 2005; Maxwell *et al.* 2016). Most large carnivores occur at relatively low population densities, whilst their slow reproductive cycles and low infant survival rates make them highly susceptible to persecution and unable to quickly respond to population decline (Cardillo *et al.* 2005; Ripple *et al.* 2014). Furthermore, their wide-ranging behaviour and high food requirements, compounded by increasing human population densities and encroachment into protected areas, bring large carnivores into further conflict with humans and livestock, leading to increased persecution and vulnerability to extinction (Broekhuis *et al.* 2017; O'Neil *et al.* 2020).

Owing to their naturally low densities and extensive ranging behaviour, large carnivores require substantial areas of contiguous, high-quality habitat for populations to persist (Di Minin *et al.* 2016; Wolf & Ripple, 2017). Isolated protected areas alone are often ineffective for large carnivore protection, with species requiring vast networks of connected habitat to ensure sufficient resource availability, maintain gene flow and alleviate the pressures of intraguild competition (Crooks *et al.* 2011; Lamb *et al.* 2020; Naude *et al.* 2020). However, large carnivores are particularly sensitive to the growing pressure of anthropogenic activities (e.g., livestock farming, poaching, infrastructure development) at protected area boundaries (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998; Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2010; Watson *et al.* 2014). Increased exposure to the risks of anthropogenic disturbance at reserve edges act as population sinks for large carnivores (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998; Veldhuis *et al.* 2019). For example, jaguar density was up to 18 times higher in the core areas of Yasuní Biosphere Reserve, Ecuador, when compared to edge areas that were exposed to access roads and human settlements

(Espinosa *et al.* 2018). The negative effects of anthropogenic pressure at reserve edges can also impact natal dispersal, blocking immigration and potentially leading to inbreeding within populations (e.g., Riley *et al.* 2014; Naude *et al.* 2020). If the detrimental impact of edge effects and population sinks cannot be balanced with reproductive rates and successful dispersal events, then carnivore populations can rapidly decline (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998). For example, a collapse in the lion population in Gonarezhou National Park, Zimbabwe, was suspected to be from hazardous edge effects, including luring animals outside park boundaries for trophy hunting and the increased risk of snaring incidents closer to reserve edges (Groom *et al.* 2014).

1.3 Large carnivore responses to anthropogenic disturbance

In areas of high human encroachment and intensive poaching, carnivores are known to face extirpation (Woodroffe, 2000; Henschel *et al.* 2005; Atkins *et al.* 2019). As human populations rise, and anthropogenic pressures increase on protected areas, they create both biotic and abiotic challenges that impact carnivores negatively (Šálek *et al.* 2015). The extent to which large carnivores can persist in human-impacted landscapes differs between species and is largely dependent on the scale at which they interact with humans and their ability to adopt behavioural responses (Cardillo *et al.* 2005). For example, leopards across Africa and Asia can persist at relatively high densities, even in unprotected, human-dominated areas (Athreya *et al.* 2013; Jacobson *et al.* 2016). As solitary generalists, exhibiting a diverse and adaptable dietary niche, leopards have a greater tolerance for persisting in the complex matrix of human-dominated landscapes (Braczkowski *et al.* 2012; Athreya *et al.* 2016; Kumbhojkar *et al.* 2020). In comparison, social, group-living large carnivores, such as African wild dogs (*Lycaon pictus*), and larger-bodied species, such as tigers (*Panthera tigris*) and lions, often struggle to adapt in areas of increased human disturbance (Karanth *et al.* 2011b; Everatt *et al.* 2019; O'Neil

et al. 2020). These species have a greater reliance on large ungulate prey (Karanth *et al.* 2004; Hayward & Kerley, 2005) and, therefore, when the abundance of natural prey is depleted, they are likely to target livestock or increase their ranging behaviour, with both responses heightening the risk of exposure to anthropogenic sources of mortality (Fahrig & Rytwinski, 2009; Lindsey *et al.* 2017; Everatt *et al.* 2019).

1.3.1 Spatiotemporal behaviour

Increasing rates of anthropogenic disturbance can result in large carnivores altering their spatial use and temporal activity, often with the aim of maximising avoidance of human features and activities (Sévêque et al. 2020). Human activity has been observed to alter the spatiotemporal activity of several large carnivores, including cougars (Suraci et al. 2019), lions (Oriol-Cotterill et al. 2015), Amur leopards (P. pardus orientalis; Yang et al. 2018), spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta; Kolowski et al. 2007) and brown bears (Ursus arctos; Parres et al. 2020). However, modifying spatiotemporal responses, and shifts away from natural patterns of activity, can have consequences for individual fitness, community dynamics and population persistence (Gaynor et al. 2018). For example, Amur tigers (Panthera tigris altaica) in areas of higher anthropogenic use reduced handling time and meat consumption on kills, whilst abandoning 63% of kills due to disturbance from human activity (Kerley et al. 2002). The development of human infrastructure can also impact carnivore space use, often bringing carnivores into further conflict with humans or increasing exposure to sources of mortality (Barrueto et al. 2014). For example, despite sufficient prey availability and forest cover, Thompson et al. (2020) found that jaguar space use was significantly reduced in areas closer to human settlements, with consequences for dispersal and functional connectivity between populations. In addition, some aspects of human-altered landscapes, such as road networks, provide easy travel corridors and are used to delineate territories and aid social communication through scent marking sites (Rafiq et al. 2020a). This behaviour can increase the likelihood of vehicle collision, and Kerley

et al. (2002) found that survivorship and reproductive success were significantly reduced when Amur tiger habitat use incorporated primary road networks.

1.3.2 Interspecific competition and guild dynamics

Whilst large carnivores may alter their spatiotemporal dynamics to avoid interaction with anthropogenic disturbance, the behaviour of one species is often part of an intricate community structure that can be impacted when species alter patterns of activity (Sévêque *et al.* 2020). In most ecosystems, the behavioural ecology and spatial distribution of carnivores is driven by competition for available resources and the risk of intraguild predation (Palomares & Caro, 1999; Linnell & Strand, 2000; Caro & Stoner, 2003). Subordinate carnivores can reduce the detrimental effects of competition by diverging their use of one or more niche axes: spatially, adjusting their habitat use and home range size to limit encounters with dominant predators (e.g., Karanth *et al.* 2017; Marneweck *et al.* 2019); temporally, modifying their activity patterns to reduce times of overlap with competitors (e.g., Santos *et al.* 2019; Rasphone *et al.* 2020); and trophically, utilising different food resources (e.g., Hayward & Kerley, 2008). By partitioning their use of these three dimensions, complex carnivore communities with similar ecological requirements can facilitate coexistence (Caro & Stoner, 2003; Chesson & Kuang, 2008).

When the spatiotemporal behaviours of one or more species are influenced by anthropogenic disturbance, it can cause significant alterations to guild dynamics and, potentially, lead to population decline (Gaynor *et al.* 2018; Manlick & Pauli, 2020; Wilson *et al.* 2020). These more subtle and complex behavioural responses to anthropogenic disturbance have not received the same level of scientific investigation as the more direct implications of human impact, such as population decline and localised extirpation (Wang *et al.* 2015; Frey *et al.* 2020). However, detecting these subtle shifts in large carnivore behaviour may provide early

indicators of species decline and allow more pre-emptive conservation management decisions (Frey *et al.* 2020; Wilson *et al.* 2020). Shifts in guild dynamics and niche partitioning have been observed in multiple landscapes and can have cascading effects on ecosystem health (Kuijper *et al.* 2016; Gaynor *et al.* 2018). For example, grey wolves (*Canis lupus*) in the Rocky Mountains increased their nocturnal activity in relation to disturbance and this, in turn, resulted in coyotes (*Canis latrans*) exhibiting higher levels of diurnal activity and expanding their spatial range (Frey *et al.* 2020). This could facilitate a form of mesopredator release, with coyotes benefiting from a reduction in top-down control and potentially increasing dietary overlap with other diurnal mesopredators (Frey *et al.* 2020).

In addition to changing large carnivore dynamics through the alteration of species behaviour, human disturbance can lead to shifts in community dynamics by altering the composition of the guild itself (Heim et al. 2019). Large carnivores vary in their adaptability to anthropogenic disturbance, with rates of population decline often differing between species. Apex predators (e.g., lion, tiger) are unlikely to have evolved mechanisms for facilitating coexistence with other dominant predators (i.e., humans) and, as a result, are more likely to find adaptation to human-dominated landscapes challenging (Everatt et al. 2019). This can lead to increased rates of population decline for dominant species, for instance the lion population in Liuwa Plains, Zambia, declined to one individual, whilst the spotted hyaena population remained stable, likely due to their greater tolerance of human disturbance (M'soka et al. 2016). However, by altering the community assemblage and resulting shifts in activity and niche partitioning between competitors, essential ecosystem processes, such as top-down regulation or interference competition, can be impacted (Wang et al. 2015; Frey et al. 2020). For example, intensive pastoralist activity surrounding Rajaji National Park, India, led to a collapse in the competitively-dominant tiger population and, in turn, an increase in the subordinate leopard population (Harihar et al. 2011). However, upon removal of the surrounding pastoralist

community, the tiger population almost doubled in size, increasing competition with leopards. This shift in guild dynamics resulted in leopard density declining by almost 80% over five years, whilst increased competition for resources resulted in leopard diet shifting to livestock depredation (Harihar *et al.* 2011).

1.3.3 Diet and prey preference

Poaching and trophy hunting can alter the abundance of available prey inside and outside protected areas (Lindsey et al. 2013a; Wolf & Ripple, 2016). Large carnivores are frequently impacted by unsustainable offtake of ungulate species, as the species targeted by poachers and hunters overlap with the weight range of large carnivore preferred prey (Henschel et al. 2011; Darimont et al. 2015; Wolf & Ripple, 2016). A global synthesis of available studies revealed that humans harvested shared prey at a rate of 1.9 times higher than all other predators combined (Darimont *et al.* 2015). The density and distribution of prey are often strong drivers of carnivore abundance (Rabelo et al. 2019; Ash et al. 2020; Searle et al. 2020) and how large carnivores respond to prey depletion is often indicative of their ability to persist in the face of wider anthropogenic change. In areas where prey species are exploited at unsustainable levels, large carnivores may be forced to target alternative sources of prey. For instance, Persian leopard (Panthera pardus saxicolor) in Iran were found to utilise wild boar (Sus scrofa) at higher levels than elsewhere across their range, as religious beliefs meant poachers avoided hunting suidae species (Ghoddousi et al. 2017). Whilst this adaptation aided leopard persistence, the reduction in dietary niche breadth and increased risk of hunting dangerous prey could still have long term impacts on population viability (Ghoddousi et al. 2017).

Most carnivores display some degree of dietary breadth, however, there is growing evidence that the decline in large prey species is resulting in a shift towards smaller prey and dietary niche contraction (Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Creel *et al.* 2018). The depletion of larger prey, and

resulting increase in dietary overlap between carnivore species, can have wide ranging implications for conservation management. A review of large carnivore studies by Khorozyan *et al.* (2015) revealed that beyond a minimum threshold for prey biomass, livestock predation increases significantly. This, in turn, increases the likelihood of retaliatory killing and lowers tolerance of large carnivore presence (van Eeden *et al.* 2018; LeFlore *et al.* 2019). In addition, increased dietary overlap between dominant and subordinate competitors can lead to higher rates of interspecific competition, potentially limiting subordinate carnivores (e.g., African wild dog, cheetah *Acinonyx jubatus*) that facilitate coexistence through niche partitioning (Dröge *et al.* 2017; Creel *et al.* 2018). There may also be negative impacts incurred on energetic fitness, group survival and reproduction of carnivores when smaller prey items are targeted that are below optimal weight ranges, although this subject requires further investigation (Carbone *et al.* 1999; Woodroffe *et al.* 2007; Creel *et al.* 2018).

1.4 Lack of population data for large carnivores and challenges for data collection

Although there is a growing body of literature highlighting the global decline of large carnivore populations, the implementation of effective management strategies to combat this decline are reliant on robust and accurate population assessments (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Tobler & Powell, 2013). Providing reliable estimates whilst establishing methodologies and analytical frameworks from which baseline assessments of population stability can be quantified, is crucial for effective monitoring and informing conservation priorities (Green *et al.* 2020). Despite their ecological, economic and social benefits, there are large areas where estimates of population size and ecological information are still lacking for large carnivores (Bauer *et al.* 2015; Popescu *et al.* 2016; Jędrzejewski *et al.* 2018). For example, recent studies have highlighted the lack of accurate population estimates available for cheetah (Durant *et al.* 2017),

jaguar (Jędrzejewski *et al.* 2018), leopard (Jacobson *et al.* 2016), lion (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a) and snow leopard (*Panthera uncia*; Alexander *et al.* 2015; Suryawanshi *et al.* 2019) across their geographic ranges.

Obtaining robust density estimates for large carnivores is challenging (Burton *et al.* 2015; Devens *et al.* 2018). Many of these species are cryptic, solitary and wide-ranging, making data collection time-consuming and costly (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Burton *et al.* 2015; Midlane *et al.* 2015). Furthermore, naturally low densities of large carnivores often result in limited sample sizes, making inference difficult and subject to wide margins of error (Gardner *et al.* 2010; Royle *et al.* 2014). For instance, over a period of 17,204 trap nights and 14 camera trap surveys, Murphy *et al.* (2018) only recorded an average of 3.42 fosa (*Cryptoprocta ferox*) individuals per survey. In the absence of accurate and/or recent estimates, conservation practitioners are often consigned to using anecdotal evidence or best guesses to inform conservation management decisions (Rodrigues *et al.* 2006; Balme *et al.* 2014; Jędrzejewski *et al.* 2018). In some cases, such as tiger populations in India, even where intensive survey efforts are undertaken to assess population trends, there are concerns over sampling methods and the precision of data used to inform conservation policy decisions (Harihar *et al.* 2017; Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2019).

1.4.1 Existing survey techniques

Various techniques have been employed globally to estimate the abundance and density of carnivores, each with their own limitations (Wilson & Delahay, 2001; Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Midlane *et al.* 2015; Dröge *et al.* 2020). These techniques include the use of indirect signs, such as spoor and faecal counts (Webbon *et al.* 2004; Henschel *et al.* 2020), prey availability (Karanth *et al.* 2004; Hayward *et al.* 2007), questionnaire surveys (Mésochina *et al.* 2010), and more direct techniques, such as density estimates derived from the home ranges
of collared animals (Simcharoen *et al.* 2008; Devens *et al.* 2018), distance sampling (Hounsome *et al.* 2005; Durant *et al.* 2011) and acoustic playback surveys (Cozzi *et al.* 2013; Midlane *et al.* 2015). Critique of these methods and the efficacy of monitoring techniques is a central topic in conservation biology, as the most robust methods for estimating density are continually sought (Wilson & Delahay, 2001; Karanth *et al.* 2011a; Hayward *et al.* 2015).

Whilst there is a general consensus that precise and robust estimates of population size are best obtained through long-term, intensive studies employing recently developed techniques, such as spatial capture-recapture modelling or genetic sampling, these considerations often have to be balanced with logistical and budgetary restraints (Bischof et al. 2020; Dröge et al. 2020). This trade-off between the precision of estimates and survey considerations, combined with the wide-ranging, cryptic behaviour of large carnivores, often means that indirect census techniques are employed (Jhala et al. 2011; Aebischer et al. 2020; Henschel et al. 2020). These methods are often cheaper to conduct and, as they do not rely on direct observation, can produce larger sample sizes (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Funston et al. 2010). However, the use of indirect survey techniques, most notably track counts, are increasingly questioned as issues surrounding the precision of estimates, analytical approaches and detection probability, continue to be raised (Hayward et al. 2015; Stephens et al. 2015; Gopalaswamy et al. 2019; Dröge et al. 2020). These issues are exemplified by the ongoing debate over nationwide tiger surveys in India, where the use of indirect survey methods (track/faecal counts) is met with widespread criticism as spurious trends in tiger density continue to be reported (Karanth et al. 2011a; Harihar et al. 2017; Gopalaswamy et al. 2019). The issue of effective monitoring and the limitations of survey methods are discussed further in Chapter Two, using a case study on spotted hyaena (see pages 31-67).

1.4.2 The emergence of camera trapping and spatial capture-recapture

In recent years, the use of camera traps for density estimation has become increasingly popular (Burton *et al.* 2015; Agha *et al.* 2018; Green *et al.* 2020). The method's minimal disturbance, combined with less labour-intensive survey requirements and the growing accessibility of equipment, has seen camera trapping become a preferred and rigorous method for density estimation, particularly for species that can be individually identified (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Rovero & Zimmerman, 2016; Apps & McNutt, 2018). In addition to advancements in technology, which have improved camera trap performance (i.e., trigger speed, image quality) and product costs (Meek & Pittet, 2012), there have been developments in data management and image recognition software (Young *et al.* 2018). These factors have increased the feasibility, scale and potential applications of camera trapping for wildlife research, particularly for cryptic large carnivores (Forrester *et al.* 2017; Agha *et al.* 2018).

Alongside technological and practical advances in camera trapping, analytical frameworks from which estimates of population density can be derived have also seen continued development (Karanth & Nichols, 1998; Rowcliffe *et al.* 2008; Efford & Fewster, 2013; Royle *et al.* 2014). Density estimation from camera trapping, such as with capture–recapture modelling, has become an increasingly integral process in wildlife ecology and species management (Kays & Slauson, 2008; Royle & Gardner, 2011). Early investigations using camera trap arrays to estimate population size were restricted to species uniquely identifiable from their pelage patterns and relied on closed model capture-recapture methods (Karanth & Nichols, 1998, Trolle and Kéry, 2003; Royle *et al.* 2009). Whilst capture-recapture modelling establishes the basic principles of photographic capture-recapture, identifying individuals from photographic captures and using the associated time and date stamp to form individual capture histories, these models do not incorporate the spatial component of density estimation (Royle *et al.* 2014). Therefore, capture-recapture models fail to account for spatially explicit biological

processes (i.e., individual movement) or the spatial distribution of the trap array (Royle *et al.* 2018; Green *et al.* 2020). The exclusion of a spatial context from capture-recapture models results in critical limitations, most notably limiting the ability to precisely define an effective area sampled, thereby making density estimation an arbitrary process (Royle *et al.* 2018). In addition, individual encounter probability and trap-level variation infer spatial processes. For example, individuals on the periphery of a trapping grid have a lower probability of capture and heterogeneity in these processes is not accounted for in the capture-recapture framework (Karanth & Nichols, 1998; Efford, 2004).

Spatial capture-recapture (SCR) models build on the technical limitations of conventional capture-recapture, incorporating the spatial information associated with individual capture histories and sampling devices to generate an explicit model of individual distribution across a defined state space (Efford, 2004; Royle *et al.* 2014; Sutherland *et al.* 2019). By relating the spatial context of individual encounters to explicit descriptions of spatial structure, whilst allowing for the integration of additional sources of data relating to spatial use (e.g., telemetry data) and landscape features (e.g., prey density, elevation), SCR provides a flexible framework to investigate ecological concepts, such as demography (Braczkowski *et al.* 2017). This flexible framework, combined with the potential for wide geographic sampling ranges and continued technological improvements, makes SCR modelling an important development in density estimation from camera trapping (Green *et al.* 2020).

The application of SCR with camera trapping data has steadily increased over the last decade (Agha *et al.* 2018; Green *et al.* 2020) and has become the standard method for estimating population density for multiple species of conservation concern (Royle *et al.* 2018, Sollmann, 2018). This is particularly true for carnivores, with a review of camera trapping and SCR analysis by Green *et al.* (2020) finding that almost 91% of published articles relating to density

estimation were focused on carnivores. These studies have provided some of the first reported population estimates for threatened carnivore species (e.g., Kane *et al.* 2015; Suryawanshi *et al.* 2019). The development of SCR and advances in camera trapping have, therefore, provided conservation practitioners with a framework for robust assessment of carnivore populations, although this has largely focused on species that are individually identifiable to date, and the continued application and growing reliance on these methods is expected to continue (Burton *et al.* 2015).

Recent studies have highlighted key assumptions within the analytical framework of SCR, particularly in its application to camera trap data (Royle et al. 2018; Green et al. 2020; Johansson et al. 2020). The most common issue when SCR models are applied to camera trapping data, is uncertainty regarding individual identification and the misclassification of photographs (Alexander et al. 2015; Augustine et al. 2018; Johansson et al. 2020). Individuals within a study population are often identified by variation in their unique pelage patterns (e.g., spots or stripes; Figure 1.1); however, these markings can often be difficult to differentiate, and the process of individual identification can be further hampered by issues such as, poor photograph quality, change in pelage patterns over time and partial identity (Foster & Harmsen, 2012; Augustine et al. 2018). Erroneous identification of sampled individuals can alter population estimates: if observers misidentify known individuals as new individuals then these additional capture histories will inflate population estimates, and vice-versa if new individuals are incorrectly identified as known individuals. Johansson et al. (2020) highlighted the potential for observer error using a captive snow leopard population, with 12.5% of all capture occasions misclassified and the resulting density estimates inflated on average by 35%. This potentially common issue has led to speculation that, despite advances in SCR modelling, there could be widespread overestimation of threatened species (Foster & Harmsen, 2012; Choo et al. 2020; Johannson et al. 2020).



Figure 1.1. An example of individual recognition from unique pelage patterns. Here the unique spot patterns of a male leopard are compared, and two identifying features are highlighted (red circles).

A recent review of SCR models and camera trapping by Green *et al.* (2020) also highlighted that the precision of density estimates using SCR techniques was limited, as less than a quarter of published studies reported high precision (coefficient of variation $\leq 20\%$) in their density estimates. These findings could limit the ability of SCR modelling to identify linear trends in density over time, with the likelihood of detecting population decline reduced when the precision of estimates is lowered (Green *et al.* 2020). However, it should be noted that estimates from SCR modelling often produce a higher degree of precision than most conventional methods, such as track counts and home range density estimation (e.g., Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Devens *et al.* 2018; Dröge *et al.* 2020). Furthermore, the benefits of individual recognition over multiple surveys, which are overlooked in indirect methods, provide additional metrics and early indicators of population decline, such as reduced survival rates and skewed sex ratios (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020b; Harihar *et al.* 2020).

1.4.3 Camera trapping and behavioural research

The recent technological and analytical advances in camera trapping have also provided novel opportunities for quantifying behavioural traits and interspecific interactions for large carnivores (Rowcliffe *et al.* 2014; Frey *et al.* 2020). Aspects of large carnivore behaviour, such as daily activity levels, habitat use, movement (i.e., home range estimation) and spatiotemporal partitioning, that can be difficult to quantify in field studies, can all be investigated using camera traps and are becoming increasingly popular (Burton *et al.* 2015; Caravaggi *et al.* 2017). Previously employed methods for studying animal behaviour, for example, direct observations or VHF/GPS telemetry, have significant disadvantages when analysing behaviour, including limited sample sizes, the use of invasive techniques (e.g., live animal capture) and expensive operating costs (Hebblewhite & Haydon, 2010). In contrast, remote camera trapping provides a non-invasive opportunity for studying population and community-level processes, often across larger spatial and temporal scales than would be feasible with other methods (Burton *et al.* 2015; Cusack *et al.* 2017; Frey *et al.* 2020).

1.5 Decline of large carnivores in Africa and the need for population assessment

Throughout Africa, both inside and outside protected areas, there is a growing imbalance between large carnivore and human populations (Woodroffe, 2000; Jones *et al.* 2018). Across landscapes, populations of apex predators (e.g., lion, leopard, spotted hyaena, African wild dog, cheetah) are suffering substantial declines, due to poaching (Lindsey *et al.* 2013a; Wolf & Ripple, 2016), habitat loss (Riggio *et al.* 2013; Pitman *et al.* 2017), human-wildlife conflict

(Mkonyi *et al.* 2017; LeFlore *et al.* 2019) and disease (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1999; Canning *et al.* 2019). Simultaneously, human population density and population growth are increasing annually across Africa (Gerland *et al.* 2014). The expansion of anthropogenic impacts puts additional strain on protected areas, as encroachment on habitats and human-induced mortality increase (Hansen *et al.* 2013; Jones *et al.* 2018; Everatt *et al.* 2019).

Large carnivores have suffered substantial range contractions across Africa, on average losing 68.16% of their historical range (range = 27.2% - 93.7%, Wolf & Ripple, 2017). This is of great concern for the conservation management of large carnivores, as populations are increasingly restricted to protected area networks (Bauer *et al.* 2015; Pacifici *et al.* 2020). For example, the lion population across Africa has lost ~75% of its original habitat, and viable populations are now restricted to only a few large, protected areas, with all but four African countries observing a decline in population numbers (Riggio *et al.* 2013; Bauer *et al.* 2015). In many protected areas, common sources of prey, such as ungulates, are also targeted for the bushmeat trade (Lindsey *et al.* 2013a; Lindsey *et al.* 2017). This trade further intensifies the pressures on large carnivores, as carnivore prey preference overlaps significantly with target species for bushmeat poaching (e.g., Henschel *et al.* 2011), often forcing predators outside protected areas in search of prey and into further conflict with humans.

Whilst the continued decline of large carnivore populations in Africa is widely acknowledged, large areas across the continent lack baseline data on population status, interspecific interactions, and ecological requirements (Bauer *et al.* 2015; Jacobson *et al.* 2016; Durant *et al.* 2017). This issue is particularly relevant in Africa, with Martin *et al.* (2012) highlighting that, based on land area, Africa is the second most understudied global region in terms of ecological research. This paucity of data on population status and ecological interactions, limits the efficacy of conservation initiatives at all levels (Delsink *et al.* 2013; Henschel *et al.* 2014). In addition, previous reviews have highlighted discrepancies between areas where research

effort has been focused and those in most urgent need of assessment (Balme *et al.* 2014; Pototsky & Cresswell, 2020). For instance, Henschel *et al.* (2014) observed that of the 463 articles available on African lion up until 2005, there was not a single article that focused solely on the critically endangered West African population. The omittance of these data from large portions of the continent are largely due to logistical, financial, and political constraints (Pototsky & Cresswell, 2020). For example, civil war has meant that the population status of African wild dogs in Angola has only recently been updated for the first time in forty years (Overton *et al.* 2020), whilst logistical and financial difficulties meant that regionwide density estimates for lions in West Africa were also overlooked until recently, hampering effective management (Henschel *et al.* 2014).

The paucity of accurate population data and ecological information for large carnivores across entire countries, major habitats and individual protected areas has hindered effective conservation management at all levels (Ray *et al.* 2005; Pitman *et al.* 2015). For instance, density estimates produced by Martin & de Meuleneur (1988) for African leopard across their range are still used in several countries (e.g., Mozambique, Namibia, Tanzania) to set hunting quotas (Strampelli *et al.* 2018). However, the estimates of Martin & de Meuleneur (1988) have been widely reported as inaccurate due to their model's reliance on rainfall data and the omittance of key factors regarding leopard population dynamics, such as human-induced mortality and prey availability (Norton, 1990; Balme *et al.* 2010). Furthermore, recent studies have highlighted discrepancies between estimates used for justifying hunting quotas and the current status of leopard populations in corresponding protected areas (Strampelli *et al.* 2018; Trouwborst *et al.* 2020). Similar issues relating to the paucity of reliable data, standardised methods, and the efficacy of associated conservation policies, have been highlighted for lion (Lindsey *et al.* 2013b; Macdonald, D.W. *et al.* 2017; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a), cheetah (Weise *et al.* 2017) and wild dog (Nicholson *et al.* 2020) across their geographic ranges.

Interspecific interactions and avoidance behaviour within the large carnivore guild play an integral role in maintaining ecosystem function and regulating trophic communities (Caro & Stoner, 2003; Ripple et al. 2014). The ecological impact and potential for cascading ecosystem effects are particularly strong in Africa, as the large carnivore guild is still relatively intact in comparison to most other parts of the world (Dröge et al. 2017). Yet, largely due to their cryptic nature and naturally low abundance, relatively little is known about niche partitioning and interspecific interactions between the African carnivore guild across large sections of their range and in diverse community assemblages (Havmøller et al. 2020b; Rafig et al. 2020b). The extent to which large carnivores can display behavioural plasticity, adapting their position along niche axes to facilitate intraguild coexistence in response to shifting environmental factors, differs between species (Dröge et al. 2017; Everatt et al. 2019; Vogel et al. 2019). As pressure on African ecosystems intensifies, from sources such as resource availability (Rich et al. 2017; Creel et al. 2018), human activity (Gaynor et al. 2018; Green & Holekamp, 2019) and climate change (Rabaiotti & Woodroffe, 2019), further changes in spatiotemporal behaviour, diet and guild dynamics are predicted (Tilman et al. 2017; Shamoon et al. 2018). Understanding community dynamics, and the potential impact that shifts in these dynamics may have at a population level is, therefore, important for informing conservation management decisions and predicting potential alterations in community structure from changing environmental factors (Rafig et al. 2020b).

Without robust data on which to base management decisions, and the ability to effectively monitor population trends and identify drivers of decline, the continued reduction of carnivore populations across large sections of their geographical range will likely continue. There is, therefore, a need for further investigation into the status of regional carnivore populations, estimating population density alongside levels of interspecific competition and ecological requirements, to promote a shift towards evidence-based conservation management (Sutherland *et al.* 2004; Balme *et al.* 2014; Durant *et al.* 2017).

1.6 Aims of study

This thesis has two distinct research themes: 1) the need for effective population monitoring of large carnivores at all levels of conservation management, and 2) examining levels of interspecific competition and mechanisms of coexistence in a large carnivore guild impacted by human disturbance (Figure 1.2). This study will assess the population status and intraguild dynamics between large carnivores in Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi, a miombo woodland and a site experiencing high anthropogenic disturbance. Further justification of study site selection and rationale is provided in **Chapter Three**. These data will be used to implement effective conservation management in KNP and can also be used as baseline data to inform conservation strategies across Malawi and miombo woodlands in south-central Africa. As one of the last viable protected areas in Malawi, effective management and protection of large carnivore populations in KNP is a regional conservation priority.

This PhD thesis aims to:

- Critically evaluate the current survey techniques for estimating spotted hyaena density and provide recommendations for improved population monitoring. In Chapter Two I will review the current literature on spotted hyaena population estimates, evaluate available survey techniques and make recommendations to improve future estimates and population monitoring across the species' range.
- 2. Estimate the density of large carnivore populations in KNP, Malawi, using a spatial partial identity model in a spatial capture-recapture framework. In Chapter Four I estimate the density and conservation status of large carnivore populations in KNP. These estimates are novel at a local, national, and international

scale, as the first leopard density estimates for KNP, Malawi and a miombo woodland habitat. Estimates of the population status of spotted hyaena and other large carnivore species are the first published estimates for KNP and Malawi.

- 3. Analyse the spatiotemporal dynamics of the remaining large carnivore populations in KNP and identify the drivers of habitat use. In Chapter Five I quantify the spatiotemporal dynamics between the remaining leopard and spotted hyaena populations in KNP. In the absence of other resident members of the large carnivore guild, this chapter considers how interspecific competition and intraguild dynamics may be altered and considers the potential conservation implications of adapting spatiotemporal behaviours.
- 4. Determine the diet of leopard and spotted hyaena and assess levels of dietary overlap as a proxy for interspecific competition. In Chapter Six I aim to quantify the level of dietary overlap between leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP, whilst providing an initial insight into the dietary composition of both large carnivores. Large mammal species have declined in KNP, due to poaching pressure, and this chapter assesses the potential for interspecific competition when prey availability is reduced.

1.7 Structure of thesis

Using the spotted hyaena as a model species, **Chapter Two** investigates the issues highlighted in sections 1.4 and 1.5 and evaluates the existing survey techniques to estimate large carnivore density. As the most abundant large carnivore in Africa, with an extensive geographic range, spotted hyaena are a good model species that exemplify the issues facing the wider carnivore guild. I review the literature available on spotted hyaena population estimates and critically evaluate the efficacy of current survey techniques for estimating population density. I advocate the greater utilisation of SCR methods and a unified framework to provide robust population estimates to effectively guide conservation management and policy decisions for the species.

In **Chapter Three** I introduce my study site, KNP, Malawi, and provide a wider background on Malawi and miombo woodlands. Miombo woodland is the primary habitat in KNP and a habitat for which data is lacking on large carnivore population density and behavioural ecology. Malawi is under intense pressure from anthropogenic disturbance, with a high human population density and a reliance on natural resources. I provide a summary of the decline in both protected area health and large carnivore populations in Malawi, before providing an overview of KNP and its importance to regional conservation efforts.

Chapter Four estimates population density for leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP between 2016 and 2018. In this chapter I provide the first published density estimates for both leopard and spotted hyaena in Malawi, whilst also providing the first estimates of leopard density in a miombo woodland habitat. I present evidence on the current status of other large carnivores in KNP, notably the presence of dispersing lion and African wild dog. I evaluate the use of the spatial partial identity model (SPIM) for providing robust density estimates comparable to conventional SCR models. This study is the first to apply SPIM in an African ecosystem and one of the first published applications of this novel technique since its inception (Augustine *et al.* 2018). I show that SPIM offers improvement for estimating density where individual

identity is not always certain from single flank images, offering a preferable analytical framework to address the common issue of uncertain identity in camera trap datasets.

Chapter Five assesses the spatiotemporal dynamics of the remaining leopard and spotted hyaena populations in KNP. Leopard and spotted hyaena persist at similar low densities in KNP, and in the absence of a resident lion population, I examine the intraguild dynamics of the remaining large carnivore guild and the drivers of habitat use. I show that the presence of leopard and spotted hyaena is driven by the presence of preferred prey species and this increases the likelihood of interaction between the large carnivore guild. In addition, I present further evidence of leopard temporal sexual segregation, a finding that has only recently been identified in the literature by Havmøller *et al.* (2020b). Examination of temporal activity rates suggests that female leopards are active for almost 20% longer of the daily cycle than sympatric carnivores, an observation that may have implications for individual fitness and survival rates.

In **Chapter Six** I examine the diet of both leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP and assess the dietary overlap between the two species. Building on the results from **Chapter Five**, which assesses the level of interaction between leopard and spotted hyaena along the two niche axes of space and time, this chapter looks at the remaining niche axis, resource partitioning. Dietary segregation is a common strategy to facilitate coexistence in carnivore guilds where guild members cannot avoid spatiotemporal interaction (e.g., du Preez *et al.* 2017). This chapter reports the first insight into the dietary ecology of both species in KNP, whilst adding to the limited literature on dietary partitioning in sites of reduced prey abundance and high levels of anthropogenic disturbance.

I conclude the thesis with **Chapter Seven**, synthesising the results of Chapters 2-6 and assessing the findings of these studies in the wider context of the existing literature. This chapter highlights some of the issues concerning large carnivore population recovery in KNP

and considers potential management solutions to aid in species recovery. I provide recommendations for future monitoring of carnivore populations in KNP, whilst advocating similar research to be undertaken across the understudied protected areas of Malawi.

The status and behavioural ecology of large carnivores in a human-impacted miombo woodland



Figure 1.2. A schematic diagram highlighting the structure of the thesis. Chapters that have been accepted or submitted for publication are displayed, along with respective journal outlets.

CHAPTER TWO

A review of spotted hyaena population estimates highlights the need for greater utilisation of spatial capture-recapture methods



CHAPTER TWO: A review of spotted hyaena population estimates highlights the need for greater utilisation of spatial capturerecapture methods

Robert S. Davis^a, Louise K. Gentle^a, Emma L. Stone^{b,c}, Antonio Uzal^a, Richard W. Yarnell^a

<u>This chapter was submitted to *Population Ecology* under the following full citation (in review):</u> Davis, R.S., Gentle, L.K., Stone, E.L., Uzal, A. & Yarnell, R.W. (2021). A review of spotted hyaena population estimates highlights the need for greater utilisation of spatial capturerecapture methods. Submitted 25/05/2021.

^a School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Brackenhurst Campus, Southwell, Nottinghamshire, NG25 0QF, United Kingdom.

^b Department of Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, United Kingdom.

^c Conservation Research Africa & Carnivore Research Malawi, C/O Barefoot Safaris, NRC Road, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Cover image: A spotted hyaena responding to a call-in in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. **Photo credit:** Owen Slater.

Keywords

camera trapping, carnivore conservation, Crocuta crocuta, density estimation, Malawi, Panthera pardus, spatial capture–recapture

Abstract

As apex predators with a regulating effect on interspecific competitors and prey demographics, monitoring of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) population trends can provide a reliable indicator of ecosystem health. Robust estimates of population density are, therefore, critical for effective conservation management. However, the ability of current survey techniques to monitor large carnivore population trends effectively are increasingly questioned. This has led recent studies to advocate increased application of spatial capture-recapture (SCR) methods to estimate population density for large carnivores. Therefore, we reviewed the literature regarding methods used to estimate population density for spotted hyaena between 2000 and 2021. Our review found that SCR methods are currently underutilised for estimating spotted hyaena density, with only six published studies (12% of articles assessed) using an SCR approach. Call-in surveys were the most frequently used method, featuring in 43% of studies. However, 59% of studies that used call-in surveys could not estimate a site-specific calibration index. The calibration index estimates the distance and rate at which the focal species responds to audio lures and, as response rates are impacted by site-specific ecological and environmental factors, studies that could not calibrate this index are likely inaccurate. Further application of SCR techniques will allow more robust estimation of spotted hyaena density, reducing the wide confidence margins and potential overestimation that limit inference from existing survey methods. We advocate the use of SCR techniques to produce further estimates of spotted hyaena density and improve conservation management decisions.

2.1 Introduction

Robust population estimates play a pivotal role in the implementation of effective conservation management strategies, reintroduction efforts and monitoring schemes (Hayward *et al.* 2015). As large carnivore populations continue to experience wide-scale declines (Ripple *et al.* 2014), robust methods for assessing density and population trends must be at the forefront of evidence-based conservation management (Hayward *et al.* 2015; Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017). However, accurate data are often lacking for large carnivores, due to their cryptic behaviour and naturally low densities (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017). In addition, available estimates are often outdated, overestimated or subject to wide confidence intervals (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a). The paucity of reliable data can impact the management of target species and, inadvertently, have a cascading effect on the management of other vulnerable species. For example, intraguild competition can have a detrimental effect on threatened or reintroduced carnivores, such as cheetah (*Acinonyx jubatus*) and African wild dog (*Lycaon pictus*), so reliable density estimates for sympatric large carnivores can provide a valuable metric for reintroduction success (Darnell *et al.* 2014; Weise *et al.* 2015).

2.1.1 Spotted hyaena: indicators of ecosystem health

Spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) are widespread, social carnivores that occupy a broad range of habitats in sub-Saharan Africa, from sparse deserts to montane woodlands and suburban areas (Holekamp *et al.* 2012; Yirga *et al.* 2014). As the most abundant large carnivore in Africa (Watts & Holekamp, 2008), spotted hyaena are routinely overlooked as a species of conservation concern. However, the spotted hyaena is often maligned and subject to high levels of persecution, particularly outside protected areas (Bohm & Höner, 2015). In addition, threats such as loss of natural prey, human-wildlife conflict and susceptibility to wire snaring and poisoning, are contributing to declines in spotted hyaena populations across Africa (Frank *et al.* 2011; Bohm & Höner, 2015; Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Loveridge *et al.* 2020). Loveridge *et al.*

(2020) highlighted that wire-snaring is a particular conservation concern, with spotted hyaena representing 92% of large carnivore snaring records in the Zimbabwean region of the Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area and, as such, the species' conservation status warrants further attention.

Spotted hyaena density varies greatly across their geographic range, from 0.85/100km² in arid environments (Fouché *et al.* 2020) up to 165/100km² in prey-rich East African savanna ecosystems (Watts & Holekamp, 2008). As a dominant member of the large carnivore guild, spotted hyaena play an integral role in ecosystem services by regulating prey numbers, providing carrion for scavengers, and influencing carnivore dynamics through interspecific competition (Périquet *et al.* 2015; Green *et al.* 2018). Furthermore, spotted hyaena exhibit high levels of behavioural plasticity that enable them to persist in landscapes where other carnivores cannot compete (Holekamp & Dloniak, 2010; Green *et al.* 2019). High behavioural plasticity makes spotted hyaena good models for assessing environmental change and monitoring wider ecosystem health (Trinkel, 2009; Green *et al.* 2018; Green *et al.* 2019). For example, increasing spotted hyaena population density can be an early indicator of competitive release from the regulating effect of competition with lions (*Panthera leo*) and signify declining trends in sympatric carnivores (M'soka *et al.* 2016; Green *et al.* 2018).

2.1.2 Current methods limit inference

Uncertainty regarding estimates of population size or density often stems from underlying issues with the survey methodologies employed for large carnivores. The challenges associated with surveying elusive, wide-ranging and often nocturnal large carnivores, combined with the need for rapid and cost-effective survey methods, has led to extensive use of index-calibrated methods to survey large carnivores (Mills *et al.* 2001; Funston *et al.* 2010; Winterbach *et al.* 2016). Index-calibrated methods assume a stable linear relationship between a measurable

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

index (e.g., number of tracks or scats per km searched) and true population density (Funston *et al.* 2010) and, as these methods tend not to rely on direct observations, they are quicker and cheaper to conduct than more labour-intensive methods such as camera trapping or search-encounter techniques (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Midlane *et al.* 2015).

In Africa, the use of two index-calibrated methods, track counts and call-in surveys, have frequently been employed to estimate density for spotted hyaena and other large carnivores (Croes *et al.* 2011; Aebischer *et al.* 2020; Henschel *et al.* 2020). However, the capacity of index-calibrated methods to account for variance in detection probability and spatial heterogeneity, whilst overestimating the precision of the putative index to successfully predict true density, has led to concerns that these methods produce spurious estimates and wide error margins (Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2015; Belant *et al.* 2019; Dröge *et al.* 2020). In some cases, confidence intervals do not include the true population size (Belant *et al.* 2019; Dröge *et al.* 2017). Consequently, numerous authors have cautioned against the widespread application of index-calibrated methods to infer population trends and inform management and policy decisions (e.g., Rosenblatt *et al.* 2014; Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2015; Hayward *et al.* 2015; Dröge *et al.* 2020).

Call-in surveys, whereby acoustic lures (i.e., prey distress sounds or carnivore social calls) are played from a calling station and a calibration response index applied to estimate population size from the response rate (Mills *et al.* 2001), are commonly used to survey spotted hyaena and lion populations. Despite the popularity of this method, call-in surveys have several limitations that reduce the precision and inference of results (Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Dröge *et al.* 2020). The calibration index is a key assumption in call-in surveys that determines the distance at which animals respond to the acoustic lure (see Mills *et al.* 2001 for a description

of the required experiment). Conducting call-in calibration experiments is difficult in dense habitats or areas where animals are not well habituated (Bauer, 2007; Cozzi *et al.* 2013). As a result, researchers are often reliant on previous calibration estimates that may not accurately reflect their study site or population and, consequently, impact the precision of results (Kirsten *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, attempts to estimate response radius in areas of low density and restricted access can add further time constraints and financial costs, with potentially negative consequences for habituation (Midlane *et al.* 2015).

2.1.3 Emergence of spatial capture-recapture

In the last two decades, spatial capture-recapture (SCR) modelling has emerged as a reliable and robust technique from which to estimate population density (Efford, 2004; Borchers & Efford, 2008; Royle, Fuller & Sutherland, 2018). SCR methods utilise the spatial information associated with individual encounter history data to model the movement and distribution of individuals across a defined state space (Royle et al. 2014). The incorporation of a spatially explicit framework distinguishes SCR from conventional capture-recapture models, thereby addressing the challenges of buffering, heterogeneity in detection probability and trap-level variation that limited inference from traditional capture-recapture studies (Royle et al. 2014). SCR methods are commonly associated with camera trap data, where individuals are often identified through their unique pelage patterns, although these models can also be applied to DNA sampling, acoustic surveys and search-encounter methods, and have been used to estimate density for a wide-range of global taxa (e.g., Sutherland et al. 2016; Sun et al. 2017; López-Bao et al. 2018; Balme et al. 2019). As SCR models have developed to incorporate additional covariates (e.g., age and sex; Sollmann et al. 2011) and supplementary data (e.g., movement data from radio/GPS collars; Royle et al. 2013), the use of SCR has become the standard method for obtaining reliable population estimates for many species with unique identification features (Royle, Fuller & Sutherland, 2018). Despite the growing application and

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

sophistication of SCR models, recent studies have highlighted that SCR approaches have been underutilised for multiple large carnivore species, including lions (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a), snow leopards (*Panthera uncia*; Alexander *et al.* 2015; Sharma & Singh, 2020) and wolves (*Canis lupus*; López-Bao *et al.* 2018).

In this study we review and critically assess the literature on spotted hyaena population estimates and survey methodologies by 1) evaluating the survey methods used to estimate spotted hyaena density and their geographical distribution; 2) discussing the limitations of current spotted hyaena survey methodology; and 3) highlighting the potential for future utilisation of SCR methods, whilst identifying possible survey considerations within the SCR framework for estimating spotted hyaena density.

2.2 Materials and Methods

We followed the protocol of Braczkowski *et al.* (2020a) to conduct our literature review and searched for peer-reviewed articles on two comprehensive databases: Web of Science and Google Scholar. We used the following keyword combinations to search for peer-reviewed literature: "spotted hyaena" AND "density" OR "population size" OR "numbers". We then repeated this process, replacing the keyword "spotted hyaena" with "*Crocuta crocuta*" (accounting for the English/US spelling hyaena/hyena) and the same density keyword variations. To remove bias in our search we limited the date range from 2000 to 2020, as SCR models were only developed towards the end of the 20th Century (Royle *et al.* 2014). We checked all search pages for the Web of Science results but limited our Google Scholar results to the first 100 articles. All articles were inspected, and excluded where: 1) there were no population estimates, 2) previous or unpublished estimates of density or population size were cited; and/or 3) the survey method used was not explicitly stated. For studies that matched our criteria, we recorded the survey method used to estimate population size or density and calculated the total proportion of articles each method featured in. Table 2.1 provides

definitions of survey methods documented in the literature to estimate spotted hyaena density. For studies that used call-in survey methods we also recorded if the study was able to calibrate a site-specific response rate.

We assessed the spatial coverage of published estimates to determine any geographical preference for individual survey techniques. We recorded the country of each study and calculated the total number of studies per country. We documented the survey method used in each study and, using the geographic regions documented by the African Union (African Union, 2020), calculated the total number of times each method was used per region.

Survey method	Definition	Key literature
Call-in survey	Audio lures (prey distress calls and/or carnivore social calls) are played through loudspeakers to attract large	Mills et al. 2001; Ferreira
	carnivores. The number of responding individuals are recorded and a calibration index applied, whereby the maximum	& Funston, 2016.
	distance a species will respond from is calculated.	
Tracely accurate	Summers are often read based and consist of driving transacts at alow areads. Tracks encountered are identified to	Exector of al 2010.
Track count	Surveys are often road based and consist of driving transects at slow speeds. Tracks encountered are identified to	Funston <i>et al.</i> 2010;
	species level, from which track density per 100km is calculated. Previously estimated models for substrate type and	Winterbach et al. 2016
	species (see key literature) are then applied to predict true density.	
Spatial capture-	SCR models make use of the spatial location of encounter history data to determine an individual's activity centre and	Borcher & Efford, 2008;
recapture (SCR)	uses these data to estimate the density of activity centres across a precisely defined polygon, known as the state space,	Royle et al. 2014
	which contains the trap array. Can be applied to several types of trapping data, e.g., camera trapping, DNA sampling,	
	mist netting, cover boards/refugia.	

Table 2.1. Definitions of survey methods used to estimate spotted hyaena density and key literature that details each methodology.

Capture-recapture	Individually unique identifiers (e.g., pelage patterns, ear tags) are used to gather encounter history data. Abundance	Otis et al. 1978; Karanth
	estimates are calculated based on the number of individuals captured and frequency of recaptures. Density can then	& Nichols, 1998
	be obtained by estimating an effective trapping area and dividing the abundance estimate by the sampled area.	
Distance sampling	Fixed-width transect surveys are conducted where target animals encountered are recorded, along with distance and	Buckland et al. 2015
	angle from transect intercept. Density can then be calculated by modelling a fitted detection function, that can predict	
	detection probability as a function of distance from the transect line.	
Total count	Population size is estimated by counting all observed individuals over a specified length of time. Counts can use	Gese, 2001
	individual identification to limit the effect of double counting.	

2.3 Results

We reviewed 144 published studies on spotted hyaena from 18 African countries, in 49 different journals. We identified 51 studies, in 25 journals, that contained population estimates and detailed how these estimates were obtained (Appendix I).

2.3.1 Preferred methods for population estimates

Overall, six survey methods were used to estimate spotted hyaena population density. Of the 52 studies assessed, 50 used one survey method (96% of studies) and two used mixed methods. Call-in surveys were the most frequently used method, featuring in 43% of the articles assessed (n = 22 studies; Figure 2.1). Of the 22 studies that used call-in methods, over half (59%) were unable to undertake their own calibration experiments to estimate site-specific response distances of spotted hyaena. Index-calibrated methods (call-in surveys and track counts) were used in 63% of studies (n = 33 studies). SCR methods were used in six studies, 12% of articles, with only one study published prior to 2019. Camera traps were used to estimate spotted hyaena density in five of the six SCR studies, with a search-encounter method used in one study. Of the six studies that used SCR methods, five of these studies had a multi-species focus, estimating density for spotted hyaena and at least one other species.





Figure 2.1. Survey methods used to obtain estimates of spotted hyaena density or population size and the proportion of reviewed articles that applied each survey method. Insert map shows the location of published studies from sub-Saharan Africa and the number of studies from each country where estimates were available.

2.3.2 Spatial coverage of survey methods

Density estimates were available for spotted hyaena populations in 14 African countries, representing 36% of spotted hyaena range states. Studies from East (49% of studies) and Southern (39% of studies) Africa accounted for the majority of available estimates (Table 2.2). There were six studies (12%) from the Central African region and no population estimates from West Africa. Call-in surveys or track counts were the most frequently used methods in all three regions (East, Central and Southern) where studies had been conducted. All population estimates using total counts and distance sampling were from East Africa, specifically in Kenya and Tanzania. Five of the six population estimates derived from SCR methods were conducted in Southern Africa.

Table 2.2. Number of times individual survey methods were used to estimate spotted hyaena density and/or population size by region and country. Individual survey methods include call-ins, track counts (Track), total counts of individuals (Total), Distance sampling (Distance), Spatial Capture-Recapture (SCR) and Capture-Recapture (CR). Note that the total number of times methods were used here (n = 54) is larger than the number of published studies found in the review (n = 51 studies) as two studies used multiple methods.

	Method						
Region/Country	Call-in	Track	Total	Distance	SCR	CR	
East Africa	12	1	8	3	1	-	
Ethiopia	6	-	-	-	-	-	
Kenya	1	1	5	1	1	-	
Sudan	1	-	-	-	-	-	
Tanzania	3	-	3	2	-	-	
Uganda	1	-	-	-	-	-	
Southern Africa	7	8	-	-	5	2	
Botswana	2	3	-	-	3	-	
Malawi	-	-	-	-	1	-	
Namibia	1	1	-	-	1	1	
South Africa	3	2	-	-	-	-	
Zambia	-	-	-	-	-	1	
Zimbabwe	1	2	-	-	-	-	
Central Africa	3	3	-	-	-	1	
Cameroon	2	2	-	_	-	-	
Central African	1	1	-	-	-	-	
Republic							
Republic of Congo	-	-	-	-	-	1	
TOTAL	22	12	8	3	6	3	

2.4 Discussion

Here we found that SCR methods are currently underutilised for estimating spotted hyaena density, compared to other available methods. However, with five of the six studies using SCR methods published since 2019, this may indicate a growing change in preferred survey methodology. Despite the increase in SCR-derived estimates for spotted hyaena, the number of published studies utilising SCR methods is still relatively low when compared to sympatric carnivores. For example, ~55% of published studies estimating leopard (*Panthera pardus*) density in sub-Saharan Africa, since 2000, used SCR methods (see Appendix II). Spotted hyaena population estimates are also limited to only 14 out of 39 African countries where the species is resident (Bohm & Höner, 2015), which evidences that just under two-thirds of range states lack baseline density estimates. Since spotted hyaena density varies considerably between habitats and with levels of anthropogenic disturbance (Yirga *et al.* 2017; Fouché *et al.* 2020), there is a need for increased reporting of population estimates from understudied regions to inform local conservation management.

2.4.1 Addressing issues with current survey methodologies

Our review indicates that call-in surveys are the most frequently used method for estimating spotted hyaena density. However, calculating a site-specific calibration index to estimate response radius remains a significant challenge. This is highlighted here as over half the published studies were unable to conduct site-specific calibration experiments. In addition, some authors acknowledged that their calibration indices were unreliable and subject to wide confidence limits, owing to small sample sizes (e.g., Ogutu *et al.* 2005). Studies that could not conduct their own calibration experiment often relied on the estimates of Mills *et al.* (2001). A lack of animal habituation and logistical feasibility were often cited as key reasons for not undertaking the calibration experiment. Site-specific differences in habitat structure, competing carnivore densities and anthropogenic disturbance are likely to affect the local

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

response rate of spotted hyaena. Subsequently, it is unlikely these frequently cited calibration indices are widely applicable and corresponding estimates are likely to be inaccurate.

Call-in surveys can also suffer from issues with habituation. For example, Belant *et al.* (2016) found that lions quickly become habituated to audio lures and habituation levels are not reduced by temporal and spatial variation in calls. As a result, calibration experiments may lower species response rates during survey periods. Habituation from repeated call-in surveys could also impact response rates over multi-season surveys, with a lower response rate potentially leading to incorrect assumptions of population decline over time (Belant *et al.* 2016). In addition, response rate to acoustic lures can also be reduced in areas where competing carnivore densities are skewed, or human activity is prevalent (Midlane *et al.* 2015; Kirsten *et al.* 2017). For example, areas of high lion density can limit the response rate of spotted hyaena (Kiffner *et al.* 2007; Kirsten *et al.* 2017), whilst cautious behaviour in areas of increased human disturbance can mean responding individuals are still potentially missed (Bauer, 2007). As such, call-in surveys are often of limited value for multi-species surveys and can be inaccurate in low density areas, where population estimates are often most urgently required.

Call-in surveys are an effective tool for confirming the presence of spotted hyaena, and other large carnivores, in understudied regions where conservation efforts have been restricted. For example, the presence of spotted hyaena and lion in Dinder National Park, Sudan, were recently confirmed through call-in surveys (Mohammed *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, we recognise that call-in surveys are beneficial for obtaining population estimates in areas that are logistically challenging for other survey methods, such as camera trapping. This is highlighted in our review by the sole use of call-in surveys in Ethiopia, where studies were conducted in peri-urban areas that would make the use of other survey techniques difficult (Yirga *et al.* 2014; Yirga *et al.* 2017). Where call-in surveys are conducted, we suggest efforts are made to identify responding individuals (Trinkel, 2009). However, we appreciate that identifying and

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

documenting individuals at call-in surveys is difficult with cautious animals and low visibility habitats (Bauer, 2007). The collection of individual encounter data at call-in surveys would allow these data to be analysed in an SCR framework (Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017) if surveys were repeated, thereby improving precision, avoiding double counting, and accounting for imperfect detection. Going forward, we recommend that call-in surveys either adopt an SCR approach to data collection or the survey method is employed as an initial step to confirm species presence.

Track counts were the second most popular method for estimating spotted hyaena density and were represented in almost a quarter of all published articles. Despite the popularity of track counts, derived population estimates often have wide confidence intervals and overstated precision (Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Belant et al. 2019; Dröge et al. 2020). Low precision stems from unmodelled detection probability and oversimplification of the variance in the relationship between track density and true population density in the initial linear equation (Gopalaswamy et al. 2015; Hayward et al. 2015; Dröge et al. 2020). Dröge et al. (2020) argued that track counts do not comply with IUCN guidelines for population monitoring, as estimates may not be accurate enough to monitor population trends over time. In addition, track counts are reliant on standardised methods and assumptions. A key assumption is that all animals in the surveyed region have the same probability of detection, regardless of environmental (e.g., prey availability, interspecific competition) or anthropogenic (increased human activity) variability (Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Henschel et al. 2020). In the case of spotted hyaena, this assumption is difficult to meet, with spotted hyaena behaviour known to be influenced by human activity (Boydston et al. 2003; Belton et al. 2016), areas of increased prey availability and competition with lions (Périquet et al. 2015). Violating the assumption of equal detection results in underestimation of density (Henschel et al. 2020), with knock on effects for conservation management decisions. It is, therefore, difficult to make a strong case for the future use of track count surveys to monitor spotted hyaena populations.

When analysed in an occupancy framework track counts are efficient and cost-effective for gathering large carnivore presence/absence data, including spotted hyaena. The limitations of track count data are better incorporated into model inference within occupancy models as they account for imperfect detection and allow the use of covariates to model heterogeneity in site-use estimates (MacKenzie *et al.* 2017). Track count data have provided valuable insights into the distribution and drivers of site use for multiple large carnivore species in Africa (e.g., Everatt *et al.* 2014; Henschel *et al.* 2016; Petracca *et al.* 2019) and we encourage further use of occupancy models over index-calibrated density estimates (Dröge *et al.* 2020). However, efforts to estimate density from occupancy models are cautioned against due to variability in spatial use and home-range utilisation (Link *et al.* 2018; Rogan *et al.* 2019).

Distance sampling and total count methods were used in 11 studies to estimate spotted hyaena density or population size, all of which were from Kenya and Tanzania, notable for their wide-open grasslands and high visibility (Durant *et al.* 2011; Farr *et al.* 2019). Whilst these surveys were able to estimate spotted hyaena density, these models are reliant on open habitats and the study species being reasonably habituated to human presence (Durant *et al.* 2011). Furthermore, studies that conducted distance sampling in Kenya and Tanzania were able to observe spotted hyaena during daylight hours (Durant *et al.* 2011). Often spotted hyaena are more nocturnal in areas of anthropogenic disturbance (Kolowski *et al.* 2007). As such, the wider applicability of distance sampling and total counts appears limited, with low capture success in areas of reduced visibility (e.g., dense woodlands) and/or high levels of anthropogenic disturbance making robust estimates unlikely, or requiring intensive survey effort (e.g., Thorn *et al.* 2010; Burton *et al.* 2011). With \geq 60 observations recommended for robust estimates from distance sampling (Buckland *et al.* 2015), and reliable data on observed

distance and angle necessary, these methods are not applicable across a considerable area of the spotted hyaena's geographical range.

Total counts were used in long-term studies in Kenya and Tanzania to assess temporal changes in demography and population size (Höner *et al.* 2005; Green *et al.* 2018). Whilst direct counts employed for spotted hyaena did incorporate individual identification, allowing for more robust estimates of population size and avoidance of double counting, the time and effort required for direct counts is better combined with long-term behavioural studies (Gese, 2001). Certainly, if the aim of conservation practitioners is to compare population trends between sympatric carnivores, total counts are not a replicable model as the survey method is not viable for more cryptic species, such as leopard and cheetah.

2.4.2 Towards robust estimates with SCR

The development of SCR models has overcome several of the issues that limit inference from conventional survey methods for spotted hyaena. Most notably, the incorporation of detection probability and survey effort into SCR models improves the precision of estimates, compared to the wide error margins associated with index-calibrated methods (Broekhuis & Gopalaswamy, 2016; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a). However, a recent review by Green *et al.* (2020) found that some SCR density estimates from camera trapping lacked the necessary precision for monitoring population trends over time, with precision increasing when more individuals from the study population were captured. Inference from large carnivore survey methods is often hampered by naturally low densities and small sample sizes, leading to inaccuracies or cautious estimation of population size (Bauer, 2007; Winterbach *et al.* 2016). As small sample sizes are common in spotted hyaena studies (e.g., Mohammed *et al.* 2019; Fouché *et al.* 2020; Davis *et al.* 2021), by extracting the individual and spatial information from encounter history data, SCR models can be used to make effective use of limited datasets

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

and produce statistically robust estimates (Royle *et al.* 2014; Royle, Fuller & Sutherland, 2018). Furthermore, by accounting for the spatial location of captures, SCR models allow for estimation of fine-scale variation in density across landscapes (Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2012). Covariates of interest (e.g., prey density, illegal activity) can also be included in SCR models to investigate potential drivers of spatial distribution, providing a more comprehensive understanding of species density and distribution, thereby informing conservation management (Broekhuis & Gopalaswamy, 2016; Ramesh *et al.* 2017).

Current preferred survey methods for spotted hyaena fail to capitalise on the benefits of individual identification, which can provide additional metrics for assessing population health (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a). Information on animal movement, sex ratios and survival rates are embedded within individual encounter history data (Karanth *et al.* 2006). Key indicators of population decline, or recovery, can be assessed by monitoring key parameters derived from individual identification (Harmsen *et al.* 2017; Brackzkowski *et al.* 2020a). For example, Duangchantrasiri *et al.* (2016) used survival rates from repeated SCR surveys to determine the efficacy of increased law enforcement efforts for tiger (*Panthera tigris*) population recovery. Using sex-specific movement parameters and calculated sex ratios derived from SCR estimates, Braczkowski *et al.* (2020b) highlighted increased home range movements and male-biased sex ratios as early indicators of potential collapse in lion population numbers.

In addition, the SCR approach is flexible, lending itself to direct (e.g., search-encounter; Broekhuis & Gopalaswamy, 2016) and indirect (e.g., camera trapping; Rich *et al.* 2019) methods, allowing researchers to select appropriate methodologies for their study site and population. As spotted hyaena occupy a diverse array of habitats and display varying behavioural responses to anthropogenic disturbance (Belton *et al.* 2016; Yirga *et al.* 2017), the flexibility of applying SCR models to individual encounter history data provides a standardised framework to monitor the species throughout their range. For example, the open grassland habitats of East Africa would be appropriate for search-encounter methods, as spotted hyaena are regularly encountered in daylight hours and distance sampling techniques are a viable approach. Furthermore, the dense vegetation and high levels of human disturbance documented in countries, such as Cameroon (Croes *et al.* 2011; Kirsten *et al.* 2017), would benefit from applying SCR models to frequently used indirect methods, like camera trapping or DNA sampling.

SCR methods have been widely applied to estimate felid densities across Africa, with camera trap surveys routinely used to obtain encounter history data (e.g., Brassine & Parker, 2015; Kane *et al.* 2015; Balme *et al.* 2019). Spotted hyaena are widely distributed across sub-Saharan Africa and are likely caught as bycatch on camera trap surveys undertaken for sympatric carnivores (e.g., Williams *et al.* 2020). However, spotted hyaena population estimates are rarely reported from these surveys, despite data occasionally being used as covariates to make inferences about the behaviour or density of the focal species (e.g., Ramesh *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019). Of the six studies using SCR methods to estimate spotted hyaena density, 83% of studies had a multi-species focus (e.g., O'Brien & Kinnaird, 2011; Rich *et al.* 2019; Davis *et al.* 2021; Vissia *et al.* 2021). Thereby highlighting that SCR estimates for spotted hyaena can be obtained from camera trap grids with a multi-species focus. Increased reporting of spotted hyaena density, from studies where they may have been previously overlooked, would be beneficial for the conservation management of spotted hyaena and interspecific competitors.

One of the limitations of an SCR approach is the cost of equipment and/or survey effort (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Rafiq *et al.* 2019; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a). We acknowledge that call-in surveys and track counts are often cheaper to conduct (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009). However, the improvements in precision and benefits of individual identification for long-term population monitoring means that SCR-derived estimates can provide a greater balance of accuracy and cost-effectiveness (Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2009; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a).
Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

In addition, the multi-species SCR approaches of both Rich *et al.* (2019), using camera traps, and Rafiq *et al.* (2019), using tourist photographic records, demonstrate the ability of SCR techniques to survey multiple large carnivore species simultaneously, thereby optimising survey costs. In areas where there is high tourism demand, the citizen science approach of Rafiq *et al.* (2019) has shown that SCR estimates are obtainable at considerably reduced costs. Where a citizen science approach is not possible, a viable option for reducing camera trap survey costs is the utilisation of spatial partial identity models (Augustine *et al.* 2018) which can produce robust SCR estimates from partial identity samples obtained using single camera trap stations, instead of the conventional dual camera survey design (Davis *et al.* 2021).

Sexing spotted hyaena, particularly from camera trap images, could be a potential constraint of SCR methods for estimating spotted hyaena density. Sex-specific variation in space use and movement result in differences in detection probability and, where possible, should be incorporated into candidate models (Sollmann *et al.* 2011). However, movement patterns between male and female spotted hyaena are known to differ (Boydston *et al.* 2005; Kolowski *et al.* 2007) and the species is notoriously difficult to sex. Therefore, incorrect classification could result in skewed sex ratios and reduced accountability for heterogeneity in the observation process. Consequently, any attempt to incorporate sex-specific variation should be reliant on agreement between multiple trained observers or, in the case of long-term research projects, the incorporation of maintained identification databases to ascertain sex. Alternatively, aging spotted hyaena based on their spot patterns and coat wear is relatively easy (e.g., age groupings in M'soka *et al.* 2016). As movement patterns also vary between age groups in spotted hyaena (Boydston *et al.* 2005), the incorporation of age classes into SCR models could improve model inference whilst accounting for variation in detection probability.

A key assumption of SCR models is that individual activity centres are uniformly and independently distributed over the state space (a region that incorporates the study area and a

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

defined buffer which includes all potential activity centres for sampled individuals; Royle et al. 2014). However, this assumption is often violated in social, group-living carnivores (e.g., lions, wolves), potentially influencing precision and affecting the underlying state process model (Bischof et al. 2020). As spotted hyaena are social carnivores, living in clans ranging from 5-90 individuals (Holekamp et al. 2012), these assumptions represent a possible source of bias in SCR-derived estimates. Despite their close-knit social groups, spotted hyaena display fission-fusion dynamics, whereby clan members are often found alone or in smaller subgroups that are subject to compositional change, and, as such, individual encounter history data is often collected. For example, Stratford et al. (2019) found that 62% of recorded camera trap images of spotted hyaena were lone individuals. As individual movements represent a large proportion of encounter history data, the impact on precision and interval coverage will likely be reduced (see Bischof et al. 2020). Indeed, simulations by Lopez-Bao et al. (2018) have shown that SCR models can provide reliable outputs for species violating assumptions of dependence in activity centres. However, further development of SCR models that can incorporate fission-fusion dynamics and group association into the state point process are required (Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Bischof et al. 2020).

2.5 Conclusions

Call-in surveys and track counts are currently the preferred methods for estimating spotted hyaena density. However, the efficacy of these methods has recently been questioned for long-term population monitoring (Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2015; Dröge *et al.* 2020; Elliot *et al.* 2020). In comparison, SCR methods have the potential to monitor population change and assess trends in survival (by including individual identification and movement parameters), whilst incorporating environmental attributes (e.g., prey density) and demographic covariates (Karanth *et al.* 2006; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020b). Index-calibrated methods account for almost two-thirds of available spotted hyaena estimates but often overestimate density or are subject

Chapter Two: Improving population estimates for spotted hyaena

to wide confidence intervals, creating uncertainty in population size and stability (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a; Dröge *et al.* 2020). We argue that there should be greater concern for the status of spotted hyaena populations across Africa and increased survey efforts for understudied populations. Similar to recent calls for greater utilisation of SCR methods in the conservation management of lion (Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a) and snow leopard (Sharma & Singh, 2020) populations. Here we recommend adoption of an SCR approach to estimate spotted hyaena density, providing a unified framework for population monitoring across the species' geographic range.

2.6 References

Aebischer, T., Ibrahim, T., Hickisch, R., Furrer, R.D., Leuenberger, C., & Wegmann, D. (2020). Apex predators decline after an influx of pastoralists in former Central African Republic hunting zones. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108326.

AfricanUnion(2020).MemberStates.Availableat:https://au.int/en/member_states/countryprofiles2

Alexander, J.S., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Shi, K., & Riordan, P. (2015). Face value: towards robust estimates of snow leopard densities. *PLoS One*, 10(8), e0134815.

Augustine, B.C., Royle, J.A., Kelly, M. J., Satter, C.B., Alonso, R.S., Boydston, E.E., & Crooks, K.R. (2018). Spatial capture–recapture with partial identity: An application to camera traps. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 12(1), 67-95.

Balme, G., Hunter, L.T.B., & Slotow, R. (2009). Evaluating Methods for Counting Cryptic Carnivores. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 73, 433-441.

Balme, G., Rogan, M., Thomas, L., Pitman, R., Mann, G., Whittington-Jones, G., Midlane, N., Broodryk, M., Broodryk, K., Campbell, M., & Alkema, M. (2019). Big cats at large: Density, structure, and spatio-temporal patterns of a leopard population free of anthropogenic mortality. *Population Ecology*, 61(3), 256-267.

Bauer, H. (2007). Status of large carnivores in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon. *African Journal of Ecology*, 45(3), 448.

Bauer, H., Henschel, P., Packer, C., Sillero-Zubiri, C., Chardonnet, B., Sogbohossou, E.A., De Iongh, H.H., & Macdonald, D.W. (2017). Lion trophy hunting in West Africa: A response to Bouché et al. *PLoS One*, 12(3), p.e0173691.

Belant, J. L., Bled, F., Mkasanga, I.J., Wilton, C.M., Mwampeta, S.B., Beyer, D.E., Mwakilema, W., & Fyumagwa, R. (2019). Track surveys do not provide accurate or precise lion density estimates in Serengeti. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 19, e00651.

Belant, J.L., Bled, F., Wilton, C.M., Fyumagwa, R., Mwampeta, S.B., & Beyer Jr, D.E. (2016). Estimating lion abundance using N-mixture models for social species. *Scientific Reports*, 6, p35920.

Belton, L.E., Cameron, E.Z., & Dalerum, F. (2016). Spotted hyaena space use in relation to human infrastructure inside a protected area. *PeerJ*, 4, e2596.

Bischof, R., Dupont, P., Milleret, C., Chipperfield, J., & Royle, J.A. (2020). Consequences of ignoring group association in spatial capture–recapture analysis. *Wildlife Biology*, 2020(1). doi: 10.2981/wlb.00649

Bohm, T., & Höner, O.R. (2015). *Crocuta crocuta*. *The IUCN Red List of Threatened* Species 2015: e.T5674A45194782.

Borchers, D.L., & Efford, M.G. (2008). Spatially explicit maximum likelihood methods for capture–recapture studies. *Biometrics*, 64(2), 377-385.

Bouché, P., Crosmary, W., Kafando, P., Doamba, B., Kidjo, F.C., Vermeulen, C., & Chardonnet, P. (2016). Embargo on lion hunting trophies from West Africa: An effective measure or a threat to lion conservation?. *PLoS One*, 11(5), e0155763.

Boydston, E.E., Kapheim, K.M., Van Horn, R.C., Smale, L., & Holekamp, K.E. (2005). Sexually dimorphic patterns of space use throughout ontogeny in the spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta). *Journal of Zoology*, 267(3), 271-281. Boydston, E.E., Kapheim, K.M., Watts, H.E., Szykman, M., & Holekamp, K.E. (2003). Altered behaviour in spotted hyenas associated with increased human activity. *Animal Conservation*, 6(3), 207-219.

Braczkowski, A., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Elliot, N.B., Possingham, H.P., Bezzina, A., Maron, M., Biggs, D., & Allan, J.R. (2020a). Restoring Africa's Lions: Start with good counts. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 138.

Braczkowski, A., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Nsubuga, M., Allan, J., Biggs, D., & Maron, M. (2020b). Detecting early warnings of pressure on an African lion (Panthera leo) population in the Queen Elizabeth Conservation Area, Uganda. *Ecological Solutions and Evidence*, 1(1), e12015.

Brassine, E., & Parker, D. (2015). Trapping elusive cats: using intensive camera trapping to estimate the density of a rare African felid. *PLoS One*, 10(12), e0142508.

Broekhuis, F., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2016). Counting cats: Spatially explicit population estimates of cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) using unstructured sampling data. *PLoS One*, 11(5), e0153875.

Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Marques, T.A., & Oedekoven, C.S. (2015). Distance Sampling: Methods and Applications. New York, NY: Springer Publishing.

Burton, A.C., Sam, M.K., Kpelle, D.G., Balangtaa, C., Buedi, E.B., & Brashares, J.S. (2011). Evaluating persistence and its predictors in a West African carnivore community. *Biological Conservation*, 144(9), 2344-2353.

Cozzi, G., Broekhuis, F., McNutt, J.W., & Schmid, B. (2013). Density and habitat use of lions and spotted hyenas in northern Botswana and the influence of survey and ecological variables on call-in survey estimation. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(12), 2937-2956.

Croes, B.M., Funston, P.J., Rasmussen, G., Buij, R., Saleh, A., Tumenta, P.N., & De Iongh, H.
H. (2011). The impact of trophy hunting on lions (Panthera leo) and other large carnivores in the Bénoué Complex, northern Cameroon. *Biological Conservation*, 144(12), 3064-3072.

Darnell, A.M., Graf, J.A., Somers, M.J., Slotow, R., & Gunther, M.S. (2014). Space use of African wild dogs in relation to other large carnivores. *PLoS One*, 9(6), e98846.

Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021) Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53.

Dröge, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Assessing the performance of index calibration survey methods to monitor populations of wide-ranging low-density carnivores. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(7), 3276-3292.

Duangchantrasiri, S., Umponjan, M., Simcharoen, S., Pattanavibool, A., Chaiwattana, S., Maneerat, S., Kumar, N.S., Jathanna, D., Srivathsa, A., & Karanth, K.U. (2016). Dynamics of a low-density tiger population in Southeast Asia in the context of improved law enforcement. *Conservation Biology*, 30(3), 639-648.

Durant, S.M., Craft, M.E., Hilborn, R., Bashir, S., Hando, J., & Thomas, L. (2011). Long-term trends in carnivore abundance using distance sampling in Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(6), 1490-1500.

Efford, M. (2004). Density estimation in live-trapping studies. Oikos, 106(3), 598-610.

Elliot, N.B., Bett, A., Chege, M., Sankan, K., de Souza, N., Kariuki, L., Broekhuis, F., Omondi, P., Ngene, S., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2020). The importance of reliable monitoring methods for the management of small, isolated populations. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 2(7), p.e217.

Elliot, N.B., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2017). Toward accurate and precise estimates of lion density. *Conservation Biology*, 31(4), 934-943.

Everatt, K.T., Andresen, L., & Somers, M.J. (2014). Trophic scaling and occupancy analysis reveals a lion population limited by top-down anthropogenic pressure in the Limpopo National Park, Mozambique. *PLoS One*, 9(6), e99389.

Farr, M.T., Green, D.S., Holekamp, K.E., Roloff, G.J., & Zipkin, E.F. (2019). Multispecies hierarchical modeling reveals variable responses of African carnivores to management alternatives. *Ecological Applications*, 29(2), e01845.

Ferreira, S.M., & Funston, P.J. (2016). Population estimates of spotted hyaenas in the Kruger National Park, South Africa. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 46(2), 61-70.

Fouché, J., Reilly, B.K., de Crom, E.P., Baeumchen, Y.K., & Forberger, S. (2020) Density estimates of spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta) on arid farmlands of Namibia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 563-567.

Frank, L.G., Cotterill, A., Dolrenry, S., & Hazzah, L. (2011). The role of carbofuran in the decline of lions and other carnivores in Kenya. In: Richards, N. (Ed.), *Carbofuran and Wildlife Poisoning: Global Perspectives and Forensic Approaches*. 70–74. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Funston, P.J., Frank, L., Stephens, T., Davidson, Z., Loveridge, A., Macdonald, D.M., Durant, S., Packer, C., Mosser, A., & Ferreira, S.M. (2010). Substrate and species constraints on the use of track incidences to estimate African large carnivore abundance. *Journal of Zoology*, 281(1), 56-65.

Gese, E.M. (2001). Monitoring of terrestrial carnivore populations. In: Gittleman, J.L., Funk,S.M., MacDonald, D.W. & Wayne R.K. (eds.) *Carnivore Conservation*. 372-396. Cambridge,UK: Cambridge University Press & The Zoological Society of London, UK.

Gopalaswamy, A.M., Delampady, M., Karanth, K.U., Kumar, N.S., & Macdonald, D.W. (2015). An examination of index-calibration experiments: counting tigers at macroecological scales. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(9), 1055-1066.

Gopalaswamy, A.M., Royle, J.A., Hines, J.E., Singh, P., Jathanna, D., Kumar, N.S., & Karanth, K.U. (2012). Program SPACECAP: software for estimating animal density using spatially explicit capture–recapture models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(6), 1067-1072.

Green, A.M., Chynoweth, M.W., & Sekercioglu, C.H. (2020). Spatially Explicit Capture-Recapture through Camera Trapping: A Review of Benchmark Analyses for Wildlife Density Estimation. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 473.

Green, D.S., Farr, M.T., Holekamp, K.E., Strauss, E.D., & Zipkin, E.F. (2019). Can hyena behaviour provide information on population trends of sympatric carnivores? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 374(1781), 20180052.

Green, D.S., Johnson-Ulrich, L., Couraud, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2018). Anthropogenic disturbance induces opposing population trends in spotted hyenas and African lions. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(4), 871-889.

Harmsen, B.J., Foster, R.J., Sanchez, E., Gutierrez-González, C.E., Silver, S.C., Ostro, L.E.T.,
Kelly, M.J., Kay, E., & Quigley, H. (2017). Long term monitoring of jaguars in the Cockscomb
Basin Wildlife Sanctuary, Belize; Implications for camera trap studies of carnivores. *PLoS One*, 12(6), e0179505.

Hayward, M.W., Boitani, L., Burrows, N.D., Funston, P.J., Karanth, K.U., MacKenzie, D.I., Pollock, K.H., & Yarnell, R.W. (2015). Ecologists need robust survey designs, sampling and analytical methods. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(2), 286-290.

Henschel, P., Petracca, L.S., Ferreira, S.M., Ekwanga, S., Ryan, S.D., & Frank, L.G. (2020). Census and distribution of large carnivores in the Tsavo national parks, a critical east African wildlife corridor. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 383-398.

Henschel, P., Petracca, L.S., Hunter, L.T., Kiki, M., Sewadé, C., Tehou, A., & Robinson, H.S. (2016). Determinants of distribution patterns and management needs in a critically endangered lion *Panthera leo* population. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 4, 110.

Holekamp, K.E., & Dloniak, S.M. (2010). Intraspecific variation in the behavioral ecology of a tropical carnivore, the spotted hyena. *Advances in the Study of Behavior*, 42, 189-229.

Holekamp, K.E., Smith, J.E., Strelioff, C.C., Van Horn, R.C., & Watts, H.E. (2012). Society, demography and genetic structure in the spotted hyena. *Molecular Ecology*, 21(3), 613-632.

Höner, O.P., Wachter, B., East, M.L., Runyoro, V.A., & Hofer, H. (2005). The effect of prey abundance and foraging tactics on the population dynamics of a social, territorial carnivore, the spotted hyena. *Oikos*, 108, 544-554.

Kane, M.D., Morin, D.J., & Kelly, M.J. (2015). Potential for camera-traps and spatial markresight models to improve monitoring of the critically endangered West African lion (Panthera leo). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(14), 3527-3541.

Karanth, K.U., & Nichols, J.D. (1998). Estimation of tiger densities in India using photographic captures and recaptures. *Ecology*, 79(8), 2852-2862.

Karanth, K.U., Nichols, J.D., Kumar, N.S., & Hines, J.E. (2006). Assessing tiger population dynamics using photographic capture–recapture sampling. *Ecology*, 87(11), 2925-2937.

Kiffner, C., Waltert, M., Meyer, B., & Mühlenberg, M. (2007). Response of lions (Panthera leo LINNAEUS 1758) and spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta ERXLEBEN 1777) to sound playbacks. *African Journal of Ecology*, 46(2), 223-226.

Kirsten, I., Bakker, C.E., Trujilo, L.L., Bour, P., Niomogh, N., Bauer, H., & De Iongh, H.H. (2017). Lion (Panthera leo) and Spotted Hyena (Crocuta crocuta) abundance in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon; trends between 2005 and 2014. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(2), 414-417.

Kolowski, J.M., Katan, D., Theis, K.R., & Holekamp, K.E. (2007). Daily patterns of activity in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(4), 1017-1028.

Link, W.A., Schofield, M.R., Barker, R.J., & Sauer, J.R. (2018). On the robustness of Nmixture models. *Ecology*, 99, 1547-1551.

López-Bao, J.V., Godinho, R., Pacheco, C., Lema, F.J., García, E., Llaneza, L., Palacios, V., & Jiménez, J. (2018). Toward reliable population estimates of wolves by combining spatial capture-recapture models and non-invasive DNA monitoring. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1-8.

Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., Seymour-Smith, J., Hunt, J., Coals, P., O'Donnell, H., Lindsey, P.A., Mandisodza-Chikerema, R., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Evaluating the spatial intensity and demographic impacts of wire-snare bush-meat poaching on large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 244, p.108504.

MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Royle, J.A., Pollock, K.H., Bailey, L., & Hines, J.E. (2017). *Occupancy estimation and modeling: inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence*. London, UK: Elsevier.

Midlane, N., O'Riain, M.J., Balme, G.A., & Hunter, L.T. (2015). To track or to call: comparing methods for estimating population abundance of African lions Panthera leo in Kafue National Park. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(6), 1311-1327.

Mills, M.G.L., Juritz, J.M., & Zucchini, W. (2001). Estimating the size of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) populations through playback recordings allowing for non-response. *Animal Conservation*, 4(4), 335-343.

Mohammed, A., Bauer, H., El Faki, A., & Sillero-Zubiri, C. (2019). Lion and spotted hyaena abundance in Dinder National Park, Sudan. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(2), 316-318.

M'soka, J., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & Droge, E. (2016). Spotted hyaena survival and density in a lion depleted ecosystem: The effects of prey availability, humans and competition between large carnivores in African savannahs. *Biological Conservation*, 201, 348-355.

O'Brien, T.G., & Kinnaird, M.F. (2011). Density estimation of sympatric carnivores using spatially explicit capture–recapture methods and standard trapping grid. *Ecological Applications*, 21(8), 2908-2916.

Ogutu, J.O., Bhola, N., & Reid, R. (2005). The effects of pastoralism and protection on the density and distribution of carnivores and their prey in the Mara ecosystem of Kenya. *Journal of Zoology*, 265(3), 281-293.

Otis, D. L., Burnham, K.P., White, G.C., & Anderson, D.R. (1978). Statistical inference from capture data on closed animal populations. *Wildlife Monographs*, 62, 3-135.

Périquet, S., Fritz, H., & Revilla, E. (2015). The Lion King and the Hyaena Queen: large carnivore interactions and coexistence. *Biological Reviews*, 90(4), 1197-1214.

Petracca, L.S., Funston, P.J., Henschel, P., Cohen, J.B., Maclennan, S., & Frair, J.L. (2019). Modeling community occupancy from line transect data: a case study with large mammals in post-war Angola. *Animal Conservation*, 23(4), 420-433.

Rafiq, K., Bryce, C.M., Rich, L.N., Coco, C., Miller, D.A., Meloro, C., Wich, S.A., McNutt, J.W., & Hayward, M.W. (2019). Tourist photographs as a scalable framework for wildlife monitoring in protected areas. *Current Biology*, 29(14), R681-R682.

Ramesh, T., Kalle, R., Rosenlund, H., & Downs, C.T. (2017). Low leopard populations in protected areas of Maputaland: a consequence of poaching, habitat condition, abundance of prey, and a top predator. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(6), 1964-1973.

Rich, L.N., Miller, D.A., Muñoz, D.J., Robinson, H.S., McNutt, J.W., & Kelly, M.J. (2019). Sampling design and analytical advances allow for simultaneous density estimation of seven sympatric carnivore species from camera trap data. *Biological Conservation*, 233, 12-20.

Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M., Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M.P., & Schmitz, O.J. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343(6167), 1241484.

Rogan, M.S., Balme, G.A., Distiller, G., Pitman, R.T., Broadfield, J., Mann, G.K.H., Whittington-Jones, G.M., Thomas, L.H., & O'Riain, M.J. (2019). The influence of movement on the occupancy–density relationship at small spatial scales. *Ecosphere*, 10(8), e02807.

Rosenblatt, E., Becker, M.S., Creel, S., Droge, E., Mweetwa, T., Schuette, P.A., Watson, F., Merkle, J., & Mwape, H. (2014). Detecting declines of apex carnivores and evaluating their causes: An example with Zambian lions. *Biological Conservation*, 180, 176-186.

Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Sollmann, R., & Gardner, B. (2014). Spatial Capture-Recapture. Waltham, MA, USA: Academic Press.

Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Sun, C.C., & Fuller, A.K. (2013). Integrating resource selection information with spatial capture–recapture. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(6), 520-530.

Royle, J.A., Fuller, A.K., & Sutherland, C. (2018). Unifying population and landscape ecology with spatial capture–recapture. *Ecography*, 41(3), 444-456.

Sharma, R.K., & Singh, R. (2020). Over 100 Years of Snow Leopard Research: A Spatially Explicit Review of the State of Knowledge in the Snow Leopard Range. Gland, Switzerland: WWF.

Sollmann, R., Furtado, M.M., Gardner, B., Hofer, H., Jácomo, A.T., Tôrres, N.M., & Silveira, L. (2011). Improving density estimates for elusive carnivores: accounting for sex-specific detection and movements using spatial capture–recapture models for jaguars in central Brazil. *Biological Conservation*, 144(3), 1017-1024.

Stratford, K., Stratford, S., & Périquet, S. (2019). Dyadic associations reveal clan size and social network structure in fission-fusion society of spotted hyaenas. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(2), 182-192.

Sun, C.C., Fuller, A.K., Hare, M.P., & Hurst, J.E. (2017). Evaluating population expansion of black bears using spatial capture-recapture. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 81(5), 814-823.

Sutherland, C., Muñoz, D.J., Miller, D.A., & Grant, E.H.C. (2016). Spatial capture–recapture: a promising method for analyzing data collected using artificial cover objects. *Herpetologica*, 72(1), 6-12.

65

Thorn, M., Green, M., Bateman, P.W., Cameron, E.Z., Yarnell, R.W., & Scott, D.M. (2010). Comparative efficacy of sign surveys, spotlighting and audio playbacks in a landscape-scale carnivore survey. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 40(1), 77-86.

Trinkel, M. (2009). A keystone predator at risk? Density and distribution of the spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in the Etosha National Park, Namibia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 87(10), 941-947.

Vissia, S., Wadhwa, R., & van Langevelde, F. (2021). Co-occurrence of high densities of brown hyena and spotted hyena in central Tuli, Botswana. *Journal of Zoology*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12873

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2008). Interspecific competition influences reproduction in spotted hyenas. *Journal of Zoology*, 276(4), 402-410.

Weise, F.J., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Munro, S.J., Bowden, A., Venter, C., van Vuuren, M., & van Vuuren, R.J. (2015). Cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*) running the gauntlet: an evaluation of translocations into free-range environments in Namibia. *PeerJ*, 3, e1346.

Williams, K.S., Pitman, R.T., Mann, G.K.H., Whittington-Jones, G., Comley, J., Williams, S.T., Hill, R.A., Balme, G.A., & Parker, D.M. (2020). Utilizing bycatch camera-trap data for broad-scale occupancy and conservation: a case study of the brown hyaena *Parahyaena brunnea*. *Oryx*, 55(2), 216-226.

Winterbach, C.W., Ferreira, S.M., Funston, P.J., & Somers, M.J. (2016). Simplified large African carnivore density estimators from track indices. *PeerJ*, 4, e2662.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), 160252.

Yirga, G., Imam, E., De Iongh, H.H., Leirs, H., Kiros, S., Yohannes, T.G., Teferi, M., & Bauer, H. (2014). Local spotted hyena abundance and community tolerance of depredation in humandominated landscapes in Northern Ethiopia. *Mammalian Biology*, 79(5), 325-330.

Yirga, G., Leirs, H., De Iongh, H.H., Asmelash, T., Gebrehiwot, K., Vos, M., & Bauer, H. (2017). Densities of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) and African golden wolf (Canis anthus) increase with increasing anthropogenic influence. *Mammalian Biology*, 85(1), 60-69.

CHAPTER THREE

Study site and background



CHAPTER THREE: Study site and background

3.1 Malawi

Malawi is a landlocked country situated in south-central Africa, bordered by Tanzania, Zambia, and Mozambique (Figure 3.1). It is classified amongst the world's least-developed countries (FAO, 2013a), with 89.4% of the country living below the \$3.10/day line (OPHI, 2020) and an economy heavily based on agriculture. Malawi has a total land area of 94,276km², relatively small in comparison to other African countries. However, it also has one of the highest population densities in Africa that continues to grow annually (192/people per km²; World Bank Group, 2019). Malawi had an estimated population of 18.6 million people in 2019 and this is projected to double by 2038 (World Bank Group, 2020).

A large proportion of the population relies on subsistence farming, for both income and food security, with 84% of the population living in rural areas (Schaafsma *et al.* 2018). Subsistence farming practices are impacted by climatic factors, such as drought and flooding, resulting in frequent food insecurity issues with more than one-third of the country unable to meet daily calorie requirements (Ecker & Qaim, 2011; Conway *et al.* 2015). As the population of Malawi continues to grow, wide-scale conversion of land for agriculture has increased outside protected areas (Schaafsma *et al.* 2018; van Velden *et al.* 2020). Furthermore, over 97% of Malawian households are reliant on illegally and unsustainably sourced biomass for domestic cooking and heating energy (Republic of Malawi, 2019). Conversion of land for agriculture and reliance on wood for fuel has resulted in Malawi experiencing the highest deforestation rate in Africa (Mapulanga & Naito, 2019). Widespread deforestation has exasperated food security risks, with continuing degradation of natural habitats reducing soil fertility and increasing the risk of flooding (Republic of Malawi, 2010).



Figure 3.1. A map of Malawi, indicating the main cities and towns and its location within south-central Africa. Inset map shows the location of Malawi within Africa.

3.2 Miombo woodlands

The predominant forest cover in Malawi is miombo woodland (Gondwe *et al.* 2019). A seasonally dry tropical woodland, miombo woodlands are characterised by trees of the genera *Brachystegia*, *Julbernardia* and *Isoberlinia*, and perform key ecological functions, such as carbon storage and nutrient cycling, in sub-Saharan Africa (Frost, 1996; Walker & Desanker, 2004). Miombo woodlands form an extensive range across East and Central Southern Africa,

covering approximately 2.7 million km² (Figure 3.2) and making up 10% of the continent's vegetation cover (Ribeiro *et al.* 2012; Gondwe *et al.* 2019). Covering ten African nations, these woodlands extend from Angola in the west to Mozambique and Tanzania in the east. Miombo woodlands are considered one of the world's richest biodiversity hotspots and have been identified as one of five global wilderness areas that should be prioritised for conservation (Mittermeier *et al.* 2003). However, as human population densities increase and the demand for land conversion for agriculture intensifies, widespread deforestation of miombo woodlands continues at an extensive rate (Walker & Desanker, 2004; Bone *et al.* 2016; Gondwe *et al.* 2019). In Malawi, the annual rate of deforestation is between 1.0 - 2.8% (Republic of Malawi, 2010), with Bone *et al.* (2016) estimating that, between 1972 and 2009, 36% of the country's forest cover was lost.



Figure 3.2. Key African vegetation zones with miombo woodlands displayed in dark green. Miombo woodland covers approximately 2.7 million km². (Source: Ribeiro et al. 2012).

Despite the habitat's extensive range, there is a paucity of available data on population estimates for large carnivores, and wildlife populations in general, within miombo woodlands (Frost, 1996; Caro, 1999; Balme *et al.* 2007; Hardouin *et al.* 2020; Strampelli *et al.* 2021). This is potentially due to the challenges associated with surveying miombo woodlands, with high tree density, thick canopy cover and tall seasonal grasses often making direct observation and site accessibility challenging (Caro, 1999; Kiffner *et al.* 2013; Hambrecht *et al.* 2019). In addition, the typically low biomass and density of large mammal species, compared to savanna communities, could also mean that miombo woodlands have been overlooked as a habitat of conservation importance (Frost, 1996; Waltert, Meyer & Kiffner, 2009). For example, miombo woodlands support only 20-30% of the ungulate biomass of savanna habitats with comparable rainfall (Frost, 1996). Subsequently, the lack of baseline estimates of large carnivore density in miombo woodlands makes species monitoring difficult and hampers effective conservation management.

3.3 Decline in protected area health in Malawi

There are currently 99 protected areas (PAs) in Malawi, including five national parks and four wildlife reserves, accounting for almost 23% of the terrestrial land area (World Bank Group, 2018). However, severe under-funding, combined with high rates of deforestation and increasing anthropogenic pressures caused by a growing population, have resulted in wide-scale declines in wildlife populations (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Lindsey *et al.* 2018; Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019; van Velden *et al.* 2020). As one of the poorest African nations, the national parks and PAs have been severely underfunded over recent decades (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). Waterland *et al.* (2015) reported that the Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi (DNPW) had an annual budget of US\$315,000 in 2014, approximately one-third of the department's estimated minimum funding requirement (US\$1,050,000). To put this into context, Packer *et al.* (2013) estimated that a budget between US\$500/year and US\$2,000/year

per km² of protected area is required to conserve large carnivores effectively. With the combined size of Malawi's five national parks being approximately 7,045km², a minimum budget of US\$3,522,500/year would be required in the national parks alone. These financial limitations have led to a widespread shortage of resources and equipment that has restricted the ability of DNPW to maintain park security and manage wildlife populations effectively (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). For example, it was estimated that less than 10% of Parks and Wildlife Assistants (PWAs) had access to basic patrolling equipment (i.e., boots, water bottles, weapons and ammunition), whilst access to critical resources such as vehicles and computers were limited, or items were not in a functioning state (Waterland *et al.* 2015).

This lack of infrastructure and resources has resulted in PAs being subject to high levels of poaching and habitat destruction that have resulted in population declines and localised extirpations (Abbot & Homewood, 1999; Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Staub et al. 2013; Sievert et al. 2018). For example, black rhinoceros (Diceros bicornis) and cheetah were declared extinct in Malawi by the 1990s, although both have subsequently been reintroduced (Bhima & Dudley, 1996; Sievert et al. 2018). Malawi is also considered to be a hub for illegal wildlife crime activity, with wildlife populations inside Malawian PAs targeted for bushmeat poaching and the country used as a transit hub for neighbouring states (Waterland et al. 2015; van Velden et al. 2020). Outside PAs, the consumption and utilisation of wildlife has been unregulated by authorities, resulting in the depletion of many large mammal species, and isolating remaining populations inside PAs (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). For instance, between 1986 and 1996, 7,083 large mammals were officially reported to have been killed in Malawi, of which 22% were illegally poached inside PAs and 78% were killed for animal control outside PAs (Munthali, 1998). In addition, arable land comprises more than 40% of the total land area of Malawi (FAO, 2013b; Figure 3.3), leaving the majority of PAs isolated and restricting animal movements and gene flow (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002).

In recent years, the situation has begun to improve in some PAs across Malawi, with growing investment from local and international conservation organisations. For example, a public-private partnership between the international non-governmental organisation African Parks (AP) and DNPW has seen AP take over management of four PAs in Malawi (Majete Wildlife Reserve, Liwonde National Park, Nkhotakota Wildlife Reserve, Mangochi Forest Reserve) and invest heavily in park security, community initiatives and the re-establishment of wildlife populations (Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019; van Velden *et al.* 2020). In addition, amendments to the National Parks and Wildlife Act in 2017, which substantially increased the penalties for wildlife crime and coincided with expanded national efforts to prevent illegal poaching, has strengthened attempts to protect PAs in Malawi. However, with only ~16% of protected land under private partnerships, and after decades of underfunding, the conservation efforts needed to restore Malawi's PAs are sizeable.

3.4 Conservation status and threats to large carnivores in Malawi

Large carnivores have been the subject of widespread persecution in Malawi, particularly outside PAs. For example, Mésochina *et al.* (2010) reported that between 2006 and 2010 the equivalent of 20% of the Malawi lion population was eliminated by official Problematic Animal Control operations. Recent estimates have highlighted the widespread decline of lion populations in Malawi, with the nationwide population estimated at only 25 (Chardonnet, 2002) and, more recently, 34 (Mésochina *et al.* 2010) individuals. The decline in the Malawi lion population is indicative of a wider decline in large carnivore populations across the country, for which most PAs are data deficient. Consumption of illegally sourced bushmeat is common in Malawi, reaching up to almost 40% of the population, and this has a considerable impact on remaining prey bases (van Velden *et al.* 2020). As the loss of wild prey is a key driver of carnivore decline (Jacobson *et al.* 2016; Wolf & Ripple, 2016), it is likely a significant contributing factor to population losses in Malawi. Coinciding with high rates of bushmeat



Figure 3.3. Map showing land cover in Malawi (2010-2011). Agricultural land cover is prominent outside of protected forested areas and limits habitat connectivity. (Data source: FAO, 2013b).

poaching, the use of illegal wire snares for poaching ungulate species is common in Malawian PAs (Mésochina *et al.* 2010). For example, since AP took over management of Liwonde National Park in 2015 they have removed over 40,000 snares from the park (African Parks, 2021). Wire snares have been identified as a key cause of carnivore decline across Africa (Becker *et al.* 2013; Loveridge *et al.* 2020), and anecdotal evidence suggests that they have caused similar declines in Malawi (Figure 3.4). Habitat fragmentation and human-wildlife conflict have also contributed to large carnivore decline, as high human population densities surrounding PAs, and a continuing decline in forest cover (Gondwe *et al.* 2019), means that carnivores moving outside PAs are increasingly likely to encounter conflict (for example, Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.4. An example of anecdotal evidence indicating the impact of wire snares on large carnivores in Malawi. Here a spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park can be seen with a wire snare around its neck.

The issue of habitat fragmentation and landscape connectivity is likely exacerbated in Malawi due to the size of PAs, with only three PAs larger than 1,000km² (Nyika National Park, 3,200km²; Kasungu National Park, 2,316km²; Nkhotakota Wildlife Reserve, 1,800km²). Indeed, the size and relative isolation of Malawian PAs has been considered a limiting factor in the recovery of cheetah and wild dog populations in Malawi (DNPW, 2011). Large carnivores have extensive range requirements (Wolf & Ripple, 2018; Noonan *et al.* 2020), with their high energetic demands often meaning they move beyond reserve boundaries and come into further conflict with humans (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998; Farhadinia *et al.* 2018). Shifts in prey availability and environmental productivity can result in these ranging behaviours expanding (Loveridge *et al.* 2009) and the impact of edge effects is often amplified in smaller PAs (Balme *et al.* 2010; Noonan *et al.* 2020). This is potentially a key factor in the decline of large carnivore populations in Malawi. For example, all large carnivores, besides spotted hyaena, were believed to be extirpated from Liwonde National Park (580km²; Sievert *et al.* 2018). Whilst it has been speculated that Nyika National Park (Malawi's largest PA) is the only area where a viable leopard population remains (Purchase *et al.* 2007; Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019).

There is, however, a paucity of empirical data on the status and population density of large carnivores in Malawi, and conservation research has received little attention (Purchase *et al.* 2007). In general, it is widely acknowledged that large carnivores have experienced significant declines across Malawi and, with the exception of spotted hyaena, remaining populations of large carnivores are thought to be restricted to PAs (Mésochina *et al.* 2010; Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019). For example, in the Lower Shire Valley, large felids (i.e., lion and leopard) were restricted to Majete Wildlife Reserve by the 1970s and were considered extirpated from the region by the 1990s (Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019). However, the extent of these declines across Malawi is difficult to determine, as neither historic nor current population estimates are widely available or are subject to anecdotal evidence. As large carnivores can act as indicator species

for wider ecosystem health (Dalerum *et al.* 2008), estimating the current status of large carnivores in PAs across Malawi would be beneficial to assess ecosystem health and establish baseline estimates to evaluate the success of ongoing conservation initiatives.



Figure 3.5. A leopard killed outside KNP in 2015, highlighting the problem that large carnivores face when moving outside protected areas. The leopard was less than 2km from the Kasungu National Park boundary. Image credit: Daniel Grove.

3.5 Kasungu National Park

This study was conducted in Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi (central coordinates S12.9092°, E33.1689°), a 2,316km² legally-protected area that encompasses a large part of the Kasungu Plateau. KNP forms part of the 30,621km² Malawi Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area (MZTFCA; Figure 3.6) that is of importance for biodiversity conservation in the Central Zambezian Miombo Woodland Ecoregion. The MZTFCA consists of Kasungu National Park, Nyika National Park and Vwaza Marsh Game Reserve in Malawi and Lukusuzi National Park, North Luangwa National Park and several game management areas in Zambia. KNP and Lukusuzi National Park, Zambia, form the Kasungu/Lukusuzi Transfrontier Area, allowing dispersal of wildlife species between the two parks.



Figure 3.6. Map showing the location of Kasungu National Park and its position within the wider Malawi Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area (MZTFCA). Inset displays the location of the MZTFCA in south-central Africa.

KNP is dominated by miombo woodland, comprising *Brachystegia* and *Julbernardia* spp. (Bhima *et al.* 2003). Three main rivers flow through the park (Dwangwa, Lingadzi and Liziwazi) that form an extensive river network and drainage system that intersperses closed canopy miombo woodland with seasonally wet grassland areas and isolated rocky inselbergs. The altitude ranges between 1,000m and 1,500m, and the mean annual rainfall is 780mm, with most rainfall occurring during the wet season between October and April (Bhima *et al.* 2003). KNP is largely unfenced, with the only erected fencing in the south-east of the park in a state of disrepair and bordered by unprotected land in both Malawi and Zambia. The area surrounding KNP consists of subsistence farming, charcoal burning and tobacco production, which is beginning to encroach into the protected area along park boundaries (Bhima *et al.* 2003). No human settlements, besides national park authorities (operating from ten ranger camps inside the park), are permanently based in KNP and trophy hunting is not permitted in the park.

Like other Malawian PAs, KNP has suffered from a lack of funding and resources that has resulted in high rates of poaching and a subsequent decline in wildlife populations (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). A review of illegal wildlife crime in Malawi by Waterland *et al.* (2015) highlighted this lack of infrastructure, with only 46 PWAs deployed in KNP in 2014, tasked with covering an area of 2,316km². This critical lack of on-the-ground presence has made historic law enforcement in KNP ineffective, with poachers able to target areas where patrols are unable to cover regularly (Waterland *et al.* 2015). The negative consequences of limited infrastructure and resources are exemplified by the decline in the KNP elephant (*Loxodonta africana*) population which, during the last aerial survey in 2014, was estimated to be just 46 individuals (Macpherson, 2015). This is a decline of over 94% in just over two decades, with 800 individuals estimated in 1993 (Bell *et al.* 1993; Bhima *et al.* 2003). The situation in KNP has been improved in recent years with the assistance of the International Fund for Animal

Welfare (IFAW), who have increased PWA numbers, provided PWA training, improved park fencing and increased financial and logistical support (IFAW, 2021).

Historically, the large carnivore guild (lion, leopard, spotted hyaena, wild dog and cheetah) were known to be present in KNP (Nowell & Jackson, 1996; Woodroffe et al. 1997; Mills & Hofer, 1998 De Garine-Wichatitsky et al. 2001). However, it is believed that large carnivore populations have generally declined in KNP over recent decades. The lion population in KNP was estimated to be 40 individuals in the late 1980s (Morris, 2006 in Mésochina et al. 2010) but has undergone a significant decline, with a review by Mésochina *et al.* (2010) estimating a population of just 6 lions in the park. However, this estimate was based on anecdotal evidence from questionnaire surveys. Between 2006 and 2010, PWAs only reported seeing lion a maximum of once a year in KNP (Mésochina et al. 2010). Both Purchase et al. (2007) and Mésochina et al. (2010) hypothesised that lion presence in KNP was likely restricted to transient individuals from the Luangwa Valley, although information on lion movements is lacking for the region. Cheetah were known to be present in KNP until the late 1980s, with KNP representing the last remaining cheetah population in Malawi (DNPW, 2011). This population has since been declared extirpated, with no cheetah observed in KNP for over twenty years (DNPW, 2011; Durant et al. 2015). It is believed that wild dogs are still present in KNP, with an estimated population of 14 individuals (Woodroffe & Sillero-Zubiri, 2020). This population has fluctuated over recent years, as noted by Woodroffe et al. (1997), but at least one pack was observed in 2011 and seen in subsequent years, with the population considered transient across the MZTFCA (DNPW, 2011). Spotted hyaena and leopard are both known to be present in KNP, although information on population estimates and trends is lacking (Bohm & Höner, 2015; Jacobson et al. 2016). Purchase et al. (2007) stated that leopard populations appeared to be declining across other PAs in Malawi, including their extirpation from three PAs in the southern region, and that their status in KNP was unknown.

Large herbivores have also experienced significant declines, with widespread poaching in the early 2000s resulting in remaining populations of several large mammal species (e.g., zebra *Equus quagga*, eland *Taurotragus oryx* and buffalo *Syncerus caffer*) being translocated to Liwonde National Park, Malawi, as their safety could not be guaranteed in KNP (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). Munthali & Mkanda (2002) raised concerns that by removing animals from already small populations there was a significant chance of inbreeding depression and further decline in large mammal populations in KNP. Aerial surveys conducted in 2014 add further evidence that large mammal populations are still significantly reduced in KNP, with reduced total counts of all species assessed since the previous survey (Macpherson, 2015). Whilst robust data on population estimates for large mammals are lacking for KNP, the decline in prey abundance has been considered a key limiting factor, preventing the recovery or reintroduction of large carnivore populations in the park (Mésochina *et al.* 2010; DNPW, 2011).

The perceived decline in large carnivore populations in KNP, combined with the loss of natural prey and the general decline in protected area health, means assessing the status of remaining large carnivores in KNP should be a conservation priority for Malawi. As the second largest protected area in Malawi, and with wider connectivity to the MZTFCA, KNP is an important site for large carnivore conservation in the region. In addition, data gathered in KNP may be representative of wider species decline across Malawi, with most Malawian PAs under similar environmental pressures and miombo woodland the primary habitat across the country. Data from KNP can, therefore, act as a baseline for monitoring carnivore populations and wider ecosystem health in KNP, whilst also providing metrics that can be used in comparison to assess the status of other PAs across Malawi.

Localised extirpation of lion populations is expected to increase over the coming decades, with the species predicted to survive in only the largest PAs across Africa and in small, intensively managed, fenced reserves (Bauer *et al.* 2015). Subsequently, the localised loss of the lion

population in KNP could offer a novel opportunity to test theories on guild dynamics and interspecific competition between remaining competitors (notably leopard and spotted hyaena). Alongside the broader socio-ecological issues of high human population density, habitat loss and declining prey populations, the issues facing KNP and Malawi are indicative of wider issues across Africa. Therefore, KNP could offer insights into how species respond to anthropogenic disturbance and alterations to the carnivore guild, whilst informing predictions for conservation management under increasing levels of environmental change.

3.6 References

Abbot, J.I., & Homewood, K. (1999). A history of change: causes of miombo woodland decline in a protected area in Malawi. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 36(3), 422-433.

African Parks. (2021). Liwonde National Park: Overview. African Parks, Johannesburg, South Africa. Available at: https://www.africanparks.org/the-parks/liwonde Accessed: [22/01/2021].

Balme, G., Hunter, L., & Slotow, R. (2007). Feeding habitat selection by hunting leopards Panthera pardus in a woodland savanna: prey catchability versus abundance. *Animal Behaviour*, 74(3), 589-598.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., & Hunter, L.T. (2010). Edge effects and the impact of non-protected areas in carnivore conservation: leopards in the Phinda–Mkhuze Complex, South Africa. *Animal Conservation*, 13(3), 315-323.

Bauer, H., Chapron, G., Nowell, K., Henschel, P., Funston, P., Hunter, L.T., ... & Packer, C. (2015). Lion (Panthera leo) populations are declining rapidly across Africa, except in intensively managed areas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(48), 14894-14899.

Becker, M., McRobb, R., Watson, F., Droge, E., Kanyembo, B., Murdoch, J., & Kakumbi, C. (2013). Evaluating wire-snare poaching trends and the impacts of by-catch on elephants and large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 158, 26-36.

Bell R.H.V., Banda H.M., Mkwinda S., & Nothale D. (1993). Kasungu National Park Management and Land Use Plan. Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Bhima, R., & Dudley, C. O. (1996). Observations on two introduced black rhinos in Liwonde National Park, Malawi. *Pachyderm*, 21, 46-54.

Bhima, R., Howard, J., & Nyanyale, S. (2003). The status of elephants in Kasungu National Park. *Pachyderm*, 35, 31–36.

Bohm, T., & Höner, O.R. (2015). *Crocuta crocuta*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T5674A45194782.

Bone, R. A., Parks, K. E., Hudson, M. D., Tsirinzeni, M., & Willcock, S. (2016). Deforestation since independence: A quantitative assessment of four decades of land-cover change in Malawi. *Southern Forests: A Journal of Forest Science*, 79(4), 269-275.

Briers-Louw, W.D., Verschueren, S., & Leslie, A.J. (2019). Big cats return to Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi: evaluating reintroduction success. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 49(1), 34-50.

Caro, T.M. (1999). Conservation monitoring: estimating mammal densities in woodland habitats. *Animal Conservation*, 2(4), 305-315.

Chardonnet, P. (Ed.). (2002). Conservation of the African lion: contribution to a status survey. International Foundation for the Conservation of Wildlife, Paris, France.

Conway, D., Van Garderen, E.A., Deryng, D., Dorling, S., Krueger, T., Landman, W., ... & Dalin, C. (2015). Climate and southern Africa's water–energy–food nexus. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(9), 837-846.

Dalerum, F., Somers, M.J., Kunkel, K.E., & Cameron, E.Z. (2008). The potential for large carnivores to act as biodiversity surrogates in southern Africa. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17(12), 2939-2949.

De Garine-Wichatitsky, M., Cheke, R.A., & Lazaro, D. (2001). Effects of tsetse targets on mammals and birds in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 10(6), 869-891.

Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi (2011) National Conservation Action Plan for cheetah and wild dog in Malawi. Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi. Available at: http://www.cheetahandwilddog.org/southern-africa-nationalaction-plans/ [Accessed: 22/01/2021]

Durant, S., Mitchell, N., Ipavec, A., & Groom, R. (2015). Acinonyx jubatus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: e.T219A50649567.

Ecker, O., & Qaim, M. (2011). Analyzing nutritional impacts of policies: an empirical study for Malawi. *World Development*, 39(3), 412-428.

Farhadinia, M.S., Johnson, P.J., Macdonald, D.W., & Hunter, L.T. (2018). Anchoring and adjusting amidst humans: Ranging behavior of Persian leopards along the Iran-Turkmenistan borderland. *PLoS One*, 13(5), e0196602.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2013a). Atlas of Malawi Land Cover and Land Cover Change 1990-2010. Available at: http://www.fao.org/geospatial/resources/detail/en/c/1024741/ [Accessed 21/01/2021]

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). (2013b). Land Cover and Land Cover Change of Malawi (1990-2010). Available at: http://www.fao.org/geonetwork/srv/en/main.home?uuid=71898495-a49c-4873-b7d4d3ccf46ff471 Accessed: [19/01/2021].

Frost, P. (1996). The ecology of miombo woodlands. In: The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa: 11–58. Campbell, B. (ed.). Bogor: Centre for International Forestry Research. Gondwe, M.F., Cho, M.A., Chirwa, P.W., & Geldenhuys, C.J. (2019). Land use land cover change and the comparative impact of co-management and government-management on the forest cover in Malawi (1999-2018). *Journal of Land Use Science*, 14(4-6), 281-305.

Hambrecht, L., Brown, R.P., Piel, A.K., & Wich, S.A. (2019). Detecting 'poachers' with drones: Factors influencing the probability of detection with TIR and RGB imaging in miombo woodlands, Tanzania. *Biological Conservation*, 233, 109-117.

Hardouin, M., Searle, C.E., Strampelli, P., Smit, J., Dickman, A., Lobora, A.L., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2021). Density responses of lesser-studied carnivores to habitat and management strategies in southern Tanzania's Ruaha-Rungwa landscape. *PLoS One*, 16(3), e0242293.

International Fund for Animal Welfare. (2021). Projects: Combating Wildlife Crime in the Malawi-Zambia Transboundary Landscape. IFAW, Washington DC, USA. Available at: https://www.ifaw.org/projects/combating-wildlife-crime-in-the-malawi-zambia-

transboundary-landscape Accessed: [22/01/2021].

Jacobson, A.P., Gerngross, P., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Schoonover, R.F., Anco, C., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., ... & Dollar, L. (2016). Leopard (Panthera pardus) status, distribution, and the research efforts across its range. *PeerJ*, 4, e1974.

Kiffner, C., Stoner, C., & Caro, T. (2013). Edge effects and large mammal distributions in a national park. *Animal Conservation*, 16(1), 97-107.

Lindsey, P.A., Miller, J.R., Petracca, L.S., Coad, L., Dickman, A.J., Fitzgerald, K.H., ... & Hunter, L.T. (2018). More than \$1 billion needed annually to secure Africa's protected areas with lions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(45), E10788-E10796.
Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., Seymour-Smith, J., Hunt, J., Coals, P., O'Donnell, H., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Evaluating the spatial intensity and demographic impacts of wiresnare bush-meat poaching on large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 244, 108504.

Loveridge, A.J., Valeix, M., Davidson, Z., Murindagomo, F., Fritz, H., & Macdonald, D.W. (2009). Changes in home range size of African lions in relation to pride size and prey biomass in a semi-arid savanna. *Ecography*, 32(6), 953-962.

Macpherson, D. (2015). Report on an Aerial Wildlife Census of Kasungu National Park, Malawi October 2014. Cluny Wildlife Trust, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Mapulanga, A.M., & Naito, H. (2019). Effect of deforestation on access to clean drinking water. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(17), 8249-8254.

Mésochina, P., Sefu, L., Sichali, E., Chardonnet, P., Ngalande, J., & Lipita, W. (2010). Conservation status of the lion (Panthera leo Linnaeus, 1758) in Malawi. SCI Foundation, Paris, France.

Mills, G., & Hofer, H. (1998). Hyaenas – Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. Gland and Cambridge: IUCN/SSC Hyaena Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., Brooks, T.M., Pilgrim, J.D., Konstant, W.R., da Fonseca, G.A., & Kormos, C. (2003). Wilderness and biodiversity conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(18), 10309-10313.

Munthali S.M. (1998). Game meat utilisation and trade in Malawi. Consultancy Report. WWF/TRAFFIC International, Gland, Switzerland.

Munthali, S.M., & Mkanda, F.X. (2002). The plight of Malawi's wildlife: is trans-location of animals the solution?. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11(5), 751-768.

Noonan, M.J., Fleming, C.H., Tucker, M.A., Kays, R., Harrison, A.L., Crofoot, M.C., ... & Calabrese, J.M. (2020). Effects of body size on estimation of mammalian area requirements. *Conservation Biology*, 34, 1017-1028.

Nowell, K., & Jackson, P. (1996). Wild Cats: Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. Cambridge: IUCN/SSC Cat Specialist Group, Burlington Press.

Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative (OPHI) (2020). Global MPI Country Briefing 2020: Malawi (Sub-Saharan Africa). OPHI, University of Oxford, United Kingdom. Available at: https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensional-poverty-index/mpi-country-briefings/ [Accessed: 25/01/2021]

Packer, C., Loveridge, A., Canney, S., Caro, T., Garnett, S.T., Pfeifer, M., ... & Polasky, S. (2013). Conserving large carnivores: dollars and fence. *Ecology Letters*, 16(5), 635-641.

Purchase, G., Mateke, C., & Purchase, D. (2007). A review of the status and distribution of carnivores, and levels of human-carnivore conflict, in the protected areas and surrounds of the Zambezi Basin. The Zambezi Society, Bulawayo, Zimbabwe.

Republic of Malawi (2010). Malawi State of Environment and Outlook Report: Environment for Sustainable Economic Growth. Environmental Affairs Department, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Republic of Malawi (2019). National Charcoal Strategy 2017-2027. Ministry of Natural Resources, Energy and Mining, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Ribeiro, N., Cumbana, M., Mamugy, F., & Chaúque, A. (2012). Remote sensing of biomass in the miombo woodlands of Southern Africa: opportunities and limitations for research. *Remote Sensing of Biomass-Principles and Applications*, 77-98.

Schaafsma, M., Utila, H., & Hirons, M.A. (2018). Understanding trade-offs in upscaling and integrating climate-smart agriculture and sustainable river basin management in Malawi. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 80, 117-124.

Sievert, O., Reid, C., & Botha, A. (2018). The re-emergence of African White-backed Vultures (Gyps africanus), White-headed Vultures (Trigonoceps occipitalis) and Lappet-faced Vultures (Torgos tracheliotos) in Liwonde National Park, Malawi. *Vulture News*, 74(1), 12-19.

Staub, C.G., Binford, M.W., & Stevens, F.R. (2013). Elephant herbivory in Majete wildlife reserve, Malawi. *African Journal of Ecology*, 51(4), 536-543.

Strampelli, P., Searle, C., Smit, J., Grau, A., Henschel, P., Lobora, A., Mitchell, N., Macdonald, D.W., & Dickman, A. (2021). Insights into the status and distribution of cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) in an understudied potential stronghold in southern Tanzania. *African Journal of Ecology*, 59(2), 334-341.

van Velden, J.L., Wilson, K., Lindsey, P.A., McCallum, H., Moyo, B.H., & Biggs, D. (2020). Bushmeat hunting and consumption is a pervasive issue in African savannahs: insights from four protected areas in Malawi. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(4), 1443-1464.

Walker, S.M., & Desanker, P.V. (2004). The impact of land use on soil carbon in Miombo Woodlands of Malawi. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 203(1-3), 345-360.

Waltert, M., Meyer, B., & Kiffner, C. (2009). Habitat availability, hunting or poaching: what affects distribution and density of large mammals in western Tanzanian woodlands?. *African Journal of Ecology*, 47(4), 737-746.

Waterland, S., Vaughan, J., Lyman, E., & Jurisic, I. (2015). Illegal Wildlife Trade Review, Malawi. Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi. Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), 160252.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2018). Rewilding the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(3), 172235.

Woodroffe, R., & Ginsberg, J.R. (1998). Edge effects and the extinction of populations inside protected areas. *Science*, 280(5372), 2126-2128.

Woodroffe, R., Ginsberg, J.R., Macdonald, D.W., & the IUCN/SSC Canid Specialist Group (Eds). (1997) The African wild dog: status survey and conservation action plan. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Woodroffe, R., & Sillero-Zubiri, C. (2020). Lycaon pictus (amended version of 2012 assessment). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2020: e.T12436A166502262.

World Bank Group. (2018). Terrestrial protected area (% of total land area) – Malawi. World Bank Group, Washington DC, USA. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ER.LND.PTLD.ZS?locations=MW&most_recent_value _desc=true Accessed: [21/01/2021].

World Bank Group. (2019). Population density (people per sq. km of land area) - Malawi. World Bank Group, Washington DC, USA. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.DNST?locations=MW&most_recent_value_des c=true Accessed: [21/01/2021].

World Bank Group. (2020). Malawi Overview. World Bank Group, Washington DC, USA. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/malawi/overview Accessed: [21/01/2021].

91

Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland



CHAPTER FOUR: Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland

Robert S. Davis^a, Emma L. Stone^{b,c}, Louise K. Gentle^a, William O. Mgoola^d, Antonio Uzal^a, Richard W. Yarnell^a

<u>This chapter was published in *Journal of Zoology* under the following full citation: Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021). Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12838</u>

^a School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Brackenhurst Campus, Southwell, Nottinghamshire, NG25 0QF, United Kingdom.

^b Department of Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, United Kingdom.

^c Conservation Research Africa & Carnivore Research Malawi, C/O Barefoot Safaris, NRC Road, Lilongwe, Malawi.

^d Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Keywords

camera trapping, carnivore conservation, Crocuta crocuta, density estimation, Malawi, Panthera pardus, spatial capture–recapture

Abstract

Decline in global carnivore populations has led to increased demand for assessment of carnivore densities in understudied habitats. Spatial capture-recapture (SCR) is used increasingly to estimate species densities, where individuals are often identified from their unique pelage patterns. However, uncertainty in bilateral individual identification can lead to the omission of capture data and reduce the precision of results. The recent development of the two-flank spatial partial identity model (SPIM), offers a cost-effective approach which can reduce uncertainty in individual identity assignment and provide robust density estimates. We conducted camera trap surveys annually between 2016 and 2018 in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, a primary miombo woodland and a habitat lacking baseline data on carnivore densities. We used SPIM to estimate density for leopard (Panthera pardus) and spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) and compared estimates with conventional SCR methods. Density estimates were low across survey years, when compared to estimates from sub-Saharan Africa, for both leopard (1.9 \pm 0.19 SD adults/100km²) and spotted hyaena (1.15 \pm 0.42 SD adults/100km²). Estimates from SPIM improved precision compared to analytical alternatives. Lion (Panthera leo) and wild dog (Lycaon pictus) were absent from the 2016 survey, but lone dispersers were recorded in 2017 and 2018, and both species appear limited to transient individuals from within the wider transfrontier conservation area. Low densities may reflect low carrying capacity in miombo woodlands or be a result of reduced prey availability from intensive poaching. We provide the first leopard density estimates from Malawi and a miombo woodland habitat, whilst demonstrating that SPIM is beneficial for density estimation in surveys where only one camera trap per location is deployed. The low density of large carnivores requires urgent management to reduce the loss of the carnivore guild in Kasungu National Park and across the wider transfrontier landscape.

4.1 Introduction

Density estimation is an important tool for monitoring wildlife populations, which is critical for effective conservation management (Sollmann *et al.* 2011; Balme *et al.* 2019). Despite the ecological, economic and social importance of carnivores, basic data on population density and distribution are lacking across large areas of their geographic range (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Bauer *et al.* 2015; Jacobson *et al.* 2016). This is particularly true in Africa, despite well-reported declines across the continent (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Di Minin *et al.* 2016; Wolf & Ripple, 2016). With increasing anthropogenic pressures, rising human populations and high rates of poaching, the need for rapid status assessments in understudied areas is critical for carnivore conservation management and identification of species at high risk of decline (Jacobson *et al.* 2016; Rosenblatt *et al.* 2016; Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017).

Obtaining robust density estimates for carnivores which are cryptic, wide-ranging and often solitary, is challenging (Balme *et al.* 2009a; Sollmann *et al.* 2011). Various techniques have been employed to estimate carnivore abundance and density, each with their own limitations (Balme *et al.* 2014; Midlane *et al.* 2015; Rogan *et al.* 2019). In recent years, density estimates derived from camera trapping, e.g., using capture–recapture modelling, have become increasingly important in wildlife ecology and species management (Royle *et al.* 2014; Rovero & Zimmerman, 2016). The development of spatial capture-recapture (SCR) models, incorporating the spatial location of captures and an explicit model of individual distribution across space, has resolved initial problems with capture-recapture modelling and allows more robust and accurate density estimation (Efford, 2004; Royle *et al.* 2009; Sollmann *et al.* 2011).

Whilst SCR methods are among the most robust methods for density estimation, the fundamental requirement for all captured individuals to be identified with certainty is not always achievable (Link *et al.* 2010; Augustine *et al.* 2018; Augustine *et al.* 2019; Johansson *et al.* 2020). For example, when camera trap arrays are used to survey individually identifiable

animals, common practice is to deploy two camera traps at each sampling location, ensuring both sides of the animal are photographed for bilateral identification (Henschel & Ray, 2003). However, in situations where field conditions are limited by circumstances, such as topography, financial resources, malfunctioning equipment or poor image quality, photographs of only one side may be available (Wang & Macdonald, 2009; McClintock *et al.* 2013; Alonso *et al.* 2015; Augustine *et al.* 2018). This leads to partial identification of some, or all, of the study population (Foster & Harmsen, 2012; McClintock *et al.* 2013). In these circumstances, researchers are often forced to omit data from analyses (e.g., Wang & Macdonald, 2009; Alonso *et al.* 2015; Rosenblatt *et al.* 2016; Strampelli *et al.* 2020; Mohamed *et al.* 2021), leading to the loss of valuable recapture data, and, potentially, introducing significant bias (Madon *et al.* 2011; Augustine *et al.* 2018).

The recent development of spatial partial identity models (SPIMs; Augustine *et al.* 2018) offers an analytical alternative to conventional SCR for partially identified datasets, allowing the use of a larger proportion of recaptures, whilst reducing the negative bias associated with individual heterogeneity in capture probability (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Augustine *et al.* 2019). SPIMs use a Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) algorithm to reconstruct the true capture histories probabilistically, like previously developed partial identity models (McClintock *et al.* 2013). These partial identity models differ, however, as SPIMs incorporate the spatial location of individual captures to associate latent samples probabilistically, thereby reducing uncertainty in identity assignment (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Augustine *et al.* 2019). As uncertainty regarding partial identity samples is reduced, this allows for better estimation of density and movement parameters that are key to the SCR framework. Like conventional SCR methods, further variables including age, sex and morphological differences, can be incorporated into SPIMs to resolve partial identities further and improve precision (Augustine *et al.* 2019). Miombo woodland is the dominant vegetation type across south-central Africa, totalling 2.7 million km² (Frost, 1996), yet baseline data on carnivore densities are lacking for this habitat type (Balme *et al.* 2007; Stein *et al.* 2016), and as a result species management may be ineffective. Malawi is predominantly covered by miombo woodland but is lacking robust assessments of large carnivore density which, consequently, hampers effective species management that could be used as an exemplar for other countries across south-central Africa. Malawi is experiencing some of the highest rates of environmental degradation, climate change and deforestation in Africa, due to high population density (Stevens & Madani, 2016) and increasing population growth (United Nations, 2019). Therefore, the paucity of carnivore density estimates within miombo woodlands, combined with increasing anthropogenic impacts, makes assessment of large carnivore populations in Malawi a conservation priority for effective species management in the region.

In this study we estimate large carnivore density in Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi, using a spatial partial identity model in a spatial capture-recapture framework. KNP comprises miombo woodland that has been impacted by high rates of anthropogenic pressures, including poaching, which has severely reduced numbers of natural prey (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Bhima *et al.* 2003). The study presents the first robust estimate of leopard (*Panthera pardus*) density in a miombo woodland, alongside spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*, hereafter hyaena) density, and highlights the status of other large carnivore populations in this regionally important protected area. We discuss the implications of our findings for the management of carnivores in KNP, the potential for wider inference across miombo woodlands and the application of SPIMs for camera trap surveys.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Study area

The study was conducted in KNP, Malawi (central coordinates S12.9092°, E33.1689°; Figure 4.1), a 2,316km² legally protected area that encompasses a large part of the Kasungu Plateau. KNP is largely unfenced, with the only erected fencing in the south-east of the park in a state of disrepair and bordered by unprotected land in both Malawi and Zambia. KNP forms part of the 30,621km² Malawi Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area (MZTFCA), that is of importance for biodiversity conservation in the Central Zambezian Miombo Woodland Ecoregion. KNP and Lukusuzi National Park, Zambia, form the Kasungu/Lukusuzi Transfrontier Area allowing dispersal of wildlife species between the two parks.

KNP is dominated by miombo woodland, comprising *Brachystegia* and *Julbernardia* spp. (Bhima *et al.* 2003). Three main rivers flow through the park (Dwangwa, Lingadzi and Liziwazi) that form an extensive river network and drainage system that intersperses closed canopy miombo woodland with seasonally wet grassland areas and isolated rocky inselbergs. The altitude ranges between 1,000m and 1,500m and mean annual rainfall is 780mm, with most rainfall occurring during the wet season between November and April (Bhima *et al.* 2003). The area surrounding KNP consists of subsistence farming, charcoal burning and tobacco production, which is beginning to encroach into the protected area along park boundaries (Bhima *et al.* 2003). No human settlements, besides national park authorities (operating from ten ranger camps inside the park), are permanently based in KNP and trophy hunting is not permitted in the park.



Figure 4.1. Map showing (a) the location of Kasungu National Park (KNP) within Malawi and (b) the location of KNP with reference to Lukusuzi National Park, Zambia, and an overview of the area covered for camera trap surveys represented in; (c) camera trap locations for the 2016 survey, (d) camera trap locations for the 2017 survey and (e) camera trap locations for the 2018 survey.

Historically, large carnivores (lion (*Panthera leo*), leopard, hyaena, wild dog (*Lycaon pictus*) and cheetah (*Acinonyx jubatus*)) were known to be present in KNP (Nowell & Jackson, 1996; Woodroffe *et al.* 1997; Mills & Hofer, 1998). However, all have experienced declines in the past three decades, with cheetah declared extirpated (Durant *et al.* 2015) and an estimated fourteen wild dogs (Woodroffe & Sillero-Zubiri, 2020) and five lions (Mésochina *et al.* 2010) reported from anecdotal accounts and questionnaire surveys. African elephants (*Loxodonta africana*) declined from approximately 2,000 individuals in 1977 to 117 individuals in 2003, due to poaching (Bhima *et al.* 2003). Black rhinoceros (*Diceros bicornis*) were declared extinct

in KNP in 1985 (Bhima & Dudley, 1996) and all other large herbivores present in the park are believed to have suffered population reductions, due to illegal hunting, though data are lacking (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Bhima *et al.* 2003).

4.2.2 Camera trapping

Camera trap surveys were undertaken during the dry season (May to October) in 2016, 2017 and 2018. Surveys were not completed during the wet season due to limited road access and tall grass causing multiple false triggers. A combination of motion-activated white flash camera traps (Cuddeback Models C and F; Cuddeback Inc., Wisconsin, USA) and infrared cameras (Bushnell Trophy Cam HD; Bushnell Corporation, Kansas, USA), were used during all surveys. Infrared cameras were partly used in 2016 and 2017, due to limited numbers of white flash cameras being available. All cameras used in 2018 were white flash. One camera trap was used at each sampling location to maximise the area surveyed with the limited numbers of cameras available, with 17, 50 and 25 trapping locations used per year, respectively (Fig. 1).

Each trapping location was surveyed for 90 days in 2016 and 2018. In 2017, cameras were deployed at locations for 60 days then redeployed in new locations for a further 60 days, totalling 120 days of survey. These were considered adequate survey lengths for assuming demographic closure and to ensure suitable numbers of photographic captures for large carnivores (Royle *et al.* 2014; Dupont *et al.* 2019).

We used a maximum camera spacing of 3-5km (Devens *et al.* 2018; Strampelli *et al.* 2020) to select camera locations prior to deployment, with placement focused on the KNP road network. No home range estimates are available for large carnivores in KNP, but a maximum spacing of 5km ensured that there were no gaps in the array large enough to encompass an average adult female leopard home range (30km²; Braczkowski *et al.* 2016). As female leopard home ranges are smaller than those of male leopards and hyaena, this spacing was considered

adequate for both species. We focused placement on roads in KNP, as carnivores are known to utilise road networks (Swanepoel *et al.* 2015; Braczkowski *et al.* 2016) and previous pilot data showed capture success was greater on roads than random placement. Final camera positions were selected as close to the pre-determined points as possible and chosen based on evidence of carnivore presence or in suitable habitat to maximise the probability of photographic captures (Henschel & Ray, 2003). Although the trap array size and camera locations differed each year, due to logistical reasons, SCR models are generally considered more robust to these changes than conventional capture-recapture models (Sollmann *et al.* 2011; Braczkowski *et al.* 2016). Cameras were mounted on trees approximately 40-60cm above the ground and two metres from the road or game trail and operated continuously, with one image taken per trigger, and the minimum delay possible for each model. Each camera trap was visited every 10-14 days to download images, check batteries and ensure all cameras remained operational, in accordance with standard camera trap survey procedures (Henschel & Ray, 2003).

4.2.3 Density estimation and statistical analyses

Individual leopard and hyaena were identified from photographs using their unique pelage patterns (Henschel & Ray, 2003). A database was maintained of identified individuals, with partial (single-flank) or complete (two-flank) identities, to build capture histories for SCR analysis. We initially identified individuals from left flank captures for both species, due to higher numbers of identified left flank individuals recorded during preliminary surveys. Complete identities were added where flanks were certain to come from the same individual (from baited stations outside of survey time, live captures, dual camera trap stations and multiple passes of a single camera trap). Leopards were sexed by visual determination of external genitalia, presence of the dewlap, frontal bossing and overall body size (Henschel & Ray, 2003; Devens *et al.* 2018). Any dependent cubs (determined by body size and/or simultaneous capture with an adult female) were excluded from analyses, due to their inclusion

leading to inflated density estimates and violating independent capture probabilities (Balme *et al.* 2019). Sexing was not possible for hyaena due to difficulties in determining sex from external genitalia and body size. Capture histories were developed for spatial captures and trap effort, with each day (24 hours) treated as a separate sampling occasion (Goldberg *et al.* 2015). Trap effort was measured through a binary matrix of active-inactive days, to improve estimates of detection probability, and included the spatial location of each camera station.

Density was modelled using the package *SPIM* (Augustine, 2018) in R v.3.5.2 (R Development Core Team, 2018), to resolve the complete identity of individuals from single-flank samples probabilistically (see Augustine *et al.* 2018 for complete description of spatial partial identity model). A Bernoulli observation model was fitted and, for MCMC simulations, a single chain of 50,000 iterations per single session analysis was undertaken, with a burn-in of 1,000 iterations and data augmentation of 100-130 individuals for leopard and 125-250 for spotted hyaena. Analyses were conducted with an increasing buffer width from 10,000 to 25,000 metres (leopard) and 10,000 to 40,000 metres (hyaena), using 5,000 metre increments, until density estimates stabilised (Chase-Grey *et al.* 2013; Devens *et al.* 2018). Point estimates were calculated using the posterior mode and 95% intervals estimated using the highest posterior density interval. Model convergence of MCMC samples was assessed by examining trace plots and histograms for each parameter. Simulations were undertaken separately for each species and survey year, instead of incorporating a multi-session model, as this process is not currently implemented in the *SPIM* package.

For comparison with *SPIM*, density estimates were modelled using the Bayesian package *SPACECAP* v1.1.0 (Gopalaswamy *et al.* 2012) in R v.3.5.2. Common practice with partial identities is to use the flank with the greater number of captures for density estimates (e.g., Rosenblatt *et al.* 2016: Strampelli *et al.* 2020), therefore, we developed single-flank capture histories for each year and species using the flank with the higher number of identifiable photos.

In addition, we modelled the capture histories where both flanks were known with certainty for each species and included, separately, the partial left and right flank images, for which we did not have complete identities. We then averaged the two, both-side plus partial sample models to attain mean density estimates for each species and year. We then compared the single-side and averaged both-side density estimates against the *SPIM* output and measured the 95% credible interval width to assess any gain in precision from using *SPIM*. Wherever possible, we kept MCMC settings as close to simulations in *SPIM* as possible, to aid comparison, and fitted a half-normal detection function, the trap response function and Bernoulli's encounter model. We used a 1km² pixel area to represent potential home range centres. Chain convergence was assessed using the Geweke diagnostic test, where z-scores between -1.6 and 1.6 imply convergence was achieved. Model fit was also determined from Bayesian p-values provided in the *SPACECAP* output, with p-values close to 0.05 and 1 suggesting inadequate fit.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Camera trap surveys

A total of 17, 50 and 25 cameras were deployed in KNP during 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively, at 92 locations across the three years (Table 4.1). Total sampling effort was 5,990 trap nights with an average camera trap spacing of 3.35km (±0.94 SD) across all survey periods.

Camera trap surveys yielded 274 leopard captures with an average of 91 (\pm 37.54 SD) per year, ranging from 48 in 2016 to 114 in 2018. Using unique pelage patterns, 40 individual leopards (29 females, 8 males, 3 unsexed) were identified in KNP over the three survey years from left flank spot patterns (Table 4.2), of which 17 were complete identities (where both left and right flank were certified from the same individual). A further 14 leopards (all female), for which right side flank information could not be linked to a left side flank, were included in the

analyses to be resolved by the two-flank *SPIM* model. In addition, five dependent cubs, from four different females, were captured across survey years and were excluded from the analyses.

Surveys yielded a total of 346 hyaena captures, with an average of 115 (\pm 44.56 SD) per year, ranging from 64 in 2016 to 144 in 2017. Thirty-three individual hyaena were identified during the survey period from their left flank spot patterns, of which 19 were complete identities where both flanks were known. Seventeen unresolved right flank identities were also included in the analyses to be resolved by the two-flank *SPIM* models.

Chapter Four: Large carnivore densities in a miombo woodland

Table 4.1. Summary of camera trap sampling effort between 2016-2018 in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Survey duration is the time-period of the survey, with date showing the months surveyed in each year. The number of camera trap stations, total trap nights (calculated as the total number of nights camera traps were effectively working during the survey), mean and standard deviation of trap nights per camera and average camera trap spacing (km) is also given per survey year.

Sample year	Survey	Date	Camera trap	Total trap	Mean trap nights per	Average camera
	duration (days)		stations	nights	camera (± SD)	spacing (± SD)
2016	90	May - August	17	1283	73 ± 16.85	2.83 ± 1.08
2017	120	June - October	50	2630	52.6 ± 11.99	2.78 ± 0.31
2018	90	June - September	25	2077	83.1 ± 15.41	4.43 ± 0.59

Table 4.2. Capture success rates for leopard and spotted hyaena across three years of camera trap surveys in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Number of identified individuals for each year includes individuals identified in previous years but excludes right-flank individuals that could not be linked to already known individuals. Capture rate is defined as the total number of captures, divided by trap nights and multiplied by 100.

Sample Year	Total leopard	No. of identified	Leopard capture	Total hyaena	No. of identified	Hyaena capture rate
	captures	leopards	rate (%)	captures	hyaenas	(%)
2016	48	9	3.7	64	13	5
2017	112	18	4.2	144	18	5.4
2018	114	23	5.5	138	25	6.6

4.3.2 Density estimation

Using *SPIM* the highest leopard density estimate for KNP was 2.11 adults/100km² in 2016 (Table 4.3), with an overall mean density estimate (derived from individual estimates from each survey year) of 1.9 (±0.19 SD) adults/100km² (95% CI = 1.48 - 2.92/100km²). Density estimates from *SPIM* increased credible interval precision by 48, 40 and 68%, respectively, compared to the single-flank analyses. Credible intervals from *SPIM* also outperformed the averaged two-flank density estimates by 9% in 2018 and 35% in both 2017 and 2016, respectively. The average value of σ (the spatial scale parameter that determines the rate at which detection probability decreases with distance between an activity centre and a trap) was 3,447 (±684 SD) metres. Buffer width stabilised at 15,000m for each survey year and the average state space was 2,361 km² (±571 SD). Diagnostic statistics and trace plots suggested model fit and convergence was achieved in all models run in *SPIM* and *SPACECAP* (Table S1).

The highest density estimate for spotted hyaena in KNP was 1.62 adults/100km² in 2018 (Table 4.4), with an overall mean density estimate of 1.15 (±0.42 SD) adults/100km² (95% CI = 0.72 – 1.82/100km²). The single-flank and both-flank plus partial identity models for 2016 did not converge in *SPACECAP* and were excluded from the model list. Density estimates obtained in *SPIM* increased credible interval precision by 27 and 25%, respectively, in comparison to the single-flank models. Estimates from *SPIM* and the averaged two-flank models produced similar results and levels of precision in 2018 and 2017. The spatial scale parameter, σ , was larger for hyaena than leopard, with an average value of 5,768 (±586 SD) metres. Buffer width stabilised at 20,000m in 2017 and 2018 and 40,000m in 2016. Average state space size was 4,952km² (±2134 SD). Diagnostic statistics and trace plots suggested model fit and convergence was sufficient for all other models run in *SPIM* and *SPACECAP* (Appendix III).

Table 4.3. Posterior summaries of model parameters for leopards in Kasungu National Park from the spatial partial identity model (SPIM) compared with the single-flank model with the higher number of captures (Single) and the mean estimate from the both plus partial left side (B+L) and both plus partial right side (B+R) data sets.

Year	Model	<i>D</i> ± SD (95% CI)	(D) CI width	$\sigma\pm SD$	$\lambda_0\pm SD$
2018	SPIM	$1.77 \pm 0.30 \; (1.35 - 2.54)$	1.19	3954 ± 343	0.012 ± 0.002
	Mean (B+L, B+R)	$2.22 \pm 0.36 \; (1.65 - 2.86)$	1.31	5195 ± 621	0.010 ± 0.003
	Single	$2.65 \pm 0.63 \; (1.65 - 3.94)$	2.29	4628 ± 888	0.006 ± 0.003
2017	SPIM	$1.81 \pm 0.33 \; (1.21 - 2.50)$	1.29	3718 ± 340	0.010 ± 0.002
	Mean (B+L, B+R)	$2.09 \pm 0.42 \; (0.90 - 2.87)$	1.97	4910 ± 729	0.006 ± 0.003
	Single	$2.21 \pm 0.61 \ (1.20 - 3.35)$	2.15	3741 ± 708	0.008 ± 0.004
2016	SPIM	$2.11 \pm 0.79 \; (1.87 - 3.71)$	1.84	2669 ± 554	0.009 ± 0.003
	Mean (B+L, B+R)	$1.80 \pm 1.15 \ (0.72 - 3.54)$	2.82	5115 ± 1806	0.006 ± 0.005
	Single	$3.38 \pm 1.71 \; (0.86 - 6.68)$	5.82	4127 ± 2670	0.006 ± 0.004

 \overline{D} is the density per 100 km² with standard deviation (±SD) and 95% credible intervals (95% CI); σ is the detection function spatial scale parameter; and λ_0 is the detection

function baseline encounter rate. The width of credible intervals for D is measured to assess any gain in precision from using SPIM.

Table 4.4. Posterior summaries of model parameters for spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park from the spatial partial identity model (SPIM) compared with the single-flank model with the higher number of captures (Single) and the mean estimate from the both plus partial left side (B+L) and both plus partial right side (B+R) data sets.

Year	Model	$D \pm SD (95\% \text{ CI})$	(D) CI width	$\sigma\pm SD$	$\lambda_0\pm SD$
2018	SPIM	$1.62 \pm 0.27 \ (1.17 - 2.26)$	1.09	5192 ± 391	0.011 ± 0.002
	Mean (B+L, B+R)	$2.15 \pm 0.31 \; (1.67 - 2.78)$	1.11	5971 ± 546	0.013 ± 0.003
	Single	$2.40 \pm 0.41 \; (1.66 - 3.16)$	1.5	5560 ± 791	0.007 ± 0.002
2017	SPIM	$1.01 \pm 0.24 \; (0.61 - 1.47)$	0.86	5749 ± 687	0.006 ± 0.001
	Mean (B+L, B+R)	$1.29 \pm 0.24 \; (0.93 - 1.75)$	0.82	7989 ± 1441	0.005 ± 0.001
	Single	$1.43 \pm 0.32 \; (0.93 - 2.07)$	1.14	6999 ± 1722	0.005 ± 0.002
2016	SPIM	$0.81 \pm 0.44 \; (0.38 - 1.74)$	1.36	6364 ± 2653	0.007 ± 0.004

 \overline{D} is the density per 100 km² with standard deviation (±SD) and 95% credible intervals (95% CI); σ is the detection function spatial scale parameter; and λ_0 is the detection

function baseline encounter rate. The width of credible intervals for D is measured to assess any gain in precision from using SPIM.

4.3.3 Capture rates for other large carnivores

Other large carnivores were rarely encountered during surveys. Cheetah were not recorded in any survey year. In 2017 one male lion and one male wild dog were recorded. The lion (likely the same individual from diagnostic features) was recorded on 11 sampling occasions at 8 camera locations, whilst the wild dog was captured at 7 camera locations on 9 sampling occasions. Through unique pelage patterns it was confirmed that all images were of the same individual wild dog. In 2018 the same individual wild dog was recorded on 9 sampling occasions at 6 camera locations. Lion presence was not recorded during the 2018 survey.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Leopard density

The spatial partial identity model produced the first successful density estimates for a leopard population in Malawi and for a primary miombo woodland habitat. We estimated a mean density of $1.9 (\pm 0.19 \text{ SD})$ adults/100km² in KNP, with minor variation between the three years suggesting a stable trend in leopard density. Prior to this study, there were no estimates of leopard density from a primary miombo woodland habitat, with the only published estimate from a mosaic of five habitats where a single area of miombo woodland was surrounded by Afromontane forest and Afrotropical rainforest (Havmøller *et al.* 2019). Our estimates indicate leopard density in KNP is low, in comparison to studies from elsewhere in sub-Saharan Africa, and comparable to leopard densities in human-impacted areas (e.g., 2.49 leopards/100km², Balme *et al.* 2010; 2.7 leopards/100km², Henschel *et al.* 2011; 1.18 leopards/100km², Devens *et al.* 2021) and more arid environments (e.g., 1.5 leopards/100km², Stander *et al.* 1997; 1.0 leopards/100km², Stein *et al.* 2011; 1.2 leopards/100km², Edwards *et al.* 2016).

The majority of Malawian protected areas (PAs) are under similar environmental pressures to KNP, with bushmeat poaching and habitat loss prevalent (van Velden *et al.* 2020) and miombo

woodland the predominant forest cover (Gondwe *et al.* 2019). Our leopard density estimate for KNP can, therefore, be used as a baseline for PAs in Malawi. However, we encourage further survey efforts to understand the Malawi leopard population status and trends, which has received little conservation attention to date. The Malawi leopard population is thought to be largely restricted to PAs and reintroduction efforts have already been needed to restore leopard populations in Majete Wildlife Reserve (Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019). As one of only three PAs in Malawi that is over 1,000km² in size, KNP likely represents one of the few areas where a viable leopard population can persist in Malawi at these low densities. Therefore, the KNP leopard population requires active conservation management to understand and mitigate threats and increase population numbers.

Despite wide habitat tolerance and resilience to anthropogenic threats, habitat specialisation is likely to translate to important differences in leopard population density across landscapes (Balme *et al.* 2007). Miombo woodlands are regarded as relatively poor habitats for large mammals, with low biomass density and nutrient-poor soils, and this may reflect naturally low leopard densities (Frost, 1996; Waltert, Meyer & Kiffner, 2009). The potential for naturally low densities in miombo woodlands is likely further exacerbated in KNP by the decline in prey populations, a factor that has been identified as a key driver of leopard population decline (Henschel *et al.* 2011; Jacobson *et al.* 2016). However, as our results are from a single survey area, it is difficult to make inferences about the optimality of KNP and other miombo woodlands for leopard populations. Other regions, such as the miombo woodlands of southern Tanzania, where the size of protected areas is greater and substantial populations of large carnivores are known to be present (Abade *et al.* 2018; Havmøller *et al.* 2019), may hold higher densities of leopard and further surveys in these regions would allow for greater understanding of the importance and potential of miombo woodlands for leopards.

4.4.2 Spotted hyaena density

We estimated a mean hyaena density of 1.15 (\pm 0.42) adults/100km² in KNP. Our estimate is comparatively low to other reported densities across sub-Saharan Africa (e.g., 89 hyaena/100km², Höner *et al.* 2005; 94 hyaena/100km², Watts & Holekamp, 2008; 52 hyaena/100km², M'soka *et al.* 2016) and is over 95% lower than the only previously reported density of 31 hyaena/100km² from a miombo woodland (Creel & Creel, 2002). Hyaena density in KNP is the lowest reported in a woodland habitat to date and is comparable to density estimates from arid environments (0.9 hyaena/100km², Mills, 1990; 2 hyaena/100km², Trinkel & Kastberger, 2005) and those recorded in Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi (2.62 hyaena/100km², Briers-Louw, 2017). However, Majete Wildlife Reserve benefits from higher levels of protection compared to KNP and hyaena prey species have been reintroduced over the past decade (Briers-Louw *et al.* 2019). It is likely that hyaena are found at low densities across Malawi, but whether these low densities are naturally occurring or due to the decline in protected area health over previous decades is difficult to ascertain due to a lack of previous estimates.

The reduction in large mammal numbers (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Bhima *et al.* 2003) and the decline of competing carnivore populations in KNP suggests a period of high anthropogenic disturbance that is likely to have reduced large carnivore densities. The persistence of hyaena and leopard is potentially due to both species displaying higher levels of behavioural plasticity than other large carnivores, with a wide dietary niche and greater tolerance of human-impacted landscapes (Hayward, 2006; Hayward *et al.* 2006). Despite these high levels of behavioural plasticity, the near extirpation of competing large carnivores and reduction in natural prey is likely to result in increased levels of competition between remaining leopard and hyaena populations (M'soka *et al.* 2016).

Hyaena are competitively dominant over leopard (Balme *et al.* 2019), with at least 10% of leopard kills lost to hyaenas and the higher rates of kleptoparasitism suffered by female leopards known to negatively affect reproductive success (Balme *et al.* 2017). Leopard and hyaena are found at similar densities in KNP and with the loss of competing carnivores, most notably lion, and the reduction in natural prey, further research is needed to assess how this affects interspecific competition between the remaining large carnivore guild (Hayward & Slotow, 2009; M'soka *et al.* 2016). This is crucial to future management of large carnivore persistence in KNP and other areas of high anthropogenic disturbance (M'soka *et al.* 2016; Abade *et al.* 2018).

Prey availability is known to influence hyaena population density (Höner *et al.* 2005; Périquet *et al.* 2015). Therefore, securing the remaining prey base and allowing prey populations to recover in KNP should encourage the hyaena population to recover naturally (M'soka *et al.* 2016). High rates of reproductive success for hyaena in the absence of a resident lion population and the benefits of increased clan size for food acquisition (Kruuk, 1972) and cub survival (Watts & Holekamp, 2009) could lead to a rapid increase in the KNP hyaena population. Comparatively, leopard reproductive success is often naturally low (Balme *et al.* 2013) and further influenced by bottom-up processes in low productivity habitats (Stander *et al.* 1997) and in populations below carrying capacity (Owen *et al.* 2010). A growth in the hyaena population could, therefore, potentially lead to increased competition between the remaining carnivore guild and a subsequent decline in the KNP leopard population. Consequently, any conservation management interventions (such as increased law enforcement efforts or prey reintroduction/supplementation) in KNP should be closely monitored through annual camera trap surveys (Balme *et al.* 2009b).

4.4.3 Lion and wild dog presence

Our results suggest that both lion and wild dog are no longer resident in KNP, highlighting the degradation of the protected area. It is likely that lion and wild dog in KNP are dispersing individuals, potentially from nearby populations in Zambia, as connectivity between Malawian PAs is largely restricted by high human population density and loss of forest cover (Gondwe *et al.* 2019). The presence of dispersing lion and wild dog in 2017 and 2018 demonstrates the ability of carnivores to move through the MZTFCA, a cause for optimism for future conservation management of the region. However, increasing anthropogenic pressure on dispersal corridors and protected area networks in Zambia may jeopardise future dispersal efforts (Watson *et al.* 2014), highlighting the need for increased planning and continued international collaboration to protect these corridors and the ecological functionality of the wider region. Furthermore, securing, and increasing, the remaining prey base in KNP is vital to support future dispersers and promote natural recolonisation or potential reintroduction efforts.

4.4.4 Application of SPIM and survey considerations

This study provides further evidence that the *SPIM* package can provide robust density estimates, comparable to conventional SCR methods, whilst improving precision for partial identity samples (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Greenspan *et al.* 2020). As SCR methods are widely used to inform conservation management, and partial identity is a common problem for researchers, any gain in precision should be of broad interest (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Johansson *et al.* 2020). Our results show that in comparison with single-flank estimates, often the preferred and more conservative approach for partial identity samples, *SPIM* improves the precision of density estimates. We, therefore, recommend the use of *SPIM* for studies

deploying single camera stations or studies where partial identities constitute a large proportion of the data.

Difficulties in sexing hyaena meant that sex could not be included as a covariate, which may have influenced our density estimates. However, the relatively small sample size for each survey year would have resulted in only a minor influence on sex-specific parameters and we are, therefore, confident in our estimates (Efford & Mowat, 2014; Mohamed *et al.* 2021). Similarly, for leopard, the small sample size of males to females (one male in 2016, four in 2017) would likely have resulted in minimal difference in sex-specific parameters. Comparative studies with relatively small sample sizes for male and female individuals have found that the null model, whereby sex-specific parameters (detection rate and spatial scale) are not incorporated into model inference, had the highest model support, or produced similar estimates to other analytical methods (Chase-Grey *et al.* 2013; Devens *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2019; Strampelli *et al.* 2020).

Whilst dual camera trap survey stations still provide the most accurate and effective way of collecting recapture data for complete identities of large carnivores, the development of *SPIM* (Augustine, 2018) and similar packages for partially identified datasets (McClintock, 2015), allows alternative survey design considerations for conservation management (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Farhadinia *et al.* 2019). Robust, and often rapid, density estimates are key for species management (Bauer *et al.* 2015; Jacobson *et al.* 2016) and *SPIM* provides a cost-effective and accurate method for analysing camera trap data that deviates from the conventional dual camera trap survey design (Augustine *et al.* 2018). The potential to survey a protected area using half the number of camera traps used in conventional designs is highly advantageous for protected area managers, the majority of whom have limited budgets (Mansourian & Dudley, 2008). The use of *SPIM* also allows a wider survey area to be used, when camera numbers are limited,

resulting in a greater proportion of the population being sampled (Foster & Harmsen, 2012; Greenspan *et al.* 2020; Mohamed *et al.* 2021).

Populations perceived to be at low densities are often in the most urgent need of assessment and require intensive survey efforts (Balme *et al.* 2009a; Sollmann *et al.* 2011). The potential gains in precision from using *SPIM* are greater for populations at low density, where singleflank captures can be linked with increased certainty, and *SPIM* could, therefore, be beneficial to future survey efforts (Augustine *et al.* 2018). We recommend that the trade-offs between dual and single camera stations are considered on a case-by-case basis but the use of *SPIM* offers a novel solution to issues with camera trap survey design and analysis (Augustine *et al.* 2018; Greenspan *et al.* 2020). We suggest further camera trapping efforts to estimate large carnivore populations in miombo woodlands and other understudied regions, coupled with the use of *SPIM* where necessary, to provide robust estimates for effective conservation management.

4.5 References

Abade, L., Cusack, J., Moll, R.J., Strampelli, P., Dickman, A.J., Macdonald, D.W., & Montgomery, R.A. (2018). Spatial variation in leopard (*Panthera pardus*) site use across a gradient of anthropogenic pressure in Tanzania's Ruaha landscape. *PLoS One*, 13(10), p.e0204370.

Alonso, R.S., McClintock, B.T., Lyren, L.M., Boydston, E.E., & Crooks, K.R. (2015). Mark-recapture and mark-resight methods for estimating abundance with remote cameras: a carnivore case study. *PLoS One*, 10(3), e0123032.

Augustine, B.C. (2018). SPIM R package. https://github.com/benaug/SPIM

Augustine, B.C., Royle, J.A., Kelly, M.J., Satter, C.B., Alonso, R.S., Boydston, E.E., & Crooks, K.R. (2018). Spatial capture–recapture with partial identity: An application to camera traps. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 12(1), 67-95.

Augustine, B.C., Royle, J.A., Murphy, S.M., Chandler, R.B., Cox, J.J., & Kelly, M.J. (2019). Spatial capture–recapture for categorically marked populations with an application to genetic capture–recapture. *Ecosphere*, 10(4), p.e02627.

Balme, G.A., Hunter, L.T.B., & Slotow, R. (2007). Feeding habitat selection by hunting leopards *Panthera pardus* in a woodland savanna: prey catchability versus abundance. *Animal Behaviour*, 74(3), 589-598.

Balme, G., Hunter, L.T.B., & Slotow, R. (2009a). Evaluating Methods for Counting Cryptic Carnivores. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 73(3), 433-441.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2009b). Impact of conservation interventions on the dynamics and persistence of a persecuted leopard (*Panthera pardus*) population. *Biological Conservation*, 142(11), 2681-2690.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2010). Edge effects and the impact of nonprotected areas in carnivore conservation: leopards in the Phinda–Mkhuze Complex, South Africa. *Animal Conservation*, 13(3), 315-323.

Balme, G.A., Batchelor, A., de Woronin Britz, N., Seymour, G., Grover, M., Hes, L., Macdonald, D.W., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2013). Reproductive success of female leopards *Panthera pardus*: the importance of top-down processes. *Mammal Review*, 43(3), 221-237.

Balme, G.A., Lindsey, P.A., Swanepoel, L.H., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2014). Failure of Research to Address the Rangewide Conservation Needs of Large Carnivores: Leopards in South Africa as a Case Study. *Conservation Letters*, 7(1), 3-11.

Balme, G.A., Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2017). Caching reduces kleptoparasitism in a solitary, large felid. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(3), 634-644.

Balme, G., Rogan, M., Thomas, L., Pitman, R., Mann, G., Whittington-Jones, G., Midlane, N., Broodryk, M., Broodryk, K., Campbell, M., & Alkema, M. (2019). Big cats at large: Density, structure, and spatio-temporal patterns of a leopard population free of anthropogenic mortality. *Population Ecology*, 61(3), 256-267.

Bauer, H., Chapron, G., Nowell, K., Henschel, P., Funston, P., Hunter, L.T.B., Macdonald, D.W., & Packer, C. (2015). Lion (*Panthera leo*) populations are declining rapidly across Africa, except in intensively managed areas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(48), 14894–14899.

Bhima, R., & Dudley, C.O. (1996). Observations on two introduced black rhinos in Liwonde National Park, Malawi. *Pachyderm*, 21, 46-54.

Bhima, R., Howard, J., & Nyanyale, S. (2003). The status of elephants in Kasungu National Park. *Pachyderm*, 35, 31-36.

Braczkowski, A.R., Balme, G.A., Dickman, A., Fattebert, J., Johnson, P., Dickerson, T., Macdonald, D.W., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2016). Scent lure effect on camera-trap based leopard density estimates. *PLoS One*, 11(4), p.e0151033.

Briers-Louw, W.D. (2017). Ecology of apex predators in Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. MSc Thesis, Department of Conservation Ecology & Entomology, Stellenbosch University, South Africa.

Briers-Louw, W.D., Verschueren, S., & Leslie, A.J. (2019). Big cats return to Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi: evaluating reintroduction success. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 49(1), 34-50.

Chase-Grey, J.N., Kent, V.T., & Hill, R.A. (2013). Evidence of a high density population of harvested leopards in a montane environment. *PLoS One*, 8(12), p.e82832.

Creel, S., & Creel, N.M. (2002). The African wild dog: behavior, ecology and conservation. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Devens, C., Tshabalala, T., McManus, J., & Smuts, B. (2018). Counting the spots: The use of a spatially explicit capture-recapture technique and GPS data to estimate leopard (*Panthera pardus*) density in the Eastern and Western Cape, South Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 850-859.

Devens, C.H., Hayward, M.W., Tshabalala, T., Dickman, A., McManus, J.S., Smuts, B., & Somers, M.J. (2021). Estimating leopard density across the highly modified human-dominated landscape of the Western Cape, South Africa. *Oryx*, 55(1), 34-45.

Di Minin, E., Slotow, R., Hunter, L.T.B., Montesino Pouzols, F., Toivonen, T., Verburg, P.H., Leader-Williams, N., Petracca, L., & Moilanen, A. (2016). Global priorities for national carnivore conservation under land use change. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1-9.

Dupont, P., Milleret, C., Gimenez, O., & Bischof, R. (2019). Population closure and the biasprecision trade-off in spatial capture–recapture. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10(5), 661–672.

Durant, S., Mitchell, N., Ipavec, A., & Groom, R. (2015). *Acinonyx jubatus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2015: e.T219A50649567.

Edwards, S., Aschenborn, O., Gange, A.C., & Wiesel, I. (2016). Leopard density estimates from semi-desert commercial farmlands, south-west Namibia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 54(1), 103-106.

Efford, M.G. (2004). Density estimation in live-trapping studies. Oikos, 106(3), 598-610.

Efford, M.G., & Mowat, G. (2014). Compensatory heterogeneity in spatially explicit capture– recapture data. *Ecology*, 95(5), 1341-1348.

Elliot, N.B., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2017). Towards accurate and precise estimates of lion density. *Conservation Biology*, 31(4), 934–943.

Farhadinia, M.S., McClintock, B.T., Johnson, P.J., Behnoud, P., Hobeali, K., Moghadas, P., Hunter, L.T.B., & Macdonald, D.W. (2019). A paradox of local abundance amidst regional rarity: the value of montane refugia for Persian leopard conservation. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1-12.

Foster, R.J., & Harmsen, B.J. (2012). A critique of density estimation from camera-trap data. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 76(2), 224-236.

Frost, P. (1996). The ecology of miombo woodlands. In *The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa*. 11-58. Campbell, B. (ed.). Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.

Goldberg, J.F., Tempa, T., Norbu, N., Hebblewhite, M., Mills, L.S., Wangchuk, T.R., & Lukacs, P. (2015). Examining Temporal Sample Scale and Model Choice with Spatial Capture-Recapture Models in the Common Leopard *Panthera pardus*. *PLoS One*, 10(11), e0140757.

Gondwe, M.F., Cho, M.A., Chirwa, P.W., & Geldenhuys, C.J. (2019). Land use land cover change and the comparative impact of co-management and government-management on the forest cover in Malawi (1999-2018). *Journal of Land Use Science*, 14(4-6), 281-305.

Gopalaswamy, A.M., Royle, J.A., Hines, J.E., Singh, P., Jathanna, D., Kumar, N.S., & Karanth, K.U. (2012). Program SPACECAP: software for estimating animal density using spatially explicit capture–recapture models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(6), 1067-1072.

Greenspan, E., Anile, S., & Nielsen, C.K. (2020). Density of wild felids in Sonora, Mexico: a comparison of spatially explicit capture-recapture methods. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 66(4), 1-12.

Havmøller, R.W., Tenan, S., Scharff, N., & Rovero, F. (2019). Reserve size and anthropogenic disturbance affect the density of an African leopard (Panthera pardus) meta-population. *PLoS One*, 14(6), e0209541.

Hayward, M.W. (2006). Prey preferences of the spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) and degree of dietary overlap with the lion (*Panthera leo*). *Journal of Zoology*, 270(4), 606-614.

Hayward, M.W., Henschel, P., O'Brien, J., Hofmeyr, M., Balme, G., & Kerley, G.I.H. (2006).Prey preferences of the leopard (*Panthera pardus*). *Journal of Zoology*, 270(2), 298-313.

Hayward, M.W., & Slotow, R. (2009). Temporal partitioning of activity in large African carnivores: tests of multiple hypotheses. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 39(2), 109-125.

Henschel, P., Hunter, L.T.B., Coad, L., Abernethy, K.A., & Mühlenberg, M. (2011). Leopard prey choice in the Congo Basin rainforest suggests exploitative competition with human bushmeat hunters. *Journal of Zoology*, 285(1), 11-20.

Henschel, P., & Ray, J. (2003). Leopards in African Rainforests: Survey and Monitoring Techniques. Wildlife Conservation Society, Global Carnivore Program, New York.

Höner, O.P., Wachter, B., East, M.L., Runyoro, V.A., & Hofer, H. (2005). The effect of prey abundance and foraging tactics on the population dynamics of a social, territorial carnivore, the spotted hyena. *Oikos*, 108(3), 544-554.

Jacobson, A.P., Gerngross, P., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Schoonover, R.F., Anco, C., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., Durant, S.M., Farhadinia, M.S., Henschel, P., Kamler, J.F., & Laguardia, A. (2016). Leopard (*Panthera pardus*) status, distribution, and research efforts across its range. *PeerJ*, 4, e1974.

Johansson, Ö., Samelius, G., Wikberg, E., Chapron, G., Mishra, C., & Low, M. (2020). Identification errors in camera-trap studies result in systematic population overestimation. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 6393.

Kruuk, H. (1972). The Spotted Hyaena: A Study of Predation and Social Behaviour. Chicago, USA: University of Chicago Press.

Link, W.A., Yoshizaki, J., Bailey, L.L., & Pollock, K.H. (2010). Uncovering a latent multinomial: analysis of mark–recapture data with misidentification. *Biometrics*, 66(1), 178–185.

121

Madon, B., Gimenez, O., McArdle, B., Scott Baker, C., & Garrigue, C. (2011). A new method for estimating animal abundance with two sources of data in capture–recapture studies. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2(4), 390-400.

Mansourian, S., & Dudley, N. (2008). Public funds to protected areas. WWF International. Gland, Switzerland.

McClintock, B.T. (2015). multimark: an R package for analysis of capture–recapture data consisting of multiple "noninvasive" marks. *Ecology and Evolution*, 5(21), 4920-4931.

McClintock, B.T., Conn, P.B., Alonso, R.S., & Crooks, K.R. (2013). Integrated modeling of bilateral photo-identification data in mark-recapture analyses. *Ecology*, 94(7), 1464–1471.

Mésochina, P., Sefu, L., Sichali, E., Chardonnet, P., Ngalande, J., & Lipita, W. (2010). Conservation status of the lion (*Panthera leo* Linnaeus, 1758) in Malawi. SCI Foundation. Paris, France.

Midlane, N., O'Riain, M.J., Balme, G.A., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2015). To track or to call: comparing methods for estimating population abundance of African lions *Panthera leo* in Kafue National Park. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(6), 1311-1327.

Mills, M.G.L. (1990). Kalahari Hyaenas: The Comparative Behavioural Ecology of Two Species. London, UK: Unwin Hyman.

Mills, G., & Hofer, H. (1998). Hyaenas – Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. IUCN/SSC Hyaena Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland and Cambridge.

Mohamed, A., Sollmann, R., Wong, S., Niedballa, J., Abrams. J., Kissing, J., & Wilting, A. (2021). Counting Sunda clouded leopards with confidence: Incorporating individual heterogeneity in density estimates. *Oryx*, 55(1), 56-65.

M'soka, J., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & Dröge, E. (2016). Spotted hyaena survival and density in a lion depleted ecosystem: The effects of prey availability, humans and competition between large carnivores in African savannahs. *Biological Conservation*, 201, 348-355.

Munthali, S.M., & Mkanda, F.X. (2002). The plight of Malawi's wildlife: is trans-location of animals the solution? *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11(5), 751-768.

Nowell, K., & Jackson, P. (1996). Wild Cats: Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. IUCN/SSC Cat Specialist Group, Burlington Press, Cambridge.

Owen, C., Niemann, S., & Slotow, R. (2010). Copulatory parameters and reproductive success of wild leopards in South Africa. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 91(5), 1178-1187.

Périquet, S., Valeix, M., Claypole, J., Drouet-Hoguet, N., Salnicki, J., Mudimba, S., Revilla, E., & Fritz, H. (2015). Spotted hyaenas switch their foraging strategy as a response to changes in intraguild interactions with lions. *Journal of Zoology*, 297(4), 245-254.

R Core Development Team (2018) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available: http://www.r-project.org.

Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M., Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M.P., & Schmitz, O.J. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343, 1241484.

Rogan, M.S., Balme, G.A., Distiller, G., Pitman, R.T., Broadfield, J., Mann, G.K.H., Whittington-Jones, G.M., Thomas, L.H., & O'Riain, M.J. (2019). The influence of movement on the occupancy-density relationship at small spatial scales. *Ecosphere*, 10(8), e02807.
Rosenblatt, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Merkle, J., Mwape, H., Schuette, P., & Simpamba, T. (2016). Effects of a protection gradient on carnivore density and survival: an example with leopards in the Luangwa valley, Zambia. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(11), 3772–3785.

Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Sollmann, R., & Gardner, B. (2014). Spatial Capture-Recapture. Waltham, MA, USA: Academic Press.

Royle, J.A., Nichols, J.D., Karanth, K.U., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2009). A hierarchical model for estimating density in camera-trap studies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46(1), 118–127.

Rovero, F., & Zimmermann, F., (eds.) (2016) Camera Trapping for Wildlife Research. Exeter, UK: Pelagic Publishing.

Sollmann, R., Furtado, M.M., Gardner, B., Hofer, H., Jácomo, A.T., Tôrres, N.M., & Silveira, L. (2011). Improving density estimates for elusive carnivores: accounting for sex-specific detection and movements using spatial capture–recapture models for jaguars in central Brazil. *Biological Conservation*, 144(3), 1017-1024.

Stander, P.E., Haden, P.J., & Kaqece Ghau (1997). The ecology of asociality in Namibian leopards. *Journal of Zoology*, 242(2), 343–364.

Stein, A.B., Athreya, V., Gerngross, P., Balme, G., Henschel, P., Karanth, U., Miquelle, D., Rostro, S., Kamler, J.F., & Laguardia, A. (2016) *Panthera pardus*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2016: e.T15954A50659089. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

Stein, A.B., Fuller, T.K., DeStefano, S., & Marker, L.L. (2011). Leopard population and home range estimates in north-central Namibia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 49(3), 383-387.

Stevens, T., & Madani, K. (2016). Future climate impacts on maize farming and food security in Malawi. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 36241.

Strampelli, P., Andresen, L., Everatt, K.T., Somers, M.J., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2020). Leopard *Panthera pardus* density in southern Mozambique: evidence from spatially explicit capture–recapture in Xonghile Game Reserve. *Oryx*, 54(3), 405-411.

Swanepoel, L.H., Somers, M.J., & Dalerum, F. (2015). Density of leopards *Panthera pardus* on protected and non-protected land in the Waterberg Biosphere, South Africa. *Wildlife Biology*, 21(5), 263-269.

Trinkel, M., & Kastberger, G. (2005). Competitive interactions between spotted hyenas and lions in the Etosha National Park, Namibia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 43(3), 220-224.

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Prospects, the 2019 revision. (2019) Available at:

http://esa.un.org.unpd/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/. (Accessed: 28th July 2019)

van Velden, J.L., Wilson, K., Lindsey, P.A., McCallum, H., Moyo, B.H.Z., & Biggs, D. (2020). Bushmeat hunting and consumption is a pervasive issue in African savannahs: insights from four protected areas in Malawi. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(4), 1443–1464.

Waltert, M., Meyer, B., & Kiffner, C. (2009). Habitat availability, hunting or poaching: what affects distribution and density of large mammals in western Tanzanian woodlands? *African Journal of Ecology*, 47(4), 737-746.

Wang, S.W., & Macdonald, D.W. (2009). The use of camera traps for estimating tiger and leopard populations in the high altitude mountains of Bhutan. *Biological Conservation*, 142(3), 606-613.

Watson, F.G.R., Becker, M.S., Milanzi, J., & Nyirenda, M. (2014). Human encroachment into protected area networks in Zambia: implications for large carnivore conservation. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(2), 415-429.

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2008). Interspecific competition influences reproduction in spotted hyenas. *Journal of Zoology*, 276(4), 402-410.

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2009). Ecological determinants of survival and reproduction in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 90(2), 461-471.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), 160252.

Woodroffe, R., Ginsberg, J.R., Macdonald, D.W., & the IUCN/SSC Canid Specialist Group (Eds). (1997) The African wild dog: status survey and conservation action plan. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.

Woodroffe, R., & Sillero-Zubiri, C. (2020). *Lycaon pictus* (amended version of 2012 assessment). *The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species* 2020: e.T12436A166502262.

Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild



CHAPTER FIVE: Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild

Robert S. Davis^a, Richard W. Yarnell^a, Louise K. Gentle^a, Antonio Uzal^a, William O. Mgoola^b, Emma L. Stone^{c,d}

This chapter was published in *Ecology and Evolution* under the following full citation: Davis, R.S., Yarnell, R.W., Gentle, L.K., Uzal, A., Mgoola, W.O., & Stone, E.L. (2021). Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild. *Ecology and Evolution*, 11(12), 7890-7904. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7620

^a School of Animal, Rural and Environmental Sciences, Nottingham Trent University, Brackenhurst Campus, Southwell, Nottinghamshire, NG25 0QF, United Kingdom.

^b Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi.

^c Department of Applied Sciences, University of the West of England, United Kingdom.

^d Conservation Research Africa & Carnivore Research Malawi, C/O Barefoot Safaris, NRC Road, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Keywords

activity patterns, camera traps, carnivore ecology, competition, niche segregation, predator dynamics

Abstract

Effective conservation management requires an understanding of the spatiotemporal dynamics driving large carnivore density and resource partitioning. In African ecosystems, reduced prey populations and the loss of competing guild members, most notably lion (*Panthera leo*), are expected to increase levels of competition between remaining carnivores. Consequently, intraguild relationships can be altered, potentially increasing the risk of further population decline. Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi, is an example of a conservation area that has experienced large-scale reductions in both carnivore and prey populations, leaving a resident large carnivore guild consisting of only leopard (Panthera pardus) and spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta). Here we quantify the spatiotemporal dynamics of these two species and their degree of association, using a combination of co-detection modelling, time-to-event analyses, and temporal activity patterns from camera trap data. Detection of leopard and spotted hyaena was significantly associated with the detection of preferred prey and competing carnivores, increasing the likelihood of species interaction. Temporal analyses revealed sexspecific differences in temporal activity, with female leopard activity patterns significantly different to those of spotted hyaena and male conspecifics. Heightened risk of interaction with interspecific competitors and male conspecifics may have resulted in female leopards adopting temporal avoidance strategies to facilitate co-existence. Female leopard behavioural adaptations increased overall activity levels and diurnal activity rates, with potential consequences for overall fitness and exposure to sources of mortality. As both species are currently found at low densities in KNP, increased risk of competitive interactions, that infer a reduction in fitness, could have significant implications for large carnivore demographics. Protection of remaining prey populations is necessary to mitigate interspecific competition and avoid further alterations to the large carnivore guild.

5.1 Introduction

Global environmental change is driving the decline in large carnivore populations and can be attributed to numerous factors, including habitat destruction, loss of natural prey, reduced landscape connectivity and human-wildlife conflict (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Wolf & Ripple, 2016). Rising anthropogenic impacts increase pressure on species interactions through the loss of complex carnivore guilds, declines in natural prey and shrinking protected area networks (Jones *et al.* 2018; Sévêque *et al.* 2020). These factors can distort carnivore dynamics and ecosystem function through increased competition for resources (Creel *et al.* 2018; Manlick & Pauli, 2020), reduced suppression of mesocarnivores (Brook *et al.* 2012; Prugh & Sivy, 2020), shifts in spatial use (Carter *et al.* 2019; Parsons *et al.* 2019) and changes in survival rates for dominant and subordinate competitors (M'soka *et al.* 2016; Elbroch & Kusler, 2018). These alterations in community assemblage and species dynamics can result in cascading trophic effects (Finke & Denno, 2005; Suraci *et al.* 2016; Winnie & Creel, 2017). As large carnivore dynamics have a key regulating effect on density and resource partitioning (Dröge *et al.* 2017; Groom *et al.* 2017), understanding their ecological and anthropogenic drivers is critical for effective conservation management (Davis *et al.* 2018; Sévêque *et al.* 2020).

The spatiotemporal dynamics of large carnivores have been widely investigated across sub-Saharan Africa (e.g., Hayward & Slotow, 2009; Dröge *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). However, few studies have examined the spatiotemporal dynamics of these species in habitats where competing guild members, most notably lion (*Panthera leo*), have been extirpated (M'soka *et al.* 2016). Lions are often the dominant competitor in African carnivore guilds, but due to their preference for larger prey items (>200kg; Hayward & Kerley, 2005), tendency for livestock predation, and social nature, they are often at greater risk of localised extinction than other large carnivores (Everatt *et al.* 2019), such as leopard (*Panthera pardus*) and spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*, hereafter hyaena). In the absence of lions, interference

competition between remaining members of the carnivore guild is predicted to intensify, which could lead to changes in dynamics and increase the risk of population decline (Périquet *et al.* 2015; M'soka *et al.* 2016). Large carnivore behaviour is further driven by "bottom-up" processes, of which the abundance and distribution of preferred prey are primary regulators (Hayward *et al.* 2007; Wolf & Ripple, 2016). As large carnivores often share a degree of dietary overlap, any decline in prey abundance is also likely to disturb species dynamics through increased competition for food or the concentration of carnivore activity in areas of higher prey availability (Creel *et al.* 2018).

How, and if, these altered environments impact species' mechanisms of spatial use and temporal activity warrants further investigation. Malawi, in south-central Africa, offers a unique opportunity to study carnivore dynamics. Widespread persecution and the depletion of large prey species has led to the localised loss of resident lion populations, with the species restricted to either infrequent dispersing males or small isolated populations in fenced reserves (Mésochina et al. 2010; Briers-Louw et al. 2019; Davis et al. 2021). Malawi has one of the highest population densities in Africa (186 people/km²; National Statistical Office, 2019), with 80% of the population dependent on natural resources (e.g., firewood) and agriculture for income, heating, and food security (Yaron et al. 2011; Schaafsma et al. 2018). Subsequently, Malawi has the highest deforestation rate in Africa (Mapulanga & Naito, 2019), whilst protected areas have been subject to widespread subsistence poaching (van Velden et al. 2020). Kasungu National Park (KNP) is a model example of a protected area in Malawi that has experienced these declines in carnivore and prey populations (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Davis et al. 2021). As the second-largest protected area in Malawi, comprised of miombo woodland, the primary habitat type across the country (Gondwe et al. 2019), and subject to the same environmental pressures as other reserves, KNP is a novel site to a) test theories on

resource and guild-based competition, and b) understand how species respond to anthropogenic disturbance.

The loss of a resident lion population means that leopard and hyaena are the two dominant competitors in KNP. Both leopard and hyaena are known to display wide habitat preferences, have diverse diets, and persist in areas of high human disturbance (Holekamp & Dloniak, 2010; Jacobson *et al.* 2016). These behavioural traits allow leopard and hyaena to survive in areas where other apex predators cannot (Green *et al.* 2018; Loveridge *et al.* 2020). Localised extirpation of lion populations is expected to increase over the coming decades, with the species predicted to survive in only the largest protected areas across Africa and in small, intensively managed, reserves (Bauer *et al.* 2015). Consequently, understanding carnivore dynamics in areas of anthropogenic disturbance is important for predicting future alterations in carnivore guilds (Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). The intraguild dynamics of leopard and hyaena in KNP can, therefore, act as a model to inform conservation management under increasing levels of environmental change.

Spatiotemporal dynamics between leopard and hyaena are complex, with findings varying between habitats and carnivore community assemblages. The availability of preferred prey is known to significantly influence the presence of both species (Périquet *et al.* 2015; Balme *et al.* 2019; Searle *et al.* 2020). In addition, leopard kills are subject to high levels of kleptoparasitism from hyaena (Balme *et al.* 2017a), which is known to affect reproductive success in female leopards (Balme *et al.* 2013). Hyaena are also a direct source of leopard mortality (Swanepoel *et al.* 2015). In some ecosystems, kleptoparasitism has resulted in leopard adopting either spatial (Ramesh *et al.* 2017; Comley *et al.* 2020) or temporal (Havmøller *et al.* 2020b) avoidance strategies, although Ramesh *et al.* (2017) suggested that the spatial avoidance between leopard and hyaena was due to lion presence. Leopards also exhibit behavioural adaptations (i.e., tree-caching and dietary plasticity) to facilitate coexistence with

hyaena (Balme *et al.* 2019; Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020). However, the spatiotemporal dynamics of leopard and hyaena are often overlooked (Vanak *et al.* 2013; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b), particularly in ecosystems where the carnivore guild has been depleted due to anthropogenic disturbance. The lack of understanding of coexistence strategies between leopard and hyaena in such area's limits conservation management.

We used data from camera trapping surveys to investigate the spatiotemporal dynamics of leopard and hyaena in KNP, a protected miombo woodland habitat where these species are the only remaining members of the large carnivore guild. We applied co-detection modelling (Cusack *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019), time-to-event analyses (Cusack *et al.* 2017) and temporal overlap comparisons (Rowcliffe *et al.* 2014) to evaluate the impact of a range of interspecific, ecological, and anthropogenic parameters on carnivore activity. Availability of preferred prey has previously been highlighted as a significant driver of leopard and hyaena presence (Périquet *et al.* 2015; Searle *et al.* 2020), and accordingly, we predict that, a) detection of both species will increase in relation to prey detectability, b) this will result in significant rates of co-detection between leopard and hyaena, and c) the potential for high levels of spatial overlap between leopard and hyaena will result in leopard adopting temporal avoidance mechanisms to facilitate coexistence and avoid competition.

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Study site

KNP (central coordinates S12.9092°, E33.1689°; Figure 5.1) is a 2,316km² protected area in the central region of Malawi. KNP is dominated by miombo woodland, consisting of *Brachystegia* and *Julbernardia* spp. (Bhima *et al.* 2003). Closed canopy miombo woodland is interspersed with seasonally wet grassland areas (locally known as dambos) and isolated rocky

inselbergs. The altitude ranges between 1,000 and 1,500m, and mean annual rainfall is 780mm (Bhima *et al.* 2003).

In the early 2000s poaching was so prolific that populations of several remaining prey species were moved from KNP to Liwonde National Park, Malawi, as their survival could no longer be guaranteed in KNP (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). Consequently, KNP has experienced a significant decline in large mammal (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Bhima *et al.* 2003) and carnivore populations (Davis *et al.* 2021). Lions, once known residents in KNP, are now restricted to dispersing individuals from the wider Malawi-Zambia Transfrontier Conservation Area (Mésochina *et al.* 2010; Davis *et al.* 2021) and cheetahs (*Acinonyx jubatus*), also previously known residents, have been extirpated (IUCN/SSC, 2015). Whilst lions are not strictly extirpated from KNP, they are not present at levels that would have an influence on the guild dynamics of resident carnivore populations. Leopard and hyaena are the only remaining resident large carnivore species in KNP, with densities in 2018 estimated at 1.77 leopard/100km² and 1.62 hyaena/100km² (Davis *et al.* 2021).



Figure 5.1. Camera trap locations for surveys conducted in 2016, 2017 and 2018 in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Inset maps show the area covered within Kasungu National Park and the location of Malawi within sub-Saharan Africa.

5.2.2 Camera trap surveys

Data were collected from camera trap surveys lasting 90-120 days between May and October over a three-year period (2016-2018; Figure 5.1). To maximise the detection probability of large carnivores, roads and major trails were prioritised for camera placement (Cusack *et al.* 2015; Davis *et al.* 2021). One camera was deployed per station and stations were checked regularly to maintain camera function and data collection. All images were catalogued to species level and individual leopards were sexed using criteria outlined in Henschel & Ray (2003).

5.2.3 Co-detection modelling

We used a co-detection modelling approach to assess predictors of leopard and hyaena detection (Cusack *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019). Due to high rates of naïve occupancy for both species, data were unsuitable for co-occupancy analysis. The co-detection approach allowed the use of data from all survey years. We measured the detection and non-detection of leopard and hyaena as a binary response variable ("1" for detection, "0" for non-detection) for each camera trap station, using an occasion length of five days per sampling event. We chose the five-day sampling event to correspond with the timeframe for the time-to-event analysis (described below) and the low detection rates of both focal species resulting in zero inflation with a one-day sampling occasion. Binary responses were modelled as a function of different combinations of detection covariates using binomial generalised linear mixed-effect models (GLMM's; Bolker *et al.* 2009; Cusack *et al.* 2017).

Based on evidence from previous studies, we selected five covariates that could impact the likelihood of detection for both leopard and hyaena, incorporating interspecific, environmental, and anthropogenic factors (Table 5.1). We measured prey detection from camera trap data as a binary response variable and assumed that prey species selected differed for leopard and hyaena. As leopard diet in KNP has not been assessed, we selected known leopard prey species from a similar habitat type (Havmøller *et al.* 2020a), or species for which we had anecdotal evidence (from camera traps and opportunistic kill sites) of predation in KNP. The following were included as leopard prey species: common duiker (*Sylvicapra grimmia*), bushbuck (*Tragelaphus sylvaticus*), bushpig (*Potamochoerus larvatus*), warthog (*Phacochoerus africanus*), yellow baboon (*Papio cynocephalus*), porcupine (*Hystrix africaeaustralis*) and savanna hare (*Lepus victoriae*). Preliminary diet analysis for spotted hyaena in KNP identified common duiker, bushpig, savanna hare, warthog, bushbuck and kudu (*Tragelaphus*

strepsiceros) as the most frequent prey species and, as such, these species were selected for the hyaena prey covariate (Carnivore Research Malawi, *unpublished data*).

Vegetation cover, hunting strategy and landscape features can all impact carnivore detection rates, as predators select areas optimal for increased prey density, heightened vulnerability to predation and their preferred hunting method (i.e., denser cover for ambush, open habitat for endurance; Balme *et al.* 2007; Watts & Holekamp, 2009). We used a binary variable for habitat type (Strampelli *et al.* 2018), where each camera site was designated as either "open", where at least one side of the trail was bordered by open grassland, or "closed", where both sides of the trail were bordered by miombo woodland.

For distance-based covariates (i.e., distance to water, distance to park border) the Euclidian distance (km) between each camera trap and the chosen feature were extracted in QGIS v.2.18.16 (QGIS Development Team, 2020). As KNP has no buffer zone and no continual fencing, distance to park border was selected as a suitable covariate to test for human disturbance. Clearance for agricultural land and the lack of a buffer zone means human settlements often begin at the KNP park boundary (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). We reasoned that distance to park border was, therefore, a suitable covariate to incorporate both the impact of edge effects (Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998) and the proximity to human settlements (Balme *et al.* 2010).

GLMM's were conducted in R v.3.6.3 (R Development Core Team, 2020), using package 'lme4' (Bolker *et al.* 2009). We removed one camera trap that malfunctioned shortly after being set from the analyses. There was no significant collinearity (r < 0.5 for all pairwise comparisons) between continuous covariates and, therefore, none were excluded from model selection. We aggregated data from all survey years and included year as a random effect to compensate for temporal variability. Camera station ID was also fitted as a random effect to

control for repeated measures between sites (Cusack *et al.* 2017). All possible combinations of detection covariates were modelled for both leopard and hyaena, with only selected prey species differing between model sets (see Appendix IV for full candidate lists). We used an Information Theoretic Approach whereby models were ranked on their Akaike Information Criterion (AICc, corrected for small sample sizes) and models with Δ AICc < 2 considered to have strong support and selected for model averaging (Burnham & Anderson, 2002). From the final set of candidate models (Δ AICc < 2), average β -coefficient estimates were obtained using the 'MuMIn' package (Barton, 2020). Individual covariates were deemed significant when 85% confidence limits did not pass through zero, following Arnold (2010). The importance of individual covariates for predicting large carnivore detection were assessed using the summed model weights (Σ w) of all models in the final candidate set. There was no evidence of overdispersion ($\hat{c} > 1.1$) across models, which was calculated as the ratio of the sum of the squared Pearson residuals to the residual degrees of freedom (Harrison, 2014).

Covariate	Source	Sampling range (mean)	Hypothesised effect	Supporting evidence	
Hypena detection	Camera tran	1 (detection)	_ a	Swanepoel et al. 2015; Balme et al.	
Tryacha detection	Camera trap	0 (non-detection)		2017a	
I concerd data ation	Comore tron	1 (detection)	, b	Balme et al. 2017a	
Leopard detection	Camera trap	0 (non-detection)	+		
Distance to water	CIC	0.03 - 10.45		Watts & Holekamp 2009; Havmøller et	
(km)	615	(3.35)	+	al. 2019	
Distance to park	CIC	0.78 - 14.38		Woodroffe & Ginsberg, 1998; Balme et	
border (km)	015	(7.99)	-	<i>al.</i> 2010	
Preferred prey	Comoro tron	1 (detection)		Hönor et al. 2005 : Dolmo et al. 2010	
detection		0 (non-detection)	+	nonei ei al. 2003 ; Banne ei al. 2019	
Habitat type*	Observation	1 (open)	_ a	Balme et al. 2007; Watts & Holekamp	
	Observation	0 (closed)	+ ^b	2009	

Table 5.1. Detection covariates, with sampling range and mean, hypothesised to affect the likelihood of detection for leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu

 National Park, Malawi. The hypothesised effect on large carnivore detection is indicated, alongside supporting evidence for the predicted effect.

^aEffect on leopard detection

^bEffect on hyaena detection

*hypothesised effect is based on habitat openness

5.2.4 Time-to-event analysis

We used time-to-event analyses to examine leopard and hyaena response to sympatric carnivores and preferred prey species across survey seasons (Cusack *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019). Prey species were kept as defined for co-detection modelling. For each reference detection (defined as a photographic capture of a chosen species, e.g., leopard), we calculated the minimum time to capture the species of proximal interest (e.g., hyaena) at the same camera station. Any occasion where a reference detection was followed by another detection of the reference species was removed from the analyses. The calculated times between reference and proximal detections were then aggregated into 24-hour sampling intervals, with interval limits of five days before or after the reference detection (n = 10 days). For each 24-hour interval (n = 10 intervals) we then calculated an observed detection probability by dividing the number of proximal detections in each interval period by the total number of detections in the survey year for the species of proximal interest.

Expected distributions of proximal detection were randomly simulated by sampling activity patterns and capture rates of the proximal species, to generate new dates and times, which were then compared to the original, unchanged, reference detections (Cusack *et al.* 2017). From 1000 random iterations of proximal detection, we obtained expected values of detection probability for each 24-hour interval, which were then compared to the observed probability using standard two-tailed permutation tests, using the package 'ade4' (Dray & Siberchicot, 2020). Analyses could not be conducted for the 2016 survey, or between leopard sexes, as sample sizes were too small.

5.2.5 Temporal activity

Camera trap images from all survey years were used to estimate daily activity levels (percentage of time spent active over the 24-hour daily cycle) and degree of temporal overlap

between large carnivore species and, for leopard, between individual sexes. Data for both large carnivore species were combined across survey years for the final analyses. We tested data for each species (and individual sexes for leopard) for differences between survey years to ensure no bias between individual years (Appendix V). To determine if activity patterns were significantly different to a random distribution over the circadian cycle, we performed a Hermans-Rasson test (Landler, Ruxton & Malkemper, 2019) on temporal data for both leopard and hyaena, using the package 'CircMLE' (Fitak & Johnsen, 2017). We used the time and date stamp from all photographic captures to determine animal activity. All models were fitted to clock time as surveys were conducted during the same survey period (between May-October each year) and daylight variance is limited at latitudes below 20° (Vazquez et al. 2019). To reduce bias and overrepresentation of activity at certain times of the day, only one photographic capture was used for analysis when time stamps were within 30 minutes of each other, unless unique pelage patterns confirmed different individuals were photographed. We performed analyses when species presented a minimum of thirty images accumulated in each survey year, as small sample sizes can bias activity estimations and misrepresent activity levels (Rowcliffe et al. 2014). We conducted analyses using the 'overlap' (Meredith & Ridout, 2016) and 'activity' (Rowcliffe, 2019) packages in R v3.6.3 (R Development Core Team, 2020).

Overall activity (i.e., the distribution of animal activity throughout the day) was estimated using the Kernel circular density function in 'activity' (Rowcliffe *et al.* 2014; Santos *et al.* 2019). Overlap of activity was quantified using the coefficient of overlap (Δ), which varies from 0 (no overlap) to 1 (complete overlap) (Santos *et al.* 2019). The Δ_4 estimator was used for all species included in the analyses as all sample sizes were ≥ 75 and Δ_4 is considered the most robust estimator for this sample size (Ridout & Linkie, 2009; Meredith & Ridout, 2014). To estimate confidence intervals for activity levels we simulated 10,000 smoothed bootstrap samples. Pairwise comparisons of bootstrapped activity patterns were then tested for significant differences in the 'activity' package, using a Wald statistic on a chi-square distribution with one degree of freedom (Rovero & Zimmermann, 2016).

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Camera trap results

We completed 5,990 camera trap nights across 92 camera trap stations in KNP between 2016 and 2018, with 702 photographic captures of large carnivore species and 854 of prey species (Table 5.2). Sufficient sample sizes for temporal analyses were recorded for leopard and hyaena (> 30 captures in each survey year). The presence of one sub-adult male lion was recorded in 2017, whilst one wild dog was recorded in 2017 and again in 2018 (determined by a unique pelage pattern), confirming the absence of resident lion and wild dog populations in KNP.

Order	Scientific name	Common name	2016 captures	2017 captures	2018 captures	Total captures
Carnivora	Panthera pardus	Leopard	48	116	115	279
	Crocuta crocuta	Spotted hyaena	113	148	133	394
	Panthera leo	Lion	0	11	0	11
	Lycaon pictus	African wild dog	0	9	9	18
Artiodactyla	Sylvicapra grimmia	Common duiker	22	42	63	127
	Tragelaphus sylvaticus	Bushbuck	4	7	7	18
	Tragelaphus strepsiceros	Greater kudu	1	6	17	24
	Phacochoerus africanus	Warthog	4	9	12	25
	Potamochoerus larvatus	Bushpig	13	48	36	97
Lagomorpha	Lepus victoriae	Savanna hare	25	110	45	180
Rodentia	Hystrix africaeaustralis	Cape porcupine	24	166	158	348
Primates	Papio cynocephalus	Yellow baboon	5	23	7	35

Table 5.2. List of species detected and yearly and total counts from camera trap surveys between 2016 and 2018 in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Capture totals are provided for all large carnivores recorded and the prey species of leopard and spotted hyaena that were chosen for spatiotemporal analyses.

5.3.2 Co-detection analyses

Leopard

Four models ($\Delta AICc < 2$) were selected from the final set of 11 candidate models (combined AICc weights >0.95) for model averaging (Table 5.3). There was no evidence of overdispersion ($\hat{c} = 0.90$) in the most parametrised model. Detection of prey ($\beta = 0.443 \pm 0.162$, 85% CI = 0.210 - 0.676), proximity to water ($\beta = 0.311 \pm 0.110$, 85% CI = 0.152 - 0.470) and detection of hyaena ($\beta = 0.310 \pm 0.178$, 85% CI = 0.053 - 0.567) were positive predictors of leopard detection. Prey detection and proximity to water were the best predictors of leopard detection ($\Sigma w = 1.0$ for both).

Hyaena

Five models ($\Delta AICc < 2$) were identified for model averaging from the final set of 22 candidate models (AICc weights >0.95; Table 5.4). There was no evidence of overdispersion ($\hat{c} = 0.93$) in the most parametrised model. Detection of prey ($\beta = 0.366 \pm 0.163$, 85% CI = 0.131 – 0.601) and leopard ($\beta = 0.303 \pm 0.182$, 85% CI = 0.041 – 0.566) were positive predictors of hyaena detection and both terms had high model support (preferred prey, $\Sigma w = 1.00$; leopard, $\Sigma w = 0.78$).

Table 5.3. Model selection for binomial generalised linear mixed models predicting the likelihood of leopard detection at camera stations in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, across all survey years (2016, 2017 and 2018) during a given 5-day sampling occasion. Models were ranked according to Akaike weights (W_i) based on the Akaike Information Criterion for small samples (AICc), cumulative model weight is also presented (Cum. W_i). Models with AICc differences ($\Delta AICc$) < 2 were averaged and β -coefficient estimates, with associated standard error (SE ±), 85% confidence limits and summed model weights (Σw) presented.

Model		Ka	AICc	ΔAICc	$W_{ m i}$	Cum. W _i	Log likelihood
Hyaena + Prey + Water		6	1120.34	0.00	0.31	0.31	-554.13
Prey + Wa	ater	5	1121.38	1.05	0.18	0.49	-555.67
Hyaena + Prey + Wa	ater + Habitat	7	1121.91	1.58	0.14	0.63	-553.91
Hyaena + Prey + W	ater + Border	7	1122.34	2.00	0.11	0.74	-554.12
Prey + Water +	Habitat	6	1123.01	2.68	0.08	0.82	-555.47
Prey + Water +	- Border	6	1123.37	3.03	0.07	0.89	-555.65
Hyaena + Prey + Water + Border + Habitat		8	1123.90	3.57	0.05	0.94	-553.89
Prey + Water + Bor	Prey + Water + Border + Habitat		1124.98	4.64	0.03	0.97	-555.44
Hyaena + V	Vater	5	1125.96	5.63	0.02	0.99	-557.96
Hyaena + I	Prey	5	1126.85	6.51	0.01	1.00	-558.40
Parameter	β-coefficient	SE ±	Lo	wer 85%	Up	per 85%	Σw (%)
Prey*	0.443	0.162		0.210		0.676	1.0
Water*	0.311	0.110		0.152		0.470	1.0
Hyaena*	0.310	0.178		0.053		0.567	0.75
Border	0.017	0.108		-0.138		0.172	0.19
Habitat	-0.144	0.223		-0.465		0.177	0.15

* Indicates parameter had a significant effect on leopard detection as 85% confidence limits exclude zero.

^a number of parameters in the model.

Table 5.4. Model selection for binomial generalised linear mixed models predicting the likelihood of hyaena detection at camera stations in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, across all survey years (2016, 2017 and 2018) during a given 5-day sampling occasion. Models were ranked according to Akaike weights (W_i) based on the Akaike Information Criterion for small samples (Δ AICc), cumulative model weight is also presented (Cum. W_i). Models with AICc differences (Δ AICc) < 2 were averaged and β -coefficient estimates, with associated standard error (SE ±) and 85% confidence limits presented. Only the ten highest ranking models are presented here.

Model	K ^a	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi	Cum. W _i	Log likelihood
Prey + Leopard	5	1245.60	0.00	0.19	0.19	-617.78
Prey	4	1246.48	0.87	0.12	0.31	-619.22
Prey + Leopard + Habitat	6	1247.08	1.47	0.09	0.40	-617.50
Prey + Leopard + Border	6	1247.35	1.75	0.08	0.48	-617.64
Prey + Leopard + Water	6	1247.50	1.89	0.07	0.55	-617.71
Prey + Habitat	5	1247.97	2.37	0.06	0.61	-618.96
Prey + Border	5	1248.18	2.58	0.05	0.66	-619.07
Prey + Water	5	1248.44	2.84	0.05	0.71	-619.20
Leopard	4	1248.75	3.14	0.04	0.75	-620.36
Prey + Leopard + Habitat + Water	7	1248.88	3.27	0.04	0.79	-617.39
	0 664 4	CF	T (20/		$\Sigma = \langle 0/ \rangle$
Parameter	β-coefficient	SE ±	Lower 8	5%	Upper 85%	Σw (%)
Prey*	0.366	0.163	0.131	1	0.601	1.00
Leopard*	0.303	0.182	0.041	1	0.566	0.78
Habitat	0.178	0.247	-0.17	8	0.533	0.16
Border	0.060	0.121	-0.11	4	0.235	0.14
Water	-0.041	0.120	-0.21	3	0.131	0.13

*Indicates parameter had a significant effect on hyaena detection as 85% confidence limits exclude zero.

^a number of parameters in the model.

5.3.3 Time-to-event analysis

Leopard-hyaena

Compared to expected detection probability distributions, hyaena were more likely to be detected in the 24 hours after a leopard event during the 2017 survey (p < 0.05; Figure 5.2). In 2017, leopard capture events were significantly more likely when hyaena had been captured in the previous 24 (p < 0.01) and 48 (p < 0.05) hours. In the 2018 survey there was no significant bias in detection shown by either species.

Leopard-prey

Leopard detections were higher 24 (p < 0.05; Fig. 2) and 48 (p < 0.001) hours after, and 24 and 48 hours (both p < 0.001) before a prey detection in 2017. Leopard detections were significantly higher 24 hours (p < 0.05) before and 48 hours (p < 0.05) after a prey detection in 2018.

Hyaena-prey

Hyaena response to a prey detection was comparable to leopard response in the 2017 survey, with increased detections 24 (p < 0.001; Fig. 2) and 48 (p < 0.05) hours after prey species detections. Hyaena detections were higher within 72 hours (p < 0.05) before a prey detection in 2017. Hyaena detections were higher than expected within 48 hours (p < 0.05) before prey species detection in 2018.

Figure 5.2. The observed (red) and expected (grey) probability of detecting hyaena after a leopard capture in 2017 (a) and 2018 (b), leopard after a prey species capture in 2017 (c) and 2018 (d) and, hyaena after a prey species capture in 2017 (e) and 2018 (f), at the same sampling site within five days before and after in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Asterisks (*) above expected distributions, obtained from 1000 random simulations of capture events for the corresponding species, indicate days for which observed detection rates were significantly different (p < 0.05) to expected values. Sample sizes, from which observed detection probabilities were calculated, are given for each year.



5.3.4 Temporal activity

Overall activity (estimated proportion of time spent active over the daily cycle) was 0.57 (SE = 0.05) for leopard (both sexes), 0.46 (SE = 0.06) for male leopard, 0.65 (SE = 0.06) for female leopard and 0.42 (SE = 0.03) for hyaena (Table 5.5). The Hermans-Rasson test confirmed that both leopard and hyaena had activity patterns that were significantly different from random (p < 0.001 for all; Appendix VI). We observed an overlap average of $\Delta = 0.78$ for leopard-hyaena, $\Delta = 0.9$ for male leopard-hyaena, $\Delta = 0.73$ for female leopard-hyaena and $\Delta = 0.82$ for male leopard-female leopard (Figure 5.3). The lowest coefficient of overlap observed was between female leopard and hyaena. Leopard showed higher levels of diurnal activity with peaks at dawn and dusk, whilst hyaena showed higher levels of strictly nocturnal activity, with peaks before dawn and after dusk.

Table 5.5. Estimates of proportion of time active for large carnivore species in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, estimated from the distribution of camera trapping photos over the daily cycle. N is the number of photographic captures and Estimate is the overall activity with standard error (SE) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI).

Species	N	Estimate	SE	95% CI
Leopard (both sexes)*	273	0.573	0.048	0.473 - 0.659
Leopard (♂)	77	0.459	0.056	0.312 - 0.525
Leopard (♀)	170	0.649	0.056	0.504 - 0.723
Spotted hyaena	385	0.423	0.027	0.359 - 0.465

* Includes images of leopards that could not be sexed but identified to species level.

Figure 5.3. Temporal overlap in activity patterns between a) spotted hyaena and leopard (both sexes); b) spotted hyaena and male leopard; c) spotted hyaena and female leopard; d) male and female leopard. Temporal activity patterns are compiled from surveys conducted in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, between 2016 and 2018. Coefficient of overlap (Δ) for each pairwise comparison is displayed, and shaded areas represent temporal overlap.



There was a 15% difference in overall temporal activity levels between leopard (both sexes) and hyaena in KNP (Wald $\chi^2 = 7.39$, df = 1, p < 0.01, Table 5.6). However, when individual leopard sexes were compared with hyaena, there was only a 4% difference in overall activity levels between male leopard and hyaena (Wald $\chi^2 = 0.34$, df = 1, p = 0.55). Female leopards were active for 23% more of the daily cycle than hyaena (Wald $\chi^2 = 13.05$, df = 1, p < 0.001) and nearly 20% more active than male leopards (Wald $\chi^2 = 5.76$, df = 1, p < 0.05).

Table 5.6. Estimates of difference in activity between large carnivore species in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, from the distribution of camera trapping photos over the diel activity schedule. Bootstrapped activity patterns, with 10,000 smoothed bootstrap samples, were compared using Wald statistic (W) on a chi-square distribution with one degree of freedom in order to test for significance (P) at the 5% level.

Species Interaction	Difference	SE	W	Р
Leopard (both sexes) – Spotted hyaena	0.151	0.055	7.39	0.007
Leopard (\bigcirc) – Leopard (\bigcirc)	0.190	0.079	5.763	0.016
Leopard (\bigcirc) – Spotted hyaena	0.037	0.062	0.346	0.556
Leopard (\bigcirc) – Spotted hyaena	0.227	0.063	13.048	< 0.001

5.4 Discussion

Spatiotemporal dynamics play an important role in facilitating coexistence between the large carnivore guild, yet little is known about these dynamics in human-altered landscapes (Sévêque *et al.* 2020). In protected areas where anthropogenic disturbance disrupts community structure, competition between remaining carnivores is predicted to increase (Périquet *et al.* 2015). We explored spatiotemporal partitioning between leopard and hyaena in a modified guild where they are the only competing large carnivores, providing a novel habitat in which to test theories on guild dynamics. Our results indicate that prey availability and the presence of competing

carnivores positively influence the spatiotemporal dynamics of both leopard and hyaena. In the absence of a resident lion population and the depleted prey base in KNP, these shared drivers of spatiotemporal behaviour increase the likelihood of costly interactions and could have negative consequences for large carnivore demographics.

Our findings show that prey detection is a significant predictor of detection for both hyaena and leopard, supporting our predictions and in accordance with previous studies (Höner et al. 2005; Périquet et al. 2015; Ramesh et al. 2017; Searle et al. 2020). Leopard detection was also explained by proximity to water, as observed in previous studies (Balme et al. 2007; Havmøller et al. 2019). This finding supports our hypothesis that leopard space-use is primarily driven by prey presence in KNP, as prey species are commonly associated with riparian areas, and these areas provide adequate cover for the leopards' preferred ambush technique (Balme et al. 2007). Confirming our prediction, co-detection and time-to-event analyses showed a mutually positive influence between hyaena and leopard, as recorded by Balme et al. (2019). Given their competitive dominance and propensity for kleptoparasitism (Balme et al. 2017a), the influence of leopard presence on hyaena space-use likely indicates the additional benefits of high spatiotemporal overlap for hyaena. In similar areas of Africa, where prey abundance is depleted, there is evidence that dietary overlap increases between large carnivores (Creel et al. 2018). As prey presence was a significant predictor of leopard and hyaena detection, it may be that both species are responding to the same environmental cue (i.e., prey availability) resulting in increased co-detection rates.

The high spatial overlap of leopard and hyaena in KNP, combined with mutual drivers of detection, is likely to increase interaction between the two species. Despite the inherent risk of interaction with dominant competitors (i.e., lion and hyaena), previous studies have shown that intraguild competitors often have little bearing on leopard spatiotemporal dynamics (Balme *et al.* 2017b; Miller *et al.* 2018; Strampelli *et al.* 2018; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). In the absence of

spatiotemporal responses, leopards are often reliant on behavioural adaptability, such as treecaching and dietary plasticity, to support intraguild coexistence (Voigt *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2019). In KNP this is evident for male leopards, as we recorded high temporal overlap between male leopard and hyaena. This finding challenges our prediction that both leopard sexes would display temporal avoidance of hyaena, as observed by Havmøller *et al.* (2020b). In contrast, female leopards displayed different temporal activity patterns to hyaena. Kleptoparasitism from hyaena has been shown to negatively impact reproductive success of female leopard and female leopards suffer higher rates of kleptoparasitism, compared to males (Balme *et al.* 2017a). As such, increased interaction with hyaenas presents a greater risk for female leopards and could explain the temporal partitioning. Furthermore, male leopards are more likely to display tree-caching behaviour than female conspecifics (Stein *et al.* 2015; Balme *et al.* 2017a), which could facilitate greater coexistence with hyaena. Tree-caching would be less effective for female leopard due to the threat of intraspecific kleptoparasitism (Balme *et al.* 2017a) and this could lead female leopards to adopt the additional mechanism of temporal partitioning found in this study (Miller *et al.* 2018).

Our results support Havmøller *et al.* (2020b), who recorded temporal differences between leopard sexes and increased levels of female diurnal activity compared to males. These findings highlight the importance of incorporating sex into pairwise behavioural comparisons. Increased interaction with male conspecifics heightens the risk of kleptoparasitism and infanticide for female leopards and observed temporal differences could be a mechanism to minimise these costly encounters (Balme *et al.* 2013; Swanepoel *et al.* 2015; Balme *et al.* 2017c). Miller *et al.* (2018) hypothesised that temporal segregation between leopard and interspecific competitors could increase at sites of reduced prey abundance, due to higher rates of resource sharing, which may explain the sex-specific and interspecific differences in temporal activity observed here. In addition, female leopards can exhibit wider dietary niches than male conspecifics, often

displaying more opportunistic feeding strategies and predating on smaller-bodied prey items (e.g., Voigt *et al.* 2018). The wider dietary plasticity of female leopards could be an additional mechanism to facilitate coexistence and further investigation of leopard sex-specific dietary specialisation in KNP would improve our knowledge of intraguild dynamics and niche partitioning strategies.

Female leopard daily activity levels were 19% to 23% higher than those of male leopard and hyaena. These extended periods of diel activity may increase the likelihood of interaction with intraguild competitors and anthropogenic threats (e.g., road traffic, human activity), thus heightening exposure to potential sources of mortality (Rizzuto *et al.* 2018; Havmøller *et al.* 2020b). The greater energetic costs imposed by higher activity levels may reduce reproductive success and overall fitness (Wilmers *et al.* 2017; Rizzuto *et al.* 2018), creating cascading demographic effects. Further research is required to assess the potential impacts of intraguild competition and depleted prey on female leopard fitness and reproductive success.

There was no effect of proximity to park boundary or habitat type on detection of leopard or hyaena. These findings highlight the ability of both species to persist throughout the protected area, which is encouraging for local conservation management. We acknowledge that the coarse scale on which habitat was assessed here may not be sufficient to identify fine-scale habitat preferences. Previous studies have highlighted the higher tolerance of hyaena (Mkonyi *et al.* 2018) and leopard (Strampelli *et al.* 2018; Petracca *et al.* 2019) to human presence, compared to other large carnivores (Everatt *et al.* 2019). Our results provide further evidence of the species' adaptability in areas of close proximity to human settlement. However, our temporal analyses suggest that hyaena activity is largely restricted to nocturnal movements, which is considered an early response to high levels of human disturbance (Kolowski *et al.* 2007; Holekamp & Dloniak, 2010).

We acknowledge that our results are restricted to KNP and further efforts to quantify spatiotemporal behaviours in modified carnivore guilds would be beneficial to inform carnivore conservation management in human-altered landscapes. Malawi offers an interesting avenue for such studies, as several protected areas have seen similar reductions in large carnivore and prey populations (Mésochina *et al.* 2010; van Velden *et al.* 2020). In this study, camera trap placement was focused on roads and trails to optimise capture rates for large carnivores. Despite this, we are confident our findings are representative of carnivore habitat use in KNP, as road systems play an integral role in carnivore space use (Rafiq *et al.* 2020a). In addition, since large carnivore densities are low in KNP (Davis *et al.* 2021), it is also the only viable, non-invasive method for gathering large amounts of data to quantify carnivore behaviour (Rowcliffe *et al.* 2014). However, the use of road networks could have reduced prey species capture rates, as these areas increase exposure to predation risk and human activity, potentially underrepresenting aspects of observed predator-prey interaction (Oriol-Cotterill *et al.* 2015; Havmøller *et al.* 2020b).

Camera trap density and length of sampling occasion for co-detection and time-to-event models could have reduced precision of estimates. Whilst overall detections were similar for leopard and hyaena in 2017 and 2018, interactive behaviours may be underrepresented in 2018 as only half the number of camera trap sites were deployed, due to logistical reasons. Although aggregating detection events into larger bins may impact the accuracy of parameter estimates (as models are sensitive to changes in temporal scale; see Cusack *et al.* 2017), this practice is commonly used for large carnivores that have naturally low detection rates (e.g., Abade *et al.* 2018; Strampelli *et al.* 2018). Future studies could look to increase the density of camera traps deployed to yield higher capture rates and this may allow for shorter temporal scales to be used. However, given the low densities of large carnivores in KNP it is unlikely that an occasion length shorter than 24-hours could be applied. The deployment of GPS collars with high

sampling rates, as in Rafiq *et al.* (2020b), could be of greater benefit to gather fine-scale data on carnivore activity and encounter rates.

Improved law enforcement efforts and ongoing reintroductions of prey species could increase prey abundance in KNP (IFAW, 2020). Under these conditions, and with the absence of a competing lion population, hyaena numbers could quickly rise, as observed by M'soka et al. (2016) in Liuwa Plains, Zambia. Conversely, leopard population recovery is gradual and reproductive success is naturally low (Balme et al. 2013; Balme et al. 2017c). Increased hyaena clan size would have direct benefits for food acquisition and hyaena cub survival (Höner et al. 2005), potentially exacerbating current levels of interspecific competition. In response to increased competition, leopards are likely to adapt their spatiotemporal behaviour and may switch to smaller prey items (du Preez et al. 2017; Comley et al. 2020) or be forced into suboptimal habitat (e.g., low prey abundance, edge habitats; Vanak et al. 2013). Additional behavioural adaptations could have negative consequences for population recovery. For example, Comley et al. (2020) hypothesised that the decreasing leopard population in Selati Game Reserve, South Africa, was attributable to high levels of interspecific competition with the resident, much larger, hyaena population. As such, close monitoring of large carnivore densities and intraguild dynamics is required in KNP to assess the impact of ongoing conservation initiatives.

We have shown that leopard and hyaena coexist in KNP, with male leopard and hyaena showing significant spatiotemporal overlap, whilst female leopards exhibit temporal partitioning to mitigate potential interactions with intra-and-interspecific competitors. Whether the behavioural responses of female leopards are sufficient to maintain reproductive success and long-term population viability, is unknown. Our results show that prey occurrence is a significant predictor of leopard and hyaena detection. Therefore, protecting remaining prey populations should be a management priority to conserve the resident carnivore guild. Further

understanding of the drivers of spatiotemporal behaviours can help alleviate the challenges caused by changing niches and shifts in carnivore community dynamics (Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). As protected areas are subject to increasing levels of anthropogenic disturbance (Jones *et al.* 2018), further research of large carnivore spatiotemporal dynamics will be imperative to maintain carnivore coexistence and to implement effective long-term conservation strategies.

5.5 References

Abade, L., Cusack, J., Moll, R.J., Strampelli, P., Dickman, A.J., Macdonald, D.W., & Montgomery, R.A. (2018). Spatial variation in leopard (*Panthera pardus*) site use across a gradient of anthropogenic pressure in Tanzania's Ruaha landscape. *PLoS One*, 13(10), p.e0204370.

Arnold, T.W. (2010). Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 74(6), 1175-1178.

Balme, G.A., Batchelor, A., de Woronin Britz, N., Seymour, G., Grover, M., Hes, L., Macdonald, D.W. & Hunter, L.T. (2013). Reproductive success of female leopards *Panthera pardus*: the importance of top-down processes. *Mammal Review*, 43(3), 221-237.

Balme, G.A., Hunter, L., & Slotow, R. (2007). Feeding habitat selection by hunting leopards *Panthera pardus* in a woodland savanna: prey catchability versus abundance. *Animal Behaviour*, 74(3), 589-598.

Balme, G.A., Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., & Hunter, L.T. (2017a). Caching reduces kleptoparasitism in a solitary, large felid. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(3), 634-644.

Balme, G.A., Pitman, R.T., Robinson, H.S., Miller, J.R., Funston, P.J., & Hunter, L.T. (2017b). Leopard distribution and abundance is unaffected by interference competition with lions. *Behavioral Ecology*, 28(5), 1348-1358.

Balme, G.A., Robinson, H.S., Pitman, R.T., & Hunter, L.T. (2017c). Flexibility in the duration of parental care: female leopards prioritise cub survival over reproductive output. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(5), 1224-1234.

Balme, G., Rogan, M., Thomas, L., Pitman, R., Mann, G., Whittington-Jones, G., Midlane, N., Broodryk, M., Broodryk, K., Campbell, M., Alkema, M., Wright, D., & Hunter, L. (2019). Big cats at large: Density, structure, and spatio-temporal patterns of a leopard population free of anthropogenic mortality. *Population Ecology*, 61(3), 256–267.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., & Hunter, L.T. (2010). Edge effects and the impact of non-protected areas in carnivore conservation: leopards in the Phinda–Mkhuze Complex, South Africa. *Animal Conservation*, 13(3), 315-323.

Barton, K. (2020). MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. Available at: http://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/MuMIn/index.html

Bauer, H., Chapron, G., Nowell, K., Henschel, P., Funston, P., Hunter, L.T., Macdonald, D.W., & Packer, C. (2015). Lion (Panthera leo) populations are declining rapidly across Africa, except in intensively managed areas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(48), 14894-14899.

Bhima, R., Howard, J., & Nyanyale, S. (2003). The status of elephants in Kasungu National Park. *Pachyderm*, 35, 31-36.

Bolker, B.M., Brooks, M.E., Clark, C.J., Geange, S.W., Poulsen, J.R., Stevens, M.H.H., & White, J.S.S. (2009). Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(3), 127-135.

Briers-Louw, W.D., & Leslie, A.J. (2020). Dietary partitioning of three large carnivores in Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58, 371–382.

Briers-Louw, W.D., Verschueren, S., & Leslie, A.J. (2019). Big cats return to Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi: evaluating reintroduction success. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 49(1), 34-50.
Brook, L.A., Johnson, C.N., & Ritchie, E.G. (2012). Effects of predator control on behaviour of an apex predator and indirect consequences for mesopredator suppression. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 49(6), 1278-1286.

Burnham, K.P., & Anderson, D.R. (2002). A practical information-theoretic approach. Model selection and multimodel inference (2nd ed). New York, USA: Springer.

Carter, N.H., Levin, S.A., & Grimm, V. (2019). Effects of human-induced prey depletion on large carnivores in protected areas: Lessons from modeling tiger populations in stylized spatial scenarios. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(19), 11298-11313.

Comley, J., Joubert, C.J., Mgqatsa, N., & Parker, D.M. (2020). Do spotted hyaenas outcompete the big cats in a small, enclosed system in South Africa? *Journal of Zoology*, 311(2), 145-153.

Creel, S., Matandiko, W., Schuette, P., Rosenblatt, E., Sanguinetti, C., Banda, K., Vinks, M., & Becker, M. (2018). Changes in African large carnivore diets over the past half-century reveal the loss of large prey. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(6), 2908-2916.

Cusack, J.J., Dickman, A.J., Kalyahe, M., Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., MacDonald, D.W., & Coulson, T. (2017). Revealing kleptoparasitic and predatory tendencies in an African mammal community using camera traps: a comparison of spatiotemporal approaches. *Oikos*, 126(6), 812-822.

Cusack, J.J., Dickman, A.J., Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., Macdonald, D.W., & Coulson, T. (2015). Random versus game trail-based camera trap placement strategy for monitoring terrestrial mammal communities. *PLoS One*, 10(5), e0126373.

Davis, C.L., Rich, L.N., Farris, Z.J., Kelly, M.J., Di Bitetti, M.S., Blanco, Y.D., Albanesi, S., Farhadinia, M.S., Gholikhani, N., Hamel, S., & Harmsen, B.J. (2018). Ecological correlates of

the spatial co-occurrence of sympatric mammalian carnivores worldwide. *Ecology Letters*, 21(9), 1401-1412.

Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021). Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53.

Dray, S., & Siberchicot, M.A. (2020). Package 'ade4'. Available at: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/ade4/index.html

Dröge, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & M'soka, J. (2017). Spatial and temporal avoidance of risk within a large carnivore guild. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(1), 189-199.

du Preez, B., Purdon, J., Trethowan, P., Macdonald, D.W., & Loveridge, A.J. (2017). Dietary niche differentiation facilitates coexistence of two large carnivores. *Journal of Zoology*, 302(3), 149-156.

Elbroch, L.M., & Kusler, A. (2018). Are pumas subordinate carnivores, and does it matter?. *PeerJ*, 6, p.e4293.

Everatt, K.T., Moore, J.F., & Kerley, G.I. (2019). Africa's apex predator, the lion, is limited by interference and exploitative competition with humans. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 20, p.e00758.

Finke, D.L., & Denno, R.F. (2005). Predator diversity and the functioning of ecosystems: the role of intraguild predation in dampening trophic cascades. *Ecology Letters*, 8(12), 1299-1306.

Fitak, R. R., & Johnsen, S. (2017). Bringing the analysis of animal orientation data full circle: model-based approaches with maximum likelihood. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 220(21), 3878-3882.

Gondwe, M.F., Cho, M.A., Chirwa, P.W., & Geldenhuys, C.J. (2019). Land use land cover change and the comparative impact of co-management and government-management on the forest cover in Malawi (1999-2018). *Journal of Land Use Science*, 14, 281-305.

Green, D.S., Johnson-Ulrich, L., Couraud, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2018). Anthropogenic disturbance induces opposing population trends in spotted hyenas and African lions. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(4), 871-889.

Groom, R.J., Lannas, K., & Jackson, C.R. (2017). The impact of lions on the demography and ecology of endangered African wild dogs. *Animal Conservation*, 20(4), 382-390.

Harrison, X.A. (2014). Using observation-level random effects to model overdispersion in count data in ecology and evolution. *PeerJ*, 2, e616.

Havmøller, R.W., Jacobsen, N.S., Havmøller, L.W., Rovero, F., Scharff, N., & Bohmann, K. (2020a). DNA metabarcoding reveals that African leopard diet varies between habitats. *African Journal of Ecology*, 59, 37-50.

Havmøller, R.W., Jacobsen, N.S., Scharff, N., Rovero, F., & Zimmermann, F. (2020b). Assessing the activity pattern overlap among leopards (Panthera pardus), potential prey and competitors in a complex landscape in Tanzania. *Journal of Zoology*, 311(3), 175-182.

Havmøller, R.W., Tenan, S., Scharff, N., & Rovero, F. (2019). Reserve size and anthropogenic disturbance affect the density of an African leopard (Panthera pardus) meta-population. *PLoS One*, 14(6), e0209541.

Hayward, M.W., & Kerley, G.I. (2005). Prey preferences of the lion (Panthera leo). *Journal of Zoology*, 267(3), 309-322.

Hayward, M.W., O'Brien, J., Hofmeyr, M., & Kerley, G.I. (2007). Testing predictions of the prey of lion derived from modeled prey preferences. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 71(5), 1567-1575.

Hayward, M.W., & Slotow, R. (2009). Temporal partitioning of activity in large African carnivores: tests of multiple hypotheses. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 39(2), 109-125.

Henschel, P., & Ray, J. (2003). Leopards in African Rainforests: Survey and Monitoring Techniques. Wildlife Conservation Society, Global Carnivore Program, New York.

Holekamp, K.E., & Dloniak, S.M. (2010). Intraspecific variation in the behavioral ecology of a tropical carnivore, the spotted hyena. In *Advances in the Study of Behavior* (Vol. 42, pp. 189-229). Academic Press.

Höner, O.P., Wachter, B., East, M.L., Runyoro, V.A., & Hofer, H. (2005). The effect of prey abundance and foraging tactics on the population dynamics of a social, territorial carnivore, the spotted hyena. *Oikos*, 108(3), 544-554.

International Fund for Animal Welfare (2020). "Zebra translocation helps make Kasungu National Park a secured home for wildlife". Available at: https://www.ifaw.org/uk/journal/kasungu-national-park-translocation-secured-home Accessed: [25/01/2021]

IUCN/SSC (2015). Review of the Regional Conservation Strategy for the Cheetah and African Wild Dogs in Southern Africa. IUCN/SSC Gland, Switzerland and Range Wide Conservation Program for Cheetah and African Wild Dogs. Available at: http://www.cheetahandwilddog.org/WP/staging/9849/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Regional-Conservation-Strategy-English_2016.pdf

Jacobson, A.P., Gerngross, P., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Schoonover, R.F., Anco, C., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., Durant, S.M., Farhadinia, M.S., Henschel, P., Kamler, J.F., & Laguardia, A. (2016). Leopard (*Panthera pardus*) status, distribution, and research efforts across its range. *PeerJ*, 4, e1974.

Jones, K.R., Venter, O., Fuller, R.A., Allan, J.R., Maxwell, S.L., Negret, P.J., & Watson, J.E. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science*, 360(6390), 788-791.

Kolowski, J.M., Katan, D., Theis, K.R., & Holekamp, K.E. (2007). Daily patterns of activity in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(4), 1017-1028.

Landler, L., Ruxton, G.D., & Malkemper, E.P. (2019). The Hermans–Rasson test as a powerful alternative to the Rayleigh test for circular statistics in biology. *BMC Ecology*, 19(1), 1-8.

Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., Seymour-Smith, J., Hunt, J., Coals, P., O'Donnell, H., Lindsey, P.A., Mandisodza-Chikerema, R., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Evaluating the spatial intensity and demographic impacts of wire-snare bush-meat poaching on large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 244, p.108504.

Manlick, P.J., & Pauli, J.N. (2020). Human disturbance increases trophic niche overlap in terrestrial carnivore communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(43), 26842-26848.

Mapulanga, A.M., & Naito, H. (2019). Effect of deforestation on access to clean drinking water. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(17), 8249-8254.

Meredith, M., & Ridout, M. (2014). Overview of the overlap package. *R. Project.* 1-9. Available at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/overlap/vignettes/overlap.pdf

Meredith, M., & Ridout, M. (2016). Package 'Overlap'— Estimates of Coefficient of Overlapping for Animal Activity Patterns. Available at: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/overlap/index.html

Mésochina, P., Sefu, L., Sichali, E., Chardonnet, P., Ngalande, J., & Lipita, W. (2010). Conservation status of the lion (*Panthera leo* Linnaeus, 1758) in Malawi. SCI Foundation. Paris, France.

Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., Mann, G.K., Fuller, A.K., & Balme, G.A. (2018). Lions and leopards coexist without spatial, temporal or demographic effects of interspecific competition. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87(6), 1709-1726.

Mkonyi, F.J., Estes, A.B., Lichtenfeld, L.L., & Durant, S.M. (2018). Large carnivore distribution in relationship to environmental and anthropogenic factors in a multiple-use landscape of Northern Tanzania. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 972-983.

M'soka, J., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & Dröge, E. (2016). Spotted hyaena survival and density in a lion depleted ecosystem: The effects of prey availability, humans and competition between large carnivores in African savannahs. *Biological Conservation*, 201, 348-355.

Munthali, S.M., & Mkanda, F.X. (2002). The plight of Malawi's wildlife: is trans-location of animals the solution?. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11(5), 751-768.

National Statistical Office (2019). 2018 Malawi Population and Housing Census: Main Report. National Statistical Office. Zomba, Malawi. Available at: http://www.nsomalawi.mw/images/stories/data_on_line/demography/census_2018/2018%20 Malawi%20Population%20and%20Housing%20Census%20Main%20Report.pdf Oriol-Cotterill, A., Valeix, M., Frank, L.G., Riginos, C., & Macdonald, D.W. (2015). Landscapes of coexistence for terrestrial carnivores: the ecological consequences of being downgraded from ultimate to penultimate predator by humans. *Oikos*, 124(10), 1263-1273.

Parsons, A.W., Rota, C.T., Forrester, T., Baker-Whatton, M.C., McShea, W.J., Schuttler, S.G., Millspaugh, J.J., & Kays, R. (2019). Urbanization focuses carnivore activity in remaining natural habitats, increasing species interactions. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56(8), 1894-1904.

Périquet, S., Fritz, H., & Revilla, E. (2015). The Lion King and the Hyaena Queen: large carnivore interactions and coexistence. *Biological Reviews*, 90(4), 1197-1214.

Petracca, L.S., Funston, P.J., Henschel, P., Cohen, J.B., Maclennan, S., & Frair, J.L. (2019). Modeling community occupancy from line transect data: a case study with large mammals in post-war Angola. *Animal Conservation*, 23, 420-433.

Prugh, L.R., & Sivy, K.J. (2020). Enemies with benefits: integrating positive and negative interactions among terrestrial carnivores. *Ecology Letters*, 23(5), 902-918.

QGIS Development Team (2020). QGIS Geographic Information System. Open Source Geospatial Foundation. Available at: http://qgis.org

Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R., Meloro, C., Wilson, A.M., Hayward, M.W., Wich, S.A., & McNutt, J.W. (2020a). Scent-marking strategies of a solitary carnivore: boundary and road scent marking in the leopard. *Animal Behaviour*, 161, 115-126.

Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R., Wilson, A.M., McNutt, J.W., Hayward, M.W., Meloro, C., Wich, S.A., & Golabek, K.A. (2020b). Spatio-temporal factors impacting encounter occurrences between leopards and other large African predators. *Journal of Zoology*, 310(3), 191-200.

Ramesh, T., Kalle, R., Rosenlund, H., & Downs, C.T. (2017). Low leopard populations in protected areas of Maputaland: a consequence of poaching, habitat condition, abundance of prey, and a top predator. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(6), 1964-1973.

R Core Development Team (2020). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Available at: http://www.r-project.org.

Ridout, M.S., & Linkie, M. (2009). Estimating overlap of daily activity patterns from camera trap data. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 14(3), 322-337.

Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M.,
Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M.P., Schmitz, O.J., Smith, D.W., Wallach, A.D.,
& Wirsing, A.J. (2014). Status and Ecological Effects of the World's Largest Carnivores. *Science*, 343, 1241484.

Rizzuto, M., Carbone, C., & Pawar, S. (2018). Foraging constraints reverse the scaling of activity time in carnivores. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(2), 247-253.

Rovero, F., & Zimmermann, F. (eds.) (2016). Camera Trapping for Wildlife Research. Exeter, UK: Pelagic Publishing.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., Carbone, C., & Jansen, P.A. (2014). Quantifying levels of animal activity using camera trap data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(11), 1170-1179.

Rowcliffe, M. (2019). Package 'Activity': Animal Activity Statistics, version 1.2. 2019. Available at: https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/activity/index.html

Santos, F., Carbone, C., Wearn, O.R., Rowcliffe, J.M., Espinosa, S., Lima, M.G.M., Ahumada, J.A., Gonçalves, A.L.S., Trevelin, L.C., Alvarez-Loayza, P., & Spironello, W.R. (2019). Prey

availability and temporal partitioning modulate felid coexistence in Neotropical forests. *PLoS One*, 14(3), p.e0213671.

Schaafsma, M., Utila, H., & Hirons, M.A. (2018). Understanding trade-offs in upscaling and integrating climate-smart agriculture and sustainable river basin management in Malawi. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 80, 117-124.

Searle, C.E., Bauer, D.T., Kesch, M.K., Hunt, J.E., Mandisodza-Chikerema, R., Flyman, M. V., Macdonald, D.W., Dickman, A.J., & Loveridge, A.J. (2020). Drivers of leopard (*Panthera pardus*) habitat use and relative abundance in Africa's largest transfrontier conservation area. *Biological Conservation*, 248, 108649.

Sévêque, A., Gentle, L.K., López-Bao, J.V., Yarnell, R.W., & Uzal, A. (2020). Human disturbance has contrasting effects on niche partitioning within carnivore communities. *Biological Reviews*, 95(6), 1689-1705.

Stein, A.B., Bourquin, S.L., & McNutt, J.W. (2015). Avoiding intraguild competition: Leopard feeding ecology and prey caching in northern Botswana. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 45(2), 247-257.

Strampelli, P., Andresen, L., Everatt, K.T., Somers, M.J., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2018). Habitat use responses of the African leopard in a human-disturbed region of rural Mozambique. *Mammalian Biology*, 89(1), 14-20.

Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Dill, L.M., Roberts, D., & Zanette, L.Y. (2016). Fear of large carnivores causes a trophic cascade. *Nature Communications*, 7, p.10698.

Swanepoel, L.H., Somers, M.J., Van Hoven, W., Schiess-Meier, M., Owen, C., Snyman, A., Martins, Q., Senekal, C., Camacho, G., Boshoff, W., & Dalerum, F. (2015). Survival rates and causes of mortality of leopards Panthera pardus in southern Africa. *Oryx*, 49(4), 595-603.

Vanak, A.T., Fortin, D., Thaker, M., Ogden, M., Owen, C., Greatwood, S., & Slotow, R. (2013). Moving to stay in place: behavioral mechanisms for coexistence of African large carnivores. *Ecology*, 94(11), 2619-2631.

van Velden, J.L., Wilson, K., Lindsey, P.A., McCallum, H., Moyo, B.H., & Biggs, D. (2020). Bushmeat hunting and consumption is a pervasive issue in African savannahs: insights from four protected areas in Malawi. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(4), 1443-1464.

Vazquez, C., Rowcliffe, J.M., Spoelstra, K., & Jansen, P.A. (2019). Comparing diel activity patterns of wildlife across latitudes and seasons: Time transformations using day length. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 10(12), 2057-2066.

Voigt, C.C., Krofel, M., Menges, V., Wachter, B., & Melzheimer, J. (2018). Sex-specific dietary specialization in a terrestrial apex predator, the leopard, revealed by stable isotope analysis. *Journal of Zoology*, 306(1), 1-7.

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2009). Ecological determinants of survival and reproduction in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 90(2), 461-471.

Wilmers, C.C., Isbell, L.A., Suraci, J.P., & Williams, T.M. (2017). Energetics-informed behavioral states reveal the drive to kill in African leopards. *Ecosphere*, 8(6), p.e01850.

Winnie Jr, J., & Creel, S. (2017). The many effects of carnivores on their prey and their implications for trophic cascades, and ecosystem structure and function. *Food Webs*, 12, 88-94.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), p.160252.

Woodroffe, R., & Ginsberg, J.R. (1998). Edge effects and the extinction of populations inside protected areas. *Science*, 280(5372), 2126-2128.

Yaron, G., Mangani, R., Mlava, J., Kambewa, P., Makungwa, S., Mtethiwa, A., Munthali, S., Mgoola, W., & Kazembe, J. (2011). Economic valuation of sustainable natural resource use in Malawi. Ministry of Finance and Development Planning. Lilongwe, Malawi. Available at: https://www.unpei.org/files/sites/default/files/e_library_documents/summary%20report%20e dit.pdf

Dietary composition and niche overlap between competing large carnivores in Kasungu National Park, Malawi



CHAPTER SIX: Dietary composition and niche overlap between competing large carnivores in Kasungu National Park, Malawi

Abstract

Intraguild competition is a key mechanism that can shape large carnivore community structure by suppressing subordinate competitors and altering niche partitioning strategies, potentially impacting population demographics. Large carnivores often compete for similar resources and assessing dietary overlap within carnivore guilds can be a reliable indicator of interspecific competition. Loss of natural prey, primarily from unsustainable human offtake, is a key factor in species decline and can heighten levels of competition between competing carnivores, as resources become increasingly limited. In Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi, the carnivore guild has been altered by high levels of anthropogenic disturbance, leading to reduced prey availability and a resident carnivore guild consisting of only leopard (Panthera pardus) and spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta). Using scat analysis techniques, the dietary composition and level of niche overlap between leopard and spotted hyaena were assessed. Leopard and spotted hyaena shared a high degree of dietary overlap between prey species (O_{ab} = 0.65), whilst leopard showed a greater level of dietary specialisation. Dietary overlap and the potential for exploitation competition was higher for prey species within the small (< 19kg) and large (> 80kg) prey weight ranges ($O_{ab} > 0.95$ for both). However, leopard and spotted hyaena utilised different prey species within the medium (19-80kg) prey weight range, thus reducing levels of competition. These results suggest there is strong potential for exploitation and interference competition between leopard and spotted hyaena, which could have a limiting effect on large carnivore population density. A focus on restoring large mammal prey populations in KNP will help to mitigate levels of interspecific competition and reduce the potential for exploitation competition between large carnivores.

6.1 Introduction

Interspecific competition is an important component of ecosystem functionality that can alter community structure, species distribution and population dynamics (Caro & Stoner, 2003; Chesson & Kuang, 2008; Prugh & Sivy, 2020). For example, within carnivore guilds, competitive interaction with dominant guild members can have deleterious effects on subordinate carnivores, such as reduced individual fitness, lower reproductive rates, and population suppression (Palomares & Caro, 1999; Prugh *et al.* 2009). To reduce the potential for competitive interaction with dominant guild members, and the associated negative costs of competition, subordinate carnivores typically exhibit niche differentiation (Schoener, 1974). By partitioning their use of one or more niche axes (space, time and resource availability; Schoener, 1974), subordinate carnivores can facilitate coexistence with sympatric competitors (Sévêque *et al.* 2020).

Where sympatric carnivores display spatiotemporal overlap, access to shared resources may be limited and, in large carnivore communities, this resource is often food. In response to exploitative competition with dominant guild members, subordinate competitors may exhibit dietary niche segregation and utilise different food resources (Schoener, 1983). Resource partitioning can limit the impact of competition, however, diverging use of any of the three niche axes can have implications for the survival and fitness of subordinate carnivores (du Preez *et al.* 2017). For example, dietary segregation can force subordinate carnivores to predate smaller, sub-optimal prey, with potential implications for overall fitness and group dynamics (Hayward & Kerley, 2008). In addition, resource partitioning can be further altered by anthropogenic disturbance (Smith *et al.* 2018; Manlick & Pauli, 2020; Sévêque *et al.* 2020), whereby a human-induced reduction in resource availability, such as the offtake of natural prey, can affect levels of intraguild competition, as carnivore guilds are forced to compete for increasingly limited resources (Creel *et al.* 2018). For example, increasing use of small prey

items by lion (*Panthera leo*) and spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*, hereafter hyaena) limited the potential for niche partitioning by cheetah (*Acinonyx jubatus*) and wild dog (*Lycaon pictus*) populations in Liuwa Plains, Zambia (Dröge *et al.* 2017).

Large carnivores have experienced widespread population and geographic range declines over the last two centuries, largely due to increasing anthropogenic threats (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Ceballos *et al.* 2015; Wolf & Ripple, 2017). The local extirpation, or depletion, of natural prey from an environment, often caused by unsustainable human offtake, has been identified as a key factor in large carnivore population decline (Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Sandom *et al.* 2018). Due to the high metabolic demands associated with large body size, large carnivores require abundant mammalian prey to persist in an environment (Carbone & Gittleman, 2002; Creel *et al.* 2018). The reliance of carnivores on large prey has further driven population declines, with significant prey depletion either leading to localised extirpations (e.g., Maisels *et al.* 2001; Burton *et al.* 2011), or forcing carnivores to search for alternative food sources, often resulting in increased livestock predation (Khorozyan *et al.* 2015; Khan *et al.* 2018). Determining large carnivore dietary composition is, therefore, crucial for their effective conservation management and key to assessing their adaptability in the face of continuing environmental change (Havmøller *et al.* 2020).

Here, the diets of sympatric leopard (*Panthera pardus*) and hyaena populations in Kasungu National Park (KNP), Malawi, are compared to determine the level of dietary niche overlap between the two species, as a proxy for intraguild competition. The dietary niche breadth of leopard and hyaena is diverse (Hayward, 2006; Hayward *et al.* 2006), and this dietary adaptability, combined with flexible hunting strategies and behavioural plasticity, has helped both species to persist in areas where other large carnivores have been extirpated (e.g., Loveridge *et al.* 2020). In most environments, hyaena and leopard are part of a wider carnivore guild that is competing for resources (e.g., Hayward & Kerley, 2008; Creel *et al.* 2018; Briers-

Louw & Leslie, 2020), but in KNP this carnivore guild has been depleted, with the loss of resident lion, cheetah and wild dog populations (Mésochina *et al.* 2010; IUCN/SSC, 2015; Davis *et al.* 2021a). In addition, prey availability has been reduced in KNP through unsustainable levels of illegal poaching (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Mésochina *et al.* 2010). Previous studies have highlighted that a reduction in prey abundance, particularly of larger-bodied prey species, can result in increased dietary overlap and reduced dietary niche breadth (Creel *et al.* 2018). As leopard and hyaena populations are known to be found at low densities in KNP (Davis *et al.* 2021a), determining if this reduction in prey abundance has impacted prey choice and dietary overlap is important for local conservation management.

The dietary ecology of large carnivores has been well-studied in parts of east and southern Africa where the carnivore guild is largely intact (e.g., Hayward & Kerley, 2008; du Preez et al. 2017; Broekhuis et al. 2018; Comley et al. 2020). However, further information is needed on dietary overlap and interspecific competition between sympatric carnivores in disturbed and understudied habitats (Breuer, 2005; Rduch, 2016; Creel et al. 2018). The breakdown of carnivore community assemblages and decline of prey abundance is predicted to increase across African protected areas, as anthropogenic pressures continue to grow (Wolf & Ripple, 2016; Jones et al. 2018; Sandom et al. 2018). Information on intraguild competition and dietary ecology in these human-disturbed environments will, therefore, be important for local conservation management and of wider relevance as these issues become more pertinent in African ecosystems. Using scat analysis techniques, this study assesses dietary composition and overlap between leopard and hyaena in KNP, a human-disturbed ecosystem with reduced prey availability and a modified carnivore guild. It is predicted that, a) leopard and hyaena will exhibit a high level of dietary overlap, and b) dietary overlap will be higher in the mediumsized (19-80kg) prey weight group, as both leopard and hyaena preferentially select for prey in this weight range (Hayward, 2006, Hayward et al. 2006).

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Study area

The study was conducted in KNP, a 2,316km² legally protected area in the Central Region of Malawi. KNP is largely comprised of miombo woodland (*Brachystegia* and *Julbernardia* spp.), which is interspersed with a network of seasonally wet grasslands and isolated rocky inselbergs. Mean annual rainfall is 780mm, falling between November and April. Leopard and hyaena are found at similar density in KNP, with recent estimates of 1.77 leopard/100km² and 1.62 hyaena/100km² (Davis *et al.* 2021a). Prey populations in KNP have been subject to high levels of subsistence poaching, which has reduced prey abundance (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002). For example, an aerial survey conducted in 2014 estimated a 95% decline in buffalo (*Syncerus caffer*) numbers since 1992 and a 97% decline in the zebra (*Equus quagga*) population over the same time-period, with the zebra population estimated at just six individuals (Macpherson, 2015).

6.2.2 Scat collection and analysis

Scats from large carnivores were collected between May 2016 and January 2018 in KNP (Figure 6.1). For each sample collected, the species, location and date were recorded. Scats were identified based on diameter, segmentation, colour, shape, and presence of associated field signs (e.g., tracks), using the specifications in Stuart & Stuart (2000). Three methods were used to collect carnivore scats: opportunistic collection, walked transects and, for hyaena, monitoring of known latrine sites. Opportunistic collection of faecal samples along roads and trails was conducted throughout the study period (May 2016 – January 2018). Ten walked transects of 5km in length were designed to search the KNP road network for scats that could be overlooked whilst driving. The KNP road network was targeted for walked transect search protocols as large carnivores frequently use road systems as communication hubs (Rafiq *et al.*)

2020). Hyaena scats were also collected at latrine and den sites, which were visited periodically throughout the study period.



Figure 6.1. Map of Kasungu National Park, Malawi, indicating the location of all analysed scats (n = 79) collected for the assessment of leopard and spotted hyaena diet.

Faecal samples were sun-dried for 24 hours, before being soaked in warm water until malleable. Samples were washed over a sieve until the water ran clear, then the remaining contents were air-dried for at least 24 hours. Ten hairs from each scat were selected at random, with hairs spread across a grid and a random number generator used to select individual hairs from sampled squares. All samples were identified microscopically from their cuticle imprint, using the techniques developed by Keogh (1983). Microphotographs at 40x magnification were

taken at the base, middle and end of each follicle. Cuticle patterns were then identified to species level using the reference guide developed by Beveridge & van den Hoogen (2013) and from samples opportunistically collected from carcasses during the study period by Carnivore Research Malawi. Identifying bushpig (*Potamochoerus larvatus*) and warthog (*Phacochoerus africanus*) samples to species-level can be challenging from cuticle images, as cuticles are similar in structure (Beveridge & van den Hoogen, 2013). Therefore, these two species were considered as family *suidae* spp. to avoid misidentification. All leopard samples were identified following the same protocol to species-level by Carnivore Research Malawi and received as secondary data. For hyaena, cuticle images were sent to the author and subsequently identified to species-level.

6.2.3 Dietary composition and biomass

Leopard and hyaena dietary composition were determined using three methods: frequency of occurrence (FO), corrected frequency of occurrence (CFO) and relative biomass (R). FO was calculated as the number of occurrences of a single prey item divided by the total number of occurrences of all prey items (Klare *et al.* 2011). However, as FO can overestimate the importance of certain prey items, a CFO was calculated to account for multiple prey items occurring in a single scat (Henschel *et al.* 2005; Klare *et al.* 2011). CFO assigns a weighting of one to each scat, which is then split by the number of prey species identified per scat. For example, if four prey items were found in a scat then a weighting of 0.25 would be applied to each species present. CFO for each prey species is then expressed as a percentage by dividing the total occurrence across scats by the number of scats available (Karanth & Sunquist, 1995).

Variation in the size of selected prey can limit inference from frequency of occurrence methods and overestimate the importance of smaller prey items in carnivore diet (Henschel *et al.* 2005; Klare *et al.* 2011). Estimating biomass consumption is, therefore, recommended over conversion factors, particularly for carnivores with diverse diets (Chakrabarti *et al.* 2016; Lumetsberger *et al.* 2017). Previous studies have used linear regression models to estimate biomass consumption, often applying the model developed by Ackerman *et al.* (1984) for pumas (*Puma concolor*). However, failure to account for physiological constraints and carnivore feeding behaviour in these early biomass models led to significant bias and inaccuracies in biomass estimation (Wachter *et al.* 2012; Lumetsberger *et al.* 2017). Therefore, the non-linear biomass model developed by Chakrabarti *et al.* (2016) from lion and leopard feeding trials was used to calculate biomass consumed per scat:

$$Y = 0.033 - 0.025 \exp^{-4.284 (X/Z)}$$

where Y is the mass of prey consumed per collectable scat, X is the mean prey body mass, and Z is the mean carnivore body mass. As no correction factors have been developed to calculate biomass consumption for hyaena, and hyaena are similar in body-size to lion and leopard, the biomass model of Chakrabarti *et al.* (2016) was also used for hyaena calculations.

Prey weights were calculated using 75% of the average adult female weight, derived from Kingdon (2015), as recommended in Hayward *et al.* (2007) and Chakrabarti *et al.* (2016). Mean carnivore body masses for leopard and hyaena were also derived from Kingdon (2015). The method provided in Chakrabarti *et al.* (2016) was used to calculate biomass consumed per scat (*Y*), total biomass consumed ($B = Y \ge CFO$) and relative biomass ($R = (B/\Sigma B) \ge 100$). Prey preference was not investigated here as reliable population estimates were not available for all prey species in KNP, with poor visibility limiting the efficacy of aerial counts for cryptic species (e.g., bushbuck, *Tragelaphus scriptus*) and low prey density resulting in limited sample sizes for ground transects.

6.2.4 Dietary overlap and niche breadth

Dietary overlap was determined using Pianka's (1973) index:

$$O_{ab} = \frac{\sum_{n} P_{ia} P_{ib}}{\left(\sum_{n} P_{ia}^{2} P_{ib}^{2}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$

where O_{ab} is the degree of dietary overlap between species a and b; P_{ia} is the relative frequency of the prey item *i* found in the scat of species a; P_{ib} is the relative frequency of the prey item *i* found in the scat of species b; and *n* is the total number of prey items in a predator scat. The resulting values range from 0 (no overlap) to 1 (complete overlap) and, in accordance with similar studies of large carnivore diet, overlap is considered to be biologically significant when values exceed 0.60 (Mbizah *et al.* 2012; Comley *et al.* 2020). The degree of dietary overlap between leopard and hyaena was estimated for both the relative occurrence of all prey species and prey weight groups, using the classification of Pitman *et al.* (2012): small (< 19kg), medium (19-80 kg) and large (> 80 kg). Pianka's index was calculated using the package 'spaa' (Zhang, 2016) in R v4.0.1 (R Core Development Team, 2020).

Dietary niche breadths were calculated using Levins' index (Levins, 1968), standardised by Hurlbert (1978):

$$B_s = \frac{((1/\sum P_i^2) - 1)}{(n-1)}$$

where P_i is the proportion of occurrence of each prey item *i* in predator diet *P*, and *n* is the number of prey taxa. B_s ranges from zero to one, with lower values indicating a more specialised diet and higher values indicating generalist diets.

6.3 Results

A total of 151 (leopard, n = 41; hyaena, n = 107) large carnivore faecal samples were collected in KNP between May 2016 and January 2018, of which 79 were available for analyses (leopard, n = 39; hyaena, n = 40). Faecal accumulation curves showed that 90% of all prey species found in samples were detected after analysing 22 scats for both leopard and hyaena (Figure 6.2). Identification of hair samples was not possible in <1% and 12.75% of leopard and hyaena scats, respectively.



Figure 6.2. Cumulative curves showing the proportion of species identified from scat analysis for leopard and hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi.

6.3.1 Dietary composition and biomass

Twelve different prey items were recorded in leopard faecal samples, with a mean of 3.13 (SD \pm 1.10) prey items per sample. Based on CFO, the most frequently found prey items in leopard diet were common duiker (25.51%; Table 6.1), bushbuck (21.72%), puku (18.46%) and kudu (16.77%). 11 different prey items were recorded in hyaena faecal samples, with a mean of 2.65

 $(SD \pm 0.92)$ prey items per sample. The most frequently identified prey items for hyaena, based on CFO, were kudu (25.43%), *suidae* spp. (21.05%) and common duiker (21.25%).

Biomass calculations revealed that over 80% of leopard diet was comprised of bushbuck (23.06%; Table 6.1), common duiker (21.79%), puku (20.49%) and kudu (18.93%). For hyaena, kudu (28.71%), *suidae* spp. (22.78%), common duiker (16.80%) and reedbuck (11.18%) comprised approximately 80% of the biomass consumed. Medium-sized prey were the most important prey size group for leopard, contributing 46.25% of the biomass consumed (Figure 6.3). For hyaena, the medium (40.48%) and large (40.52%) prey size groups contributed equally to biomass consumption.



Figure 6.3. The contribution (%) of prey size groups to the diet of leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, based on relative biomass consumed. The prey size classes used were taken from Pitman *et al.* (2012).

Table 6.1. Frequency of occurrence (FO) and corrected frequency of occurrence (CFO) of prey species found in faecal samples of leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Biomass calculations, based on the models of Chakrabarti et al. (2016), are also presented, where Y is the biomass consumed per scat, B is the total biomass consumed in kg, and R is the relative contribution of individual prey items to overall biomass consumption.

	Leopard (n = 39)					Spotted hyaena (n = 40)				
Prey Species	FO (%)	CFO (%)	Y	B (kg)	R (%)	FO (%)	CFO (%)	Y	B (kg)	R (%)
Bushbuck, Tragelaphus sylvaticus	29.82	21.72	1.65	35.73	23.06	4.89	5.48	1.94	10.64	5.60
Common duiker, Sylvicapra grimmia	26.74	25.51	1.32	33.77	21.79	21.55	21.25	1.50	31.91	16.80
Dwarf mongoose, Helogale parvula	1.54	2.10	0.45	0.95	0.61	-	-	-	_	_
Eland, Taurotragus oryx	-	-	-	-	-	4.89	4.23	2.14	9.07	4.78
Elephant, Loxodonta africana	-	-	-	-	-	0.29	1.25	2.15	2.68	1.41
Kudu, Taurotragus strepsiceros	17.48	16.77	1.75	29.33	18.93	23.28	25.43	2.14	54.53	28.71
Puku, Kobus vardonii	14.91	18.46	1.72	31.75	20.49	0.29	0.83	2.07	1.72	0.91
Rodentia spp.	0.26	0.44	0.77	0.34	0.22	-	-	-	_	_
Sable, Hippotragus niger	4.88	8.69	1.75	15.20	9.81	5.75	4.98	2.14	10.68	5.62
Savanna hare, Lepus victoriae	0.26	0.44	0.71	0.31	0.20	4.02	3.75	0.81	3.04	1.60
Southern reedbuck, Redunca arundinum	0.26	0.64	1.66	1.11	0.71	8.33	10.18	2.09	21.25	11.18
Suidae spp.	0.26	0.44	1.65	0.75	0.49	26.44	21.05	2.06	43.27	22.78
Vervet monkey, Chlorocebus	-	-	-	-	-	0.29	1.25	0.92	1.15	0.60
pygerythrus										
Yellow baboon, Papio cynocephalus	2.57	2.97	1.12	3.41	2.20	-	-	-	-	-
Goat, Capra hircus	1.03	1.49	1.51	2.32	1.50	_	-	-	_	_

6.3.2 Dietary overlap and niche breadth

Across all prey items, dietary composition overlapped significantly between leopard and hyaena ($O_{ab} = 0.65$). When dietary composition was split by prey size groups, leopard and hyaena displayed significant levels of overlap for small ($O_{ab} = 0.97$) and large ($O_{ab} = 0.95$) prey items, but dietary overlap was lower for medium-sized prey species ($O_{ab} = 0.22$). In total there were eight prey species found in both leopard and hyaena faecal samples: four species were preyed on exclusively by leopard and three by hyaena. Leopard exhibited a lower dietary niche breadth ($B_s = 0.33$) than hyaena ($B_s = 0.43$), indicating that leopard had a more specialised diet.

6.4 Discussion

Resource partitioning and niche differentiation are important strategies that allow carnivore communities to coexist (Caro & Stoner, 2003). For example, dietary partitioning is a common strategy that may facilitate sympatry between competing carnivores, reducing the potential for interspecific competition (du Preez *et al.* 2017). Nevertheless, competition for resources can increase levels of intraguild competition, which can be exacerbated when prey abundance is depleted, and, subsequently, amplifies incidents of direct interaction (Harihar *et al.* 2011). The results of this study confirmed the prediction that leopard and hyaena shared a significant level of dietary overlap in KNP ($O_{ab} = 0.65$). Contrary to our prediction, overlap between leopard and hyaena was lower for medium-sized prey items ($O_{ab} = 0.22$), with both predators utilising different prey species within this weight range. Dietary overlap was considerably higher in small (\leq 19kg) and large (> 80kg) prey weight groups ($O_{ab} > 0.95$ in both), increasing the potential for exploitation competition.

Dietary overlap between leopard and hyaena in KNP was in accordance with recorded levels in another Malawian protected area, Majete Wildlife Reserve ($O_{ab} = 0.61$; Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020). Although, in contrast with other studies across the species' range, overall estimates of dietary overlap in KNP were lower than previous comparisons (e.g., $O_{ab} = 0.91$ in both Mbizah *et al.* 2012 and Comley *et al.* 2020). Chapter Five has previously shown that the spatiotemporal dynamics of leopard and hyaena in KNP are positively associated with the presence of prey and competing carnivores, thus increasing the likelihood of interaction (Davis *et al.* 2021b). The findings of Chapter Six, therefore, add further evidence of potentially high levels of competition between the two species. Increased competition for prey can lead to greater levels of interference and exploitation competition between predators (Harihar *et al.* 2011; Périquet *et al.* 2015) and have direct consequences on population density, behaviour and survival (e.g., Mondal *et al.* 2012). As the dominant competitor, hyaena are a key source of kleptoparasitic behaviour across the leopards' range and are responsible for stealing up to 10% of leopard kills (Balme *et al.* 2017). Kleptoparasitism can have negative effects on reproductive success and individual fitness (Krofel *et al.* 2012; Balme *et al.* 2017), whilst direct interaction with hyaenas is a source of mortality in leopard populations (Swanepoel *et al.* 2015). Subsequently, the potential for increased levels of competition and interaction between remaining leopard and hyaena populations in KNP is a cause for conservation concern.

Despite high levels of dietary overlap, large carnivores can often mitigate intraguild competition by preferentially selecting prey in different weight groups (e.g., Andheria *et al.* 2007; du Preez *et al.* 2017). Consumption of medium-sized (19-80kg) prey comprised over 40% of the total biomass in both leopard and hyaena diet, however, the two carnivores utilised different prey species within this weight range, thus reducing levels of dietary overlap. Kudu were an important large-bodied prey item for both leopard and hyaena and was the only species >80kg that contributed more than 10% of the consumed biomass to the diet of either carnivore. In previous studies, hyaena have preferentially selected larger prey items (e.g., Hayward, 2006; Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020). Therefore, increasing the abundance and diversity of larger prey species should be a management priority to mitigate interspecific competition between hyaena

and leopard. The recent reintroduction of waterbuck (*Kobus ellipsiprymnus*), a preferred prey of hyaena in previous studies (e.g., Rduch, 2016; Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020), and the supplementation of other large mammal species in KNP (IFAW, 2020) should be seen as important first steps in this process.

Bushbuck and common duiker were the most frequently selected prey by leopard in KNP, in accordance with the preferred prey species identified in a range-wide study by Hayward et al. (2006). The more specialised diet and narrower niche breadth of leopard, compared to hyaena, also concurs with the findings of recent studies (e.g., Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020; Comley et al. 2020). In some human-disturbed environments where prey has been depleted, leopard have been found to switch to smaller-bodied prey species, such as rodents (e.g., Henschel et al. 2011; De Luca & Mpunga, 2018; Havmøller et al. 2020). However, the greater contribution of medium-sized prey to leopard diet, observed in this study, implies that this dietary switch has not occurred in KNP. Nevertheless, the importance of puku (average prey mass (kg): 47.25) in the leopard's diet could be a result of geographic bias in scat sample collection. As puku prefer wetland and riverine habitats (Rduch & Jentke, 2021), the species is restricted to a core area of KNP centred around the permanent water at Lifupa Dam (Macpherson, 2015). Subsequently, puku are unlikely to feature in the diet of individual leopards outside of this core area, particularly leopards occupying territories around the boundaries of KNP. Future studies would benefit from increased sampling efforts around the park edges to improve estimates of dietary composition.

Across their geographic range, hyaena prefer medium- to large-bodied prey in the 56-182kg weight category (Hayward, 2006; Holekamp & Dloniak, 2010). As medium- and large-bodied prey items contributed equally to the relative biomass consumption in hyaena diet in KNP, our results are largely in accordance with the range-wide review of Hayward (2006). The high occurrence of kudu and suidae spp. also corresponds with previous findings in Malawian

protected areas (Briers-Louw & Leslie, 2020), miombo woodlands (Rduch, 2016) and across the species' geographic range (Hayward, 2006; Mbizah *et al.* 2012; Comley *et al.* 2020). The wider dietary niche breadth of hyena in KNP, compared to the resident leopard population, highlights the more unselective and flexible nature of hyaena predation, as observed in Hayward (2006) and Périquet *et al.* (2015). Whilst hyaena predation strategies are often adaptable, small prey items are not as frequently selected as other prey weight ranges (Holekamp & Dloniak, 2010). For example, Rduch (2016) and Comley *et al.* (2020) found that hyaena did not consume any prey items below 30kg in weight. In this study, small prey items comprised a significant proportion of consumed biomass in hyaena diet (~20%). This may indicate an increased reliance on small prey items in KNP, as has been observed in other studies where prey abundance has been depleted (e.g., Creel *et al.* 2018). There was a significant level of dietary overlap with leopard for small prey items ($O_{ab} = 0.97$), with common duiker representing the majority of biomass consumed by hyaena within this weight range. As common duiker is a key prey species for leopard in KNP, further utilisation of small prey could increase levels of interspecific competition between the two species.

The total number of scats available for analyses in this study could have limited inference. For example, Trites and Joy (2005) recommended a minimum sample size of 59 faecal samples to broadly describe a species' site-specific diet. However, previous studies have found that ~30 samples are sufficient to detect most prey items (e.g., Breuer, 2005) and as both sample sizes reached an asymptote, this study was adequate for providing an initial insight into dietary composition and overlap. Whilst all scats were collected and identified to criteria frequently used in dietary studies, there is potential for scats to be misidentified at species level (Morin *et al.* 2016). For example, Havmøller *et al.* (2020) used similar criteria to identify leopard scats in Tanzania through DNA metabarcoding, finding that 27.5% of collected samples originated from hyaena and serval (*Leptailurus serval*) or could not be identified to species level.

Misidentification of samples could lead to incorrect conclusions regarding prey preference or dietary niche breadth, potentially misinterpreting species' dietary adaptability or levels of interspecific competition (Morin *et al.* 2016). As hyaena samples in our study were primarily collected from latrine sites, it is unlikely that these could be misidentified as leopard scats. In addition, the absence of other large carnivores (i.e., lion) in KNP means it is unlikely that hyaena faecal samples were incorrectly identified. However, it is acknowledged that, despite the use of standardised criteria, the issue of misidentification could limit inference from leopard scats, with both caracal (*Caracal caracal*) and serval present in KNP. It is recommended that future studies utilise the DNA metabarcoding approach of Havmøller *et al.* (2020), where logistical and financial restraints allow, to minimise the risk of incorrect scat classification and improving the certainty with which prey remains can be identified.

Recent studies have indicated that leopard diet shows varying levels of specialisation, both between sexes and at the individual level (Voigt *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2020). Female leopards often demonstrate a wider dietary niche than male conspecifics but are more reliant on small prey items (Voigt *et al.* 2018). In contrast, male leopards often display a greater degree of specialisation and a preference for larger prey items (Pitman *et al.* 2013; Balme *et al.* 2020). Both foraging tactics, individual specialisation and targeting of smaller prey, can have negative consequences for population health. For example, Balme *et al.* (2020) found that males with more specialised diets occupied territories with fewer females, whilst cub productivity and survival to independence was lower than in areas with more generalist males. In addition, hunting smaller prey items can have implications for individual fitness and energy expenditure, as animals are forced to hunt more frequently, whilst balancing metabolic demands (Carbone *et al.* 2007; Creel *et al.* 2018). The low leopard population density in KNP (Davis *et al.* 2021a) and observed sex-specific temporal partitioning (Davis *et al.* 2021b), means that further research into dietary specialisation between leopard sexes could be beneficial to future

conservation management. These data could be collected using satellite collars on leopards and the investigation of GPS clusters of locations to identify kill sites (Martins *et al.* 2011; Pitman *et al.* 2014). However, these methods are often limited by small sample sizes and are biased towards larger prey items (Jansen *et al.* 2019). Alternatively, stable isotype analysis from whisker samples could be used (see Voigt *et al.* 2018) to determine sex-specific dietary specialisation. However, as both methods require live capture, their use in KNP could be logistically challenging and result in limited sample sizes.

This study has shown that there is a high degree of dietary overlap between leopard and hyaena and provides a valuable understanding of large carnivore dietary ecology and overlap in KNP. These findings provide further evidence that interspecific competition between remaining carnivore populations could have negative consequences for local conservation management. Although, it should be noted that a high degree of dietary overlap does not necessarily translate into increased levels of competition (Mbizah et al. 2012). Nevertheless, measures of dietary overlap do provide indirect evidence that competition is likely within the carnivore guild and, as direct measures of competition are often difficult to quantify in cryptic carnivore species, these metrics are often the only viable option to inform management decisions (Vanak & Gompper, 2009; Rduch, 2016). Ongoing efforts in KNP to restore large mammal prey populations and mitigate prey depletion (IFAW, 2020) will help to alleviate the pressures of interspecific competition observed in this study. Continued monitoring of large carnivore diets in KNP is recommended, as these data can provide a valuable indicator for levels of interspecific competition. Further research into individual specialisation and leopard sexspecific diets will help to inform local conservation management and provide a wider insight into leopard dietary adaptation in human-disturbed environments.

6.5 References

Ackerman, B.B., Lindzey, F.G., & Hemker, T.P. (1984). Cougar food habits in southern Utah. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 48, 147-155.

Andheria, A.P., Karanth, K.U., & Kumar, N.S. (2007). Diet and prey profiles of three sympatric large carnivores in Bandipur Tiger Reserve, India. *Journal of Zoology*, 273(2), 169-175.

Balme, G.A., le Roex, N., Rogan, M.S., & Hunter, L.T. (2020). Ecological opportunity drives individual dietary specialization in leopards. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(2), 589-600.

Balme, G.A., Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., & Hunter, L.T. (2017). Caching reduces kleptoparasitism in a solitary, large felid. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(3), 634-644.

Beveridge, N.G.P., & van den Hoogen, J.C. (2013). A photographic reference system of microand macrostructure of hairs of several East African species. Available at: https://leofoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/2013-Photographic-hair-referencesystem....pdf

Breuer, T. (2005). Diet choice of large carnivores in northern Cameroon. *African Journal of Ecology*, 43(3), 181-190.

Briers-Louw, W.D., & Leslie, A.J. (2020). Dietary partitioning of three large carnivores in Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 371-382.

Broekhuis, F., Thuo, D., & Hayward, M.W. (2018). Feeding ecology of cheetahs in the Maasai Mara, Kenya and the potential for intra-and interspecific competition. *Journal of Zoology*, 304(1), 65-72.

Burton, A.C., Sam, M.K., Kpelle, D.G., Balangtaa, C., Buedi, E.B., & Brashares, J.S. (2011). Evaluating persistence and its predictors in a West African carnivore community. *Biological Conservation*, 144(9), 2344-2353. Carbone, C., & Gittleman, J.L. (2002). A common rule for the scaling of carnivore density. *Science*, 295(5563), 2273-2276.

Carbone, C., Teacher, A., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2007). The Costs of Carnivory. *PLoS Biology*, 5(2), e22.

Caro, T.M., & Stoner, C.J. (2003). The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 110(1), 67-75.

Ceballos, G., Ehrlich, P.R., Barnosky, A.D., García, A., Pringle, R.M., & Palmer, T.M. (2015). Accelerated modern human–induced species losses: Entering the sixth mass extinction. *Science Advances*, 1(5), e1400253.

Chakrabarti, S., Jhala, Y.V., Dutta, S., Qureshi, Q., Kadivar, R.F., & Rana, V.J. (2016). Adding constraints to predation through allometric relation of scats to consumption. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 85(3), 660-670.

Chesson, P., & Kuang, J.J. (2008). The interaction between predation and competition. *Nature*, 456(7219), 235-238.

Comley, J., Joubert, C.J., Mgqatsa, N., & Parker, D.M. (2020). Do spotted hyaenas outcompete the big cats in a small, enclosed system in South Africa?. *Journal of Zoology*, 311(2), 145-153.

Creel, S., Matandiko, W., Schuette, P., Rosenblatt, E., Sanguinetti, C., Banda, K., ... & Becker, M. (2018). Changes in African large carnivore diets over the past half-century reveal the loss of large prey. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(6), 2908-2916.

Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021a). Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53. Davis, R.S., Yarnell, R.W., Gentle, L.K., Uzal, A., Mgoola, W.O., & Stone, E.L. (2021b). Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild. *Ecology & Evolution*, 11(12), 7890-7904.

De Luca, D. W., & Mpunga, N.E. (2018). Leopard abundance, distribution and food habits in the Mt. Rungwe–Kitulo landscape, Southern Tanzania. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(2), 358-367.

Dröge, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & M'soka, J. (2017). Spatial and temporal avoidance of risk within a large carnivore guild. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(1), 189-199.

du Preez, B., Purdon, J., Trethowan, P., Macdonald, D.W., & Loveridge, A.J. (2017). Dietary niche differentiation facilitates coexistence of two large carnivores. *Journal of Zoology*, 302(3), 149-156.

Harihar, A., Pandav, B., & Goyal, S.P. (2011). Responses of leopard Panthera pardus to the recovery of a tiger Panthera tigris population. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(3), 806-814.

Havmøller, R.W., Jacobsen, N.S., Havmøller, L.W., Rovero, F., Scharff, N., & Bohmann, K. (2020). DNA metabarcoding reveals that African leopard diet varies between habitats. *African Journal of Ecology*, 59, 37-50.

Hayward, M.W. (2006). Prey preferences of the spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) and degree of dietary overlap with the lion (Panthera leo). *Journal of Zoology*, 270(4), 606-614.

Hayward, M.W., Henschel, P., O'Brien, J., Hofmeyr, M., Balme, G., & Kerley, G.I.H. (2006). Prey preferences of the leopard (Panthera pardus). *Journal of Zoology*, 270(2), 298-313.

Hayward, M.W., & Kerley, G.I. (2008). Prey preferences and dietary overlap amongst Africa's large predators. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 38(2), 93-108.

Hayward, M.W., O'Brien, J., & Kerley, G.I. (2007). Carrying capacity of large African predators: predictions and tests. *Biological Conservation*, 139(1-2), 219-229.

Henschel, P., Abernethy, K.A., & White, L.J.T. (2005). Leopard food habits in the Lope National Park, Gabon, Central Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 43(1), 21-28.

Henschel, P., Hunter, L.T., Coad, L., Abernethy, K.A., & Mühlenberg, M. (2011). Leopard prey choice in the Congo Basin rainforest suggests exploitative competition with human bushmeat hunters. *Journal of Zoology*, 285(1), 11-20.

Holekamp, K.E., & Dloniak, S.M. (2010). Intraspecific variation in the behavioral ecology of a tropical carnivore, the spotted hyena. In *Advances in the Study of Behavior* (Vol. 42, pp. 189-229). Academic Press.

Hurlbert, S.H. (1978). The measurement of niche overlap and some relatives. *Ecology*, 59, 67–77.

International Fund for Animal Welfare (2020). "Zebra translocation helps make Kasungu National Park a secured home for wildlife". Available at: https://www.ifaw.org/uk/journal/kasungu-national-park-translocation-secured-home Accessed: [14/03/2021]

IUCN/SSC (2015). Review of the Regional Conservation Strategy for the Cheetah and African Wild Dogs in Southern Africa. IUCN/SSC Gland, Switzerland and Range Wide Conservation Program for Cheetah and African Wild Dogs.

Jansen, C., Leslie, A.J., Cristescu, B., Teichman, K.J., & Martins, Q. (2019). Determining the diet of an African mesocarnivore, the caracal: scat or GPS cluster analysis?. *Wildlife Biology*, 2019(1), 1-8.

Jones, K.R., Venter, O., Fuller, R.A., Allan, J.R., Maxwell, S.L., Negret, P.J., & Watson, J.E. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science*, 360(6390), 788-791.

Karanth, K.U., & Sunquist, M.E. (1995). Prey selection by tiger, leopard and dhole in tropical forests. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 64(4), 439-450.

Keogh, H.J. (1983). A photographic reference system of the microstructure of the hair of southern African bovids. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 13(4), 89–131.

Khan, U., Lovari, S., Shah, S.A., & Ferretti, F. (2018). Predator, prey and humans in a mountainous area: loss of biological diversity leads to trouble. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(11), 2795-2813.

Khorozyan, I., Ghoddousi, A., Soofi, M., & Waltert, M. (2015). Big cats kill more livestock when wild prey reaches a minimum threshold. *Biological Conservation*, 192, 268-275.

Kingdon, J. (2015). The Kingdon field guide to African mammals. London, UK: Bloomsbury Publishing.

Klare, U., Kamler, J.F., & Macdonald, D.W. (2011). A comparison and critique of different scat-analysis methods for determining carnivore diet. *Mammal Review*, 41(4), 294-312.

Krofel, M., Kos, I., & Jerina, K. (2012). The noble cats and the big bad scavengers: effects of dominant scavengers on solitary predators. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 66(9), 1297-1304.

Levins, R. (1968). *Evolution in changing environments*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., Seymour-Smith, J., Hunt, J., Coals, P., O'Donnell, H., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Evaluating the spatial intensity and demographic impacts of wiresnare bush-meat poaching on large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 244, 108504.

Lumetsberger, T., Ghoddousi, A., Appel, A., Khorozyan, I., Waltert, M., & Kiffner, C. (2017). Re-evaluating models for estimating prey consumption by leopards. *Journal of Zoology*, 302(3), 201-210.

Macpherson, D. (2015) Report on an Aerial Wildlife Census of Kasungu National Park, Malawi, October 2014. Cluny Wildlife Trust, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Maisels, F., Keming, E., Kemei, M., & Toh, C. (2001). The extirpation of large mammals and implications for montane forest conservation: the case of the Kilum-Ijim Forest, North-west Province, Cameroon. *Oryx*, 35(4), 322-331.

Manlick, P.J., & Pauli, J.N. (2020). Human disturbance increases trophic niche overlap in terrestrial carnivore communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(43), 26842-26848.

Martins, Q., Horsnell, W.G.C., Titus, W., Rautenbach, T., & Harris, S. (2011). Diet determination of the Cape Mountain leopards using global positioning system location clusters and scat analysis. *Journal of Zoology*, 283(2), 81-87.

Mbizah, M.M., Marino, J., & Groom, R.J. (2012). Diet of four sympatric carnivores in Savé Valley Conservancy, Zimbabwe: implications for conservation of the African wild dog (Lycaon pictus). *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 42(2), 94-103.

Mésochina, P., Sefu, L., Sichali, E., Chardonnet, P., Ngalande, J., & Lipita, W. (2010). Conservation status of the lion (Panthera leo Linnaeus, 1758) in Malawi. SCI Foundation. Paris, France.
Mondal, K., Gupta, S., Bhattacharjee, S., Qureshi, Q., & Sankar, K. (2012). Response of leopards to re-introduced tigers in Sariska Tiger Reserve, Western India. *International Journal of Biodiversity and Conservation*, 4(5), 228-236.

Morin, D. J., Higdon, S.D., Holub, J.L., Montague, D.M., Fies, M.L., Waits, L.P., & Kelly, M.J. (2016). Bias in carnivore diet analysis resulting from misclassification of predator scats based on field identification. *Wildlife Society Bulletin*, 40(4), 669–677.

Munthali, S.M., & Mkanda, F.X. (2002). The plight of Malawi's wildlife: is trans-location of animals the solution?. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11(5), 751-768.

Palomares, F., & Caro, T.M. (1999). Interspecific killing among mammalian carnivores. *The American Naturalist*, 153(5), 492-508.

Périquet, S., Fritz, H., & Revilla, E. (2015). The Lion King and the Hyaena Queen: large carnivore interactions and coexistence. *Biological Reviews*, 90(4), 1197-1214.

Pianka, E.R. (1973). The structure of lizard communities. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 4, 53–74.

Pitman, R.T., Mulvaney, J., Ramsay, P.M., Jooste, E., & Swanepoel, L.H. (2014). Global Positioning System-located kills and faecal samples: a comparison of leopard dietary estimates. *Journal of Zoology*, 292(1), 18-24.

Pitman, R.T., Ramsay, P.M., Kilian, P.J., & Swanepoel, L.H. (2013). Foraging and habitat specialization by female leopards (Panthera pardus) in the Waterberg Mountains of South Africa. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 43(2), 167-176.

Pitman, R.T., Swanepoel, L.H., & Ramsay, P.M. (2012). Predictive modelling of leopard predation using contextual Global Positioning System cluster analysis. *Journal of Zoology*, 288(3), 222-230.

Prugh, L.R., & Sivy, K.J. (2020). Enemies with benefits: integrating positive and negative interactions among terrestrial carnivores. *Ecology Letters*, 23(5), 902-918.

Prugh, L.R., Stoner, C.J., Epps, C.W., Bean, W.T., Ripple, W.J., Laliberte, A.S., & Brashares, J.S. (2009). The rise of the mesopredator. *Bioscience*, 59(9), 779-791.

R Core Development Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available: http://www.r-project.org

Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R., Meloro, C., Wilson, A.M., Hayward, M.W., Wich, S.A., & McNutt, J.W. (2020). Scent-marking strategies of a solitary carnivore: Boundary and road scent marking in the leopard. *Animal Behaviour*, 161, 115-126.

Rduch, V. (2016). A snapshot into the spotted hyaena's feeding ecology (Crocuta crocuta) in the miombo woodland of Zambia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 55(3), 372-375.

Rduch, V., & Jentke, T. (2021). Alarming decline of bovids in Kasanka National Park, Zambia: A case study of the puku antelope (Kobus vardonii). *African Journal of Ecology*, 59(2), 387-398.

Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M., ... & Schmitz, O.J. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343(6167), 1241484.

Sandom, C.J., Faurby, S., Svenning, J.C., Burnham, D., Dickman, A., Hinks, A.E., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2018). Learning from the past to prepare for the future: felids face continued threat from declining prey. *Ecography*, 41(1), 140-152.

Schoener, T.W. (1974). Resource partitioning in ecological communities. *Science*, 185(4145), 27-39.

Schoener, T.W. (1983). Field experiments on interspecific competition. *The American Naturalist*, 122(2), 240-285.

Sévêque, A., Gentle, L.K., López-Bao, J.V., Yarnell, R.W., & Uzal, A. (2020). Human disturbance has contrasting effects on niche partitioning within carnivore communities. *Biological Reviews*, 95(6), 1689-1705.

Smith, J.A., Thomas, A.C., Levi, T., Wang, Y., & Wilmers, C.C. (2018). Human activity reduces niche partitioning among three widespread mesocarnivores. *Oikos*, 127(6), 890-901.

Stuart, C., & Stuart, T. (2000). A Field Guide to the Tracks & Signs of Southern and East African Wildlife. Cape Town, South Africa: Struik Publishers.

Swanepoel, L.H., Somers, M.J., Van Hoven, W., Schiess-Meier, M., Owen, C., Snyman, A., ... & Dalerum, F. (2015). Survival rates and causes of mortality of leopards Panthera pardus in southern Africa. *Oryx*, 49(4), 595-603.

Trites, A.W., & Joy, R. (2005). Dietary analysis from fecal samples: how many scats are enough?. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 86(4), 704-712.

Vanak, A.T., & Gompper, M.E. (2009). Dogs Canis familiaris as carnivores: their role and function in intraguild competition. *Mammal Review*, 39(4), 265-283.

Voigt, C.C., Krofel, M., Menges, V., Wachter, B., & Melzheimer, J. (2018). Sex-specific dietary specialization in a terrestrial apex predator, the leopard, revealed by stable isotope analysis. *Journal of Zoology*, 306(1), 1-7.

Wachter, B., Blanc, A.S., Melzheimer, J., Höner, O.P., Jago, M., & Hofer, H. (2012). An advanced method to assess the diet of free-ranging large carnivores based on scats. *PLoS One*, 7(6), e38066.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), 160252.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2017). Range contractions of the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(7), 170052.

Zhang, J. (2016). Package 'spaa: SPecies Association Analysis'. Available at: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/spaa/index.html

CHAPTER SEVEN

Discussion



CHAPTER SEVEN: Discussion

7.1 Synopsis

Large carnivores play an integral role in maintaining biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, whilst providing positive economic and social effects, such as tourism revenue and public health benefits (Ripple *et al.* 2014; O'Bryan *et al.* 2018). However, the continued decline in protected area health (Jones *et al.* 2018), increasing levels of human disturbance (Darimont *et al.* 2015) and the vulnerability of large carnivores to environmental change (Cardillo *et al.* 2005) mean that they have suffered substantial population decline and geographic range contraction (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Di Minin *et al.* 2016). Despite widespread acknowledgement of large carnivore population decline, robust assessments of population density and guild dynamics are crucially lacking, particularly in areas of high human disturbance where these data are often most needed (Jacobson *et al.* 2016; Elliot & Gopalaswamy, 2017; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). Subsequently, studies that investigate the status and behavioural ecology of large carnivores in the context of elevated anthropogenic disturbance are necessary to inform effective conservation management (Balme *et al.* 2014; Sévêque *et al.* 2020).

This thesis helps to fill two knowledge gaps identified as priorities for large carnivore conservation, 1) provide robust estimates of large carnivore population density in areas identified as data deficient, and 2) investigate large carnivore guild dynamics in areas of increased human disturbance. In **Chapter Two**, using spotted hyaena as a model species, I have provided a novel assessment of current survey methodologies for estimating large carnivore population density and provided a comprehensive argument for improving range-wide population estimates through greater utilisation of SCR methods. **Chapter Three** has summarised the issues threatening protected areas in Malawi and provided a rationale for the selection of KNP as a study site. **Chapter Four** highlights the application of SCR to large

carnivores and provides novel estimates of both spotted hyaena and leopard density in KNP. Density estimates for spotted hyaena and leopard are the first for KNP and, for leopard, the first estimates in Malawi and a miombo woodland habitat, thereby addressing a key knowledge gap in the leopards' geographic range. These baseline density estimates are a crucial first step for continued monitoring of large carnivore populations in KNP, providing an important metric for evaluating the impact of ongoing conservation initiatives. In addition, the application of SPIM (Augustine *et al.* 2018) in **Chapter Four**, addresses the issue of uncertainty in individual identification from single-station camera trap surveys, advocating the wider use of SPIM in areas that are currently data deficient for large carnivores. **Chapters Five** and **Six** have provided a valuable first insight into the intraguild dynamics of leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP, across the three niche axes of space, time and resource partitioning. The interspecific dynamics between leopard and spotted hyaena have previously been identified as an overlooked area of large carnivore dynamics (Vanak *et al.* 2013; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b) and, in the absence of a resident lion population, KNP has provided a novel site to investigate guild dynamics and behavioural responses to anthropogenic disturbance.

In this chapter I will discuss the conservation implications and potential avenues for further research identified from this study, both in KNP and across the wider landscape.

7.2 Status of large carnivores in KNP and the need for wider survey efforts

7.2.1 Leopard density

Chapter Four produced the first leopard density estimates for KNP, Malawi and a miombo woodland habitat. Between 2016 and 2018, leopard density was estimated at 1.9 (\pm SD 0.19) individuals/100km², representing one of the lowest recorded density estimates for leopard in sub-Saharan Africa (Table 7.1). Leopard density in KNP is comparable to human-impacted landscapes and low-productivity habitats (e.g., Henschel *et al.* 2011; Devens *et al.* 2018; Mann

et al. 2020). However, as the KNP estimates are from a single survey area, and are the first in a miombo woodland, it is difficult to make inferences as to why estimates are low in KNP. Nevertheless, based on prior knowledge of the underlying drivers of leopard density and distribution, it is possible to make some predictions as to the underlying causes of the low estimates found in KNP. Habitat productivity is thought to be a key driver of leopard density (Balme et al. 2007; Jacobson et al. 2016) and miombo woodlands are a relatively lowproductivity habitat, supporting ungulate biomasses at only 20-30% of comparable savanna habitats with similar rainfall levels (Frost, 1996). Thus, leopard density in miombo woodlands is likely to be lower than comparable savanna habitats, where most available leopard density estimates are recorded. In addition, decline of wild prey is recognised as a major threat to leopard populations across their geographic range (Jacobson et al. 2016). For example, loss of wild prey to bushmeat hunters in the Congo Basin caused a 78% reduction in leopard population density in areas under the most intense poaching pressure (Henschel et al. 2011). Consequently, although leopard populations are likely to exist at naturally low densities in miombo woodlands, the observed decline of sympatric carnivores and large mammal populations in KNP (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Mésochina et al. 2010) suggests that anthropogenic pressures, such as bushmeat poaching and habitat loss, have contributed to the low leopard density. Protecting remaining prey species and increasing large mammal populations is, therefore, a key step in recovering the KNP leopard population.

Chapter Seven: Discussion

Table 7.1. Published leopard density estimates (per 100km²), using SCR methods, from sub-Saharan Africa between 2010-present. The habitat type and protected status of the study site are provided, and estimates are in order from highest to lowest. Estimates from this study are in bold.

Study Site	Density	Protected area?	Habitat	Reference
Okonjima Nature Reserve, Namibia	14.51	Yes	Acacia thornveld	Noack et al. (2019)
Mpala Ranch, Laikipia County, Kenya	12.03	No	Bushland/open woodland	O'Brien & Kinnaird (2011)
Sabi Sands Game Reserve, South Africa	11.8	Yes	Savanna/woodland	Balme et al. (2019)
Phinda Game Reserve, South Africa	11.25	Yes	Savanna/woodland	Balme et al. (2010)
Western Soutpansberg, South Africa	10.73	No	Montane woodland	Chase Grey et al. (2013)
Western shores, St Lucia, South Africa	8.4	Yes	Coastal savanna	Ramesh et al. (2017)
Farm matrix, Waterberg Biosphere, South Africa	6.59	No	Mountain bushveld	Swanepoel et al. (2015)
Multiple (24) sites across South Africa	6.3 ^a	Yes	Mixed habitats	Rogan et al. (2019)
Serengeti National Park, Tanzania	5.57 ^b	Yes	Savanna/woodland	Allen et al. (2020)
Lapalala Wilderness, South Africa	5.35	Yes	Mountain bushveld	Swanepoel et al. (2015)
Bubye Valley Conservancy, Zimbabwe	5.28	Yes	Savanna/woodland	du Preez et al. (2014)
Welgevonden Game Reserve, South Africa	4.56	Yes	Mountain bushveld	Swanepoel et al. (2015)
Udzungwa Mountains, Tanzania	4.22	Yes	Mixed woodlands	Havmøller et al. (2019)
Western Soutpansberg, South Africa	3.65	No	Montane woodland	Williams et al. (2017)
Phinda Game Reserve, South Africa	3.53 ^b	Yes	Savanna/woodland	Braczkowski et al. (2016)
Bubye Valley Conservancy, Zimbabwe	2.79	Yes	Savanna/woodland	du Preez et al. (2014)
Xonghile GR, Mozambique	2.6	Yes	Sandveld	Strampelli et al. (2021)
Non-protected land, South Africa	2.49	No	Savanna/woodland	Balme et al. (2010)
Kasungu National Park, Malawi	1.9	Yes	Miombo woodland	This study
Ndumo Game Reserve, South Africa	1.6	Yes	Savanna/woodland	Ramesh et al. (2017)
Little Karoo, South Africa	1.26	Both	Semi-arid fynbos	Mann et al. (2020)
Western Cape, South Africa	1.18	Both	Mixed habitats	Devens et al. (2021)
Eastern/Western Cape, South Africa	0.95 ^a	Both	Mixed habitats	Devens et al. (2018)

^a Mean density across multiple sites; ^b Mean density from multiple estimates.

Encouragingly, despite the low population density in KNP, the minor variation between survey years suggests a stable trend in leopard density. I acknowledge that a three-year survey period is a relatively short time-period to make inferences on populations trends, however, previous studies have identified significant trends in leopard density across similar temporal scales. For example, using annual camera trap surveys, Williams et al. (2017) found that leopard density in the Soutpansberg Mountains, South Africa, decreased by 44% within a four-year survey period. Despite the apparent stable leopard density in KNP, the low-density estimate for leopard is of conservation concern, as the population is susceptible to stochastic events, poaching and other conflict with humans. KNP has been subject to high levels of historic poaching (Bhima et al. 2003; Macpherson, 2015) and evidence of both leopard poaching and other anthropogenic mortality were observed during the study (Figure 7.1). Leopard reproductive success is often naturally low and, as a result, population recovery can be a gradual process (Balme *et al.* 2013). However, increasing the prey populations and improving law enforcement should help to recover the KNP leopard population. In addition, further research assessing leopard survival rates and potential threats are advised. The loss of resident leopard populations from two PAs in Malawi, namely Majete Wildlife Reserve and Liwonde National Park (Briers-Louw et al. 2019), should serve as a warning that, despite their adaptability and resilience to anthropogenic threats, there is a risk of localised extirpation if conservation management cannot address the causes of decline.



Figure 7.1. Evidence of leopard poaching and anthropogenic mortality in KNP. A) Two leopard skins that were recovered by KNP law enforcement in 2016. Image credit: Mike Labuschagne. B) Leopard killed in a village bordering KNP after killing livestock and attacking community members. Image credit: Amanda Harwood.

Data from this thesis are the first empirical estimates for a leopard population in Malawi and challenge assumptions made by Martin and de Meulenuer (1988), who modelled previously published leopard estimates and mean annual rainfall to predict leopard densities across sub-Saharan Africa. Using this predictive modelling approach, Martin and de Meulenuer (1988) estimated an average density of 0.10 leopards/km² (10 leopards/100km²) in miombo woodlands and a country-wide population of 4,530 leopards in Malawi. The overly simplistic modelling

approach and accompanying estimates have been widely rejected in literature (Norton, 1990; Jenny, 1996) for omitting critical factors, such as anthropogenic mortality and prey availability, from the model and relying on the assumption that leopards occur at maximum potential densities in all available habitats (Balme *et al.* 2010). Results of this thesis add further evidence that these estimates need to be revised and, whilst Malawi does not have a trophy hunting industry, other countries (e.g., Tanzania/Mozambique) that comprise miombo woodland habitat and have been subject to high levels of anthropogenic disturbance, still utilise the Martin and de Meulenuer (1988) estimates to set trophy hunting quotas (Strampelli *et al.* 2020). Unsustainable trophy hunting is a primary threat to leopard populations (Jacobson *et al.* 2016) and a paucity of local population data is a key factor limiting the ability to set sustainable quotas (Balme *et al.* 2010). The results of **Chapter Four** suggest that the leopard density estimate of Martin and de Meulenuer (1988) for Malawi and miombo woodlands is likely to be inaccurate. I suggest that further surveys be conducted in miombo woodlands to encourage informed decision-making and provide evidence-based results for use in conservation management strategies (Balme *et al.* 2014; Strampelli *et al.* 2021).

7.2.2 Spotted hyaena density

Chapter Four estimated spotted hyaena density between 2016 and 2018 to be $1.15 (\pm SD 0.42)$ individuals/100km², providing the first density estimate for KNP. Density estimates between survey years suggest a minor increase in the KNP spotted hyaena population between 2016 and 2018. As highlighted in **Chapter Two**, SCR models have not been used to estimate spotted hyaena density as widely as they have for other sympatric and individually identifiable carnivores, such as leopard. Subsequently, the estimates presented here are some of the first to use SCR methods (Table 7.2). The estimates from this study are some of the lowest spotted hyaena density estimates in the available literature, comparable to arid environments (e.g.,

Fouché *et al.* 2020; Table 7.2) and considerably lower than the only previously reported density of 31 hyaena/100 km² from a miombo woodland (Creel & Creel, 2002). Prey availability has a strong regulating effect on spotted hyaena demographics and, where prey populations decrease, there is often a subsequent decline in spotted hyaena abundance (Périquet *et al.* 2015). For example, a 70% decline in the spotted hyaena population size in Ngorongoro Crater, Tanzania, between the mid-1960s and mid-1990s, was attributed to a substantial decline in preferred prey (Höner *et al.* 2005). Therefore, it is likely that the reduction in prey populations in KNP (Munthali & Mkanda, 2002; Macpherson, 2015) has limited the population density of spotted hyaena. As previously recommended, restoring and protecting prey populations in KNP will be the most effective measure to increase spotted hyaena density.

Table 7.2. Spotted hyaena density estimates (per 100km²), using SCR methods, from sub-Saharan Africa. The habitat type and protected status of the study site are provided. Estimates from this study are in bold.

Study Site	Density	Protected	Habitat	Reference
		Status?		
Central Tuli Block, Botswana	14.9	Yes	Riverine woodlands	Vissia et al. (2021)
Moremi Game Reserve, Botswana	10.1	Yes	Savanna grassland/mopane woodland	Rich et al. (2019)
Moremi Game Reserve and management areas, Botswana	6.5 ^a	Yes	Acacia and mopane woodlands	Rafiq et al. (2019)
Mpala Ranch, Kenya	4.93	No	Savanna woodland	O'Brien & Kinnaird (2011)
Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi	2.69	Yes	Savanna woodland	Briers-Louw (2017)
Kasungu National Park, Malawi	1.15	Yes	Miombo woodland	This study
Tsauchab River Valley, Namibia	0.85	No	Arid savanna	Fouche et al. (2020)

^a approximate density estimated from figure - actual estimate not provided.

Chapter Four has added further evidence that estimates of multiple species are possible from camera trap surveys, in accordance with previous studies (O'Brien & Kinnaird, 2011; Rich *et al.* 2019). As highlighted in **Chapter Two**, camera trap surveys have been routinely used to estimate density for felid species. However, the use of SCR techniques to estimate spotted

hyaena density, or provide estimates for multiple species, from camera trapping surveys has not been as widely adopted. For example, Green *et al.* (2020) found that 82% of density estimates in camera trap surveys were of felids and 91.6% of studies focused on only one species. In accordance with the recommendations in **Chapter Two**, I advocate that further efforts are made to report density estimates for multiple species when using camera trap survey techniques. In particular, SCR models have been underutilised for estimating spotted hyaena density and increased reporting of spotted hyaena density from camera trap surveys would be beneficial for the species' conservation management. As spotted hyaena are widely distributed across Africa, and often occur at higher densities than sympatric carnivores (Watts & Holekamp, 2008; Rich *et al.* 2019), there is scope for increased reporting of density estimates from camera trap surveys, where the species could previously have been overlooked.

Wire-snaring is a popular method used by bushmeat poachers to catch wild prey (Mudumba *et al.* 2021) and, as highlighted in **Chapter Three**, the method is prevalent in Malawian PAs. However, due to their non-selective nature, the deployment of wire snares can result in significant levels of by-catch and are increasingly viewed as a key source of mortality for large carnivores (Becker *et al.* 2013; Loveridge *et al.* 2020; Mudumba *et al.* 2021). For example, one in five adult male lions in South Luangwa National Park, Zambia, have been recorded as snared (Becker *et al.* 2013). This study recorded evidence of snared spotted hyaena in every survey year (Figure 7.2) and, therefore, it is likely that wire-snaring represents an important threat to large carnivores in KNP. Wire-snaring appears to be a particular threat to spotted hyaena, with spotted hyaena representing 92% of large carnivore snare records in the Zimbabwean section of the Kavango-Zambezi Transfrontier Conservation Area (Loveridge *et al.* 2020). Although there was no evidence of leopard being caught in wire snares in KNP, this could be due to their smaller body size, which makes it harder to break out of snares at the trap site (Loveridge *et al.* 2020). There were insufficient data to investigate the demographic impacts of wire-snaring on

the KNP spotted hyaena population, and further investigation into the effect of snaring bycatch on large carnivores would be beneficial, along with research into the spatial and temporal trends of wire-snaring activity. In addition, the recruitment of additional law enforcement personnel in KNP (IFAW, 2020) should allow more intensive snare patrols, which would help clear existing snares and assist in the identification of snaring hotspots to inform effective protocols.



Figure 7.2. Evidence of wire-snare injuries on spotted hyaena during A) 2015; B) 2016; C) 2017, and D) 2018. Note that left-sided spot patterns on images A-C are of different individuals, indicating that wire-snare injuries are prevalent in the population.

7.2.3 Status of other large carnivores

The results of **Chapter Four** suggest that lion and wild dog are no longer resident in KNP. Historic populations of lion and wild dog are known to have occurred in KNP (Woodroffe *et al.* 1997; Mésochina *et al.* 2010), suggesting a period of high anthropogenic disturbance that resulted in the loss of these resident populations. Lion and wild dog are both sensitive to anthropogenic disturbance, with their wide-ranging behaviour, dependency on large-bodied prey and social structure limiting their behavioural flexibility (Everatt *et al.* 2019; Creel *et al.* 2020). This limited ability to persist in anthropogenically-impacted landscapes, when compared to leopard and spotted hyaena, could explain the decline of lion and wild dog populations in KNP.

Evidence collected in this study of a single male lion in 2017 and the same individual wild dog in 2017 and 2018, highlights the potential for dispersing individuals to move through the MZTFCA. Wild dogs require vast areas of connected habitat and often exhibit long-range dispersal events (e.g., Davies-Mostert *et al.* 2012; Cozzi *et al.* 2020), with such movements facilitating recolonisation and supporting viable populations at national and international scales (Creel *et al.* 2020). Similarly, dispersal is key to maintaining genetic diversity in the Zambian lion population, one of the few remaining strongholds for the species (Curry *et al.* 2019). I recommend that protection of the dispersal corridor between KNP and Lukusuzi National Park, Zambia, is prioritised to ensure that connectivity between KNP and the wider MZTFCA is maintained. Connectivity to the MZTFCA is critical to encourage recolonisation in KNP and, alongside ongoing initiatives to restore prey populations and improve law enforcement, could help to recover large carnivore populations in KNP. In addition, further information on the status of large carnivores in Lukusuzi National Park would be beneficial, as the park is largely data deficient and represents the key link between KNP and the wider network of Zambian PAs.

7.2.4 Application of SPIM

The use of SPIM in Chapter Four, to estimate density for leopard and spotted hyaena resulted in improved levels of precision. Compared to single-flank analyses, SPIM increased credible interval precision for leopard and spotted hyaena by 52% and 26%, respectively. Partial identity is a common problem for researchers (e.g., Rosenblatt et al. 2016; Mohamed et al. 2019; Strampelli et al. 2020) and, as density is a key metric used to inform conservation management decisions, any gain in precision should be of broad interest. In areas of low population density, single-flank captures can be linked with increased certainty (Augustine et al. 2018). Consequently, the benefits of SPIM are greater for large carnivore populations found at low densities, which are often populations in human-disturbed environments or areas in need of intensive conservation management. Furthermore, a review of SCR estimates from camera trapping methods by Green et al. (2020) suggested that researchers should try to maximise the number of individuals captured during surveys to increase the precision of estimates. SPIM could be a valuable tool in this respect, allowing researchers to deploy one camera per station, instead of the conventional dual-camera setup. This would effectively double the potential survey area that can be covered and, subsequently, sample a wider proportion of the study population. Estimating density for species of conservation concern is often hampered by the financial cost of robust survey methods (e.g., Alonso et al. 2015) and/or the difficulty of removing captured individuals from datasets that are already sparse (e.g., Mohamed et al. 2019). Therefore, SPIM offers potential solutions to common methodological and analytical problems (Augustine et al. 2018). I recommend the use of SPIM for studies where partial

identities constitute a large proportion of the sampled population, or as a solution to logistical and/or financial limitations relating to camera trap deployment.

Large carnivores often exhibit sex-specific variation in space-use and detectability (e.g., Swanepoel et al. 2015; Fabiano et al. 2020) and previous studies have shown that incorporating this variability into SCR models can improve inference (Sollmann et al. 2011). In addition, further covariates of interest (e.g., prey availability) can be incorporated into SCR analyses to estimate within-patch variation in density (Ramesh et al. 2017; Allen et al. 2020). However, it is not currently possible to incorporate these additional models in SPIM, with only the null model, where detection rate and space use are constant, available in the SPIM package. As such, researchers should consider the trade-off between addressing the problem of partial identity in sampled individuals and utilising the additional suite of demographic and environmental covariates that can be modelled in more conventional SCR packages. However, if partial identities constitute a large proportion of available samples, it is advisable to focus on producing a robust density estimate, rather than drawing potentially unreliable inferences from additional analyses where individual identities are left unresolved. It should also be noted that the SPIM package was only recently developed, and it is intended that additional models incorporating covariates of interest, open populations and multiple sessions will be added over time (B. Augustine, pers. comm.).

7.2.5 The need for wider survey efforts

The estimates in **Chapter Four** are the first density estimates for KNP and represent an important baseline for future conservation monitoring in the region. However, the majority of Malawian PAs are still lacking data on the status of large carnivore populations and would benefit from research to establish baseline density estimates. Alongside KNP, Nyika National Park (NNP) and Vwaza Marsh Wildlife Reserve (VMWR), in the northern region of Malawi,

comprise the Malawian section of the MZTFCA. Of the protected areas in Malawi with the highest protected status (national parks and game reserves), NNP and VMWR represent 39% of the total protected land in Malawi. Comprising a significant portion of protected habitat in Malawi and representing vital connectivity links to Zambia and the wider MZTFCA, both NNP and VMWR are, therefore, important PAs for large carnivore conservation. However, the two PAs have been the subject of limited conservation research, particularly for large carnivores. Similar to KNP, miombo woodland is the dominant habitat in VMWR and NNP (at lower levels). Both PAs also have a similar carnivore guild to KNP, with resident populations of leopard and spotted hyaena and evidence of dispersing lion (Byrne *et al.* 2019; Harwood *et al.* 2019; African Lion Database, 2020). Subsequently, NNP and VMWR offer important opportunities to, a) establish further baseline density estimates in Malawian PAs that are currently data deficient and of significant conservation value, b) provide additional density estimates in the understudied miombo woodland habitat, and c) further test the theories presented in this thesis on intraguild dynamics in a modified carnivore guild.

NNP would also represent a feasible study site to test recommendations presented in **Chapter Two** regarding the application of SCR models to call-in data to produce spotted hyaena density estimates. As SCR models are reliant on individual identification, the challenge of identifying spotted hyaena at call-in stations is a potential barrier to this novel survey technique, as spotted hyaena can be cautious when approaching call-in stations (e.g., Bauer, 2007; Kirsten *et al.* 2017). Whilst individual identification from call-in sites has been documented before (see Trinkel, 2009), to my knowledge, the application of SCR models to call-in data has not been tested. The open landscape of the Nyika plateau and personal observation of spotted hyaena response to audio playbacks in NNP could provide optimal conditions for trialling this novel method. A camera trap survey conducted simultaneously would be beneficial for comparing SCR estimates from both methods, whilst also providing density estimates for leopard and other carnivores in NNP.

7.3 Intraguild dynamics in KNP

Niche partitioning between intraguild competitors (e.g., lion, leopard, spotted hyaena) requires further investigation, as contrasting results continue to emerge from different habitats (e.g., Hayward & Slotow, 2009; Balme *et al.* 2019; Havmøller *et al.* 2020b; Rafiq *et al.* 2020b). The localised loss of the resident lion population in KNP has offered a novel opportunity to test theories on guild dynamics and interspecific competition between remaining competitors, which is predicted to intensify and impact population demographics when community assemblage is altered (e.g., Périquet *et al.* 2015; M'soka *et al.* 2016). In addition, increased understanding of the spatiotemporal dynamics between leopard and spotted hyaena has been identified as a key knowledge gap in large carnivore guild dynamics (e.g., Rafiq *et al.* 2020b).

In **Chapter Five**, using a combination of co-detection modelling, time-to-event analyses, and temporal activity patterns from camera trap data, I have shown that detection of leopard and spotted hyaena is positively associated with the detection of preferred prey and competing carnivores. Mutual drivers of spatiotemporal behaviour increase the likelihood of interaction between leopard and spotted hyaena, and the heightened risk of interaction with intra- and inter-specific competitors could explain the additional temporal partitioning behaviour displayed by female leopards in this study. The estimates of dietary overlap presented in **Chapter Six** provide further evidence of potentially high levels of interspecific competition between leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP. The results of **Chapter Six** show that leopard and spotted hyaena share a significant level of dietary overlap ($O_{ab} = 0.65$). Dietary overlap was considerably higher in small (≤ 19 kg) and large (> 80kg) prey weight groups ($O_{ab} > 0.95$ in both), increasing the potential for interference and exploitation competition in these prey weight ranges. However, this was mitigated, to some extent, by the utilisation of different prey species within the medium-sized (19-80kg) prey weight range, causing a reduction in dietary overlap ($O_{ab} = 0.22$).

7.3.1 Conservation implications of intraguild dynamics

The results of **Chapters Five** suggest that bottom-up factors (i.e., prey availability) have a regulating effect on large carnivore spatiotemporal behaviour in KNP, a finding that is in accordance with recent studies (e.g., Miller *et al.* 2018; Sogbohossou *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2019). Furthermore, the results of **Chapter Six** highlight that almost two-thirds of leopard and spotted hyaena dietary composition overlap. Subsequently, as overlap is high along the three niche axes, there is a risk of exploitative and interference competition between leopard and spotted hyaena. Shared drivers of spatiotemporal behaviour and competition for prey may represent points of inter-and intra-specific carnivore conflict, which could have negative consequences on density and survival (Caro & Stoner, 2003; Dröge *et al.* 2017). As both leopard and spotted hyaena are found at low densities in KNP, as highlighted in **Chapter Four**, the potential for high levels of intraguild competition may be a limiting factor in population recovery efforts, particularly for leopard as the subordinate competitor (Allen *et al.* 2020).

Previous studies have found that spotted hyaena have a strong competitive influence on leopard populations. For example, spotted hyaena were found to have a greater influence than lion on leopard ecology in both Sabi Sands (Balme *et al.* 2017; Balme *et al.* 2019) and Selati (Comley *et al.* 2020) Game Reserves, South Africa. As habitat generalists, spotted hyaena are often ubiquitous across PAs, making spatial avoidance of spotted hyaena difficult for competing carnivores (Balme *et al.* 2019). This seems apparent in KNP, with spotted hyaena detected on 83% of camera traps between 2016 and 2018 and the detection of both leopard and spotted hyaena associated with the presence of similar preferred prey species and competing carnivores

(Davis *et al.* 2021b). Instead, leopards often utilise tree-caching (hoisting and consuming their prey in trees) to reduce the risk posed by kleptoparasitism (Balme *et al.* 2017), and this may be a strategy used by leopards in KNP to mitigate competition with spotted hyaena. This hypothesis seems more probable for male leopards, who displayed a higher level of temporal overlap with spotted hyaena than female conspecifics in KNP, and are known to hoist more kills than female leopards (Balme *et al.* 2017). However, the extent to which leopards exhibit hoisting behaviour varies between populations and the degree to which tree-caching is used in KNP is unknown (Sunquist & Sunquist, 2002; Balme *et al.* 2017). In addition, tree-caching can still incur food costs and a potential loss of individual fitness. For example, Tarugara *et al.* (2021) found that spotted hyaena were present at 82% of leopard feeding events and the presence of spotted hyaena caused leopards to reduce their feeding time.

Detecting behavioural responses, such as alterations in spatial use or activity patterns, are often the first measurable reactions that animals show to anthropogenic disturbance and may be used as an early indicator of environmental stress (Ordiz *et al.* 2014; Gaynor *et al.* 2018). The increased levels of diurnal activity displayed by female leopards in **Chapter Five**, compared to male conspecifics and spotted hyaena, is in accordance with Havmøller *et al.* (2020b) and is only the second time sex-specific variation in activity has been documented for a leopard population. Furthermore, overall activity rates (time active over the diel cycle) for female leopards were ~20% higher than other large carnivores in KNP. These findings are interesting when compared to temporal activity in other large carnivore populations, where a shift towards nocturnal behaviour and a reduction in overall activity is often observed in areas of human disturbance and increased interspecific competition (e.g., Kolowski *et al.* 2007; Gaynor *et al.* 2018; Patten *et al.* 2019; Frey *et al.* 2020). As highlighted in **Chapter Five**, the additional mechanism of temporal partitioning adopted by female leopards could have negative consequences for individual fitness and population demographics. For example, the higher rates of diurnal activity observed in female leopards could risk further exposure to sources of anthropogenic mortality, such as road traffic accidents, and increased levels of human interaction (Havmøller *et al.* 2020b). Increased rates of adult mortality are often implicated in population sinks and ecological traps (e.g., Balme, Hunter & Slotow, 2010; van der Meer *et al.* 2013) and, as such, further research into the demographic effects of female leopard spatiotemporal behaviour in KNP would be beneficial.

Niche partitioning and adaptive responses to interspecific competition often entail a food cost, such as reduced foraging time or limited access to certain prey sources (Oriol-Cotterill *et al.* 2015; Hertel *et al.* 2016). Previous research has shown that leopard diets can be sex-specific (Voigt *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2020) and vary between habitats (Hayward *et al.* 2006; Havmøller *et al.* 2020a). **Chapter Five** has indicated that female leopards adapt their temporal behaviour in KNP, likely to minimise intra-and interspecific competition, and this could have implications on diet and foraging behaviour that were not identified in **Chapter Six**. For instance, diurnal hunting and increased exposure to higher levels of human activity can result in reduced handling time of prey items (e.g., Kerley *et al.* 2002) and can lead predators to increase kill rates, inferring higher energetic costs, to compensate for reduced consumption (Smith *et al.* 2015). Whilst **Chapter Six** was able to provide a first insight into the composition and dietary overlap of leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP, further investigation into leopard sex-specific foraging behaviour would increase our knowledge of dietary strategies in leopard populations under environmental and interspecific pressures.

7.3.2 Potential for competitive release of spotted hyaena population

Current levels of interspecific competition and strategies for niche partitioning may be mitigated, in part, by the low densities of both leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP. Low population densities of competing carnivores have been suggested in previous studies (e.g., Creel & Creel 1996; Karanth et al. 2017; Hardouin et al. 2021) as a contributing factor that limits the pressure of interspecific competition. As discussed in Chapters Four and Five, ongoing conservation initiatives to boost prey populations and increase law enforcement efforts in KNP (IFAW, 2020) could provide the optimal conditions for competitive release of the spotted hyaena population. Previous studies have shown that spotted hyaena populations can fluctuate with prey availability (e.g., Höner et al. 2005; Périquet et al. 2015), and increased prey abundance also has benefits for cub survival and food acquisition (Watts & Holekamp, 2009). In addition, lions often have a regulating effect on spotted hyaena populations, with exploitation and interference competition from lions limiting spotted hyaena clan size (Périquet et al. 2015). The effect of competitive release from lions has been documented in previous studies (see M'soka et al. 2016 and Green et al. 2018), with these studies suggesting that high densities of spotted hyaena were attributable to the decline of lion populations and reduction in interspecific competition. Therefore, it is possible that similar population trends will be seen in KNP, if the causes of spotted hyaena population decline (i.e., reduced prey availability, direct/indirect poaching pressure) can be addressed and the presence of lion in KNP remains limited.

Predicting the impact of this hypothesised competitive release on sympatric carnivores and interspecific competition is difficult, as the impact on wider carnivore guild dynamics has yet to be investigated. However, the findings in **Chapter Five**, that the spatiotemporal dynamics of both leopard and spotted hyaena are driven by the presence of preferred prey and competing

carnivores, suggest that an increase in the spotted hyaena population would have negative consequences for the KNP leopard population. Further evidence to support this theory can be found in Comley *et al.* (2020), who suggested that the declining leopard population in Selati Game Reserve, South Africa, was attributable to increased competition from spotted hyaena, with spotted hyaena found at a density almost four-times that of leopard. Consequently, continued monitoring of large carnivore demographics and intraguild dynamics in KNP are necessary to evaluate the impact of ongoing conservation initiatives. I recommend that camera trap surveys are continued annually to monitor large carnivore densities, assess population trends and analyse how spatiotemporal dynamics develop. Furthermore, PAs across Africa are predicted to come under increasing anthropogenic pressures, and similar reductions in the large carnivore guild are expected (e.g., the loss of lion from many PAs; Bauer *et al.* 2015). Monitoring of large carnivore dynamics in KNP may, therefore, provide valuable insights that are applicable to wider conservation management, as guild dynamics are altered, and could help inform conservation efforts in PAs undergoing similar periods of recovery.

7.3.3 Assessing seasonal variability in niche partitioning

One limitation of the findings in **Chapters Five** and **Six** is that seasonal variability in niche partitioning was unaccounted for. In a review by Sévêque *et al.* (2020), only 28% of studies accounted for seasonal variation in niche partitioning, however, 75% of the studies that did account for seasonal variability found that it altered carnivore dynamics. Recent studies by Amorós *et al.* (2020) and Périquet *et al.* (2021) have found seasonal variation in the interspecific dynamics of lion and spotted hyaena and, therefore, it is possible that there are seasonal differences in the dynamics between leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP. Previous studies have found that interference competition and niche partitioning between the African large carnivore guild increases during the dry season, when resources are often scarcer (e.g.,

Vanak *et al.* 2013; Périquet *et al.* 2021). As this study primarily covered the dry season in KNP it is, therefore, conceivable that the niche partitioning strategies exhibited are to facilitate coexistence when competition and risk of interaction is most intense. Tall seasonal grasses and limited road access means that camera trapping is logistically difficult to undertake in KNP during the wet season and results in limited sample sizes (pers. obs.). Therefore, incorporating seasonal variation into future studies would likely entail the deployment of VHF or satellite collars, similar to studies by Vanak *et al.* (2013) and Périquet *et al.* (2021). However, the financial costs for a collaring study would likely be higher than a camera trap survey (e.g., Caravaggi *et al.* 2017) and, given the low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in KNP, could also result in small sample sizes.

7.4 Summary of recommendations

Chapter Seven has reviewed the findings of this study and the conservation implications for KNP and the wider region. A summary of the recommendations and potential avenues for future research in KNP and the wider region are as follows:

• Continued monitoring of large carnivore population densities and intraguild dynamics in KNP are necessary to evaluate the efficacy of ongoing conservation management strategies (e.g., IFAW, 2020) and the potential impact of these initiatives on carnivore demographics. Efforts to increase prey populations in KNP and improve law enforcement efficacy should provide a more secure habitat for large carnivores. As previously discussed, these conditions could be beneficial for the spotted hyaena population in KNP and lead to competitive release in the absence of a resident lion population. Competitive release of spotted hyaena would likely be detrimental to the KNP leopard population, whilst skewed carnivore demographics could also have negative consequences for dispersing carnivores or potential reintroductions (e.g.,

Weise *et al.* 2015). I recommend that annual camera trap surveys are undertaken to closely monitor carnivore demographics. Annual surveys would allow close monitoring of changes in density, whilst additional metrics that could hint at population changes (e.g., skewed sex ratios, increased movement parameters; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020) could also be monitored.

- Maintaining a sufficient prey base in KNP will be an important tool for mitigating the potentially negative consequences of interspecific competition between leopard and spotted hyaena. Initial efforts to supplement and reintroduce prey species in KNP began in 2020 (IFAW, 2020) and the continued restoration of these prey populations is vital to large carnivore recovery. In addition, the depleted prey base in KNP has been identified as a key limiting factor in potential reintroduction efforts of other large carnivores (i.e., lion, Mésochina *et al.* 2010; cheetah and wild dog, DNPW, 2011). Continued restoration of prey populations in KNP will, therefore, be beneficial to any potential reintroduction initiatives.
- Further research on individual/sex-specific dietary specialisation, survival, and encounter rates of the KNP leopard population would be beneficial to future conservation management. The findings of this study have highlighted that the spatiotemporal responses of female leopards to conspecific and interspecific competitors could have implications of conservation concern. In addition, recent studies (Voigt *et al.* 2018; Balme *et al.* 2020; Havmøller *et al.* 2020a) have demonstrated individual, sex-specific, and habitat-specific variation in leopard dietary preferences, and further investigation of these issues in human-disturbed landscapes would help inform wider conservation management.
- With PWA numbers increasing in KNP (IFAW, 2020), additional snare deployment teams would be beneficial to remove existing snares within the park. Snares were

observed on spotted hyaena in all three survey years (2016-2018) and further research on the demographic impact of wire-snaring would be beneficial. Snares also represent a threat to dispersing carnivores, that exhibit wide ranging behaviour (e.g., Fattebert *et al.* 2013; Cozzi *et al.* 2020), and prey populations (Mudumba *et al.* 2021). Consequently, the removal of existing snares would help to increase prey populations and safeguard dispersing carnivores from the wider MZTFCA.

- Connectivity between KNP, Lukusuzi National Park (Zambia) and the wider MZTFCA must be maintained to facilitate the dispersal of large carnivores. Anthropogenic activity around national parks and game management areas in Zambia has been shown to restrict the movement of large carnivores (Lindsey *et al.* 2014; Rosenblatt *et al.* 2014), whilst habitat connectivity between Zambian PAs is also in decline (Watson *et al.* 2015). As leopard have also been documented to range over vast areas when dispersing (e.g., Fattebert *et al.* 2013), maintaining connectivity will be vital for all large carnivores in KNP. In addition, increased collaboration between Malawian and Zambian authorities would be beneficial when formulating conservation strategies.
- Surveys to evaluate the status and population density of large carnivores in the other PAs of Malawi are crucially needed, as most PAs are data deficient and evidence-based conservation management is, therefore, limited. This study has highlighted NNP and VMWR as two sites that should be prioritised, as these PAs have transfrontier links and cover an extensive area that is optimal for large carnivore conservation. However, forest reserves in Malawi, that do not receive the same level of legal protection as national parks and game reserves, that are still known to contain small populations of large carnivores, such as Mangochi Forest Reserve, should also be prioritised for assessment.

7.5 Conclusions

Results from this study are indicative of wider large carnivore population decline and help to support a growing body of literature highlighting that concern for large carnivore conservation is growing (Ripple *et al.* 2014; Di Minin *et al.* 2016; Jacobson *et al.* 2016; Sandom *et al.* 2018). Encouragingly, alongside this thesis, large carnivore populations in understudied habitats are beginning to receive greater conservation attention (e.g., Strampelli *et al.* 2018; Harris *et al.* 2019; Havmøller *et al.* 2019; Mohammed *et al.* 2019; Petracca *et al.* 2019; Braczkowski *et al.* 2020a). Addressing these knowledge gaps, whilst applying robust survey techniques, will ensure that conservation decision-making is driven by evidence-based data on population, further efforts to understand large carnivore guild dynamics, the drivers of spatiotemporal use, and prey preferences in human-disturbed landscapes, will become increasingly relevant as anthropogenic change continues to modify ecosystems and alter community assemblages (Dirzo *et al.* 2014; Sandom *et al.* 2017).

The review of spotted hyaena survey methods, presented in this thesis, has made a comprehensive argument for a unified SCR framework under which reporting of spotted hyaena populations can be improved. This study has provided important baseline density estimates for leopard and spotted hyaena in an understudied area of the species' geographic range, and highlighted the status of other large carnivore guild members in KNP. These findings have demonstrated the use of SPIM and the applicability of these novel models to resolve issues of uncertainty in camera trap data, whilst increasing the precision of density estimates. As SPIM is most applicable to areas of low population density, it is hoped that SPIM can be further utilised in understudied and disturbed habitats, where logistical and financial limitations may have previously restricted efforts to survey large carnivores (Davis *et al.*)

2021a). The intraguild dynamics described in this thesis have highlighted the potential for increased interaction and competition for resources between sympatric competitors and the possible conservation implications of these interactions (Davis *et al.* 2021b). The findings of this study indicate that the current intraguild dynamics in KNP are likely to have negative consequences for leopards, and in particular female leopards. Therefore, further research into leopard behavioural responses and levels of individual fitness will benefit conservation management. Furthermore, there is a pressing need to expand survey efforts in other PAs in Malawi and establish similar baseline estimates of large carnivore density, whilst improving knowledge of guild dynamics in these human-disturbed environments.

The human population of Malawi is predicted to double within the next twenty years (World Bank, 2020). Subsequently, large carnivore populations and Malawian PAs are likely to come under increasing anthropogenic pressures. The current status of large carnivore populations in KNP, the second largest protected area in Malawi and a site of importance to the wider transfrontier landscape, is of conservation concern (Davis et al. 2021a). The recovery of large carnivore populations is often a gradual process, owing to their slow life-history traits (Ripple et al. 2014). As such, the window to protect and restore large carnivores in KNP is diminishing. However, the strengthening of environmental laws, continued investment by local and international conservation organisations, and ongoing restoration efforts, will hopefully help to secure KNP and increase large carnivore populations. The results of this study act as a first insight into the status and behavioural ecology of large carnivores in KNP, and provide important metrics from which the efficacy of ongoing conservation initiatives can be measured. Large carnivores can offer a crucial indicator of protected area health and provide valuable ecosystem services (Ripple et al. 2014). Consequently, their continued monitoring, both in KNP and across Malawi, should be an integral component of future conservation management efforts.

References

Aebischer, T., Ibrahim, T., Hickisch, R., Furrer, R.D., Leuenberger, C., & Wegmann, D. (2020). Apex predators decline after an influx of pastoralists in former Central African Republic hunting zones. *Biological Conservation*, 241, 108326.

African Lion Database (2020). African Lion Database Annual Project Report, April 2020.

Agha, M., Batter, T., Bolas, E.C., Collins, A.C., Gomes da Rocha, D., Monteza-Moreno, C. M., ... & Sollmann, R. (2018). A review of wildlife camera trapping trends across Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 694-701.

Alexander, J.S., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Shi, K., & Riordan, P. (2015). Face value: towards robust estimates of snow leopard densities. *PLoS One*, 10(8), e0134815.

Allen, M.L., Wang, S., Olson, L.O., Li, Q., & Krofel, M. (2020). Counting cats for conservation: seasonal estimates of leopard density and drivers of distribution in the Serengeti. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 29(13), 3591-3608.

Alonso, R.S., McClintock, B.T., Lyren, L.M., Boydston, E.E., & Crooks, K.R. (2015). Mark recapture and mark-resight methods for estimating abundance with remote cameras: a carnivore case study. *PLoS One*, 10, e0123032.

Amorós, M., Gil-Sánchez, J.M., López-Pastor, B.D.L.N., & Moleón, M. (2020). Hyaenas and lions: how the largest African carnivores interact at carcasses. *Oikos*, 129(12), 1820-1832.

Apps, P., & McNutt, J.W. (2018). Are camera traps fit for purpose? A rigorous, reproducible and realistic test of camera trap performance. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 710-720.

Ash, E., Kaszta, Ż., Noochdumrong, A., Redford, T., Chanteap, P., Hallam, C., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Opportunity for Thailand's forgotten tigers: assessment of the Indochinese tiger Panthera tigris corbetti and its prey with camera-trap surveys. *Oryx*, 55(2), 204-211.

Athreya, V., Odden, M., Linnell, J.D., Krishnaswamy, J., & Karanth, U. (2013). Big cats in our backyards: persistence of large carnivores in a human dominated landscape in India. *PLoS One*, 8(3), e57872.

Athreya, V., Odden, M., Linnell, J.D., Krishnaswamy, J., & Karanth, K.U. (2016). A cat among the dogs: leopard Panthera pardus diet in a human-dominated landscape in western Maharashtra, India. *Oryx*, 50(1), 156-162.

Atkins, J.L., Long, R.A., Pansu, J., Daskin, J.H., Potter, A.B., Stalmans, M.E., Tarnita, C.E., & Pringle, R.M. (2019). Cascading impacts of large-carnivore extirpation in an African ecosystem. *Science*, 364(6436), 173-177.

Augustine, B.C., Royle, J.A., Kelly, M.J., Satter, C.B., Alonso, R.S., Boydston, E.E., & Crooks, K.R. (2018). Spatial capture–recapture with partial identity: an application to camera traps. *The Annals of Applied Statistics*, 12, 67–95.

Balme, G.A., Batchelor, A., de Woronin Britz, N., Seymour, G., Grover, M., Hes, L., Macdonald, D.W., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2013). Reproductive success of female leopards *Panthera pardus*: the importance of top-down processes. *Mammal Review*, 43, 221-237.

Balme, G.A., Hunter, L.T., Goodman, P., Ferguson, H., Craigie, J., & Slotow, R. (2010). An adaptive management approach to trophy hunting of leopards Panthera pardus: a case study from KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. In: *Biology and Conservation of Wild Felids*: 341-352. Macdonald, D.W., & Loveridge, A.J. (eds.). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Balme, G., Hunter, L.T., & Slotow, R.H. (2007). Feeding habitat selection by hunting leopards Panthera pardus in a woodland savanna: prey catchability versus abundance. *Animal Behaviour*, 74(3), 589-598.

Balme, G.A., Hunter, L.T., & Slotow, R. (2009). Evaluating methods for counting cryptic carnivores. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 73(3), 433-441.

Balme, G.A., le Roex, N., Rogan, M.S., & Hunter, L.T. (2020). Ecological opportunity drives individual dietary specialization in leopards. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 89(2), 589-600.

Balme, G.A., Lindsey, P.A., Swanepoel, L.H., & Hunter, L.T. (2014). Failure of research to address the rangewide conservation needs of large carnivores: leopards in South Africa as a case study. *Conservation Letters*, 7(1), 3-11.

Balme, G.A., Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., & Hunter, L.T. (2017). Caching reduces kleptoparasitism in a solitary, large felid. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 86(3), 634-644.

Balme, G., Rogan, M., Thomas, L., Pitman, R., Mann, G., Whittington-Jones, G., Midlane, N., Broodryk, M., Broodryk, K., Campbell, M., & Alkema, M. (2019). Big cats at large: Density,

structure, and spatio-temporal patterns of a leopard population free of anthropogenic mortality. *Population Ecology*, 61(3), 256-267.

Balme, G.A., Slotow, R., & Hunter, L.T. (2010). Edge effects and the impact of non-protected areas in carnivore conservation: leopards in the Phinda–Mkhuze Complex, South Africa. *Animal Conservation*, 13(3), 315-323.

Barrueto, M., Ford, A.T., & Clevenger, A.P. (2014). Anthropogenic effects on activity patterns of wildlife at crossing structures. *Ecosphere*, 5(3), 1-19.

Bauer, H. (2007). Status of large carnivores in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon. *African Journal of Ecology*, 45(3), 448.

Bauer, H., Chapron, G., Nowell, K., Henschel, P., Funston, P., Hunter, L.T., ... & Packer, C. (2015). Lion (Panthera leo) populations are declining rapidly across Africa, except in intensively managed areas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(48), 14894-14899.

Becker, M., McRobb, R., Watson, F., Droge, E., Kanyembo, B., Murdoch, J., & Kakumbi, C. (2013). Evaluating wire-snare poaching trends and the impacts of by-catch on elephants and large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 158, 26-36.

Beschta, R.L., & Ripple, W.J. (2009). Large predators and trophic cascades in terrestrial ecosystems of the western United States. *Biological Conservation*, 142(11), 2401-2414.

Beschta, R.L., & Ripple, W.J. (2015). Divergent patterns of riparian cottonwood recovery after the return of wolves in Yellowstone, USA. *Ecohydrology*, 8(1), 58-66.

Bhima, R., Howard, J., & Nyanyale, S. (2003). The status of elephants in Kasungu National Park. *Pachyderm*, 35, 31-36.

Bischof, R., Milleret, C., Dupont, P., Chipperfield, J., Tourani, M., Ordiz, A., ... & Kindberg, J. (2020). Estimating and forecasting spatial population dynamics of apex predators using transnational genetic monitoring. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(48), 30531-30538.

Booth, V.R., Masonde, J., Simukonda, C., & Cumming, D.H. (2020). Managing hunting quotas of African lions (Panthera leo): A case study from Zambia. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 55, 125817.

Braczkowski, A.R., Balme, G.A., Dickman, A., Fattebert, J., Johnson, P., Dickerson, T., Macdonald, D.W., & Hunter, L.T.B. (2016). Scent lure effect on camera-trap based leopard density estimates. *PLoS One*, 11, p.e0151033.

Braczkowski, A., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Elliot, N.B., Possingham, H.P., Bezzina, A., Maron, M., ... & Allan, J.R. (2020a). Restoring Africa's Lions: Start with good counts. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 138.

Braczkowski, A., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Nsubuga, M., Allan, J., Biggs, D., & Maron, M. (2020b). Detecting early warnings of pressure on an African lion (Panthera leo) population in the Queen Elizabeth Conservation Area, Uganda. *Ecological Solutions and Evidence*, 1(1), e12015.

Braczkowski, A.R., O'Bryan, C.J., Stringer, M.J., Watson, J.E., Possingham, H.P., & Beyer, H.L. (2018). Leopards provide public health benefits in Mumbai, India. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 16(3), 176-182.

Braczkowski, A., Watson, L., Coulson, D., & Randall, R. (2012). Diet of leopards in the southern Cape, South Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 50(3), 377.

Brashares, J.S., Prugh, L.R., Stoner, C.J., & Epps, C.W. (2010). Ecological and conservation implications of mesopredator release. Trophic Cascades: Predators, Prey, and the Changing Dynamics of Nature. pp: 221–240. in Terbourgh, J., & Estes, J. (eds). Tropic cascades: predators, prey, and the changing dynamics of nature. Washington DC, USA: Island Press.

Briers-Louw, W.D. (2017). Ecology of apex predators in Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. MSc Thesis, Department of Conservation Ecology & Entomology, Stellenbosch University, South Africa.

Briers-Louw, W.D., Verschueren, S., & Leslie, A.J. (2019). Big cats return to Majete Wildlife Reserve, Malawi: evaluating reintroduction success. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 49, 34-50.

Broekhuis, F., Cushman, S.A., & Elliot, N.B. (2017). Identification of human–carnivore conflict hotspots to prioritize mitigation efforts. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(24), 10630-10639.

Broekhuis, F., Elliot, N.B., Keiwua, K., Koinet, K., Macdonald, D.W., Mogensen, N., ... & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2020). Resource pulses influence the spatio-temporal dynamics of a large carnivore population. *Ecography*, 44(3), 358-369.

Brown, J.S., Laundré, J.W., & Gurung, M. (1999). The ecology of fear: optimal foraging, game theory, and trophic interactions. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 80(2), 385-399.

Burton, A.C., Buedi, E.B., Balangtaa, C., Kpelle, D.G., Sam, M.K., & Brashares, J.S. (2011). The decline of lions in Ghana's Mole National Park. *African Journal of Ecology*, 49(1), 122-126.

Burton, A.C., Neilson, E., Moreira, D., Ladle, A., Steenweg, R., Fisher, J.T., ... & Boutin, S. (2015). Wildlife camera trapping: a review and recommendations for linking surveys to ecological processes. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(3), 675-685.

Byrne, B., Stone, E., Mgoola, W.O., & Uzal, A. (2019). First confirmed record of Suni (Neotragus moschatus) and Rusty-spotted genet (Genetta maculata) in Nyika National Park, Malawi. *African Journal of Ecology*, 57(3), 415-418.

Canning, G., Camphor, H., & Schroder, B. (2019). Rabies outbreak in African Wild Dogs (*Lycaon pictus*) in the Tuli region, Botswana: Interventions and management mitigation recommendations. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 48, 71–76.

Caravaggi, A., Banks, P.B., Burton, A.C., Finlay, C.M., Haswell, P.M., Hayward, M.W., ... & Wood, M.D. (2017). A review of camera trapping for conservation behaviour research. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 3(3), 109-122.

Carbone, C., Mace, G.M., Roberts, S.C., & Macdonald, D.W. (1999). Energetic constraints on the diet of terrestrial carnivores. *Nature*, 402(6759), 286-288.

Cardillo, M., Mace, G.M., Jones, K.E., Bielby, J., Bininda-Emonds, O.R., Sechrest, W., ... & Purvis, A. (2005). Multiple causes of high extinction risk in large mammal species. *Science*, 309(5738), 1239-1241.

Caro, T.M., & Stoner, C. J. (2003). The potential for interspecific competition among African carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 110(1), 67-75.

Chase-Grey, J.N., Kent, V.T. & Hill, R.A. (2013). Evidence of a high density population of harvested leopards in a montane environment. *PLoS One*, 8, p.e82832.

Chesson, P., & Kuang, J.J. (2008). The interaction between predation and competition. *Nature*, 456(7219), 235-238.

Choo, Y.R., Kudavidanage, E.P., Amarasinghe, T.R., Nimalrathna, T., Chua, M.A., & Webb, E.L. (2020). Best practices for reporting individual identification using camera trap photographs. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 24, e01294.

Comley, J., Joubert, C.J., Mgqatsa, N., & Parker, D.M. (2020). Do spotted hyaenas outcompete the big cats in a small, enclosed system in South Africa?. *Journal of Zoology*, 311(2), 145-153.

Cozzi, G., Behr, D.M., Webster, H.S., Claase, M., Bryce, C.M., Modise, B., ... & Ozgul, A. (2020). African Wild dog dispersal and implications for management. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 84(4), 614-621.

Cozzi, G., Broekhuis, F., McNutt, J.W., & Schmid, B. (2013). Density and habitat use of lions and spotted hyenas in northern Botswana and the influence of survey and ecological variables on call-in survey estimation. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(12), 2937-2956.

Creel, S., & Christianson, D., (2008). Relationships between direct predation and risk effects. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(4), 194-201.

Creel, S., & Creel, N.M. (1996). Limitation of African wild dogs by competition with larger carnivores. *Conservation Biology*, 10(2), 526-538.

Creel, S., & Creel, N.M. (2002). The African wild dog: behavior, ecology and conservation. Princeton, New Jersey, USA: Princeton University Press.

Creel, S., Matandiko, W., Schuette, P., Rosenblatt, E., Sanguinetti, C., Banda, K., ... & Becker, M. (2018). Changes in African large carnivore diets over the past half-century reveal the loss of large prey. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(6), 2908-2916.

Creel, S., Merkle, J., Mweetwa, T., Becker, M.S., Mwape, H., Simpamba, T., & Simukonda, C. (2020). Hidden Markov Models reveal a clear human footprint on the movements of highly mobile African wild dogs. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1-11.

Creel, S., Winnie Jr, J., Maxwell, B., Hamlin, K., & Creel, M. (2005). Elk alter habitat selection as an antipredator response to wolves. *Ecology*, 86(12), 3387-3397.

Crooks, K.R., Burdett, C.L., Theobald, D.M., Rondinini, C., & Boitani, L. (2011). Global patterns of fragmentation and connectivity of mammalian carnivore habitat. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 366(1578), 2642-2651.
Crooks, K.R., & Soulé, M.E. (1999) Mesopredator release and avifaunal extinctions in a fragmented system. *Nature*, 563, 563-566.

Cunningham, C.X., Johnson, C.N., Barmuta, L.A., Hollings, T., Woehler, E.J., & Jones, M.E. (2018). Top carnivore decline has cascading effects on scavengers and carrion persistence. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 285(1892), 20181582.

Curry, C.J., White, P.A., & Derr, J.N. (2019). Genetic analysis of African lions (Panthera leo) in Zambia support movement across anthropogenic and geographical barriers. *PLoS One*, 14(5), e0217179.

Cusack, J.J., Dickman, A.J., Kalyahe, M., Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., MacDonald, D.W., & Coulson, T. (2017). Revealing kleptoparasitic and predatory tendencies in an African mammal community using camera traps: a comparison of spatiotemporal approaches. *Oikos*, 126(6), 812-822.

Dalerum, F., Somers, M.J., Kunkel, K.E., & Cameron, E.Z. (2008). The potential for large carnivores to act as biodiversity surrogates in southern Africa. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 17(12), 2939-2949.

Darimont, C.T., Fox, C.H., Bryan, H.M., & Reimchen, T.E. (2015). The unique ecology of human predators. *Science*, 349(6250), 858-860.

Davies-Mostert, H.T., Kamler, J.F., Mills, M.G., Jackson, C.R., Rasmussen, G.S., Groom, R.J., & Macdonald, D.W. (2012). Long-distance transboundary dispersal of African wild dogs among protected areas in southern Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 50(4), 500-506.

Davis, R.S., Stone, E.L., Gentle, L.K., Mgoola, W.O., Uzal, A., & Yarnell, R.W. (2021a). Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland. *Journal of Zoology*, 313(1), 43-53.

Davis, R.S., Yarnell, R.W., Gentle, L.K., Uzal, A., Mgoola, W.O., & Stone, E.L. (2021b). Prey availability and intraguild competition regulate the spatiotemporal dynamics of a modified large carnivore guild. *Ecology & Evolution*, 11(12), 7890-7904.

Delsink, A., Vanak, A.T., Ferreira, S., & Slotow, R. (2013). Biologically relevant scales in large mammal management policies. *Biological Conservation*, 167, 116–126.

Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi (2011) National Conservation Action Plan for cheetah and wild dog in Malawi. Department of National Parks and Wildlife Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi. Available at: http://www.cheetahandwilddog.org/southern-africa-nationalaction-plans/ [Accessed: 22/01/2021]

Derham, T.T., Duncan, R.P., Johnson, C.N., Jones, M.E. (2018) Hope and caution: rewilding to mitigate the impacts of biological invasions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 373, 20180127.

Devens, C.H., Hayward, M.W., Tshabalala, T., Dickman, A., McManus, J.S., Smuts, B., & Somers, M.J. (2021). Estimating leopard density across the highly modified human-dominated landscape of the Western Cape, South Africa. *Oryx*, 55(1), 34-45.

Devens, C., Tshabalala, T., McManus, J., & Smuts, B. (2018). Counting the spots: The use of a spatially explicit capture–recapture technique and GPS data to estimate leopard (Panthera pardus) density in the Eastern and Western Cape, South Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 850-859.

Dickman, A.J., Macdonald, E.A., & Macdonald, D.W. (2011). A review of financial instruments to pay for predator conservation and encourage human–carnivore coexistence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(34), 13937-13944.

Di Minin, E., Fraser, I., Slotow, R., & MacMillan, D.C. (2013). Understanding heterogeneous preference of tourists for big game species: implications for conservation and management. *Animal Conservation*, 16(3), 249-258.

Di Minin, E., Slotow, R., Hunter, L.T., Pouzols, F.M., Toivonen, T., Verburg, P.H., ... & Moilanen, A. (2016). Global priorities for national carnivore conservation under land use change. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 1-9.

Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Galetti, M., Ceballos, G., Isaac, N.J., & Collen, B. (2014). Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science*, 345(6195), 401-406.

Dobson, A., Lodge, D., Alder, J., Cumming, G.S., Keymer, J., McGlade, J., ... & Xenopoulos, M.A. (2006). Habitat loss, trophic collapse, and the decline of ecosystem services. *Ecology*, 87(8), 1915-1924.

Dröge, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Assessing the performance of index calibration survey methods to monitor populations of wide-ranging low-density carnivores. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(7), 3276-3292.

Dröge, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & M'soka, J. (2017). Spatial and temporal avoidance of risk within a large carnivore guild. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(1), 189-199.

du Preez, B.D., Loveridge, A.J., & Macdonald, D.W. (2014). To bait or not to bait: a comparison of camera-trapping methods for estimating leopard Panthera pardus density. *Biological Conservation*, 176, 153-161.

du Preez, B., Purdon, J., Trethowan, P., Macdonald, D.W., & Loveridge, A.J. (2017). Dietary niche differentiation facilitates coexistence of two large carnivores. *Journal of Zoology*, 302(3), 149-156.

Durant, S.M., Craft, M.E., Hilborn, R., Bashir, S., Hando, J., & Thomas, L. (2011). Long-term trends in carnivore abundance using distance sampling in Serengeti National Park, Tanzania. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(6), 1490-1500.

Durant, S.M., Mitchell, N., Groom, R., Pettorelli, N., Ipavec, A., Jacobson, A.P., Woodroffe, R., Böhm, M., Hunter, L.T., Becker, M.S., & Broekhuis, F. (2017). The global decline of cheetah Acinonyx jubatus and what it means for conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(3), 528-533.

Efford, M. G. (2004). Density estimation in live-trapping studies. Oikos, 106, 598-610.

Efford, M.G., & Fewster, R.M. (2013). Estimating population size by spatially explicit capture–recapture. *Oikos*, 122(6), 918-928.

Elliot, N.B., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2017). Towards accurate and precise estimates of lion density. *Conservation Biology*, 31(4), 934-943.

Espinosa, S., Celis, G., & Branch, L.C. (2018). When roads appear jaguars decline: Increased access to an Amazonian wilderness area reduces potential for jaguar conservation. *PLoS One*, 13(1), e0189740.

Everatt, K.T., Moore, J.F., & Kerley, G.I. (2019). Africa's apex predator, the lion, is limited by interference and exploitative competition with humans. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 20, p.e00758.

Fabiano, E. C., Sutherland, C., Fuller, A. K., Nghikembua, M., Eizirik, E., & Marker, L. (2020). Trends in cheetah Acinonyx jubatus density in north-central Namibia. *Population Ecology*, 62(2), 233-243.

Fahrig, L., & Rytwinski, T. (2009). Effects of roads on animal abundance: an empirical review and synthesis. *Ecology and Society*, 14(1), c21.

Fattebert, J., Dickerson, T., Balme, G., Hunter, L., & Slotow, R. (2013). Long-distance natal dispersal in leopard reveals potential for a three-country metapopulation. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 43(1), 61-67.

Ford, A.T., Goheen, J.R., Otieno, T.O., Bidner, L., Isbell, L.A., Palmer, T.M., Ward, D., Woodroffe, R., & Pringle, R.M. (2014). Large carnivores make savanna tree communities less thorny. *Science*, 346(6207), 346-349.

Forrester, T.D., Baker, M., Costello, R., Kays, R., Parsons, A.W., & McShea, W.J. (2017). Creating advocates for mammal conservation through citizen science. *Biological Conservation*, 208, 98-105.

Foster, R.J., & Harmsen, B.J. (2012). A critique of density estimation from camera-trap data. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 76, 224–236.

Fouché, J., Reilly, B.K., de Crom, E.P., Baeumchen, Y.K., & Forberger, S. (2020) Density estimates of spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta) on arid farmlands of Namibia. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 563-567.

Fretwell, S. D. (1977). The regulation of plant communities by the food chains exploiting them. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 20(2), 169-185.

Frey, S., Volpe, J.P., Heim, N.A., Paczkowski, J., & Fisher, J.T. (2020). Move to nocturnality not a universal trend in carnivore species on disturbed landscapes. *Oikos*, 129(8), 1128-1140.

Frost, P. (1996). The ecology of miombo woodlands. *The Miombo in Transition: Woodlands and Welfare in Africa*. Bogor, Indonesia: Centre for International Forestry Research.

Funston, P.J., Frank, L., Stephens, T., Davidson, Z., Loveridge, A., Macdonald, D.M., ... & Ferreira, S.M. (2010). Substrate and species constraints on the use of track incidences to estimate African large carnivore abundance. *Journal of Zoology*, 281(1), 56-65.

Funston, P.J., Groom, R.J., & Lindsey, P.A. (2013). Insights into the management of large carnivores for profitable wildlife-based land uses in African savannas. *PLoS One*, 8(3), e59044.

Gardner, B., Reppucci, J., Lucherini, M., & Royle, J.A. (2010). Spatially explicit inference for open populations: estimating demographic parameters from camera-trap studies. *Ecology*, 91(11), 3376-3383.

Gaynor, K.M., Hojnowski, C.E., Carter, N.H., & Brashares, J.S. (2018). The influence of human disturbance on wildlife nocturnality. *Science*, 360(6394), 1232-1235.

Geldmann, J., Joppa, L.N., & Burgess, N.D. (2014). Mapping change in human pressure globally on land and within protected areas. *Conservation Biology*, 28(6), 1604-1616.

Gerland, P., Raftery, A.E., Ševčíková, H., Li, N., Gu, D., Spoorenberg, T., ... & Wilmoth, J. (2014). World population stabilization unlikely this century. *Science*, 346(6206), 234-237.

Ghoddousi, A., Soofi, M., Hamidi, A.K., Lumetsberger, T., Egli, L., Ashayeri, S., ... & Waltert, M. (2017). When pork is not on the menu: assessing trophic competition between large carnivores and poachers. *Biological Conservation*, 209, 223-229.

Gopalaswamy, A.M., Karanth, K.U., Delampady, M., & Stenseth, N.C. (2019). How samplingbased overdispersion reveals India's tiger monitoring orthodoxy. *Conservation Science and Practice*, 1(12), e128.

Gordon, C.E., Moore, B.D., & Letnic, M. (2017). Temporal and spatial trends in the abundances of an apex predator, introduced mesopredator and ground-nesting bird are consistent with the mesopredator release hypothesis. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 26(6), 1445-1462.

Green, A.M., Chynoweth, M.W., & Şekercioğlu, C.H. (2020) Spatially Explicit Capture-Recapture Through Camera Trapping: A Review of Benchmark Analyses for Wildlife Density Estimation. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8, 563477.

Green, D.S., & Holekamp, K.E. (2019). Pastoralist activities affect the movement patterns of a large African carnivore, the spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta). *Journal of Mammalogy*, 100(6), 1941-1953.

Green, D.S., Johnson-Ulrich, L., Couraud, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2018). Anthropogenic disturbance induces opposing population trends in spotted hyenas and African lions. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(4), 871-889.

Groom, R.J., Funston, P.J., & Mandisodza, R. (2014). Surveys of lions Panthera leo in protected areas in Zimbabwe yield disturbing results: what is driving the population collapse?. *Oryx*, 48(3), 385-393.

Hansen, M.C., Potapov, P.V., Moore, R., Hancher, M., Turubanova, S.A., Tyukavina, A., ... & Townshend, J. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science*, 342(6160), 850-853.

Hardouin, M., Searle, C.E., Strampelli, P., Smit, J., Dickman, A., Lobora, A.L., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2021). Density responses of lesser-studied carnivores to habitat and management strategies in southern Tanzania's Ruaha-Rungwa landscape. *PLoS One*, 16(3), e0242293.

Harihar, A., Chanchani, P., Pariwakam, M., Noon, B.R., & Goodrich, J. (2017). Defensible inference: Questioning global trends in tiger populations. *Conservation Letters*, 10(5), 502-505.

Harihar, A., Pandav, B., Ghosh-Harihar, M., & Goodrich, J. (2020) Demographic and ecological correlates of a recovering tiger (*Panthera tigris*) population: Lessons learnt from 13-years of monitoring. *Biological Conservation*, 252, 108848.

Harihar, A., Pandav, B., & Goyal, S.P. (2011). Responses of leopard Panthera pardus to the recovery of a tiger Panthera tigris population. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(3), 806-814.

Harris, N.C., Mills, K.L., Harissou, Y., Hema, E.M., Gnoumou, I.T., VanZoeren, J., ... & Doamba, B. (2019). First camera survey in Burkina Faso and Niger reveals human pressures on mammal communities within the largest protected area complex in West Africa. *Conservation Letters*, 12(5), e12667.

Harwood, A., Stone, E., Shevlin, K., & Hammer, M. (2019) From elephants to cats to butterflies: Monitoring biodiversity of Vwaza Marsh Wildlife Reserve, Malawi. Höchberg, Germany: Biosphere Expeditions.

Havmøller, R.W., Jacobsen, N.S., Havmøller, L.W., Rovero, F., Scharff, N., & Bohmann, K. (2020a). DNA metabarcoding reveals that African leopard diet varies between habitats. *African Journal of Ecology*, 59, 37-50.

Havmøller, R.W., Jacobsen, N.S., Scharff, N., Rovero, F., & Zimmermann, F. (2020b). Assessing the activity pattern overlap among leopards (Panthera pardus), potential prey and competitors in a complex landscape in Tanzania. *Journal of Zoology*, 311(3), 175-182.

Havmøller, R.W., Tenan, S., Scharff, N., & Rovero, F. (2019). Reserve size and anthropogenic disturbance affect the density of an African leopard (*Panthera pardus*) meta-population. *PLoS One*, 14, e0209541.

Hayward, M.W., Boitani, L., Burrows, N.D., Funston, P.J., Karanth, K.U., MacKenzie, D.I., ... & Yarnell, R.W. (2015). Ecologists need robust survey designs, sampling and analytical methods. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(2), 286-290.

Hayward, M.W., Henschel, P., O'Brien, J., Hofmeyr, M., Balme, G., & Kerley, G.I.H. (2006). Prey preferences of the leopard (*Panthera pardus*). *Journal of Zoology*, 270, 298-313.

Hayward, M.W., & Kerley, G.I.H. (2005). Prey preferences of the lion (Panthera leo). *Journal* of Zoology, 267(3), 309-322.

Hayward, M.W., & Kerley, G.I.H. (2008). Prey preferences and the conservation status of Africa's large predators. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 38, 93-108.

Hayward, M.W., O'Brien, J., & Kerley, G.I. (2007). Carrying capacity of large African predators: predictions and tests. *Biological Conservation*, 139(1-2), 219-229.

Hayward, M.W., & Slotow, R. (2009). Temporal partitioning of activity in large African carnivores: tests of multiple hypotheses. *South African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 39(2), 109-125.

Hebblewhite, M., & Haydon, D.T. (2010). Distinguishing technology from biology: a critical review of the use of GPS telemetry data in ecology. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 365(1550), 2303-2312.

Heim, N., Fisher, J.T., Volpe, J., Clevenger, A.P., & Paczkowski, J. (2019). Carnivore community response to anthropogenic landscape change: species-specificity foils generalizations. *Landscape Ecology*, 34(11), 2493-2507.

Henschel, P., Abernethy, K.A., & White, L.J.T. (2005). Leopard food habits in the Lope National Park, Gabon, Central Africa. *African Journal of Ecology*, 43(1), 21-28.

Henschel, P., Coad, L., Burton, C., Chataigner, B., Dunn, A., MacDonald, D., Saidu, Y., & Hunter, L.T. (2014). The lion in West Africa is critically endangered. *PLoS One*, 9(1), e83500.

Henschel, P., Hunter, L.T., Coad, L., Abernethy, K.A., & Mühlenberg, M. (2011). Leopard prey choice in the Congo Basin rainforest suggests exploitative competition with human bushmeat hunters. *Journal of Zoology*, 285(1), 11-20.

Henschel, P., Petracca, L.S., Ferreira, S.M., Ekwanga, S., Ryan, S. D., & Frank, L.G. (2020). Census and distribution of large carnivores in the Tsavo national parks, a critical east African wildlife corridor. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 383-398.

Hertel, A.G., Zedrosser, A., Mysterud, A., Støen, O.G., Steyaert, S.M., & Swenson, J.E. (2016). Temporal effects of hunting on foraging behavior of an apex predator: Do bears forego foraging when risk is high?. *Oecologia*, 182(4), 1019-1029.

Hoeks, S., Huijbregts, M.A., Busana, M., Harfoot, M.B., Svenning, J.C., & Santini, L. (2020). Mechanistic insights into the role of large carnivores for ecosystem structure and functioning. *Ecography*, 43(12), 1752-1763.

Höner, O.P., Wachter, B., East, M.L., Runyoro, V.A., & Hofer, H. (2005). The effect of prey abundance and foraging tactics on the population dynamics of a social, territorial carnivore, the spotted hyena. *Oikos*, 108, 544-554.

Hounsome, T.D., Young, R.P., Davison, J., Yarnell, R.W., Trewby, I. D., Garnett, B.T., ... & Wilson, G.J. (2005). An evaluation of distance sampling to estimate badger (*Meles meles*) abundance. *Journal of Zoology*, 266(1), 81-87.

Hunter, L.T.B. (2018). Carnivores of the World: Second Edition. New Jersey, USA: Princeton University Press.

Inskip, C., & Zimmermann, A. (2009). Human-felid conflict: a review of patterns and priorities worldwide. *Oryx*, 43(1), 18-34.

IUCN (2016). IUCN Briefing Paper: Informing decisions on trophy hunting. Gland, Switzerland: International Union for Conservation of Nature.

International Fund for Animal Welfare (2020). "Zebra translocation helps make Kasungu National Park a secured home for wildlife". Available at:

https://www.ifaw.org/uk/journal/kasungu-national-park-translocation-secured-home Accessed: [25/01/2021]

Jacobson, A.P., Gerngross, P., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Schoonover, R.F., Anco, C., Breitenmoser-Würsten, C., ... & Laguardia, A. (2016). Leopard (Panthera pardus) status, distribution, and the research efforts across its range. *PeerJ*, 4, e1974.

Jędrzejewski, W., Robinson, H.S., Abarca, M., Zeller, K.A., Velasquez, G., Paemelaere, E.A., ... & Quigley, H. (2018). Estimating large carnivore populations at global scale based on spatial predictions of density and distribution–Application to the jaguar (Panthera onca). *PLoS One*, 13(3), e0194719.

Jenny, D. (1996). Spatial organization of leopards Panthera pardus in Taï National Park, Ivory Coast: is rainforest habitat a 'tropical haven'?. *Journal of Zoology*, 240(3), 427-440.

Jhala, Y., Qureshi, Q., & Gopal, R. (2011). Can the abundance of tigers be assessed from their signs?. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(1), 14-24.

Johansson, Ö., Samelius, G., Wikberg, E., Chapron, G., Mishra, C., & Low, M. (2020). Identification errors in camera-trap studies result in systematic population overestimation. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1-10.

Johnson, H.E., Lewis, D.L., Verzuh, T.L., Wallace, C.F., Much, R.M., Willmarth, L.K., & Breck, S.W. (2018). Human development and climate affect hibernation in a large carnivore with implications for human–carnivore conflicts. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 55(2), 663-672.

Jones, K.R., Venter, O., Fuller, R.A., Allan, J.R., Maxwell, S.L., Negret, P.J., & Watson, J.E. (2018). One-third of global protected land is under intense human pressure. *Science*, 360(6390), 788-791.

Kane, M.D., Morin, D.J., & Kelly, M.J. (2015). Potential for camera-traps and spatial markresight models to improve monitoring of the critically endangered West African lion (Panthera leo). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(14), 3527-3541.

Karanth, K.U., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Kumar, N., Delampady, M., Nichols, J.D., Seidensticker, J., ... & Pimm, S.L. (2011a). Counting India's wild tigers reliably. *Science*, 332, 791.

Karanth, K.U., Gopalaswamy, A.M., Kumar, N.S., Vaidyanathan, S., Nichols, J.D., & MacKenzie, D.I. (2011b). Monitoring carnivore populations at the landscape scale: occupancy modelling of tigers from sign surveys. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(4), 1048-1056.

Karanth, K.U., & Nichols, J.D. (1998). Estimation of tiger densities in India using photographic captures and recaptures. *Ecology*, 79(8), 2852-2862.

Karanth, K.U., Nichols, J.D., Kumar, N.S., Link, W.A., & Hines, J.E. (2004). Tigers and their prey: predicting carnivore densities from prey abundance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(14), 4854-4858.

Karanth, K.U., Srivathsa, A., Vasudev, D., Puri, M., Parameshwaran, R., & Kumar, N.S. (2017). Spatio-temporal interactions facilitate large carnivore sympatry across a resource gradient. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 284(1848), 20161860.

Kays, R.W., & Slauson, K.M. (2008). Remote cameras. In: Long, R.A., MacKay, P., Zielinski, W.J., & Ray, J.C. (eds.), Noninvasive Survey Methods for Carnivores. Washington DC, USA: Island Press.

Kerley, L.L., Goodrich, J.M., Miquelle, D.G., Smirnov, E.N., Quigley, H.B., & Hornocker, M.G. (2002). Effects of roads and human disturbance on Amur tigers. *Conservation Biology*, 16(1), 97-108.

Khorozyan, I., Ghoddousi, A., Soofi, M., & Waltert, M. (2015). Big cats kill more livestock when wild prey reaches a minimum threshold. *Biological Conservation*, 192, 268-275.

Kirsten, I., Bakker, C.E., Trujilo, L.L., Bour, P., Niomogh, N., Bauer, H., & De Iongh, H.H. (2017). Lion (Panthera leo) and Spotted Hyena (Crocuta crocuta) abundance in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon; trends between 2005 and 2014. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(2), 414-417.

Kissui, B.M., Kiffner, C., König, H.J., & Montgomery, R.A. (2019). Patterns of livestock depredation and cost-effectiveness of fortified livestock enclosures in northern Tanzania. *Ecology and Evolution*, 9(19), 11420-11433.

Kittle, A.M., Watson, A.C., Cushman, S.A., & Macdonald, D.W. (2017). Forest cover and level of protection influence the island-wide distribution of an apex carnivore and umbrella species, the Sri Lankan leopard (Panthera pardus kotiya). *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 27(1), 235-263.

Knox, J., Negrões, N., Marchini, S., Barboza, K., Guanacoma, G., Balhau, P., Tobler, M.W.,
& Glikman, J.A. (2019). Jaguar Persecution Without "Cowflict": Insights From Protected
Territories in the Bolivian Amazon. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 494.

Kolowski, J.M., Katan, D., Theis, K.R., & Holekamp, K.E. (2007). Daily patterns of activity in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(4), 1017-1028.

Kuijper, D.P.J., De Kleine, C., Churski, M.V., Van Hooft, P., Bubnicki, J., & Jędrzejewska, B. (2013). Landscape of fear in Europe: wolves affect spatial patterns of ungulate browsing in Białowieża Primeval Forest, Poland. *Ecography*, 36(12), 1263-1275.

Kuijper, D.P.J., Sahlén, E., Elmhagen, B., Chamaillé-Jammes, S., Sand, H., Lone, K., & Cromsigt, J.P.G.M. (2016). Paws without claws? Ecological effects of large carnivores in anthropogenic landscapes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 283(1841), 20161625.

Kumbhojkar, S., Yosef, R., Kosicki, J.Z., Kwiatkowska, P.K., & Tryjanowski, P. (2020) Dependence of the leopard Panthera pardus fusca in Jaipur, India, on domestic animals. *Oryx*. 1-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605319001145

Lamb, C.T., Ford, A.T., McLellan, B.N., Proctor, M.F., Mowat, G., Ciarniello, L., ... & Boutin, S. (2020). The ecology of human–carnivore coexistence. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(30), 17876-17883.

Laundré, J.W., Hernández, L., & Ripple, W.F. (2010). The landscape of fear: ecological implications of being afraid. *Open Ecology Journal*, 3(3), 1–7.

LeFlore, E.G., Fuller, T.K., Tomeletso, M., & Stein, A.B. (2019). Livestock depredation by large carnivores in northern Botswana. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 18, p.e00592.

Le Roux, E., Kerley, G.I., & Cromsigt, J.P. (2018). Megaherbivores modify trophic cascades triggered by fear of predation in an African savanna ecosystem. *Current Biology*, 28(15), 2493-2499.

Letnic, M., Ritchie, E.G., & Dickman, C.R. (2012). Top predators as biodiversity regulators: the dingo Canis lupus dingo as a case study. *Biological Reviews*, 87(2), 390-413.

Lindsey, P.A., Alexander, R., Mills, M.G.L., Romañach, S., & Woodroffe, R. (2007). Wildlife viewing preferences of visitors to protected areas in South Africa: implications for the role of ecotourism in conservation. *Journal of Ecotourism*, 6(1), 19-33.

Lindsey, P.A., Balme, G., Becker, M., Begg, C., Bento, C., Bocchino, C., Dickman, A., Diggle, R.W., Eves, H., Henschel, P., & Lewis, D. (2013a). The bushmeat trade in African savannas: Impacts, drivers, and possible solutions. *Biological Conservation*, 160, 80-96.

Lindsey, P.A., Balme, G.A., Funston, P., Henschel, P., Hunter, L., Madzikanda, H., ... & Nyirenda, V. (2013b). The trophy hunting of African lions: scale, current management practices and factors undermining sustainability. *PLoS One*, 8(9), e73808.

Lindsey, P.A., Nyirenda, V.R., Barnes, J.I., Becker, M.S., McRobb, R., Tambling, C.J., ... & t'Sas-Rolfes, M. (2014). Underperformance of African protected area networks and the case for new conservation models: insights from Zambia. *PLoS One*, 9(5), e94109.

Lindsey, P.A., Petracca, L.S., Funston, P.J., Bauer, H., Dickman, A., Everatt, K., ... & Loveridge, A. (2017). The performance of African protected areas for lions and their prey. *Biological Conservation*, 209, 137-149.

Linnell, J.D., & Strand, O. (2000). Interference interactions, co-existence and conservation of mammalian carnivores. *Diversity and Distributions*, 6(4), 169-176.

Loveridge, A.J., Sousa, L.L., Seymour-Smith, J., Hunt, J., Coals, P., O'Donnell, H., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Evaluating the spatial intensity and demographic impacts of wiresnare bush-meat poaching on large carnivores. *Biological Conservation*, 244, 108504.

Macdonald, C., Gallagher, A.J., Barnett, A., Brunnschweiler, J., Shiffman, D.S., & Hammerschlag, N. (2017). Conservation potential of apex predator tourism. *Biological Conservation*, 215, 132-141.

Macdonald, D.W., Loveridge, A.J., Dickman, A., Johnson, P.J., Jacobsen, K.S., & du Preez, B. (2017). Lions, trophy hunting and beyond: knowledge gaps and why they matter. *Mammal Review*, 47(4), 247-253.

Mackenzie, C.A., Sengupta, R.R., & Kaoser, R. (2015). Chasing baboons or attending class: protected areas and childhood education in Uganda. *Environmental Conservation*, 42(4), 373-383.

Macpherson, D. (2015) Report on an Aerial Wildlife Census of Kasungu National Park, Malawi, October 2014. Cluny Wildlife Trust, Lilongwe, Malawi.

Manlick, P.J., & Pauli, J.N. (2020). Human disturbance increases trophic niche overlap in terrestrial carnivore communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(43), 26842-26848.

Mann, G.K., O'Riain, M.J., & Parker, D.M. (2020). A leopard's favourite spots: Habitat preference and population density of leopards in a semi-arid biodiversity hotspot. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 181, 104218.

Marneweck, C., Marneweck, D.G., Van Schalkwyk, O.L., Beverley, G., Davies-Mostert, H. T., & Parker, D.M. (2019). Spatial partitioning by a subordinate carnivore is mediated by conspecific overlap. *Oecologia*, 191(3), 531-540.

Martin, L.J., Blossey, B., & Ellis, E. (2012). Mapping where ecologists work: biases in the global distribution of terrestrial ecological observations. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 10(4), 195-201.

Martin, R.B., & de Meulenaer, T. (1988) Survey of the status of the leopard (Panthera pardus) in Sub-Saharan Africa. Report submitted to the Secretariat of the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, Lausanne, Switzerland.

Maxwell, S.L., Fuller, R.A., Brooks, T.M., & Watson, J.E.M. (2016). Biodiversity: The ravages of guns, nets and bulldozers. *Nature*, 536(7615), 143–145.

McClure, M.L., Dickson, B.G., & Nicholson, K.L. (2017). Modeling connectivity to identify current and future anthropogenic barriers to movement of large carnivores: a case study in the American Southwest. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(11), 3762-3772.

McNeely, J.A. (2000). Practical approaches for including mammals in biodiversity conservation. Priorities for the Conservation of Mammalian Diversity: Has the Panda Had its Day? (Entwistle, A., & Dunstone, N. eds.), pp. 355–367. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Meek, P.D., & Pittet, A. (2013). User-based design specifications for the ultimate camera trap for wildlife research. *Wildlife Research*, 39(8), 649-660.

Mésochina, P., Sefu, L., Sichali, E., Chardonnet, P., Ngalande, J., & Lipita, W. (2010). Conservation status of the lion (Panthera leo Linnaeus, 1758) in Malawi. Paris: SCI Foundation.

Midlane, N., O'Riain, M.J., Balme, G.A., & Hunter, L.T. (2015). To track or to call: comparing methods for estimating population abundance of African lions Panthera leo in Kafue National Park. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(6), 1311-1327.

Miller, J.R., Pitman, R.T., Mann, G.K., Fuller, A.K., & Balme, G.A. (2018). Lions and leopards coexist without spatial, temporal or demographic effects of interspecific competition. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87(6), 1709-1726.

Mkonyi, F.J., Estes, A.B., Msuha, M.J., Lichtenfeld, L.L., & Durant, S.M. (2017). Socioeconomic correlates and management implications of livestock depredation by large carnivores in the Tarangire ecosystem, northern Tanzania. *International Journal of Biodiversity Science*, *Ecosystem Services & Management*, 13(1), 248-263.

Mohamed, A., Sollmann, R., Wong, S., Niedballa, J., Abrams. J., Kissing, J., & Wilting, A. (2019). Counting Sunda clouded leopards with confidence: Incorporating individual heterogeneity in density estimates. *Oryx*, 55(1), 56-65.

Morehouse, A.T., & Boyce, M.S. (2011). From venison to beef: seasonal changes in wolf diet composition in a livestock grazing landscape. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9(8), 440-445.

Morrison, J.C., Sechrest, W., Dinerstein, E., Wilcove, D.S., & Lamoreux, J.F. (2007). Persistence of large mammal faunas as indicators of global human impacts. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(6), 1363-1380.

Mossaz, A., Buckley, R.C., & Castley, J.G. (2015). Ecotourism contributions to conservation of African big cats. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 28, 112-118.

M'soka, J., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., & Droge, E. (2016). Spotted hyaena survival and density in a lion depleted ecosystem: The effects of prey availability, humans and competition between large carnivores in African savannahs. *Biological Conservation*, 201, 348-355.

Mudumba, T., Jingo, S., Heit, D., & Montgomery, R.A. (2021). The landscape configuration and lethality of snare poaching of sympatric guilds of large carnivores and ungulates. *African Journal of Ecology*, 59(1), 51-62.

Munthali, S.M., & Mkanda, F.X. (2002). The plight of Malawi's wildlife: is trans-location of animals the solution? *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 11, 751-768.

Murphy, A., Gerber, B.D., Farris, Z.J., Karpanty, S., Ratelolahy, F., & Kelly, M.J. (2018). Making the most of sparse data to estimate density of a rare and threatened species: a case study with the fosa, a little-studied Malagasy carnivore. *Animal Conservation*, 21(6), 496-504.

Naidoo, R., Weaver, L.C., Stuart-Hill, G., & Tagg, J. (2011). Effect of biodiversity on economic benefits from communal lands in Namibia. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(2), 310-316.

Naude, V.N., Balme, G. A., O'Riain, J., Hunter, L.T., Fattebert, J., Dickerson, T., & Bishop, J.M. (2020). Unsustainable anthropogenic mortality disrupts natal dispersal and promotes inbreeding in leopards. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10(8), 3605-3619.

Newsome, T.M., Greenville, A.C., Ćirović, D., Dickman, C.R., Johnson, C.N., Krofel, M., Letnic, M., Ripple, W.J., Ritchie, E.G., Stoyanov, S., & Wirsing, A.J. (2017). Top predators constrain mesopredator distributions. *Nature Communications*, 8, p.15469.

Nicholson, S.K., Marneweck, D.G., Lindsey, P.A., Marnewick, K., & Davies-Mostert, H.T. (2020). A 20-year review of the status and distribution of African wild dogs (Lycaon pictus) in South Africa. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*, 50(1), 8-19.

Noack, J., Heyns, L., Rodenwoldt, D., & Edwards, S. (2019). Leopard density estimation within an enclosed reserve, Namibia using spatially explicit capture-recapture models. *Animals*, 9(10), 724.

Norton, P. (1990). How many leopards? A criticism of Martin and de Meulenaer's population estimates for Africa. *South African Journal of Science*, 86(5-6), 218.

O'Brien, T. G., & Kinnaird, M. F. (2011). Density estimation of sympatric carnivores using spatially explicit capture–recapture methods and standard trapping grid. *Ecological Applications*, 21(8), 2908-2916.

O'Bryan, C.J., Braczkowski, A.R., Beyer, H.L., Carter, N.H., Watson, J.E., & McDonald-Madden, E. (2018). The contribution of predators and scavengers to human well-being. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(2), 229-236.

Oksanen, L., Fretwell, S.D., Arruda, J., & Niemela, P. (1981). Exploitation ecosystems in gradients of primary productivity. *The American Naturalist*, 118(2), 240-261.

O'Neill, H.M., Durant, S.M., & Woodroffe, R. (2020). What wild dogs want: habitat selection differs across life stages and orders of selection in a wide-ranging carnivore. *BMC Zoology*, 5(1), 1-11.

Ordiz, A., Kindberg, J., Sæbø, S., Swenson, J. E., & Støen, O. G. (2014). Brown bear circadian behavior reveals human environmental encroachment. *Biological Conservation*, 173, 1-9.

Oriol-Cotterill, A., Macdonald, D.W., Valeix, M., Ekwanga, S., & Frank, L.G. (2015). Spatiotemporal patterns of lion space use in a human-dominated landscape. *Animal Behaviour*, 101, 27-39.

Oriol-Cotterill, A., Valeix, M., Frank, L.G., Riginos, C., & Macdonald, D.W. (2015). Landscapes of coexistence for terrestrial carnivores: the ecological consequences of being downgraded from ultimate to penultimate predator by humans. *Oikos*, 124(10), 1263-1273.

Ostfeld, R.S., & Holt, R.D. (2004). Are predators good for your health? Evaluating evidence for top-down regulation of zoonotic disease reservoirs. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 2(1), 13-20.

Overton, J.M., Elizalde Castells, D., Figueira Fernandes Elizalde, S.R., Valério, H.M., Alexandre Zumbo, M.N., Groom, R.J., & Durant, S.M. (2020). Endangered African wild dogs (Lycaon pictus Temm.) in Angola: Filling a 50-year gap of knowledge with findings from two National Parks. *African Journal of Ecology*, 58(3), 582-587.

Pacifici, M., Di Marco, M., & Watson, J.E. (2020). Protected areas are now the last strongholds for many imperiled mammal species. *Conservation Letters*, e12748.

Packer, C., Holt, R.D., Hudson, P.J., Lafferty, K.D., & Dobson, A.P. (2003). Keeping the herds healthy and alert: implications of predator control for infectious disease. *Ecology Letters*, 6(9), 797-802.

Palomares, F., & Caro, T.M. (1999). Interspecific killing among mammalian carnivores. *The American Naturalist*, 153(5), 492-508.

Parres, A., Palazón, S., Afonso, I., Quenette, P.Y., Batet, A., Camarra, J.J., ... & Jato, R. (2020) Activity patterns in the reintroduced Pyrenean brown bear population. *Mammal Research*, 65, 435-444.

Patten, M.A., Burger, J.C., & Mitrovich, M. (2019). The intersection of human disturbance and diel activity, with potential consequences on trophic interactions. *PLoS One*, 14(12), e0226418.

Périquet, S., Fritz, H., & Revilla, E. (2015). The Lion King and the Hyaena Queen: large carnivore interactions and coexistence. *Biological Reviews*, 90(4), 1197-1214.

Périquet, S., Fritz, H., Revilla, E., Macdonald, D.W., Loveridge, A.J., Mtare, G., & Valeix, M. (2021). Dynamic interactions between apex predators reveal contrasting seasonal attraction patterns. *Oecologia*, 195(1), 51-63.

Petracca, L.S., Funston, P.J., Henschel, P., Cohen, J.B., Maclennan, S., & Frair, J.L. (2019). Modeling community occupancy from line transect data: a case study with large mammals in post-war Angola. *Animal Conservation*, 23(4), 420-433.

Pitman, R.T., Fattebert, J., Williams, S.T., Williams, K.S., Hill, R.A., Hunter, L.T., ... & Balme, G.A. (2017). Cats, connectivity and conservation: incorporating data sets and integrating scales for wildlife management. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54(6), 1687-1698.

Pitman, R.T., Swanepoel, L.H., Hunter, L., Slotow, R., & Balme, G.A. (2015). The importance of refugia, ecological traps and scale for large carnivore management. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 24(8), 1975-1987.

Popescu, V.D., Artelle, K.A., Pop, M.I., Manolache, S., & Rozylowicz, L. (2016). Assessing biological realism of wildlife population estimates in data-poor systems. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 53(4), 1248-1259.

Pototsky, P.C., & Cresswell, W. (2020). Conservation research output in sub-Saharan Africa is increasing, but only in a few countries. *Oryx*, 1-10, doi: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605320000046

Powers, R.P., & Jetz, W. (2019). Global habitat loss and extinction risk of terrestrial vertebrates under future land-use-change scenarios. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(4), 323-329.

Preisser, E.L., Bolnick, D.I., & Benard, M.F. (2005). Scared to death? The effects of intimidation and consumption in predator–prey interactions. *Ecology*, 86(2), 501-509.

Prugh, L.R., Stoner, C.J., Epps, C.W., Bean, W.T., Ripple, W.J., Laliberte, A.S., & Brashares, J.S. (2009). The rise of the mesopredator. *Bioscience*, 59(9), 779-791.

Rabaiotti, D., & Woodroffe, R. (2019). Coping with climate change: limited behavioral responses to hot weather in a tropical carnivore. *Oecologia*, 189(3), 587-599.

Rabelo, R.M., Aragón, S., & Bicca-Marques, J.C. (2019). Prey abundance drives habitat occupancy by jaguars in Amazonian floodplain river islands. *Acta Oecologica*, 97, 28-33.

Rafiq, K., Bryce, C.M., Rich, L.N., Coco, C., Miller, D.A., Meloro, C., Wich, S.A., McNutt, J.W., & Hayward, M.W. (2019). Tourist photographs as a scalable framework for wildlife monitoring in protected areas. *Current Biology*, 29(14), R681-R682.

Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R., Meloro, C., Wilson, A.M., Hayward, M.W., Wich, S.A., & McNutt, J.W. (2020a). Scent-marking strategies of a solitary carnivore: Boundary and road scent marking in the leopard. *Animal Behaviour*, 161, 115-126.

Rafiq, K., Jordan, N.R., Wilson, A.M., McNutt, J.W., Hayward, M.W., Meloro, C., ... & Golabek, K.A. (2020b). Spatio-temporal factors impacting encounter occurrences between leopards and other large African predators. *Journal of Zoology*, 310(3), 191-200.

Ramesh, T., Kalle, R., Rosenlund, H., & Downs, C.T. (2017). Low leopard populations in protected areas of Maputaland: a consequence of poaching, habitat condition, abundance of prey, and a top predator. *Ecology and Evolution*, 7(6), 1964-1973.

Rasphone, A., Kamler, J.F., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Temporal partitioning by felids, dholes and their potential prey in northern Laos. *Mammal Research*, 65(4), 679-689.

Ray, J.C., Hunter, L.T.B., & Zigouris, J. (2005) Setting conservation and research priorities for large African carnivores, vol 24. New York, USA: Wildlife Conservation Society.

Rayner, M.J., Hauber, M.E., Imber, M.J., Stamp, R.K., & Clout, M.N. (2007). Spatial heterogeneity of mesopredator release within an oceanic island system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(52), 20862-20865.

Redford, K.H. (2005) Introduction: how to value large carnivorous animals. In: Ray, J.C., Redford, K.H., Steneck, R.S., & Berger, J. (eds). Large carnivores and the conservation of biodiversity. Washington D.C., USA: Island Press.

Rich, L.N., Miller, D.A., Muñoz, D.J., Robinson, H.S., McNutt, J.W., & Kelly, M.J. (2019). Sampling design and analytical advances allow for simultaneous density estimation of seven sympatric carnivore species from camera trap data. *Biological Conservation*, 233, 12-20.

Rich, L.N., Miller, D.A.W., Robinson, H.S., McNutt, J.W., & Kelly, M.J. (2017). Carnivore distributions in Botswana are shaped by resource availability and intraguild species. *Journal of Zoology*, 303(2), 90-98.

Riggio, J., Jacobson, A., Dollar, L., Bauer, H., Becker, M., Dickman, A., Funston, P., Groom, R., Henschel, P., de Iongh, H., & Lichtenfeld, L. (2013). The size of savannah Africa: a lion's (Panthera leo) view. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(1), 17-35.

Riley, S.P., Serieys, L.E., Pollinger, J.P., Sikich, J.A., Dalbeck, L., Wayne, R.K., & Ernest, H.B. (2014). Individual behaviors dominate the dynamics of an urban mountain lion population isolated by roads. *Current Biology*, 24(17), 1989-1994.

Ripple, W.J., & Beschta, R.L. (2006). Linking a cougar decline, trophic cascade, and catastrophic regime shift in Zion National Park. *Biological Conservation*, 133(4), 397-408.

Ripple, W.J., Larsen, E.J., Renkin, R.A., & Smith, D.W. (2001). Trophic cascades among wolves, elk and aspen on Yellowstone National Park's northern range. *Biological Conservation*, 102(3), 227-234.

Ripple, W.J., Estes, J.A., Beschta, R.L., Wilmers, C.C., Ritchie, E.G., Hebblewhite, M., Berger, J., Elmhagen, B., Letnic, M., Nelson, M.P., & Schmitz, O.J. (2014). Status and ecological effects of the world's largest carnivores. *Science*, 343(6167), p.1241484.

Ripple, W.J., Wirsing, A.J., Wilmers, C.C., & Letnic, M. (2013). Widespread mesopredator effects after wolf extirpation. *Biological Conservation*, 160, 70-79.

Rodrigues, A.S., Pilgrim, J. D., Lamoreux, J.F., Hoffmann, M., & Brooks, T.M. (2006). The value of the IUCN Red List for conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(2), 71-76.

Rogan, M.S., Balme, G.A., Distiller, G., Pitman, R.T., Broadfield, J., Mann, G.K.H., Whittington-Jones, G.M., Thomas, L.H., & O'Riain, M.J. (2019). The influence of movement on the occupancy–density relationship at small spatial scales. *Ecosphere*, 10(8), e02807.

Rosenblatt, E., Becker, M.S., Creel, S., Droge, E., Mweetwa, T., Schuette, P. A., ... & Mwape, H. (2014). Detecting declines of apex carnivores and evaluating their causes: An example with Zambian lions. *Biological Conservation*, 180, 176-186.

Rosenblatt, E., Creel, S., Becker, M.S., Merkle, J., Mwape, H., Schuette, P., & Simpamba, T. (2016). Effects of a protection gradient on carnivore density and survival: an example with leopards in the Luangwa valley, Zambia. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6, 3772–3785.

Rovero, F., & Zimmermann, F. (eds.) (2016) Camera trapping for wildlife research. Exeter: Pelagic Publishing.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Field, J., Turvey, S.T., & Carbone, C. (2008). Estimating animal density using camera traps without the need for individual recognition. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 45(4), 1228-1236.

Rowcliffe, J.M., Kays, R., Kranstauber, B., Carbone, C., & Jansen, P.A. (2014). Quantifying levels of animal activity using camera trap data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(11), 1170-1179.

Royle, J.A., Chandler, R.B., Sollmann, R., & Gardner, B. (2014). Spatial capture-recapture. Waltham, MA: Academic Press.

Royle, J.A., Fuller, A.K., & Sutherland, C. (2018). Unifying population and landscape ecology with spatial capture–recapture. *Ecography*, 41(3), 444-456.

Royle, J.A., & Gardner, B. (2011). Hierarchical spatial capture–recapture models for estimating density from trapping arrays. In: O'Connell, A., Nichols, J.D., & Karanth, K.U. (eds.). Camera Traps in Animal Ecology: Methods and Analyses. New York, USA: Springer. pp. 163–190.

Royle, J.A., Nichols, J.D., Karanth, K.U., & Gopalaswamy, A.M. (2009). A hierarchical model for estimating density in camera-trap studies. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46, 118–127.

Šálek, M., Drahníková, L., & Tkadlec, E. (2015). Changes in home range sizes and population densities of carnivore species along the natural to urban habitat gradient. *Mammal Review*, 45(1), 1-14.

Sandom, C.J., Faurby, S., Svenning, J.C., Burnham, D., Dickman, A., Hinks, A.E., Macdonald, E.A., Ripple, W.J., Williams, J., & Macdonald, D.W. (2018). Learning from the past to prepare for the future: felids face continued threat from declining prey. *Ecography*, 41(1), 140-152.

Sandom, C.J., Williams, J., Burnham, D., Dickman, A.J., Hinks, A.E., Macdonald, E.A., & Macdonald, D.W. (2017). Deconstructed cat communities: quantifying the threat to felids from prey defaunation. *Diversity and Distributions*, 23(6), 667-679.

Santos, F., Carbone, C., Wearn, O.R., Rowcliffe, J.M., Espinosa, S., Lima, M.G.M., ... & Peres, C.A. (2019). Prey availability and temporal partitioning modulate felid coexistence in Neotropical forests. *PLoS One*, 14(3), e0213671.

Schmitz, O.J., Hawlena, D., & Trussell, G.C. (2010). Predator control of ecosystem nutrient dynamics. *Ecology Letters*, 13, 1199-1209.

Searle, C.E., Bauer, D.T., Kesch, M.K., Hunt, J.E., Mandisodza-Chikerema, R., Flyman, M. V., ... & Loveridge, A.J. (2020). Drivers of leopard (Panthera pardus) habitat use and relative abundance in Africa's largest transfrontier conservation area. *Biological Conservation*, 248, 108649.

Segan, D.B., Murray, K.A., & Watson, J.E. (2016). A global assessment of current and future biodiversity vulnerability to habitat loss–climate change interactions. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 5, 12-21.

Sergio, F., Newton, I.A.N., Marchesi, L., & Pedrini, P. (2006). Ecologically justified charisma: preservation of top predators delivers biodiversity conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 43(6), 1049-1055.

Sévêque, A., Gentle, L.K., López-Bao, J.V., Yarnell, R.W., & Uzal, A. (2020). Human disturbance has contrasting effects on niche partitioning within carnivore communities. *Biological Reviews*, 95(6), 1689-1705.

Shamoon, H., Maor, R., Saltz, D., & Dayan, T. (2018). Increased mammal nocturnality in agricultural landscapes results in fragmentation due to cascading effects. *Biological Conservation*, 226, 32-41.

Sheehy, E., Sutherland, C., O'Reilly, C., & Lambin, X. (2018). The enemy of my enemy is my friend: native pine marten recovery reverses the decline of the red squirrel by suppressing grey squirrel populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 285, 20172603.

Sievert, O., Reid, C., & Botha, A. (2018). The re-emergence of African White-backed Vultures (Gyps africanus), White-headed Vultures (Trigonoceps occipitalis) and Lappet-faced Vultures (Torgos tracheliotos) in Liwonde National Park, Malawi. *Vulture News*, 74(1), 12-19.

Simcharoen, S., Barlow, A.C., Simcharoen, A., & Smith, J. L. (2008). Home range size and daytime habitat selection of leopards in Huai Kha Khaeng Wildlife Sanctuary, Thailand. *Biological Conservation*, 141(9), 2242-2250.

Skibins, J.C., Powell, R.B., & Hallo, J.C. (2013). Charisma and conservation: charismatic megafauna's influence on safari and zoo tourists' pro-conservation behaviors. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 22(4), 959-982.

Smith, J.A., Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Crawford, A., Roberts, D., Zanette, L.Y., & Wilmers, C.C. (2017). Fear of the human 'super predator'reduces feeding time in large carnivores. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 284(1857), 20170433.

Sogbohossou, E.A., Kassa, B.D., Waltert, M., & Khorozyan, I. (2018). Spatio-temporal niche partitioning between the African lion (Panthera leo leo) and spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in western African savannas. *European Journal of Wildlife Research*, 64(1), 1-8.

Sollmann, R. (2018). A gentle introduction to camera-trap data analysis. *African Journal of Ecology*, 56(4), 740-749.

Sollmann, R., Furtado, M.M., Gardner, B., Hofer, H., Jácomo, A.T., Tôrres, N.M. & Silveira, L. (2011). Improving density estimates for elusive carnivores: accounting for sex-specific detection and movements using spatial capture–recapture models for jaguars in central Brazil. *Biological Conservation*, 144(3), 1017-1024.

Stephens, P.A., Pettorelli, N., Barlow, J., Whittingham, M.J., & Cadotte, M.W. (2015). Management by proxy? The use of indices in applied ecology. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 52(1), 1-6.

St. John, F.A., Linkie, M., Martyr, D.J., Milliyanawati, B., McKay, J.E., Mangunjaya, F.M., Leader-Williams, N., & Struebig, M.J. (2018). Intention to kill: Tolerance and illegal persecution of Sumatran tigers and sympatric species. *Conservation Letters*, 11(4), p.e12451.

Strampelli, P., Andresen, L., Everatt, K.T., Somers, M.J., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2018). Habitat use responses of the African leopard in a human-disturbed region of rural Mozambique. *Mammalian Biology*, 89(1), 14-20.

Strampelli, P., Andresen, L., Everatt, K.T., Somers, M.J., & Rowcliffe, J.M. (2020). Leopard Panthera pardus density in southern Mozambique: evidence from spatially explicit capture– recapture in Xonghile Game Reserve. *Oryx*, 54(3), 405-411.

Sun, C.C., Fuller, A.K., Hare, M.P., & Hurst, J.E. (2017). Evaluating population expansion of black bears using spatial capture-recapture. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 81(5), 814-823.

Sunquist, M., & Sunquist, F. (2002) Wild Cats of the World. Chicago, IL, USA: University of Chicago Press.

Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Dill, L.M., Roberts, D., & Zanette, L.Y. (2016). Fear of large carnivores causes a trophic cascade. *Nature Communications*, 7(1), 1-7.

Suraci, J.P., Clinchy, M., Zanette, L. Y., & Wilmers, C.C. (2019). Fear of humans as apex predators has landscape-scale impacts from mountain lions to mice. *Ecology Letters*, 22(10), 1578-1586.

Suryawanshi, K.R., Khanyari, M., Sharma, K., Lkhagvajav, P., & Mishra, C. (2019). Sampling bias in snow leopard population estimation studies. *Population Ecology*, 61(3), 268-276.

Sutherland, C., Royle, J.A., & Linden, D.W. (2019). oSCR: a spatial capture–recapture R package for inference about spatial ecological processes. *Ecography*, 42(9), 1459-1469.

Sutherland, W.J., Pullin, A.S., Dolman, P.M., & Knight, T.M. (2004). The need for evidencebased conservation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19, 305–308.

Swanepoel, L.H., Somers, M.J., & Dalerum, F. (2015). Density of leopards *Panthera pardus* on protected and non-protected land in the Waterberg Biosphere, South Africa. *Wildlife Biology*, 21, 263-269.

Tanner, E., White, A., Acevedo, P., Balseiro, A., Marcos, J., & Gortázar, C. (2019). Wolves contribute to disease control in a multi-host system. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1-12.

Tarugara, A., Clegg, B.W., Gandiwa, E., & Muposhi, V.K. (2021). The effect of competing carnivores on the feeding behaviour of leopards (Panthera pardus) in an African savanna. *Ecology and Evolution*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7608

Taylor, R.A., Ryan, S.J., Brashares, J.S., & Johnson, L.R. (2016). Hunting, food subsidies, and mesopredator release: the dynamics of crop-raiding baboons in a managed landscape. *Ecology*, 97(4), 951-960.

Terborgh, J., & Estes, J.A. (2010). Trophic Cascades: Predators, Prey, and the Changing Dynamics of Nature. Washington, DC, USA: Island Press.

Thinley, P., Rajaratnam, R., Lassoie, J.P., Morreale, S.J., Curtis, P.D., Vernes, K., ... & Dorji, P. (2018). The ecological benefit of tigers (Panthera tigris) to farmers in reducing crop and

livestock losses in the eastern Himalayas: implications for conservation of large apex predators. *Biological Conservation*, 219, 119-125.

Thompson, J.J., Martí, C.M., & Quigley, H. (2020). Anthropogenic factors disproportionately affect the occurrence and potential population connectivity of the Neotropic's apex predator: the jaguar at the southwestern extent of its distribution. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, e01356.

Tilman, D., Clark, M., Williams, D.R., Kimmel, K., Polasky, S., & Packer, C. (2017). Future threats to biodiversity and pathways to their prevention. *Nature*, 546(7656), 73-81.

Tobler, M.W., & Powell, G.V. (2013). Estimating jaguar densities with camera traps: problems with current designs and recommendations for future studies. *Biological Conservation*, 159, 109-118.

Tortato, F.R., Izzo, T.J., Hoogesteijn, R., & Peres, C.A. (2017). The numbers of the beast: Valuation of jaguar (Panthera onca) tourism and cattle depredation in the Brazilian Pantanal. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 11, 106-114.

Treves, A., & Karanth, K.U. (2003). Human-carnivore conflict and perspectives on carnivore management worldwide. *Conservation Biology*, 17(6), 1491-1499.

Trinkel, M. (2009). A keystone predator at risk? Density and distribution of the spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in the Etosha National Park, Namibia. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 87(10), 941-947.

Trolle, M., & Kéry, M. (2003). Estimation of ocelot density in the Pantanal using capturerecapture analysis of camera-trapping data. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 84(2), 607-614.

Trouwborst, A., Loveridge, A.J., & Macdonald, D.W. (2020). Spotty data: managing international leopard (Panthera pardus) trophy hunting quotas amidst uncertainty. *Journal of Environmental Law*, 32(2), 253-278.

Vanak, A.T., Fortin, D., Thaker, M., Ogden, M., Owen, C., Greatwood, S., & Slotow, R. (2013). Moving to stay in place: behavioral mechanisms for coexistence of African large carnivores. *Ecology*, 94(11), 2619-2631.

Van der Meer, E., Badza, M. & Ndhlovu, A. (2016). Large carnivores as tourism flagship species for the Zimbabwe component of the Kavango Zambezi transfrontier conservation area. *African Journal of Wildlife Research*. 46(2), 121-134.

van der Meer, E., Fritz, H., Blinston, P., & Rasmussen, G.S. (2013). Ecological trap in the buffer zone of a protected area: effects of indirect anthropogenic mortality on the African wild dog Lycaon pictus. *Oryx*, 48(2), 285-293.

van Eeden, L.M., Eklund, A., Miller, J.R., López-Bao, J.V., Chapron, G., Cejtin, M.R., ... & Macdonald, D.W. (2018). Carnivore conservation needs evidence-based livestock protection. *PLoS Biology*, 16(9), e2005577.

Veldhuis, M.P., Ritchie, M.E., Ogutu, J.O., Morrison, T.A., Beale, C.M., Estes, A.B., ... & Wargute, P.W. (2019). Cross-boundary human impacts compromise the Serengeti-Mara ecosystem. *Science*, 363(6434), 1424-1428.

Verschueren, S., Briers-Louw, W.D., Torres-Uribe, C., Siyaya, A., & Marker, L. (2020). Assessing human conflicts with carnivores in Namibia's eastern communal conservancies. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 25(5), 452-467.

Vissia, S., Wadhwa, R., & van Langevelde, F. (2021). Co-occurrence of high densities of brown hyena and spotted hyena in central Tuli, Botswana. *Journal of Zoology*. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jzo.12873

Vogel, J.T., Somers, M.J., & Venter, J.A. (2019). Niche overlap and dietary resource partitioning in an African large carnivore guild. *Journal of Zoology*, 309(3), 212-223.

Voigt, C.C., Krofel, M., Menges, V., Wachter, B., & Melzheimer, J. (2018). Sex-specific dietary specialization in a terrestrial apex predator, the leopard, revealed by stable isotope analysis. *Journal of Zoology*, 306(1), 1-7.

Wang, Y., Allen, M. L., & Wilmers, C. C. (2015). Mesopredator spatial and temporal responses to large predators and human development in the Santa Cruz Mountains of California. *Biological Conservation*, 190, 23-33.

Watson, F.G., Becker, M.S., Milanzi, J., & Nyirenda, M. (2014). Human encroachment into protected area networks in Zambia: implications for large carnivore conservation. *Regional Environmental Change*, 15(2), 415-429.

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2008). Interspecific competition influences reproduction in spotted hyenas. *Journal of Zoology*, 276, 402-410.

Watts, H.E., & Holekamp, K.E. (2009). Ecological determinants of survival and reproduction in the spotted hyena. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 90(2), 461-471.

Webbon, C.C., Baker, P.J., & Harris, S. (2004). Faecal density counts for monitoring changes in red fox numbers in rural Britain. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 41(4), 768-779.

Weise, F.J., Lemeris Jr, J.R., Munro, S.J., Bowden, A., Venter, C., van Vuuren, M., & van Vuuren, R.J. (2015). Cheetahs (Acinonyx jubatus) running the gauntlet: An evaluation of translocations into free-range environments in Namibia. *PeerJ*, 3, e1346.

Weise, F.J., Vijay, V., Jacobson, A.P., Schoonover, R.F., Groom, R.J., Horgan, J., ... & Pimm, S.L. (2017). The distribution and numbers of cheetah (Acinonyx jubatus) in southern Africa. *PeerJ*, 5, e4096.

Williams, S.T., Williams, K.S., Lewis, B.P., & Hill, R.A. (2017). Population dynamics and threats to an apex predator outside protected areas: implications for carnivore management. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(4), 161090.

Wilmers, C.C., Stahler, D.R., Crabtree, R.L., Smith, D.W., & Getz, W.M. (2003). Resource dispersion and consumer dominance: scavenging at wolf-and hunter-killed carcasses in Greater Yellowstone, USA. *Ecology Letters*, 6(11), 996-1003.

Wilson, G.J., & Delahay, R.J. (2001). A review of methods to estimate the abundance of terrestrial carnivores using field signs and observation. *Wildlife Research*, 28(2), 151-164.

Wilson, M.W., Ridlon, A.D., Gaynor, K.M., Gaines, S.D., Stier, A.C., & Halpern, B.S. (2020). Ecological impacts of human-induced animal behaviour change. *Ecology Letters*, 23(10), 1522-1536.

Winnie Jr, J., & Creel, S. (2017). The many effects of carnivores on their prey and their implications for trophic cascades, and ecosystem structure and function. *Food Webs*, 12, 88-94.

Woinarski, J.C., Burbidge, A.A., & Harrison, P.L. (2015). Ongoing unraveling of a continental fauna: decline and extinction of Australian mammals since European settlement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(15), 4531-4540.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2016). Prey depletion as a threat to the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 3(8), 160252.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2017). Range contractions of the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(7), 170052.

Wolf, C., & Ripple, W.J. (2018). Rewilding the world's large carnivores. *Royal Society Open Science*, 5(3), p.172235.

Woodroffe, R. (2000). Predators and people: using human densities to interpret declines of large carnivores. In *Animal Conservation Forum* (Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 165-173). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Woodroffe, R., & Ginsberg, J. R. (1998). Edge effects and the extinction of populations inside protected areas. *Science*, 280(5372), 2126-2128.

Woodroffe, R., & Ginsberg, J.R. (1999). Conserving the African wild dog Lycaon pictus. I. Diagnosing and treating causes of decline. *Oryx*, 33(2), 132-142.

Woodroffe, R., Ginsberg, J.R., Macdonald, D.W., & the IUCN/SSC Canid Specialist Group (Eds). (1997) The African wild dog: status survey and conservation action plan. Gland, Switzerland: IUCN.

Woodroffe, R., Lindsey, P.A., Romañach, S.S., & Ranah, S.M.O. (2007). African wild dogs (Lycaon pictus) can subsist on small prey: implications for conservation. *Journal of Mammalogy*, 88(1), 181-193.

Woodroffe, R., Lindsey, P., Romanach, S., Stein, A. & Ranah, S.M. (2005). Livestock predation by endangered African wild dogs (Lycaon pictus) in northern Kenya. *Biological Conservation*, 124(2), 225-234.

World Bank Group. (2020). Malawi Overview. World Bank Group, Washington DC, USA. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/malawi/overview Accessed: [21/01/2021].

Yang, H., Zhao, X., Han, B., Wang, T., Mou, P., Ge, J., & Feng, L. (2018). Spatiotemporal patterns of Amur leopards in northeast China: Influence of tigers, prey, and humans. *Mammalian Biology*, 92(1), 120-128.

Young, S., Rode-Margono, J., & Amin, R. (2018). Software to facilitate and streamline camera trap data management: A review. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(19), 9947-9957.

Appendices

Appendix I

Table A1. Literature reviewed on spotted hyaena (*Crocuta crocuta*) population estimates and survey methods used since 2000.

Authors	Journal	Year	Title	Method	Country
Aebischer, T. et al.	Biological Conservation	2020	Apex predators decline after an influx of pastoralists in former Central African Republic hunting zones	Mixed (Track count/call up)	Central African Republic
Ahlswede, S. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2019	Using the Formozov–Malyshev–Pereleshin formula to convert mammal spoor counts into density estimates for long-term community-level monitoring	Track count	Namibia
Bauer, H.	African Journal of Ecology	2007	Status of large carnivores in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon	Call up	Cameroon
Bauer, H. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2015	Large carnivore abundance in the Benoue Ecosystem, North Cameroon	Track count	Cameroon
Cozzi, G. et al.	Biodiversity Conservation	2013	Density and habitat use of lions and spotted hyenas in northern Botswana and the influence of survey and ecological variables on call-in survey estimation	Call up	Botswana
Creel, S. & Creel, N.M.	Book	2002	The African Wild Dog	Call up	Tanzania
Croes, B.M. et al.	Biological Conservation	2011	The impact of trophy hunting on lions (Panthera leo) and other large carnivores in the Bénoué Complex, northern Cameroon	Track count	Cameroon
Davis, R.S. et al.	Journal of Zoology	2020	Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland	SCR	Malawi
Dunnink, J.A. et al.	Oryx	2019	A socio-ecological landscape analysis of human-wildlife conflict in northern Botswana	Track	Botswana
Durant, S.M. et al.	Journal of Applied Ecology	2011	Long-term trends in carnivore abundance using distance sampling in Serengeti National Park, Tanzania	Distance sampling	Tanzania
Farr, M.T. et al	Ecological Applications	2019	Multispecies hierarchical modeling reveals variable responses of African carnivores to management alternatives	Distance sampling	Kenya

Ferreira, S.M. & Funston, P.J.	African Journal of Wildlife Research	2016	Population estimates of spotted hyaenas in the Kruger National Park, South Africa	Call up	South Africa
Fewster, R.M.	Biometrics	2011	Variance Estimation for Systematic Designs in Spatial Surveys	Distance sampling	Tanzania
Fouché, J. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2020	Density estimates of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) on arid farmlands of Namibia	SCR	Namibia
Funston, P.J. et al.	Journal of Zoology	2010	Substrate and species constraints on the use of track incidences to estimate African large carnivore abundance.	Track count	South Africa
Funston, P.J. et al.	PLoS One	2013	Insights into the Management of Large Carnivores for Profitable Wildlife- Based Land Uses in African Savannas	Track	Zimbabwe
Graf, J.A. et al.	Acta Theriologica	2009	Heterogeneity in the density of spotted hyaenas in Hluhluwe-iMfolozi Park, South Africa	Call up	South Africa
Green, D.S. et al.	Biodiversity Conservation	2019	Anthropogenic disturbance induces opposing population trends in spotted hyenas and African lions	Total counts	Kenya
Green, D.S. et al.	Philosophical Transactions B	2019	Can hyena behaviour provide information on population trends of sympatric carnivores?	Total counts	Kenya
Groom, R.J. et al	Oryx	2014	Surveys of lions Panthera leo in protected areas in Zimbabwe yield disturbing results: what is driving the population collapse	Call up	Zimbabwe
Henschel, P. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2020	Census and distribution of large carnivores in the Tsavo national parks, a critical east African wildlife corridor	Track count	Kenya
Henschel, P. et al.	Journal of Mammalogy	2014	The status of savanna carnivores in the Odzala-Kokoua National Park, northern Republic of Congo	Capture recapture	Republic of Congo
Höner, O.P. et al.	Journal of Animal Ecology	2012	The impact of a pathogenic bacterium on a social carnivore population	Total counts	Tanzania
Höner, O.P. et al.	Journal of Animal Ecology	2002	The response of spotted hyaenas to long-term changes in prey populations: functional response and interspecific kleptoparasitism	Total counts	Tanzania
Höner, O.P. et al.	Oikos	2005	The effect of prey abundance and foraging tactics on the population dynamics of a social, territorial carnivore, the spotted hyena	Total counts	Tanzania
Keeping, D.	Animal Conservation	2014	Rapid assessment of wildlife abundance: estimating animal density with track counts using body mass–day range scaling rules	Track count	South Africa
Keeping, D. et al.	Biological Conservation	2018	Can trackers count free-ranging wildlife as effectively and efficiently as conventional aerial survey and distance sampling? Implications for citizen science in the Kalahari, Botswana	Track count	Botswana

Kiffner, C. et al.	African Journal	2007	Response of lions (Panthera leo LINNAEUS 1758) and spotted hyaenas (Crocuta crocuta ERXLEBEN 1777) to sound playbacks	Call up	Tanzania
Kirsten, I. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2017	Lion (Panthera leo) and spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) abundance in Bouba Ndjida National Park, Cameroon; trends between 2005 and 2014	Call up	Cameroon
Mbise et al.	Global Ecology and Conservation	2020	Do carnivore surveys match reports of carnivore presence by pastoralists? A case of the eastern Serengeti ecosystem	Call up	Tanzania
Mbizah, M.M. et al.	South African Journal of Wildlife Research	2012	Diet of four sympatric carnivores in Save Valley Conservancy, Zimbabwe: implications for conservation of the African wild dog (Lycaon pictus)	Track count	Zimbabwe
Mills, M.G.L. et al.	Animal Conservation	2001	Estimating the size of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) populations through playback recordings allowing for non-response	Call up	South Africa
Mohammed, A.A. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2019	Lion and spotted hyaena abundance in Dinder National Park, Sudan	Call up	Sudan
M'soka, J. et al.	Biological Conservation	2016	Spotted hyaena survival and density in a lion depleted ecosystem: The effects of prey availability, humans and competition between large carnivores in African savannahs	Mark-resight	Zambia
O'Brien, T.G. & Kinnaird, M.F.	Ecological Applications	2011	Density estimation of sympatric carnivores using spatially explicit capture– recapture methods and standard trapping grid	SCR	Kenya
Ogutu, J.O. et al.	Journal of Zoology	2005	The effects of pastoralism and protection on the density and distribution of carnivores and their prey in the Mara ecosystem of Kenya	Call up	Kenya
Ogutu, J.O. et al.	PLoS One	2017	Wildlife Population Dynamics in Human-Dominated Landscapes under Community-Based Conservation: The Example of Nakuru Wildlife Conservancy, Kenya	Total counts	Kenya
Omoya, E.O. et al.	Oryx	2013	Estimating population sizes of lions Panthera leo and spotted hyaenas Crocuta crocuta in Uganda's savannah parks, using lure count methods	Call up	Uganda
Rafiq, K. et al.	Current Biology	2019	Tourist photographs as a scalable framework for wildlife monitoring in protected areas	Mixed (SCR, track, call in)	Botswana
Rich, L.N. et al	Biological Conservation	2019	Sampling design and analytical advances allow for simultaneous density estimation of seven sympatric carnivore species from camera trap data	SCR	Botswana
Stratford, K. et al.	African Journal of Ecology	2019	Dyadic associations reveal clan size and social network structure in the fission–fusion society of spotted hyaenas	Capture recapture	Namibia

Trinkel, M.	Canadian Journal of Zoology	2009	A keystone predator at risk? Density and distribution of the spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in the Etosha National Park, Namibia	Call up	Namibia
Vissia et al.	Journal of Zoology	2021	Co-occurrence of high densities of brown hyena and spotted hyena in central Tuli, Botswana	SCR	Botswana
Watts, H.E. & Holekamp, K.E.	Journal of Mammalogy	2009	Ecological Determinants of Survival and Reproduction in the Spotted Hyena	Total counts	Kenya
Watts, H.E. & Holekamp, K.E.	Journal of Zoology	2008	Interspecific competition influeces reoroduction in spotted hyenas	Total counts	Kenya
Yirga, G. et al.	Mammalian Biology	2013	Spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) coexisting at high density with people in Wukro district, northern Ethiopia	Call up	Ethiopia
Yirga, G. et al.	Momona Ethiopian Journal of Science	2014	Status of Lion (Panthera leo) and Spotted Hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in Nechisar National Park, Ethiopia	Call up	Ethiopia
Yirga, G. et al.	Mammalian Biology	2014	Local spotted hyena abundance and community tolerance of depredation in human-dominated landscapes in Northern Ethiopia	Call up	Ethiopia
Yirga, G. et al.	Mammalian Biology	2017	Densities of spotted hyaena (Crocuta crocuta) and African golden wolf (Canis anthus) increase with increasing anthropogenic influence	Call up	Ethiopia
Yirga, G. et al.	European Journal of Wildlife Research	2011	Peri-urban spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) in northern Ethiopia: diet, economic impact, and abundance	Call up	Ethiopia
Yirga, G. et al.	Wildlife Research	2015	Spotted hyena (Crocuta crocuta) concentrate around urban waste dumps across Tigray, northern Ethiopia	Call up	Ethiopia

Appendix II

Table A2. Literature reviewed on leopard (Panthera pardus) population estimates and methods used to estimate density in sub-Saharan Africa

between 2000 and 2021.

Authors	Year	Title	Journal	Method	Country
Aebischer et	2020	Apex predators decline after an influx of pastoralists in	Biological	Track	CAR
al.		former Central African Republic hunting zones	Conservation		
Allen et al.	2020	Counting cats for conservation: seasonal estimates of	Biodiversity and	SCR	Tanzania
		leopard density and drivers of distribution in the Serengeti	Conservation		
Balme et al.	2019	Big cats at large: Density, structure, and spatio-temporal	Population Ecology	SCR	South Africa
		patterns of a leopard population free of anthropogenic			
		mortality			
Balme et al.	2009	Impact of conservation interventions on the dynamics and	Biological	CR	South Africa
		persistence of a persecuted leopard (Panthera pardus)	Conservation		
		population			
Balme et al.	2010	Edge effects and the impact of non-protected areas in	Animal Conservation	CR	South Africa
		carnivore conservation: leopards in the Phinda-Mkhuze			
		Complex, South Africa			
Balme et al.	2009	Evaluating Methods for Counting Cryptic Carnivores	Journal of Wildlife	CR/Track/GPS	South Africa
			Management		
Bauer et al.	2015	Large carnivore abundance in the Benoue Ecosystem,	African Journal of	Track	Cameroon
		North Cameroon	Ecology		
Boast &	2012	Density of large predators on commercial farmland	South African Journal	Track	Botswana
Houser		in Ghanzi, Botswana	of Wildlife Research		
Braczkowski	2016	Scent Lure Effect on Camera-Trap Based Leopard Density	PLoS One	SCR/CR	South Africa
et al.		Estimates			
Chapman &	2010	An estimate of leopard population density in a private	South African Journal	CR	South Africa
Balme		reserve in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, using	of Wildlife Research		
		camera-traps and capture-recapture models			

Chase Grey et	2013	Evidence of a High Density Population of Harvested	PLoS One	SCR	South Africa
al.		Leopards in a Montane Environment			
Croes et al.	2011	The impact of trophy hunting on lions (Panthera leo) and	Biological	Track	Cameroon
		other large carnivores in the Bénoué Complex, northern	Conservation		
		Cameroon			
Davis et al.	2020	Spatial partial identity model reveals low densities of	Journal of Zoology	SCR	Malawi
		leopard and spotted hyaena in a miombo woodland			
Devens et al.	2021	Estimating leopard density across the highly modified	Oryx	SCR	South Africa
		human-dominated landscape of the Western Cape, South			
		Africa			
Devens et al.	2018	Counting the spots: The use of a spatially explicit capture–	African Journal of	SCR/GPS	South Africa
		recapture technique and GPS data to estimate leopard	Ecology		
		(Panthera pardus) density in the Eastern and Western Cape,			
		South Africa			
du Preez et al.	2014	To bait or not to bait: A comparison of camera-trapping	Biological	SCR	Zimbabwe
		methods for estimating leopard Panthera pardus density	Conservation		
Dunnink et al.	2019	A socio-ecological landscape analysis of human–wildlife	Oryx	Track	Botswana
		conflict in northern Botswana			
Edwards et al.	2016	Leopard density estimates from semi-desert commercial	African Journal of	CR	Namibia
		farmlands, south-west Namibia	Ecology		
Funston et al.	2013	Insights into the Management of Large Carnivores for	PLoS One	Track	Zimbabwe
		Profitable Wildlife-Based Land Uses in African Savannas			
Funston et al.	2010	Substrate and species constraints on the use of track	Journal of Zoology	Track	South
		incidences to estimate African large carnivore abundance			Africa/Zimbabwe
Havmoller et	2019	Reserve size and anthropogenic disturbance affect the	PLoS One	SCR	Tanzania
al.		density of an African leopard (Panthera pardus) meta-			
		population			
Henschel et al.	2020	Census and distribution of large carnivores in the Tsavo	African Journal of	Track	Kenya
		national parks, a critical east African wildlife corridor	Ecology		
Henschel et al.	2011	Leopard prey choice in the Congo Basin rainforest suggests	African Journal of	SCR	Gabon
		exploitative competition with human bushmeat hunters	Ecology		

Keeping	2014	Rapid assessment of wildlife abundance: estimating animal density with track counts using body mass–day range scaling rules	Animal Conservation	Track	South Africa
Keeping et al.	2018	Can trackers count free-ranging wildlife as effectively and efficiently as conventional aerial survey and distance sampling? Implications for citizen science in the Kalahari, Botswana	Biological Conservation	Track	Botswana
Mann et al.	2020	A leopard's favourite spots: Habitat preference and population density of leopards in a semi-arid biodiversity hotspot	Journal of Arid Environments	SCR	South Africa
Maputla et al.	2013	Calibrating a camera trap–based biased mark–recapture sampling design to survey the leopard population in the N'wanetsi concession, Kruger National Park, South Africa	African Journal of Ecology	CR	South Africa
Miller et al.	2018	Lions and leopards coexist without spatial, temporal or demographic effects of interspecific competition	Journal of Animal Ecoogy	SCR	South Africa
Noack et al.	2019	Leopard Density Estimation within an Enclosed Reserve, Namibia Using Spatially Explicit Capture-Recapture Models.	Animals	SCR	Namibia
O'Brien and Kinnaird	2011	Density estimation of sympatric carnivores using spatially explicit capture–recapture methods and standard trapping grid	Ecological Applications	SCR	Kenya
Rafiq et al.	2019	Tourist photographs as a scalable framework for wildlife monitoring in protected areas	Current Biology	SCR/Track	Botswana
Ramesh et al.	2017	Low leopard populations in protected areas of Maputaland: a consequence of poaching, habitat condition, abundance of prey, and a top predator	Ecology and Evolution	SCR	South Africa
Rich et al.	2019	Sampling design and analytical advances allow for simultaneous density estimation of seven sympatric carnivore species from camera trap data	Biological Conservation	SCR	Botswana
Rogan et al.	2019	The influence of movement on the occupancy–density relationship at small spatial scales	Ecosphere	SCR	South Africa

Rosenblatt et	2016	Effects of a protection gradient on carnivore density and	Ecology and Evolution	CR	Zambia
al.		survival: an example with leopards in the Luangwa valley,			
		Zambia			
Searle et al.	2021	Leopard population density varies across habitats and	Biological	SCR	Tanzania
		management strategies in a mixed-use Tanzanian landscape	Conservation		
Stein et al.	2011	Leopard population and home range estimates in north-	African Journal of	CR	Namibia
		central Namibia	Ecology		
Strampelli et	2020	Leopard Panthera pardus density in southern Mozambique:	Oryx	SCR	Mozambique
al.		evidence from spatially explicit capture-recapture in			
		Xonghile Game Reserve			
Swanepoel et	2015	Density of leopards Panthera pardus on protected and	Wildlife Biology	SCR	South Africa
al.		non-protected land in the Waterberg Biosphere, South			
		Africa			
Swanepoel et	2015	Functional Responses of Retaliatory Killing versus	PLoS One	SCR	South Africa
al.		Recreational Sport Hunting of Leopards in South Africa			
Tarugara et al.	2019	Cost-benefit analysis of increasing sampling effort in a	Global Ecology and	CR	Zimbabwe
		baited-camera trap survey of an African leopard (Panthera	Conservation		
		pardus) population			
Williams et al.	2017	Population dynamics and threats to an apex predator	Royal Society Open	SCR	South Africa
		outside protected areas: implications for carnivore	Science		
		management			

* Methods: Capture-recapture (CR); use of GPS/satellite/VHF collars (GPS); Spatial capture-recapture (SCR); Track count surveys (Track).

Appendix III

Table A3. Geweke diagnostic statistics and Bayes p-values generated in *SPACECAP* for the single-flank and both plus partial sample models for leopard and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi.

Year	Model	sigma	lam0	beta	psi	Ν	Bayes P-value
2018	Leopard - Single	0.65	-1.16	1.29	1.69	1.52	0.55
	Leopard - Both + Left	-0.93	0.72	-0.36	-0.73	-0.61	0.78
	Leopard - Both + Right	0.36	-0.76	0.88	0.87	0.73	0.83
	Hyaena – Single	-0.01	0.19	-0.44	-0.37	-0.27	0.75
	Hyaena - Both + Left	1.06	-0.53	0.51	0.61	0.01	0.9
	Hyaena - Both + Right	0.7	0.05	-0.33	-1.55	-1.53	0.87
2017	Leopard – Single	-1.57	0.56	-0.39	-0.48	-0.42	0.65
	Leopard - Both + Left	0.81	-1.03	1.43	1.15	1.47	0.74
	Leopard - Both + Right	0.8	-0.22	0.11	0.2	-0.05	0.76
	Hyaena – Single	1.04	-0.47	0.11	-1.23	-1.23	0.54
	Hyaena - Both + Left	-0.42	0.61	0.19	-0.34	-0.23	0.62
	Hyaena - Both + Right	1.16	-1.57	0.95	-0.49	-0.7	0.63
2016	Leopard - Single	-0.61	-1.09	0.09	0.66	0.68	0.59
	Leopard - Both + Left	-0.1	0.8	-1.08	-0.8	-0.82	0.63
	Leopard - Both + Right	1.51	-1.28	1.06	-1.58	-1.55	0.71
Appendix IV

Table A4.1. Overall summaries of binomial generalised linear mixed models predicting the likelihood of leopard detection at camera stations in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, across all survey years (2016, 2017 and 2018) during a given 5-day sampling occasion. Each model log-likelihoods (logLik), number of parameters (K), delta AICc (Δ AICc), AICc weight (Wi), and cumulative AICc weights (Cum. Wi) are presented.

Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi	Cum. W _i	Log
Hugeng Prev Water	5	1117 88	0.00	0.20	0.20	553.01
Prev + Water	<u>л</u>	1117.00	1.00	0.29	0.29	-555 42
Hypens \pm Prev \pm Water \pm Habitat	т 6	1110.00	1.00	0.17	0.59	-553.70
Hyaena + Prey + Water + Border	6	1119.47	1.57	0.13	0.37	-553.89
Prev + Water + Habitat	5	1120 51	2 64	0.08	0.78	-555.02
Prev + Water + Border	5	1120.85	2.97	0.06	0.84	-555 40
Hyaena + Prev + Water + Border	7	1120.05	3 56	0.05	0.89	-553.67
+ Habitat	,	1121.11	0.00	0.02	0.09	000.07
Prey + Water + Border + Habitat	6	1122.47	4.59	0.03	0.92	-555.20
Hyaena + Water	4	1123.57	5.69	0.02	0.94	-557.77
Hyaena + Prey	4	1124.37	6.49	0.01	0.95	-558.17
Water	3	1124.94	7.06	0.01	0.96	-559.46
Hyaena + Water + Habitat	5	1125.26	7.38	0.01	0.97	-557.60
Hyaena + Water + Border	5	1125.32	7.44	0.01	0.98	-557.63
Prey	3	1125.32	7.44	0.01	0.99	-559.65
Hyaena + Prey + Border	5	1126.20	8.32	0.01	1.00	-558.08
Hyaena + Prey + Habitat	5	1126.37	8.49	0.00	1.00	-558.16
Water + Border	4	1126.66	8.78	0.00	1.00	-559.31
Water + Habitat	4	1126.67	8.79	0.00	1.00	-559.32
Hyaena + Water + Border +	6	1126.96	9.08	0.00	1.00	-557.44
Habitat						
Prey + Border	4	1127.13	9.25	0.00	1.00	-559.55
Prey + Habitat	4	1127.32	9.45	0.00	1.00	-559.65
Hyaena + Prey + Border + Habitat	6	1128.19	10.31	0.00	1.00	-558.06
Water + Border + Habitat	5	1128.35	10.47	0.00	1.00	-559.15
Prey + Border + Habitat	5	1129.13	11.25	0.00	1.00	-559.54
Hyaena	3	1130.32	12.44	0.00	1.00	-562.15
Hyaena + Border	4	1131.80	13.92	0.00	1.00	-561.88
Hyaena + Habitat	4	1132.33	14.45	0.00	1.00	-562.15
Border	3	1133.04	15.16	0.00	1.00	-563.51
Habitat	3	1133.61	15.73	0.00	1.00	-563.80
Hyaena + Border + Habitat	5	1133.80	15.92	0.00	1.00	-561.87
Border + Habitat	4	1135.04	17.16	0.00	1.00	-563.50

Table A4.2. Overall summaries of binomial generalised linear mixed models predicting the likelihood of spotted hyaena detection at camera stations in Kasungu National Park, Malawi, across all survey years (2016, 2017 and 2018) during a given 5-day sampling occasion. Each model log-likelihoods (logLik), number of parameters (K), delta AICc (Δ AICc), AICc weight (Wi), and cumulative AICc weights (Cum. Wi) are presented.

Model	K	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi	Cum. W _i	Log likelihood
Leopard + Prey	4	1243.14	0.00	0.18	0.18	-617.55
Prey	3	1244.02	0.88	0.11	0.29	-619.00
Leopard + Prey + Habitat	5	1244.61	1.47	0.09	0.38	-617.28
Leopard + Prey + Border	5	1244.88	1.75	0.07	0.45	-617.42
Leopard + Prey + Water	5	1245.02	1.89	0.07	0.52	-617.49
Prey + Habitat	4	1245.51	2.37	0.05	0.57	-618.74
Prey + Border	4	1245.72	2.59	0.05	0.62	-618.84
Prey + Water	4	1245.98	2.84	0.04	0.66	-618.97
Leopard	3	1246.29	3.16	0.04	0.70	-620.14
Leopard + Prey + Water + Habitat	6	1246.40	3.27	0.03	0.73	-617.17
Leopard + Prey + Habitat + Border	6	1246.41	3.27	0.03	0.76	-617.17
Leopard + Prey + Water + Border	6	1246.77	3.63	0.03	0.79	-617.35
Prey + Habitat + Border	5	1247.26	4.13	0.02	0.81	-618.61
Prey + Water + Habitat	5	1247.41	4.27	0.02	0.83	-618.68
Leopard + Habitat	4	1247.62	4.48	0.02	0.85	-619.79
Prey + Water + Border	5	1247.68	4.54	0.02	0.87	-618.81
Leopard + Border	4	1247.96	4.83	0.02	0.89	-619.97
Leopard + Prey + Water + Habitat + Border	7	1248.20	5.06	0.01	0.90	-617.05
Leopard + Water	4	1248.23	5.10	0.01	0.91	-620.10
Habitat	3	1249.01	5.87	0.01	0.92	-621.49
Prey + Water + Habitat + Border	6	1249.16	6.02	0.01	0.93	-618.54
Border	3	1249.28	6.15	0.01	0.94	-621.63
Leopard + Habitat + Border	5	1249.35	6.22	0.01	0.95	-619.65
Leopard + Water + Habitat	5	1249.47	6.34	0.01	0.96	-619.71
Water	3	1249.66	6.52	0.01	0.97	-621.82
Leopard + Water + Border	5	1249.90	6.76	0.01	0.98	-619.92
Habitat + Border	4	1250.69	7.56	0.00	1.00	-621.33
Water + Habitat	4	1250.96	7.82	0.00	1.00	-621.46
Leopard + Water + Habitat + Border	6	1251.20	8.07	0.00	1.00	-619.57
Water + Border	4	1251.27	8.14	0.00	1.00	-621.62
Water + Habitat + Border	5	1252.64	9.50	0.00	1.00	-621.29

Appendix V

Table A5.1. Estimates of difference in activity between years and sexes for leopard in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Bootstrapped activity patterns, with 10,000 smoothed bootstrap samples, were compared using Wald statistic (W) on a chi-square distribution with one degree of freedom in order to test for significance (P) at the 5% level.

Species Interaction	Difference	SE	W	Р
Leopard (both sexes) 2016 – Leopard (both sexes) 2017	0.09	0.10	0.79	0.37
Leopard (both sexes) 2016 – Leopard (both sexes) 2018	< 0.001	0.10	< 0.001	0.99
Leopard (both sexes) 2017 – Leopard (both sexes) 2018	-0.09	0.09	1.11	0.29
Leopard (male) 2016 – Leopard (male) 2017	0.04	0.14	0.09	0.76
Leopard (male) 2016 – Leopard (male) 2018	0.04	0.14	0.09	0.76
Leopard (male) 2017 – Leopard (male) 2018	< 0.001	0.10	< 0.001	0.99
Leopard (female) 2016 – Leopard (female) 2017	-0.09	0.12	0.63	0.43
Leopard (female) 2016 – Leopard (female) 2018	-0.10	0.11	0.75	0.39
Leopard (female) 2017 – Leopard (female) 2018	-0.002	0.11	< 0.001	0.98

Table A5.2. Estimates of difference in activity between years for spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. Bootstrapped activity patterns, with 10,000 smoothed bootstrap samples, were compared using Wald statistic (W) on a chi-square distribution with one degree of freedom in order to test for significance (P) at the 5% level.

Species Interaction	Difference	SE	W	Р
Spotted hyaena 2016 – Spotted hyaena 2017	0.08	0.06	1.91	0.16
Spotted hyaena 2016 – Spotted hyaena 2018	0.06	0.05	1.40	0.24
Spotted hyaena 2017 – Spotted hyaena 2018	-0.01	0.05	0.06	0.80

Appendix VI

Table A6. Summary of Hermans-Rasson uniformity test to assess if a random activity pattern was exhibited over a circadian cycle for leopard (both sexes and individual) and spotted hyaena in Kasungu National Park, Malawi. The number of samples (N) is presented, alongside the Hermans-Rasson test statistic (T) and the p-value (P), where a p-value below 0.05 shows activity patterns were significantly different from a random distribution. The number of iterations was set to 10,000 samples for all tests.

Species	Ν	Т	Р
Leopard (both sexes)	273	545.7	< 0.001
Leopard (♂)	77	149.8	< 0.001
Leopard (♀)	170	343.1	< 0.001
Spotted hyaena	385	737.8	< 0.001